
Cabinet
10 February 2020

Time and venue:

2.30 pm in the Ditchling Room at Southover House, Southover Road, Lewes, BN7 
1AB

Membership:

Councillor Zoe Nicholson (Chair); Councillors James MacCleary (Vice-Chair) 
Matthew Bird, Julie Carr, Chris Collier, Johnny Denis, William Meyer, Emily O'Brien 
and Ruth O'Keeffe

Quorum: 4

Published: Friday, 31 January 2020

Agenda
1 Minutes of the meeting held on 28 October 2020  (Pages 7 - 14)

2 Apologies for absence  

3 Declarations of interest  

Disclosure by councillors of personal interests in matters on the agenda, the 
nature of any interest and whether the councillor regards the interest as 
prejudicial under the terms of the Code of Conduct.

4 Urgent items  

Items not on the agenda which the Chair of the meeting is of the opinion should 
be considered as a matter of urgency by reason of special circumstances as 
defined in Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972. A 
supplementary report will be circulated at the meeting to update the main reports 
with any late information.

5 Public question time  

To deal with any questions received from members of the public in accordance 
with Council Procedure Rule 11 (if any).

6 Written question from councillors  

To deal with written questions which councillors may wish to put to the Chair of 
the Cabinet in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 12 (if any).

Public Document Pack



7 Matters referred to the Cabinet  

Matters referred to the Cabinet (whether by the Scrutiny Committee or by the 
Council) for reconsideration by the Cabinet in accordance with the provisions 
contained in the Scrutiny Procedure Rules or the Budget and Policy Framework 
Procedure Rules set out in part 4 of the Council's Constitution.

None.

8 Portfolio progress and performance report quarter 3 - 2019-2020  
(Pages 15 - 38)

Report of Director of Regeneration and Planning
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor Chris Collier

9 Corporate plan 2020-24  (Pages 39 - 50)

Report of Director of Regeneration and Planning
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor Zoe Nicholson

10 Voluntary sector support  (Pages 51 - 62)

Report of Director of Regeneration and Planning 
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor Johnny Denis

11 'Making' the Seaford Neighbourhood Plan  (Pages 63 - 68)

Report of Director of Regeneration and Planning
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor Emily O’Brien

12 Adoption of the Lewes District Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations & 
Development Management  (Pages 69 - 240)

Report of Director of Regeneration and Planning
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor Emily O’Brien

13 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 30-Year Business Plan Update  
(Pages 241 - 256)

Report of Chief Finance Officer and Director of Regeneration and Planning
Lead Cabinet members: Councillors Zoe Nicholson and William Meyer

14 Housing revenue account budget  2020/21  (Pages 257 - 268)

Report of Chief Finance Officer
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor Zoe Nicholson

15 The Werks Group - Creative Hub Lewes  (Pages 269 - 274)

Report of Director of Regeneration and Planning
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor James MacCleary



3

16 Avis Way Waste Vehicle Depot - Revised Funding  (Pages 275 - 278)

Report of Director of Regeneration and Planning and Director of Service Delivery
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor Julie Carr

17 Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy- progress update  
(Pages 279 - 292)

Report of Director of Regeneration and Planning
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor Matthew Bird

18 Former Police Station, South Road, Newhaven  (Pages 293 - 302)

Report of Director of Regeneration and Planning
Lead Cabinet members: Councillor William Meyer 

(This report contains an exempt appendix. Any discussion of this must take place 
at item 24 following exclusion of the public.)

19 General Fund Revenue Budget 2020/21 and Capital Programme  
(Pages 303 - 334)

Report of Chief Finance Officer
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor Zoe Nicholson

20 Treasury Management and Prudential Indicators 2020/21, Capital Strategy & 
Investment Strategy  (Pages 335 - 378)

Report of Chief Finance Officer
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor Zoe Nicholson

21 Council tax and business rate base 2020/21  (Pages 379 - 390)

Report of Chief Finance Officer
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor Zoe Nicholson

22 Annual Review of Fees and Charges  (Pages 391 - 410)

Report of Chief Finance Officer
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor Zoe Nicholson

23 Exclusion of the public  

The Chief Executive considers that discussion of the following items is likely to 
disclose exempt information as defined in Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972 and may therefore need to take place in private session. The exempt 
information reasons are shown beneath the items listed below. Furthermore, in 
relation to paragraph 10 of Schedule 12A, it is considered that the public interest 
in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information. (The requisite notices having been given under regulation 5 of the 
Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012.) 

(Note: Exempt papers are printed on pink paper).



24 Former Police Station, South Road, Newhaven - Appendix 3  
(Pages 411 - 412)

Report of Director of Regeneration and Planning
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor William Meyer

Exempt information reason 3 - Information relating to the financial or business 
affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information).

Information for the public
Accessibility:  Please note that the venue for this meeting is wheelchair accessible and 
has an induction loop to help people who are hearing impaired. This agenda and 
accompanying reports are published on the Council’s website in PDF format which means 
you can use the “read out loud” facility of Adobe Acrobat Reader.

Filming/Recording: This meeting may be filmed, recorded or broadcast by any 
person or organisation. Anyone wishing to film or record must notify the Chair prior to 
the start of the meeting. Members of the public attending the meeting are deemed to 
have consented to be filmed or recorded, as liability for this is not within the Council’s 
control.

Public participation: Please contact Democratic Services (see end of agenda) for the 
relevant deadlines for registering to speak on a matter which is listed on the agenda if 
applicable.

Information for councillors
Disclosure of interests:  Members should declare their interest in a matter at the 
beginning of the meeting. 

In the case of a disclosable pecuniary interest (DPI), if the interest is not registered 
(nor the subject of a pending notification) details of the nature of the interest must be 
reported to the meeting by the member and subsequently notified in writing to the 
Monitoring Officer within 28 days.

If a member has a DPI or other prejudicial interest he/she must leave the room when 
the matter is being considered (unless he/she has obtained a dispensation).

Councillor right of address: A member of the Council may ask the Leader, a Cabinet 
Member or the Chair of a committee or sub-committee any question without notice 
upon an item of the report of the Cabinet or a committee or subcommittee when that 
item is being received or under consideration by the Council.

A member of the Council may ask the Chair of a committee or sub-committee a 
question on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which 
affect the District and which falls within the terms of reference of that committee or 
subcommittee.



5

A member must give notice of the question to the Head of Democratic Services in 
writing or by electronic mail no later than close of business on the fourth working day 
before the meeting at which the question is to be asked.

Democratic Services
For any further queries regarding this agenda or notification of apologies please 
contact Democratic Services.

Email: committees@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk  

Telephone: 01273 471600  

Website: http://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/ 

 
modern.gov app available
View upcoming public committee documents on your iPad or Android Device with the free 
modern.gov app.

mailto:committees@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
http://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/
https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/mod.gov/id508417355?mt=8
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Cabinet

Minutes of meeting held in Ditchling Room at Southover House, Southover 
Road, Lewes, BN7 1AB on 28 October 2019 at 2.30 pm

Present:
Councillor Zoe Nicholson (Chair) 

Councillors Matthew Bird, Julie Carr, Chris Collier, Johnny Denis, William Meyer and 
Emily O'Brien

Officers in attendance: 
Robert Cottrill (Chief Executive), Homira Javadi (Chief Finance Officer), Ian 
Fitzpatrick (Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Regeneration and Planning), Tim 
Whelan (Director of Service Delivery), Peter Finnis (Assistant Director for Corporate 
Governance), Catherine Knight (Assistant Director of Legal and Democratic 
Services), Linda Farley (Head of Customer First), Jane Goodall (Strategy and 
Partnership Lead, Quality Environment), Emma Kemp (Planning Policy Officer), 
Simon Russell (Committee and Civic Services Manager) and Tondra Thom 
(Planning Policy Lead)

Also in attendance:
Councillor Roy Burman, Councillor Isabelle Linington (Leader of the Opposition) and 
Councillor Julian Peterson (Chair of Audit and Standards Committee)

Ms John Langley (Tenants’ Representative) and Ms Debbie Twitchen 
(Tenants’ Representative)

36 Minutes of the meeting held on 16 September 2019 

The minutes of the meeting held on 16 September 2019 were submitted and 
approved and the Chair was authorised to sign them as a correct record.

Following approval of the minutes, the Assistant Director for Corporate 
Governance provided an update on the Council’s contingency planning for 
Brexit since the last meeting. The Cabinet were advised that discussions had 
taken place with the Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB) and 3VA and plans were 
being put in place to support EU Nationals in the Lewes District wishing to 
apply to the EU Settlement Scheme.

Updated correspondence had also been received from the Department for 
Transport (DfT) in relation to Newhaven Port and this had been circulated to 
the Cabinet and communicated to the relevant Town and Parish Councils. 
The DfT still considered disruption in the event of a no-deal Brexit to be low to 

Page 7

Agenda Item 1



28 October 2019 2 Cabinet

zero however should any local implications arise it would be the responsibility 
of the Sussex Resilience Forum to put appropriate contingency plans in place. 
The Working Group for Newhaven Port continued to meet and assess risks 
and put mitigations in place should anything arise.

In response to a question, the Assistant Director for Corporate Governance 
confirmed that he would investigate the suggestion that East Sussex County 
Council were making plans to implement a lorry park in Newhaven in the 
event of Brexit and would provide an update to the Cabinet.

37 Apologies for absence 

Apologies for absence were reported from Councillors MacCleary and 
O’Keeffe.

An apology for absence was also reported from visiting member and Chair of 
Scrutiny Committee, Councillor Joe Miller.

38 Declarations of interest 

Visiting member and Chair of Audit and Standards Committee, Councillor 
Peterson declared a personal interest in agenda item 10 (Community 
Infrastructure Levy Spending Recommendations) as the Parish Clerk for 
Piddinhoe Parish Council and remained in the room and took part in the 
discussion.

39 Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme and Council Tax Class C Discount 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Director of Service Delivery 
regarding the Local Council Tax Reduction (CTR) Scheme 2020/21 and 
Council Tax Class C Discount.

It was clarified that the removal of the discount would raise an estimated 
£28,000 for the Council. The additional monies would be used to support 
those self-employed CTR claimants who were affected by the application of 
the minimum-income floor. Further details were contained in the report.

In response to points raised by visiting member, Councillor Linington, it was 
clarified that officers would be undertaking significant checks to ensure the 
scheme would not be exploited.

Ms Debbie Twitchen, Tenants Representative addressed the Cabinet in 
support of the recommendations.

The Cabinet welcomed the pilot scheme that would give more assistance to 
the most vulnerable residents.

Recommended to Council (Budget and policy framework):

(1) To recommend to Full Council that the 2019/20 Local Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme be adopted as the 2020/21 scheme.

Page 8



28 October 2019 3 Cabinet

(2) To recommend to Full Council that the Council Tax Class C Discount for 
empty and unfurnished properties be ended from 1 April 2020.

(Key decision):

(3) To establish a pilot scheme during 2020/21 to provide additional relief to 
the self-employed on very low income.

Reasons for decisions:

(1) Ending the Class C discount would encourage property owners to try to 
avoid having properties that are not occupied. 

(2) The additional monies raised would be used to support those self-
employed CTR claimants who were affected by the application of the 
minimum income floor and during the year of 2020/21 assess the likely impact 
on the council tax base of removal of minimum income floor.

40 Pesticide policy and pollinator strategy 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Director of Service Delivery 
introducing the Council’s Pesticide Policy and Pollinator Strategy.

Ms Debbie Twitchen. Tenants Representative praised Karen Rigby-Faux, 
Community Liaison Officer for Burleys for her tireless work campaigning for 
pesticide free areas across Lewes District.

Visiting member, Councillor Linington supported the proposals outlined in the 
report and commented that the process had begun during the previous 
administration.

Thanks were conveyed to Jane Goodall, Strategy and Partnership Lead 
(Quality Environment) and Andy Frost, Senior Specialist Advisor (Open 
Spaces / Contracts) for their work in carrying out the vision of the 
administration, as well as an appreciation of the expertise in the team.

It was hoped that the strategy and policy would help influence East Sussex 
County Council and other partners to take a similar approach.

Resolved (Key decision):

(1) To approve the Pesticide Policy and agree that the policy would be 
reviewed one year from adoption 

(2) To approve the Pollinator Strategy for adoption and agree that the strategy 
would be reviewed in 2021.

Reason for decisions:

To provide a framework and action plans for Lewes District Council in its 
approach to land management

Page 9



28 October 2019 4 Cabinet

41 Community Infrastructure Levy Spending Recommendations 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Deputy Chief Executive and Director 
of Regeneration and Planning seeking their approval to release Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) funds, as recommended by the CIL Executive Board. 
This would assist in the delivery of certain infrastructure projects required to 
support development in the district.

It was clarified that the figure for Newhaven Band Stand was £13,280 as this 
had not been confirmed prior to the report’s publication.

Visiting member and Chair of Audit and Standards Committee, Councillor 
Peterson declared a personal interest in this item as the Parish Clerk for 
Piddinhoe Parish Council and remained in the room and took part in the 
discussion. He addressed the Cabinet and raised concerns about the safety 
at Egrets Way. It was clarified that Cabinet did not interfere in the bidding 
process and its remit was to consider whether or not to release funds as 
applied for.

The Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Regeneration and Planning 
commented that the Council took a robust approach to collection and 
enforcement which had resulted in a significantly high collection rate.

Resolved (Key decision):

To agree the release of funds from the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
governance pots as recommended by the CIL Executive Board.

Reason for decision:

To support the delivery of the right level and type of infrastructure to support 
the growth identified for the local planning authority in the adopted Joint Core 
Strategy.

42 Draft Revised Statement of Community Involvement 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Deputy Chief Executive and Director 
of Regeneration and Planning seeking their approval to publish the Draft 
Revised Statement of Community Involvement for a consultation period of 8 
weeks.

A revised version of section 1.17 of the Statement of Community Involvement 
had been circulated to the Cabinet and would be amended for the version that 
would be sent out to consultation.

Thanks were conveyed to Tondra Thom, Planning Policy Lead and her team 
for their work in producing the document.

Page 10



28 October 2019 5 Cabinet

Resolved (Budget and policy framework):

To approve the publication of the Draft Revised Statement of Community 
Involvement for a consultation period of 8 weeks.

Reason for decision:

To ensure that progress is made in reviewing and updating the Council’s 
Statement of Community Involvement in accordance with national legislation.

43 Adoption of the Newhaven Neighbourhood Plan 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Deputy Chief Executive and Director 
of Regeneration and Planning regarding the potential adoption of the 
Newhaven Neighbourhood Plan following a successful referendum on the 10 
October 2019.

1,105 voted in support of the Neighbourhood Plan, with 192 voting against.

Thanks were conveyed to Newhaven Town Council for their work in producing 
the Plan, with support and advice from the District Council.

Recommended to Council (Budget and policy framework):

To recommend to Full Council that the Newhaven Neighbourhood Plan be 
formally adopted as part of the statutory development plan for the district.

Reason for decision:

To ensure the Newhaven Neighbourhood Plan is ‘made’ within the timeframe 
set out by the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012.

44 Property Disposal and Transfer Policy Revision 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Deputy Chief Executive and Director 
of Regeneration and Planning asking them to consider revisions to the 
Property Disposal and Transfer Policy to include reference to Community 
Asset Transfer and Devolution.

Resolved (Key decision):

To agree and adopt the revisions to the Policy Disposal and Transfer Policy to 
include provision for Community Asset Transfer.

Reason for decision:

The Policy Disposal and Transfer Policy needs to be updated to include 
provision for Community Asset Transfer.

Page 11



28 October 2019 6 Cabinet

45 Housing development update 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Deputy Chief Executive and Director 
of Regeneration and Planning seeking their approval for a new sustainable 
Council housing project and to amend plans for ongoing housing development 
schemes, ensuring they have a focus on sustainable design and delivery.

Ms Debbie Twitchen, Tenants Representative, addressed the Cabinet in 
support of the proposed recommendations.

The Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Regeneration and Planning 
advised that as the schemes progressed the Council would be incorporating 
as many sustainability measures to ensure they meet the priorities of the 
administration.

It was clarified that residents for the areas affected would be consulted in 
detail as part of the standard planning process.

Resolved (Key decision):

(1) To note and approve the updated Lewes Town & Ringmer Council 
Housing Infill programme, as laid out at appendix 1 to the report, subject to a 
final costed plan being approved by Cabinet.

(2) To approve an in principle programme of Council housing on infill land in 
Newhaven, as laid out at appendix 2 to the report, subject to a final costed 
plan being approved by Cabinet.

(3) To note the updated development scheme at Anchor Field, Ringmer.

(4) To approve the sale of Housing Revenue Account (HRA) land to 
Aspiration Homes LLP (AHLLP) for the construction of 11 affordable rented 
homes at Anchor Field, Ringmer and associated loan to deliver the affordable 
housing. The delegations for the sale of HRA land and loan facilities are as 
contained in the Cabinet report of 23rd April 2018 entitled “Housing 
Development Update”.

Reason for decisions:

The overarching reason for the recommendations is to maximise the Council’s 
ability to provide affordable housing within the District, partly through the full 
utilisation of receipts received from Council homes sold under the Right to 
Buy.

Page 12



28 October 2019 7 Cabinet

46 Any other business 

Ms Debbie Twitchen, Tenants Representative addressed the Cabinet in 
relation to Tenants of Lewes District’s (TOLD) input into the budget setting 
process for the Housing Revenue Account. The Director of Service Delivery 
confirmed that a meeting had been booked and would answer the questions 
that had been raised.

The meeting ended at 3.28 pm

Councillor Zoe Nicholson (Chair)

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet

Date: 10 February 2020

Title: Portfolio Progress and Performance Report 2019/20- Quarter 
3 (1 October-31 December 2019)

Report of: Director of Regeneration and Planning 

Cabinet member: Councillor Chris Collier, Cabinet member for Performance 
and People 

Ward(s): All

Purpose of report: To consider the Council’s progress and performance in 
respect of key projects and targets contained in the 
Corporate Plan 2016-20 for the second and third quarters of 
the year (July- December 2019) as shown in Appendix 1. 

Decision type: Non-key

Officer 
recommendation(s):

Note progress and performance for Quarter 3 and Quarter 2. 
To consider any recommendations from the Scrutiny 
committee who considered the report on 6 Feb.

Reasons for 
recommendations:

To enable Cabinet members to consider specific aspects of 
the Council’s progress and performance.

Contact Officer(s): Name: Millie McDevitt
Post title: Projects and Performance Lead
E-mail: Millie.McDevitt@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
Telephone number: 01273 085637 / 01323 415637

1 Introduction

1.1

1.2

1.3

The Council has an annual cycle for the preparation, implementation and 
monitoring of its business plans and budgets. This cycle enables us regularly to 
review the Council’s work, and the targets it sets for performance, to ensure these 
continue to reflect customer needs and Council aspirations.  

It is important to monitor and assess progress and performance on a regular 
basis, to ensure the Council continues to deliver priority outcomes and excellent 
services to its customers and communities. 

This report sets out the Council’s performance against its targets and projects as 
set out in the Corporate Plan 2016-20 for the third quarter of 2019/20 (the period 
running from 1st October to 31 December  2019).

Page 15

Agenda Item 8



1.4 The report also provides the out-turn from the second quarter. This would usually 
be done a the preceding quarter’s information is usually given, however is 
particularly worth noting given that purdah for the general election meant that 
Q2’s performance out-turn was not presented at the usual time. 

2 Performance in the third quarter of 2019/20

2.1

2.2

Appendix 1 provides a high level summary of progress and performance arranged 
by Cabinet portfolio. The summary shows where performance and projects are 
‘on track/on target’ and where there are areas of risk, concern or under-
performance.  Where performance or projects are ‘off track/below target’, an 
explanation of the management action being taken to address this is also 
provided.

Detailed project/performance tracking information is recorded in the Council’s 
performance management information system (Pentana (formerly known as 
Covalent). The system uses the following symbols to indicate the current status of 
projects and performance targets:

 = Performance that is at or above target;
 = Project is on track;
  = Performance that is slightly below target but is within an acceptable 

tolerance/projects where there are issues causing significant delay or 
change to planned activities; 

 = Performance that is below target/projects that are not expected to be 
completed in time or within requirements;

= Project has changed or been discontinued;
 = Data with no performance target.

3 Financial Appraisal

3.1 Project and performance monitoring and reporting arrangements are contained 
within existing estimates. Corporate performance information should also be 
considered alongside the Council’s financial update reports (also reported to 
Cabinet each quarter) as there is a clear link between performance and 
budgets/resources. 

4 Legal Implications

4.1 Comment from the Legal Services Team is not necessary for this routine 
monitoring report

5 Risk Management Implications

5.1 It is important that corporate performance is monitored regularly otherwise there is 
a risk that reductions in service levels, or projects falling behind schedule, are not 
addressed in a timely way. 

Page 16



6 Equality Analysis

6.1 The equality implications of individual decisions relating to the projects/services 
covered in this report are addressed within other relevant Council reports or as 
part of programmed equality analysis. The equality implications of projects that 
form part of the Joint Transformation Programme are addressed through separate 
Equality and Fairness assessments.

7 Appendices

7.1 Appendix 1 – Portfolio Progress and Performance Report (Quarter 3 2019/20)

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



`̀`````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````````

Appendix 1

Lewes District Council Portfolio Progress and Performance Report
Quarter 3 2019-2020 (1 October to 31 December)

Key

Performance that is at or above target
Project is on track

Performance that is below target
Projects that are not expected to be completed in time or within requirements

Project has been completed, been 
discontinued or is on hold

Performance that is slightly below target but is within an acceptable tolerance
Projects : where there are issues causing significant delay, changes to planned activities, scale, cost pressures or risks

Direction of travel on performance 
indicator : improving performance Direction of travel on performance indicator : declining performance

Direction of travel on performance 
indicator : no change Data with no performance target

P
age 19



1. Leader & lead officer (Deputy Chief Executive)

Projects & Programmes

Project / Initiative Description
Target 

Completion or 
key milestone 

date

Status Update 

North Street Quarter

Regeneration of the North Street 
Quarter area in Lewes to provide 
416 homes; health hub; car park 
and new commercial space. 

Phase 1 
completion: Q1 

2021/22

North Street Quarter Ltd (NSQL) commenced marketing the scheme for a developer (for all three 
phases) on 22 June 2019. The closing date for initial bids was 31st October 2019, with best and 
final offers by 9th December 2019.  Bids are currently being reviewed.

The land collaboration (legal) agreement between NSQL and LDC will require that any prospective 
developer provides a range of information to satisfy the landowners that it has the financial capacity 
and experience to deliver the scheme. As soon as a developer has been identified, a more detailed 
development programme / timelines will be available. Both landowners will remain actively involved 
in the scheme following appointment of a developer.  

LDC continues to work to secure the remaining third party freehold land interests at the site.

                                           

Springman House- Blue light 
services hub

Relocation of key emergency 
services to create a blue light 
services hub that supports delivery 
of the North Street Quarter.

 Q3 2019/20- 
key milestone 

(planning)

Discussions are ongoing with East Sussex Fire & Rescue service, Sussex Police and SECAmb 
about the final scheme/ layout design. By end Q3 we had hoped to have progressed further towards 
planning application and are now aiming to submit Autumn 2020.

Build costs for the agreed fire station scheme are in excess of estimates made at project start 
hence the amber rating. Build costs will need to be agreed with NSQL as project costs to the NSQ 
scheme.

Heads of term will now be updated to reflect the current scheme.

P
age 20



Project / Initiative Description
Target 

Completion or 
key milestone 

date

Status Update 

Seaford Health hub (formerly 
Downs Leisure Centre)

Project is intended to deliver new 
premises for two GP practices and 
East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust, 
new and refurbished space in the 
Downs (Wave) Leisure Centre, a 
pharmacy and new facilities for the 
Over 60s’ Club.

Q3 2020/21

The Council’s Scrutiny Committee established a working group to look at the proposals for the 
Downs site / the development of a Seaford Health Hub, and the issues raised by members of the 
Council, and to acknowledge and consider the petition received by Full Council. 

The working group will report to Scrutiny on 6 Feb and then Cabinet. 

Key Performance Indicators

Preceding 
year: 

 Q3 2018/19

Preceding 
quarter: 

Q2 
2019/20

Current: 
 Q3 2019/20

Performance 
trend

Status Notes

KPI Annual 
Target

Out-turn Out-turn Out-turn Q2 to Q3

Maximise amount of Council Tax collected 
during the year  

98%
(profiled 

per quarter)

85.57% 
(vs  85.77% 
profiled 
target)

57.07% (vs 
57.81% 
profiled 
target)

84.93% (vs 
85.57% target

Whilst the collection rate is 0.64% below target, it has improved on 
last month when it was -0.97% below. This improvement is expected 
to continue during Q4.

Maximise amount of Business Rates collected 
during the year 

98.5%
(profiled)

84.07% (vs 
85.05%)

55.28% (vs 
54.64% 
profiled 
target)

81.67% (vs 
84.07% 
target)

The collection rate is 2.4% below target mainly due to an increase in 
the net collectable debit resulting from Retail Relief being removed 
from accounts where there was no entitlement to relief following 
review. 200 final notices were issued during December totalling 
£800k which will be summonsed in January if the ratepayer fails to 
reach an agreement or settle the arrears in full.

P
age 21



2. Regeneration and Prosperity portfolio holder & lead officer (Deputy Chief Executive): 

Projects & Programmes

Project / Initiative Description
Target 

Completion or 
key milestone 

date

Status Update 

Newhaven Enterprise Zone
(NEZ)

NEZ covers 8 key sites of strategic 
importance with the aim of driving 
economic growth through the creation 
of up to 55,000m² of new employment 
floor space, refurbishing 15,000m² of 
existing employment floor space and 
creating / sustaining up to 2,000 FTE 
jobs over a 25-year period.
In 2019/20 we expect to reach the 
following milestones: 

Overall Q4 
2041/42

Specific 
milestones listed 
under Newhaven 

town centre & 
Railway Quay

The EZ has transferred from the governance structure of Coast to Capital to LEP to South East 
LEP.  The board has been widened to ensure representation from the private and voluntary 
sector and it is working towards prioritisation of the investment by site and by projects. 
Business cases are being developed as appropriate to assist and inform this decision making 
–process.   

The project is gaining momentum as further potential funding opportunities become available.                                         

Newhaven Town Centre Delivery of mixed use regeneration 
scheme within NEZ. Q4 2020/21

Ongoing work into viability of the scheme. The Coop site has been earmarked for potential 
funding from the Future High Streets fund. 

Railway Quay Delivery of mixed use regeneration 
scheme within NEZ. Q2 2020/21

Project delayed as awaiting a decision from central government (Department for Education) on 
the council's proposal to develop the adjacent UTC. The UTC development has a bearing on 
how we develop Railway Quay.

P
age 22



3.  Planning portfolio holder & lead officer (Deputy Chief Executive)

Projects & Programmes

Project / Initiative Description
Target 

Completion or 
key milestone 

date

Status Update 

Neighbourhood Planning Ongoing with annual review. Q4 2019/20

Seaford NP: The Seaford Neighbourhood Plan (NP) has completed examination. The 
examiner has recommended that subject to modifications, the neighbourhood plan should 
progress to referendum. Subject to the modifications recommended at examination, regard 
should be had to the policies of the Seaford Neighbourhood Plan in making planning 
decisions. The referendum is scheduled for February 2020.

Newhaven : The Newhaven Neighbourhood Plan was successful at referendum and was 
‘made’ on 27th November 2019 and forms part of the Lewes District Development Plan.

Peacehaven and Telscombe : The Qualifying Body has applied for technical support from 
Locality in order to progress with the Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental 
Assessment. The appointed consultant, AECOM, has produced a draft Site Assessment 
report for comment. The town councils have appointed a consultant, to progress the plan.

Ringmer: No changes were made to the Ringmer NP prior to the May elections.  Ringmer 
Parish council can initiate a review of the neighbourhood plan at any time to address minor 
or more moderate changes as required and the Neighbourhood Planning Officer will respond 
with support as necessary once advised by the Parish Council that a review will take place.

Chailey : The Regulation 14 Consultation concluded on June 28th. The parish council has 
accepted most of the representations made by both statutory and non-statutory consultees 
and revisions to the Chailey Neighbourhood Plan are underway. Chailey parish council has 
not yet submitted the neighbourhood plan for a pre-Regulation16 review.

P
age 23



Project / Initiative Description
Target 

Completion or 
key milestone 

date

Status Update 

Newick :  The Parish Council are considering a review of the Newick Neighbourhood plan. 
The neighbourhood plan officer has been in contact with the parish council to discuss a  
review.

Barcombe - The neighbourhood plan officer met with the chair of the Barcombe 
neighbourhood plan steering group to discuss the reasons for the group disbanding. The 
chair has confirmed that the group do not feel that the time and effort required to produce an 
neighbourhood plan will be met by the community.

General Neighbourhood Plan information : The Town/Parish  Councils and Steering Groups 
have been advised of the updated five year housing land supply position as at 1st April 2019, 
which demonstrates a 5 year supply of  5.59 years. The current position provides protection 
for neighbourhood planning policies following the National Planning Policy framework’s 11 
December 2018 cut-off for NPs ‘made’ two years or more before this date where a Local 
Authority cannot demonstrate a five year housing land supply. 

Going forward: The council’s project plan for neighbourhood planning sets a target of 
supporting 10 neighbourhood planning groups to adopt their neighbourhood plans by the end 
of February 2020. However, as Barcombe Parish Council have ceased neighbourhood 
planning activity and the other neighbourhood plans are progressing at a slower rate than 
anticipated due to their complexity, it is proposed that the end date for the project is extended 
to December 2021, thereby entering “Phase 2” of the neighbourhood planning project. 

                          

Local Plan Part 2

Local Plan Part 2 will allocate land for 
different types of development 
(including new housing and Gypsy 
and Traveller pitches) as well as land 
to be protected.

Q3 2019/20

During Q3 the council was awaiting the inspectors report. This has now been received and 
Report is available on the council’s website. It will be going to full council in February. 

P
age 24



Key Performance Indicators

Preceding 
year: 

Q3 2018/19

Preceding 
quarter: Q2 

2019/20

Current: 
Q3 2019/20

Performan
ce trend

Status Notes

KPI Annual 
Target

Out-turn Out-turn Out-turn Q2 to Q3

Increase the percentage of major 
applications determined within 13 
weeks- LDC

At least 60%
66.67% 100% 66.67% 2 of 3 major applications processed in time. We 

anticipated a downward trend and mitigated for this. 

Increase the percentage of major 
applications determined within 13 
weeks- SDNPA

At least 60%
Not reported 
to Scrutiny/ 
Cabinet

0 cases 0 cases 0 cases this period.

Increase the percentage of minor 
applications determined within 8 
weeks- LDC

At least 70%

Previously 
reported 

LDC/SDNPA 
jointly
75%

88.33% 81.42% Performance is above the national PI.

Increase the percentage of minor 
applications determined within 8 
weeks- SDNPA

At least 70%
Previously 
reported 
LDC/SDNPA 
jointly

75%

79.22% 52.63%

This has been a difficult time for staffing due to national 
difficulties in recruitment, and staff sickness. We are 
working hard to address this shortfall in performance, 
have successfully recruited a new member of staff and 
are re-evaluating roles in the Casework and Specialist 
planning team to develop a SDNP team to focus on 
minor applications and improve performance through 
Q4.

Quality of decision making –Meet 
government targets for  quality 
making with less than 10% of 
decisions overturned at appeal

Less than 10%

25% 20% 27.3%
This is a government set target and looks to prioritise 
overturned appeals as an indicator of councils not 
following national and or local planning policy 
advice/guidance. LDC has a very low number of appeals 
overall, so in practice this is just 3 out of 11 appeals. We 
are pleased that we have a low overall number of 
appeals compared to other authorities and confident that 

P
age 25



KPI Annual 
Target

Preceding 
year: 

Q3 2018/19

Preceding 
quarter: Q2 

2019/20

Current: 
Q3 2019/20

Performan
ce trend

Status Notes

Out-turn Out-turn Out-turn Q2 to Q3

the measure outlined above will reduce the number of 
those overturned.

LW/19/0343 - Considered that the change to the parking 
arrangement to the front of the dwelling would create a 
visually harsh environment, but there are no restrictions 
to prevent this being provided to the front of the dwelling 
with its current use, and therefore does not consider that 
the proposal would result in detrimental harm to the 
area.

LW/18/0907 - Contemporary design would not appear 
incongruous within the varied street scene.  Considered 
that the dwellings would by sympathetic to the local 
character and maintain a sense of place. 

LW/18/0533 - Without any harm to the character and 
appearance of the area, being in a sustainable location, 
and the small scale of the development, the proposal 
despite conflicting with the policies it does not seriously 
undermine the objectives of policy and therefore the 
policy conflicts do not result in any harm and the 
proposal can therefore be approved.

Number of EV charging points agreed 
within planning applications.

Data only for 
yr1 to allow 

benchmarking

New PI REPORTED 
ANNUALLY

REPORTED 
ANNUALLY

REPORTED 
ANNUALLY

n/a REPORTED ANNUALLY

P
age 26



4. Recycling, Waste and Open Spaces portfolio holder & lead officer (Director for Service Delivery)

Key Performance Indicators

Preceding 
year: 

Q3 2018/19

Preceding 
quarter: Q2 

2019/20

Current: 
Q3 2019/20

Performance 
trend

Status Notes

KPI Annual 
Target

Out-turn Out-turn Out-turn Q2 to Q3

Reduce the number of reported fly-
tipping incidents

data only- 
reducing New PI for 

19/20
39 27 Data only

From 01 Oct to 31 Dec 2019 there were a total of 27 
confirmed fly tip reports in Lewes district, compared 
with 58 in the same period the previous year. This is 
31 fewer incidents; a like-for-like reduction of 53%. 
The cumulative number of reports for Q1-3 FY 
19/20 stands at 114, compared to 145 in the same 
period of FY 18/19, this 31 fewer incidents; a like-
for-like reduction of 21%.

19 of the 27 fly tips comprised general household 
waste, with only 4 incidents of fly tipped construction 
waste, and the remainder comprising garden waste 
and white goods. The predominance of household 
waste is in contrast to the rest of the year to date, as 
well as to this period last year, and is due largely to 
a significant reduction in dumped construction 
waste, in addition to the overall reduction of fly 
tipping incidents.

We continue to see the north of the district targeted 
more by fly tippers, though to a lesser extent. 
Newhaven has been more heavily affected by fly 
tipping this quarter, with six incidents all of which 
comprised household waste. 

Increase percentage of household 
waste sent for reuse, recycling and 
composting

At least 
38%

38.74 (vs target 
of 32%)

41.69% 42.5%
          

KG waste collected per household Data only New PI 162.22kg 151 kg Data only There has been a marginal drop in waste collected 
per household. Collection rates are being monitored. 

P
age 27



5. Sustainability portfolio holder & lead officer (Deputy Chief Executive):

Projects & Programmes

Project / Initiative Description
Target 

Completion or 
key milestone 

date

Status Update 

Deliver the Upper 
Ouse flood protection 
and water prevention 
project

Programme of flood protection 
work across the District
In 2019/20 we expect to reach 
the following milestones 
Ringmer Village Green: 
Q4 Designs costed and 
applications submitted for 
funding grants.
Ringmer Broyleside: Q4 
Investigation potential for 
proposed land to be allocated 
for housing development 

Q3 2022/23

Meeting held with Sussex Wildlife Trust and Ouse and Adur River Trust – focus and key milestones for 
delivering NFM projects over the next 3 years explored and confirmed. Key aim is to both protect properties 
within the catchment and slow down and store water in the catchment as a whole.

New agreement between all parties being finalised. Some of the key outcomes so far this year:

 38 leaky dams,
 15 landowners engaged in process,
 0.1ha of wader scrape created in the floodplain, and donation received from local school to plant trees 

as part of carbon offsetting project.                                        

Newhaven Flood 
Alleviation Scheme 
(Environment 
Agency)

Enabling the delivery of key 
infrastructure projects in 
Newhaven.

Q4 2019/20

All works to Areas 2-5 are now completed and A26 tie-in works have been completed ahead of schedule.

Discussions are still ongoing with Network Rail re: demountable floodgates over railway. Rail possession 
requests have been made for 27hour windows in June & Sept 2020 and March 2021. There is also the 
possibility of a possession over Christmas 2020. This is because the line cannot be electrified whilst the 
supports for the gate are installed and cables relocated. Project remains on budget and it is likely that work 
will be completed on floodgate by March 2021 (subject to confirmation of rail possession requests).

Climate Emergency Delivering a net carbon zero 
council

2030 (more 
specific 

milestones tbc)

New strategy lead started work in November 2019.  Work started on preparing a sustainability and climate 
change strategy.

Three priorities for early action agreed and £100k budget allocated for spend against these priorities.

First meeting of Sustainability Panel held resulting in very helpful feedback and insights from community 

P
age 28



Project / Initiative Description
Target 

Completion or 
key milestone 

date

Status Update 

partners.

A Climate emergency motion was passed in July 2019. Since then, the following has occurred:

- Recruitment and appointment to a new post covering this work
- All committee papers now include a sustainability implications statement
- Action plan written which includes funding proposals

Further detail is contained in the Cabinet progress update report elsewhere in this agenda.

Key Performance Indicators

Preceding year: 
Q3 2018/19

Preceding 
quarter: Q2 

2019/20

Current: 
Q3 2019/20

Performance 
trend

Status Notes

KPI Annual 
Target

Out-turn Out-turn Out-turn Q2 to Q3

Reduce number of times nitrogen 
dioxide levels exceed national air 
quality objectives 
(200 μg/m3 hourly mean ave.)

18 (annual 
max)

Not reported to 
Scrutiny or Cabinet

0 0

Reduce sites exceeding recommended 
national air quality nitrogen dioxide 
levels  (40 μg/m3 quarterly mean)

Data only 
Not reported to 

Scrutiny or Cabinet
TBC- confirmed 

annually
TBC- confirmed 

annually
TBC- 

confirmed 
annually

Reduce number of times particulate 
matter levels exceed national air 
quality objectives (50 μg/m3 24 hour 
ave)

35 (annual 
max) Not reported to 

Scrutiny or Cabinet
1               1

     

      

There has been only 1 occasion when the 
number of times 24-hour mean 50 μg/m3 
exceeded. The target is 35 times a year.

P
age 29



6. Housing portfolio holder & lead officer (Director of Service Delivery)
Projects & Programmes

Project / Initiative Description
Target 

Completion or 
key milestone 

date

Status Update 

Affordable homes Delivery of 30 affordable homes as 
per set out in the Local Plan Q4 2019/20

This is an ongoing programme of work which is being discussed.                                                    

Compliance of regulatory and 
health & safety requirements

Adherence to yearly schedule of 
compliance checks and timely 
completion of  necessary work 
relating to council’s regulatory and 
legislative health and safety 
requirements

Q4 2019/20

Programme of checks carried out to plan. No issues of concern identified.

Key Performance Indicators 
Preceding 

year: 
Q3 2018/19

Preceding 
quarter: Q2 

2019/20

Current: 
Q3 2019/20

Performan
ce trend

Status Notes

KPI Annual 
Target

Out-turn Out-turn Out-turn Q2 to Q3

Increase net additional homes 
provided  (reported annually only not 
quarterly)

245
REPORTED 
ANNUALLY

REPORTED 
ANNUALLY

REPORTED 
ANNUALLY

REPORTED 
ANNUALLY

Decrease the time taken from the 
receipt of a fully complete DFG 
application to the grant being approved  

Less than 
28 days  10 days 7 days 8 days 

Decrease total number of households 
living in emergency (nightly paid) 
accommodation

Data only
34 49 35

Data only
At the end of Q3 there were 35 households in emergency 
accommodation in Lewes District. This is down from 49 at the 
end of Q2, a reduction of 28.5%.

P
age 30



KPI Annual 
Target

Preceding 
year: 

Q3 2018/19

Preceding 
quarter: Q2 

2019/20

Current: 
Q3 2019/20

Performan
ce trend

Status Notes

Out-turn Out-turn Out-turn Q2 to Q3

Despite this, demand for housing and homelessness services 
remained high during this quarter.

Between 1 October and 31 December 94 households presented 
to Lewes District Council in need of housing support. 62 of these 
households were at risk of homelessness and 32 were homeless 
on the day.

Out of these 32 households, 24 were provided with immediate 
housing solutions and 8 households were placed into emergency 
accommodation by our Housing Solutions team.

Our Temporary Accommodation and Commercial Lettings team 
have moved 27 out of emergency accommodation in this 
quarter.

Work continues in the new year to reduce the overall number of 
households in EA. This includes reviewing our re-alignment of 
work streams, initially carried out in July 19, and reviewing our 
homelessness strategy.

Increase  overall tenant satisfaction Data only 84.7% 88% 83%

There was a 10% reduction in overall response rate for this 
quarter (probably due to Xmas) which impacts the figures - but 
we will review at year end.

P
age 31



KPI Annual 
Target

Preceding 
year: 

Q3 2018/19

Preceding 
quarter: Q2 

2019/20

Current: 
Q3 2019/20

Performan
ce trend

Status Notes

Out-turn Out-turn Out-turn Q2 to Q3

Decrease rent arrears of current 
tenants (as a percentage of all rent)

Less than 
3%

Reported as % 
of rent 
collected: 
96.06%

5.19% 5.72%

     

An improvement plan has recently been introduced to focus on 
greater caseworker ownership of their individual rent arrears 
caseload, with an emphasis on reaching a monetary team 
collection target by the 31st March 2020.  The expectation is that 
team performance will continue to further improve over the 
coming months.

80% of Universal credit claimants who are council tenants are in 
arrears. Although they, like other tenants, have payment plans to 
assist them, we have added eight further direct debit dates to 
align our rent payment system with the UC payment dates. 
Advice is being given on non-priority debts and we have 
additional resource for staff to carry out homes visits and work 
directly with the tenants who require additional support. We hope 
these measures will help to reduce the level of arrears over the 
following quarters.

Decrease average number of days to 
re-let Council homes (excluding 
temporary lets)

Less than 
23

26 days 22 days 17 days
The overall figure for this quarter is within target, which is a 

significant improvement in comparison to last year. We continue 
to monitor void and lettings during weekly meetings and this will 
continue in order to closely manage performance going forward

Number of housing lets per quarter Data only NEW PI 37 41

P
age 32



7. Community and Customers portfolio holder & lead officer (Director for service delivery)
Key Performance Indicators

Preceding 
year: 

Q3 2018/19

Preceding 
quarter: Q2 

2019/20

Current: 
Q3 2019/20

Performance 
trend

Status Notes

KPI Annual 
Target

Out-turn Out-turn Out-turn Q2 to Q3

Increase percentage of calls to the 
contact centre answered within 60 
seconds
(NB- quality of response to be reported 
in commentary )

At least 
80% during 
normal call 

demand 

51.63% 88.9% 77.56%

The Customer Advisors continue to work hard on trying to 
maintain the improved stats from Q2 where we hit and exceeded 
the SLA of 80% of all calls answered within 60seconds for 
October but then dipped below for November and December 
where Quarter 3 as a whole was 77.56%.
Although we were just shy of hitting out SLA for Q3 this was 
largely down to the snap General Election which put a lot of 
additional pressure on the call. 
We are hopeful that as we enter the new calendar year and 
Quarter 4, our stats will improve greatly without the pressure of 
the Election and our remaining new staff finishing their training. 

Average number of days to process 
new claims for housing/council tax 
reduction

No more 
than 22 

days

36.7 days 23.1 days 22 days      

The quarter's performance is on target for the first time since Q4 
of 2017/18.

This increase in performance is due to a number of factors:

-A clear focus from staff on dealing with a new claim within 24 
hours of receipt by either assessing the claim if possible or, if not 
possible, writing out immediately for any further information that 
is required. 

 -Close management of work coming into the section by the team 
leaders,

P
age 33



KPI Annual 
Target

Preceding 
year: 

Q3 2018/19

Preceding 
quarter: Q2 

2019/20

Current: 
Q3 2019/20

Performance 
trend

Status Notes

Out-turn Out-turn Out-turn Q2 to Q3

Ensuring new claims do not get overlooked and follow up action 
is taken in a timely manner

 Additional training provided to caseworkers

- Additional support provided to caseworkers through the 
Specialists' Buddy' system

Caseworkers becoming more experienced.

Average number of days to process 
new claims for change of 
circumstances

No more 
than 8 days 13.1 days  14 days 13.5 days

The last three months, October to December, have seen an 
ongoing improvement from 17 days to 13 days to 8 days. This 
has been as a result of measures as outlined above. The amount 
of work waiting to be processed has also shown a significant 
decrease from previous months. 

P
age 34



8. Tourism and Devolution

Projects & Programmes

Project / Initiative Description
Target 

Completion or 
key milestone 

date

Status Update 

Devolution of Open Spaces

Work with new grounds maintenance 
contractor, Town and Parish Councils 
and local volunteers to maintain high 
quality public parks and community 
spaces.

Q3 2019/20

Devolution sites to Newhaven Town Council: 

Eastside Rec-Completed in August 2019
Lewes Road Rec – awaiting approval from NTC to amended boundary.
Riverside Country Park:  ESCC have prepared draft heads of terms for land within their 
ownership and it is planned that the LDC arrangements mirror those terms.  ESCC to 
discuss with NTC prior to LDC finalising.

Ongoing 
Drove Park Recreation Ground: There is an outstanding issue regarding access over 
the Industrial Estate. Completion date asap 
Avis Road recreation ground: There is an outstanding issue regarding an access 
licence that is being dealt with. Completion date asap but dependant on resolution of 
third party issues. 

Next wave

Castle Hill nature reserve & Meeching Down: Due to wider Council plans, NTC has 
been informed that Castle Hill is to be pulled from the current phase of devolution. 
Meeching Down still proceeding and pending discussions with NTC on other sites that 
they wish to bring forward.  

Devolution sites to Lewes Town Council : 

Mountfield Road (land not held in trust); Mountfield Road (land held in trust); Stanley 
Turner recreation ground (land held in trust): LDC has had confirmation from LTC that 
they wish to proceed with these sites and has approached the Charity Commission to 

P
age 35



Project / Initiative Description
Target 

Completion or 
key milestone 

date

Status Update 

progress matters. The Commission has confirmed that it does not need to grant a 
scheme and instead that the trustees can pass a resolution under section 280 of the 
Charities Act 2011 to appoint an alternative trustee. Officers are investigating the 
process that would need to be carried out to achieve change of trustees. 

Devolution sites Rural Areas : 

East Chiltington, Hollycroft Field including play space: Final terms of management 
being agreed. Estimated completion date Jan 2020 subject to parish council 
agreement.

P
age 36



9. Performance and People portfolio holder and lead officer (Assistant director of human resources)
Key Performance Indicators

Preceding 
year: 

Q3 2018/19

Preceding 
quarter: Q2 

2019/20

Current: 
Q3 2019/20

Performance 
trend

Status Notes

KPI Annual 
Target

Out-turn Out-turn Out-turn Q2 to Q3

Continued Improvement in average 
working days lost due to sickness per 
FTE equivalent staff  

Less than 8 
days

(less than 2 
days per 
quarter)

     

    2.79 days
2.1 days

2.72

Q3 saw a higher figure that Q2 although we would expect an 
increase during the winter months. 6 employees were off for 
the whole of Q3 for a variety of reasons.    If we take a 
cumulative figure, and if we exceed 2 days in Q4, we will pass 
the max 8 days annual target. 

Without LDC Waste Services, the Q3 figure reduces to 2.29 
days. Waste Services on its own is 5.46 days, which is an 
increase from Q2 for Waste Services. HR business partners 
continue to support managers to robustly manage attendance 
issues. NB the average national public sector sickness 
absence figures for 2017/18 (currently most up to date figures 
published) was 8.5 days. 
.   
There is a range of support offered to staff absent due to 
sickness including our employee assistance programme which 
supports employees with all sorts of work life issues providing 
support and guidance on a range of issues – 24 hours a day, 
365 days a year.  We also ensure that absent employees 
receive regular communication from their line manager, have 
welfare visits and that we obtain professional medical advice. 

In addition, we have increased funding for occupational health 
support and have trained more staff to provide 'first aid' to staff 
experiencing mental health issues.  Mental health first aid 

P
age 37



KPI Annual 
Target

Preceding 
year: 

Q3 2018/19

Preceding 
quarter: Q2 

2019/20

Current: 
Q3 2019/20

Performance 
trend

Status Notes

Out-turn Out-turn Out-turn Q2 to Q3

teaches staff to listen, reassure and respond, even in a crisis – 
and even potentially stop a crisis from happening. Our Mental 
Health First Aiders are able to empower others to access the 
support they might need for successful management of 
symptoms. This could include self-help books or websites, 
accessing services via their GP, the EAP, other support groups 
and more.

Increase social media responsiveness 
rate

At least 
80%

New PI 88% 89.67%

Increase  number of new sign-ups to 
social media channels

600
(150 per 
quarter)

896 225 226

Increase number of email sign-ups
500

Per quarter
589 696 900

P
age 38



Report to: Cabinet 

Date: 10 February 2020

Title: Corporate Plan 2020-24

Report of: Director of Regeneration and Planning

Cabinet member: Councillor Zoe Nicholson, Leader of the Council

Ward(s): All

Purpose of report: For Cabinet to consider and recommend the draft Lewes 
Council Corporate Plan 2020 – 24 to Full Council for 
adoption

Decision type: Budget and policy framework

Officer 
recommendation(s):

(1) To consider the draft Corporate Plan for 2020-2024 and

(2) To agree to recommend full council adopt the new 
corporate plan.

Reasons for 
recommendations:

To enable the Council to set out its strategic vision, 
objectives and priority projects for the next four years and 
provide a firm basis for forward planning and performance 
management.

Contact Officer(s): Name:  Millie McDevitt
Post title: Performance and Programmes lead
E-mail: Millie.Mcdevitt@lewes-Lewes.gov.uk
Telephone number: 01323415637

1 Introduction

1.1

1.2

The Corporate Plan is a key document. It sets out the council’s commitments to 
its residents and businesses and outlines a programme of important strategic 
objectives and the projects that will deliver these for the district.  It is important to 
bear in mind that the next four year’s priorities are set against an uncertain and 
challenging financial backdrop which requires the council to make the best 
possible use of its resources.

Whilst there is not a statutory requirement to produce a Corporate Plan, it 
remains important to ensure the authority has a robust framework within which 
to monitor and assess performance and achievements. 

Page 39

Agenda Item 9



1.3 Progress against outputs and projects set out in the plan will be reported to 
members on a quarterly basis, as part of normal performance management 
arrangements (through both Scrutiny and Cabinet).

2 Development of the Corporate Plan

2.1 The draft Corporate Plan has been prepared for Cabinet Members consideration 
having regard to the following:

a. The Council’s existing programme of transformation projects, 
community initiatives and policy commitments;

b. The needs and aspirations of the people who live and work in 
Lewes District

c. The priorities expressed by the Administration during and since the 
elections in May 2019 ; and

d. The financial and policy drivers likely to impact the Council in the 
short to medium term.

3.

3.1

Consultation

There will be a targeted stakeholder consultation period and public consultation 
using a range of methods.

4

4.1

4.2

Adoption and delivery of the Corporate Plan

Following adoption by Members, the final Council Plan will be published on the 
Council website.  Although a four year plan, it is considered a dynamic 
document that will develop over time and therefore will be subject to annual 
review and refresh, with appropriate consultation, throughout its lifespan.

Progress against key success measures and project deliverables contained 
within the document will be reported to Members on a regular basis, as part of 
the council’s usual performance management arrangements.

5 Financial appraisal

5.1 The financial aspects of all projects and actions within the Corporate Plan will be 
included within the approved budget for 2020/21 and the Medium Term Finance 
Strategy, or (in the case of new initiatives which may still be at an early planning 
stage) will be subject to future reports to, and approval by, Cabinet.

6 Legal implications

6.1 There are no legal Implications arising from this report.

7

7.1

Risk management implications

The risk management implications of individual decisions relating to the projects 
and initiatives covered in this report will be addressed as part of the planning 

Page 40



and delivery of those individual projects. 

8 Equality analysis

8.1 Equality Analyses are being undertaken in relation to the individual projects 
which make up the Council Plan, and therefore it has not been considered 
necessary to undertake an overarching analysis of the Plan as a whole.

9 Sustainability implications

Sustainability implications will be considered for each individual project and is a 
prime consideration for all areas of the council’s work as outlined in the 
Corporate Plan.

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



Re-imagining Lewes District
Corporate Plan 2020 �A 2024

Appendix 1

P
age 43



Introduction 

Page 1  Lewes District Council Corporate Plan 2020-24

Sustainability 
& climate change

Affordable
housing

Building 
community wealth

GETTING OUR SERVICES RIGHT FOR YOU

Welcome to our plan for the next four
years. This is the first plan of our 
Co-operative Alliance and, although it
doesn’t cover everything that we will be
working with you on as residents, it will
hopefully give you a strong sense of
our priorities and focus. 

Our District is a diverse, beautiful and
challenging place to live and work, with
strong Sussex traditions and a history of
standing up for each other and what
matters, whether that’s the community that
Bonfire societies create to the diverse and
exciting community and voluntary sector, or
the Sussex sense of “we won’t be druv”. We
are also a district of extremes of wealth and
inequality, and these differences in our
communities, much as the national picture,
have not got better they have worsened over
the last ten years.

Our community is also already experiencing
the impacts of climate change, through

flooding and coastal erosion. We know that
we have to take action to achieve carbon
zero by 2030. Communities, businesses and
other partners in the District must achieve
this too otherwise the impact of climate
breakdown will be felt worst by those most
vulnerable in our communities.

The poor state of our transport networks,
the importance of affordable sustainable
housing and fragility of our infrastructure are
often things that residents talk to us about. 

We’ve already had ten years of cuts to our
budget. Given that the national financial
picture for local government is unlikely to
change, we know that working with you and
our partners in our District is our top priority
to deliver services right the first time. By
using our council resources wisely we will
support employment opportunities, build
sustainable homes that people can afford to
live in, that provide the foundation for good
health and addressing the climate emergency.

Building our resilience as a community over
the next 4 years is essential if we want to
weather the storm of potentially deepening
inequality, climate breakdown and the
uncertainties caused by leaving the EU.
Doing what we can locally with what we
have seems to us be essential. As your
Council leaders we set out here what you
can expect of us and, how you can help us
to deliver the best quality services.

Our focus for the next four years in
partnership with you is:

• Provide Leadership to the district on
tackling climate emergency

• Creating sustainable community wealth
• Building homes that you can afford to live in.
Zoe Nicholson, James MacCleary, 
Chris Collier, Ruth O’Keeffe

Cabinet Group Leaders of the Co-operative
Alliance working together for you.

P
age 44



Page 2  Lewes District Council Corporate Plan 2020-24

We know how important our services
are to you, and getting them right
matters. Our areas of focus are:

• Provide the highest quality customer
service by focusing on resolving questions
and problems first time.

• Meet “Our Promise To You” by solving
your issues and questions by being
knowledgeable and accessible by phone
and online.

• Continuing to reduce our waste as well as
providing excellent recycling and refuse
services, improving our recycling rates to
the top 25% in the UK.

• Getting our communication and
engagement right through regular
information sharing and consultation. 

• Improving links and partnerships with
Town & Parish councils and the South
Downs National Park Authority.

• Making our council tax fairer and
supporting those on the lowest incomes.

• Ensure an effective and transparent
planning service, holding developers
accountable for providing affordable
housing.

• Work with partners, including Sussex
Police and local businesses, to engage
young people in activities that tackle anti-
social behaviour.

• Improve all our public spaces – from play
spaces to green spaces to our public loos.

4 year outcomes
• Improved quality of customer
contact, outcomes and satisfaction

• Reduction in waste, increased
reuse and recycling to top quartile
performance

• A community that’s supported,
listened to and we act on what we
hear

• Fairer council tax for those on
lowest incomes

Your services: getting it right first time
Delivering what matters to you

P
age 45



We will lead our community to carbon net
zero. Tackling climate change is central to all
our activities. We will produce and
implement a targeted and costed
Sustainability and Climate Plan with the
ambition of becoming a carbon neutral and
climate-resilient council by 2030.

Our key areas of focus will be: 

• Better understand and measure our
carbon emissions as a council.

• We will use our influence to lead our
District to net carbon zero by 2030.

• Engage the community energy sector and
others in shifting to low or zero carbon
electricity generation and a decarbonised
district by implementing the Greater
Brighton Energy Plan and other plans.

• Improve the energy efficiency of homes
including supporting low-carbon heating
technologies in our own council houses.

• Encourage more cycling and walking in
the district by working with community
cycling groups, East Sussex County
Council and others to improve
infrastructure and reduce barriers to
cycling.

• Having the greenest Local Plan and
putting sustainability at the heart of our
local planning processes.

• Improve air quality, developing an air
quality strategy, a local transport strategy
and increasing opportunities for public
transport and electric vehicle charging
infrastructure.

• Increase biodiversity, wildflower and
pollinator opportunities through cutting
pesticide use on council land and have an
ambitious programme of tree planting.

• Influence and creating the conditions for a
reduction in emissions from agriculture
and food production.

• Reduce waste and emissions that
arise from dealing with waste.

• Prioritise efforts to address flooding
and coastal erosion as well as water
availability due to the impact of
climate change.

• Build and encourage affordable,
energy efficient, climate resilient and
adaptable locally sourced and
provided housing.

Sustainability and Climate Change  

Page 3  Lewes District Council Corporate Plan 2020-24

A carbon neutral and climate-resilient council and district by 2030

4 year outcomes
• On a clear path to being a carbon
zero council and district by 2030

• Helping our tenants with their
energy bills by decarbonising our
council housing stock

• Well managed and protected local
environment including waterways
and coastal areas

• Cleaner air across the district

P
age 46



Page 4  Lewes District Council Corporate Plan 2020-24

Building community wealth
A sustainable economy that enables a fairer place to live and work

4 year outcomes
• More of the district’s money
staying within the district, directly
benefitting residents and local
companies.

• A supported vibrant local voluntary
sector with empowered community
groups.

• Developing job opportunities in
renewable and clean green
technologies.

• Reduce employment inequality
with no wards appearing in the
lowest 20 in Sussex.

We need a people-centred approach to
local economic development, which
redirects wealth back into the local economy,
and places control and benefits into the
hands of people. We will work with key local
institutions, our county council, local
businesses, police, NHS partners, to provide
more local employment. We will change the
way we outsource services, supporting more
local businesses to deliver council services,
and we will bring services in house or
establish social enterprises where additional
social value can be demonstrated. 

We will:

• Prioritise investment into local economies
including rural economy across our
District working with partners such as the
Greater Brighton Economic Board and the
South East Local Enterprise Partnership in
the Newhaven Enterprise Zone.
Encouraging financial resources we have
to be used locally as much as possible.  

• Increase local employment opportunities
by directly promoting recruitment from
lower income areas, committing ourselves
and our partners to paying the Lewes
Living Wage where possible.

• Support our businesses to create new
employment opportunities for local people
through supporting innovation and
technological advances, including in clean
technology and in the creative sector.

• Use our power as public sector bodies to
buy and procure locally, and create local
supply chains and ecosystems of
enterprises, focussing on decarbonising
our housing stock, through use of circular
economy principles. 

• Develop local skills, local supply chains
and local employment through and
partnership working with the East Sussex
College group, other public sector
organisations, social enterprises, co-
operative businesses, as well other forms
of business particularly in skills develop-
ment for clean, green technologies.

• Encourage stewardship of our public land
and assets, through working with our
public sector partners, to help create
good local economies.

• Working with partners to develop market
leading network services across the district,
delivering high speed fibre connections to
local business, and improving broadband
connectivity to our rural communities.

P
age 47



Page 5 Lewes District Council Corporate Plan 2020-24

The home in which we live has a huge
influence on the quality of all our lives and
health. Access to safe, secure and
affordable housing really is fundamental to
supporting wellbeing and creating
sustainable communities where people can
live and work.

Our vision is to deliver and maintain
affordable, high quality homes in partnership
with TOLD (Tenants of Lewes District),
including council housing. We will promote
access to housing for home owners,
residents of social housing and private
renters. By working with partners, including
community land trusts, to identify housing
needs, deliver new homes and stabilise local
housing markets, we will help sustain our
communities and tackle the inequalities
faced by many of our residents, including
those at risk of homelessness.

We will:

• Support the provision of social, affordable,
sustainable, energy and resource efficient,
climate resilient housing delivering for our
tenants and residents more effectively.

• Build more rented council homes in the
district, including in our villages and
homes which support independent living.

• Use our planning system to support
affordable, housing delivery.

• Increase housing in the district through
innovation including modular housing and
developing infill sites.

• Reduce the reliance on temporary and
emergency accommodation.

4 year outcomes
• 300 new affordable homes using
national definitions, moving
towards truly affordable.

• 200 new council houses.
• More sustainable and energy
efficient homes across the district.

• Opening up access to quality
housing options for low and
middle income residents 

• Accessible housing for those with
physical and additional support
needs

Affordable Housing
Build warmer, better homes that people can afford to live in

P
age 48



Throughout our work we will act responsibly
and transparently. This means reporting how
our services are performing; making our
financial information available and ensuring
that we embed responsible sustainable
practices throughout. 

We will:

1 Respect and follow principles of
open governance – Explore future
governance arrangements that enable
transparent, proportional and open
decision-making.

2 Respect and promote principles of
equality – Ensure that this is clear
throughout all our work. 

3 Respect our communities – Engage
meaningfully with residents and foster
closer relations.

4 Respect and follow principles of
open data – Review our approach to
open data including making finance
information more accessible

5 Respect and follow principles of a
responsible employer – Ensure staff
wellbeing by following work practices that
protect and look after staff's physical and
mental health. Champion health and
safety across all service areas, continually
looking for new ways to reduce risk. Have
a workforce and culture that reflects the
diversity of the local community and
providing diversity training and
recruitment and selection practice.

4 year outcomes
• Principles of equality, respect and
fairness are evident in all areas of
the council’s work.

• Embed a culture of continuous
improvement, where we constantly
revaluate our quality of service.

• Lewes District Council staff are
serving the community’s needs
and are well supported.

Be open and transparent
Be an open and transparent council that works for you

Page 6  Lewes District Council Corporate Plan 2020-24

P
age 49



Be fair
• treat you as an individual
• deliver a professional service
• be honest about what we can and can’t do
• provide services that do not unfairly
discriminate against or disadvantage
anyone in the community

Be respectful
• listen to you 
• be courteous, polite and helpful at all times
• maintain your privacy and confidentiality
• do what we say we will do
Be accessible
• provide modern, efficient online services
24 hours a day, seven days a week

• communicate clearly 
• publish clear, concise and up to date
information on our website

• respond to customer enquiries sent
through all channels including social media
profiles 

• offer reasonable adjustments to those
needing help accessing our information or
services

Be accountable
• give our name so you know who you are
dealing with 

• focus on delivering our core
responsibilities

• clearly signpost how you can provide
feedback on our services 

Be efficient
• be knowledgeable, giving accurate
information 

• provide online channels that enable you to
access our services at your convenience

• communicate with you electronically,
wherever appropriate, but offering other
methods if needed 

• make the best use of council resources to
ensure we are providing value for money

Learn
• aim to get things right first time and learn
from experience 

• take complaints seriously and seek to
resolve any issues at the earliest
opportunity

In return, we ask that you:
• treat our staff with respect
• give us the correct information at the right
time 

• tell us when something changes
• share your views with us on council
matters that are important to you

• tell us about anything we can do to
overcome barriers to accessing our
services

Customer Service Charter 
Our promise to you

Page 7  Lewes District Council Corporate Plan 2020-24

As a valued customer you can expect us to:

P
age 50



Report to: Cabinet

Date: 10 February 2020

Title: Voluntary Sector Support

Report of: Director of Regeneration and Planning

Cabinet member: Councillor Johnny Denis, Cabinet Member for Communities 
and Customers

Ward(s): All

Purpose of report: To provide Cabinet with an overview of how funding 
provided by the Council in 2019/20 has been spent by 
funded organisations, to initiate a policy review, and to seek 
Cabinet’s agreement to confirm the planned grant allocation 
for 2020/21.

Decision type: Key

Officer 
recommendation(s):

That Cabinet:

(1) Confirm the planned allocation of funding to voluntary 
organisations for 2020/21, as set out in paragraph 3.19.

(2) Undertake a fundamental review of the Council’s grant 
policy in line with the new corporate plan, with 
recommendations for potential options being reported to a 
future meeting of the Cabinet.  

(3) Agree that any alteration to the grants policy will not 
impact on current 3 year funding plan, so as to minimise 
impacts on planned activities by Council’s funded partners.

Reasons for 
recommendations:

(1) To allow continuation of funds to key voluntary 
organisations to enable the programmed delivery of 
services in the district.

(2) To enable Members to consider whether they wish any 
changes to be made in the way that grants are allocated in 
the future.

Page 51

Agenda Item 10



Contact Officer(s): Name: Seanne Sweeney
Post title: Strategy & Corporate Projects Officer, Thriving 
Communities
E-mail: Seanne.Sweeney@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk 
Telephone number: 01273 085 630

1 Introduction

1.1 The council makes funding available to voluntary organisations each year in line 
with its Voluntary Sector Grants Policy (appendix 1). The council recognises and 
highly values the significant contributions that the community and voluntary 
sector play in delivering services to our residents. Partnership working is a key 
priority for Lewes District, and the council is committed to funding and supporting 
voluntary and community organisations across Lewes District. This provides a 
cost effective way of delivering some aspects of the council’s objectives.

1.2 The grants proposed at paragraph 3.19 are a continuation of those agreed by 
Cabinet in 2019.  These were awarded as part of a three year grant agreement 
(running from 2019/ 20 to 2021/ 22), subject to compliance with the terms of the 
agreement and satisfactory delivery of the services.
 

1.3 All voluntary organisation grants are subject to individual grant agreements that 
cover the specific services funded and specify the outcomes to be delivered. 
These provide a mechanism for the council to monitor the organisations’ 
performance and delivery through written reporting and review meetings.  The 
agreements specify the amount of funding, what activities the grant can be used 
for, minimum legal and service requirements, monitoring and evaluation 
processes.  All grant agreements contain clauses enabling review, termination 
and/or renegotiation of terms, should the need for the service change or to 
address any performance issues encountered.

2 Proposal

2.1 Cabinet is asked to agree the funding recommendations outlined in paragraph 
3.19. As noted above, 2020/21 marks the second year of the three year grant 
cycle, and will sustain the positive relationships the Council enjoys with its grant 
recipients who will continue to provide these important services.

2.2 Cabinet members have expressed a wish to revisit the process by which the 
Council awards grants. At its meeting in February 2019, Cabinet agreed in 
principle to fund a three year programme of grants, subject to available funds 
and satisfactory performance. 2020/21 marks the second of the three years, in 
which case any review and change to current policy would need to be agreed 
ahead of the third year, so as not to delay the grants process. If Cabinet wishes 

Page 52

mailto:Seanne.Sweeney@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk


such a review to be undertaken, a report on this subject will be prepared for a 
future meeting.

3 Outcome expected and performance management

3.1 Monitoring data is provided by funded organisations on a quarterly basis, and 
received within a month after the quarter is completed. All figures below are for 
the year to date, at the point of writing this report.

Lewes District Citizens Advice Bureau

3.2 The Lewes District Citizens’ Advice Bureau (CAB) helps people resolve their 
legal, financial and other problems by providing free, independent and 
confidential advice.  The CAB has reported that the types of issues being 
presented by clients are becoming more complex. Figures to date show that 
1,910 residents used the service with at least 20% being council tenants. Of 
these, the largest proportion of enquiries related to welfare benefits including 
Universal Credit. 

3.3 Over half of clients are recorded as having a disability and/ or long term health 
condition. 525 clients have been supported with issues relating to Personal 
Independence Payments to date.

3.4 The service also reported that many people seeking debt advice are living with a 
‘negative balance sheet’. This means that despite support to budget and 
manage finances, their essential outgoings are not covered by income.

3VA 

3.5 3VA provides support for voluntary and community organisations across the 
Eastbourne, Lewes District and Wealden areas of East Sussex. They provide a 
range of practical support to charities and community groups including start-up 
support, funding advice, help with governance and training. Their services help 
to inform, sustain and develop the voluntary and community sector in the area.

3.6 This year so far, 3VA has provided information, advice, guidance and extended 
support to 42 groups based in the district including Lewes Open Door and 
Lewes District Dementia Action Alliance. 3VA continue to publish a weekly e-
news to subscribers which updates on current funding opportunities, 
consultations, training, events and jobs within the sector. Ongoing work includes 
training provision and the development and support of networks, as they 
continue to organise and facilitate quarterly Community Network meetings in the 
Lewes & Havens and Seaford localities.

Page 53



3.7 Following the council’s commitment to address the climate emergency, 3VA has 
been asked to support organisations making bids for funding relating to 
sustainability projects.  It is expected that work supporting such groups will 
continue to form an important part of 3VA’s work in the coming year.

3.8 As part of their monitoring reports, 3VA highlight current trends and needs. 
There has been a focus on reducing social isolation, addressing hate crime and 
supporting people to manage their health independently. 
 
Action in Rural Sussex (AiRS)

3.9 AiRS is the Rural Community Council for Sussex. The organisation’s purpose is 
to provide practical help and support to rural communities across both East and 
West Sussex, enabling them to be vibrant living and working places. The funding 
provided by the council is specifically to support the organisation’s work with the 
village halls and community buildings within Lewes district.

3.10 The council awards a grant of £3,500 each year and receives a mid-year and 
annual monitoring report. Currently AiRS provides information and support to 
seven subscriber groups managing village halls in Barcombe, Cooksbridge, 
Ditchling, Kingston, Newick, Ringmer and Wivelsfield, all of whom can expect to  
receive 12 monthly newsletters across the year. AiRS will be repeating the 
county conference for village halls and community buildings, the last of which 
included workshops and talks around Managing Risk, Quality Assurance and 
Overcoming Loneliness & Social Isolation, plus training on Portable Appliance 
Testing (PAT) which took place in February this year. They continue to act as 
secretariat for the Sussex Community Buildings Advisory Group which meets 
three times a year, and will be facilitating local participation in the National 
Village Halls Survey and Village Halls Week in January 2020.

Sompriti

3.11 Sompriti aims to ‘build strength through diversity’ by supporting Black, Asian and 
Minority Ethnic (BAME) individuals and communities across the Lewes District. 
They focus on community development through engagement and events, and 
are able to provide some individual support through, for example, bi-lingual 
advocacy and increased employability.

3.12 To date, Sompriti has supported 20 individual BAME residents in the Lewes 
district to access a range of employability, advice, health and wellbeing, and 
social activities including the International Food Fair and translator training. They 
continued with the project to increase voter registration within BAME 
communities, encouraging individuals to take part in the democratic process. 
Additionally there has been community development support with the Syrian 
Refugee Resettlement Programme, a Gypsy Traveller Women’s Group, and the 

Page 54



Budget Bites cookery course from which a book of recipes was produced.

3.13 The remaining quarter will see Sompriti continue with the ‘Grub Club’, its 
information and advice service through the Community Hub in Newhaven and a 
World Music event within the district.

Lewes District Churches Homelink

3.14 Homelink provides housing deposits and rent in advance to homeless 
households and those at risk of homelessness referred by the council’s housing 
needs officers. LDC’s grant is supplemented by a grant of £13,200 from East 
Sussex County Council to administer the Discretionary East Sussex Support 
Scheme (DESSS) fund for the district. The service is a key part of the council’s 
work to prevent and relieve homelessness; officers routinely refer those 
households who are not covered by the council’s own statutory duties for 
rehousing, such as those who do not have a priority need for rehousing under 
the terms of the Housing Act 1996. Under the terms of the grant agreement, this 
funding may only be used for essential costs, such as rent deposits.

3.15 Homelink has provided this service to 44 households so far this year, equating to 
£67,816. In addition to the funding provided by the council, loans are financed by 
repayments of existing and previous loans, and from the organisations own 
fundraising. 

Funding to meet the needs of Universal Credit claimants – update

3.16 At its meeting in February 2019, Cabinet agreed to allocate a second year’s fund 
of £30,000 to allow Brighton Housing Trust (BHT) to continue with the work 
started the previous year. This service will continue until 31 August 2020 (as the 
project has not run concurrently with the financial year). 

3.17 Given the slow start to the Universal Credit roll-out and the number of people 
seeking support specifically for help with this, BHT has worked with council 
officers to seek out those with wider needs, including tenants at risk of losing 
their homes because of rent arrears, which overall is 10 to date.

3.18 BHT report that they received 26 referrals in September 2019 compared to just 2 
referrals in September the previous year. 70 direct referrals to the service were 
made by the council and there were also 27 self-referrals. BHT estimate that 
through their involvement an additional £371,373 UC has been secured for their 
clients through the year.

Page 55



3.19 Proposed Grant Allocations for April 2020 to March 2021

Organisation 2019/ 20 grant 
(£)

2020/ 21 proposed 
(£)

Lewes District Citizens Advice Core Grant   140, 340
(HRA benefits advice)   

17,500     
(HRA money advice)   

17,500
175,340

Core Grant   140, 340
(HRA benefits advice)   

17,500     
(HRA money advice)   

17,500
175,340

3VA 28,000 28,000
Action in Rural Sussex 3,500 3,500
SCDA – Sompriti 10,000 10,000
Lewes District Churches 
Homelink

11,800 11,800

BHT Advice – Universal 
Credit service

30,000 15,000

4 Consultation

4.1 This report is due for consideration by the Scrutiny Committee on 6 February 
2020, and their views will be reported as a verbal update to Cabinet on 10 
February.

5 Corporate plan and council policies 

5.1 The proposed allocations comply with the council’s Voluntary Sector Grants 
Policy and will contribute to the Corporate Plan strategic outcomes for resilient, 
healthy and engaged communities underpinning our work with our voluntary 
sector partners delivering key advice and support services.

6 Business case and alternative option(s) considered

6.1 Grant aid to voluntary and community organisations enables the council to meet 
the needs of residents whilst maximising the contributions of voluntary activity. 
This approach provides excellent value for money and reduces the demand on 
the council’s own services and resources.

6.2 Regular monitoring and reviews are carried out to ensure best use is made of 
council funds, and that only those organisations which provide high quality 
services and value for money are awarded funding. 

Page 56



7 Financial appraisal 

7.1 In line with the three year grant agreement previously approved by Cabinet, the 
2020/21 budget includes funding for the Voluntary Sector Grant proposals set 
out in 3.19 above.

8 Legal implications

8.1 Under section 137 of the Local Government Act 1972 and section 1 of the 
Localism Act 2011, the Council has power to make community grants to the 
voluntary sector.

8.2 Consideration must be given to the rules on state aid, which is support in any 
form (financial or in kind) from any level of government – central, regional or 
local – which gives a business or another entity a benefit in the single European 
market that could not be obtained during the normal course of business.

The legal position on state aid, in the context of grants to voluntary sector 
bodies, is set out in the policy document appended to this report.

Subject to the European Union (Withdrawal Agreement) Bill being enacted, the 
UK is scheduled to leave the EU on 31 January 2020, followed by a transition 
period lasting until 31 December 2020, although the joint EU-UK Committee 
may, before 1 July 2020, adopt a single, one-off decision to extend the transition 
period by up to one or two years.

During transition, the State Aid rules will continue to apply as now and will be 
subject to control by the EU Commission as at present. After transition, it is 
anticipated that EU State Aid rules will transpose into UK domestic legislation, 
with only technical modifications to correct deficiencies with the transposed EU 
law, to ensure the regime continues to operate effectively in a domestic context.

Lawyer consulted 07.01.20                                                              Legal ref: 008859-LDC-OD

9 Risk management implications

9.1 If Cabinet does not allocate the funding it has budgeted for grants there are risks 
both to the council’s reputation in relation to this high profile activity and to the 
council’s own services which could experience increased demand from 
customers who would normally use those services provided by voluntary 
organisations. 

9.2 Reviewing the council’s policies and performance on a regular basis provides an 
assurance that the council is fulfilling its functions in a way that complies with 
current legislation.

Page 57



10 Equality analysis

10.1 An Equality & Fairness analysis has been completed and is available from the 
report author. It surmised that although current policy seeks to support protected 
groups who may face barriers to services or community facilities, the conclusion 
of the Universal Credit advice funding to BHT, as described in paragraph 3.16, 
may disproportionally impact those facing financial hardship. This may, however, 
be mitigated by officers signposting residents in need of support around UC to 
Lewes District Citizens Advice, although this is capacity dependant.

In addition the analysis acknowledged that the recommendations in this report 
seek to:

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 
characteristic and those who do not share it;

 Foster good relations between people who share a characteristic and 
those who do not share it.

11 Environmental sustainability implications

11.1 The recommendations in this report will not impact on sustainability.

12 Appendices

 Appendix 1 – Voluntary Sector Grants Policy

13 Background papers

None

Page 58



Appendix 1
Lewes District Council Community Grants Policy

Introduction

The Council recognises and highly values the significant contributions that the community 
and voluntary sector play in delivering services to our residents. Partnership working is a 
key priority for Lewes District, and the Council is committed to working with voluntary and 
community organisations through the giving of community grants. This helps support a 
thriving voluntary sector in Lewes District. In addition, the giving of funding to such groups 
can also provide a cost effective way of delivering the Council’s objectives.

Legal Framework

Section 137 of the Local Government Act 1972 applies to expenditure incurred or 
contributions made to charitable organisations or to not-for-profit organisations providing a 
public service. It states that a local authority may incur expenditure which in their opinion is 
‘in the interests of, and will bring direct benefit to, their area or any part of it or all or some 
of its inhabitants’.

Section 1(4)(c) of the Localism Act 2011 permits a local authority to do anything that 
individuals generally may do, in any way whatever, including power to do it for, or 
otherwise than for, ‘the benefit of the authority, its area or persons resident or present in its 
area.’

Policy

1) The Council’s policy is to offer grant funding to a small number of organisations which 
provide essential services to our residents, particularly those experiencing hardship or 
disadvantage, or which play a key role providing infrastructure services to enable and 
support a thriving community and voluntary sector in the District. 

2) The Council only offers grants to organisations which are well embedded in the Lewes 
District and are able to deliver services which build on strong links with local 
communities. 

3) Organisations funded must be fully inclusive, and in a position to deliver services 
across the whole geographical area.

4) Grants will only be given to organisations which have a need for grant funding; which 
have sound governance arrangements and financial management; which can 
demonstrate good value for money and a significant use of volunteers in the delivery of 
their services; and which have clear policies on safeguarding where appropriate and on 
equality and inclusion covering service users, volunteers and staff and encompassing, 
as a minimum, all those groups protected under the Equality Act 2010. 

5) Given current constraints on all Council budgets, the Council will not make any 
allowance for inflation. 

Page 59



State Aid

1) Background:

a) Article 107(1) of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union provides that:

"Save as otherwise provided in this Treaty, any aid granted by a Member State or 
through State resources in any form whatsoever which distorts or threatens to 
distort competition by favouring certain undertakings or the production of certain 
goods shall, in so far as it affects trade between Member States, be incompatible 
with the common market”

b) Grants awarded from public funds may constitute ‘state aid’ and, where the grant is 
to be used to support ‘economic activity’, are subject to rules under (1) EU 
Regulation 1407/2013 governing De Minimis aid and (2) EU Regulation 800/2008 – 
The General Block Exemption Regulation (GBER). 

c) Unless the de minimis rule or GBER applies, it is likely that state aid will be unlawful 
until it has been notified and, in the case where European Commission approval is 
required, approved - even if the aid is in fact compatible.

2) Mitigation:

a) Prior to making any grant payment, the council will carry out a simple assessment 
to check whether it is:
 state aid and;
 if so, whether it is exempt from prior notification under the de minimis provisions 

or a block exemption. If not, the grant may require notification to the European 
Commission.

b) Council officers will, in consultation with Legal Services where appropriate, 
complete the State Aid Checklist (based on the 4 characteristics of State aid) below 
and will require recipients to sign the De Minimis Declaration (also below) 
confirming that the grant will not breach the relevant de minimis threshold.

Data Protection

1) The making of community grants may involve the transfer, receipt or sharing of 
personal data to, from or between the Council and the grantee.  Where this occurs, the 
parties will consider entering into a data sharing agreement setting out the nature and 
scope of any personal data processing, and how both parties will ensure that 
processing is carried out in accordance with the General Data Protection Regulation 
(EU 2016/679) and the Data Protection Act 2018.

2) Any such data sharing agreement may be incorporated within the grant funding 
agreement or prepared as a discrete document, as appropriate. 

3) Data sharing agreements must be prepared in consultation with the Council’s 
Information Governance Manager or Data Protection Officer.

Policy agreed at Cabinet February 2019

Page 60



State Aid Checklist

The four characteristics of State aid:

1) State aid is granted through state resources.
2) State aid favours certain undertakings, or the production of certain goods.
3) State aid distorts competition (or threatens to do so).
4) State aid affects trade between member states

State Aid – De Minimis Declaration

Please refer to the State Aid Guidance issued with your application pack (available on-line 
at State aid - GOV.UK).

I declare that the grant offered by the Council will comply with the law on State Aid on the 
basis that, including this grant, ……………………………………. (name of organisation) 
shall not receive more than €200,000 in total of de minimis aid within the current financial 
year or the two previous financial years. 

Signed ……………………………………………….Date ……………….
(to be signed by an authorised officer)

Position in organisation…………………………………………………………………

Company/Organisation (full Legal Name)…………..……………………………………………

Page 61

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/state-aid


This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet

Date: 10 February 2020

Title: Adoption (‘making’) of the Seaford Neighbourhood Plan

Report of: Director of Regeneration and Planning

Cabinet member: Councillor Emily O’Brien, Cabinet Member for Planning

Ward(s): All, but with particular impact on:

Seaford Central, Seaford West, Seaford North, Seaford East 
and Seaford South

Purpose of report: To consider whether the Seaford Neighbourhood Plan 
should be adopted by the District Council as part of the 
statutory development plan if the referendum on 6th 
February 2020 is successful.

Decision type: Budget and policy framework

Officer 
recommendation(s):

(1) To recommend to Full Council that the Seaford 
Neighbourhood Plan is formally adopted/‘made’ as part of 
the statutory development plan for the district, subject to a 
majority ‘yes’ vote at referendum.

(2) To recommend to Full Council that if the Seaford 
Neighbourhood Plan does not receive a majority ‘yes’ vote 
at referendum, it is not formally adopted/‘made’ as part of 
the statutory development plan for the district.

Reasons for 
recommendations:

To ensure the Seaford Neighbourhood Plan is ‘made’ within 
the timeframe set out by the Neighbourhood Planning 
(General) Regulations 2012 (as amended)

Contact Officer(s): Name: Thea Davis
Post title: Neighbourhood Planning Officer 
E-mail: thea.davis@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
Telephone number: 01273 085773/01323 415773

1 Introduction

1.1 The Localism Act 2011 introduced a right for communities to draw up 
neighbourhood plans. Seaford Town Council, with support and advice from the 
District Council, has produced a neighbourhood plan which has subsequently 
undergone a successful examination and is due to go to referendum on 
Thursday 6th February 2020. Should the Neighbourhood Plan succeed at 
referendum, it will become part of the development plan for the District. This 

Page 63

Agenda Item 11



report considers whether the Seaford Neighbourhood Plan should be formally 
‘made’ by the District Council and continue to be part of the development plan. 

1.2 The Localism Act 2011 allows local communities to shape their areas by 
enabling town and parish councils to prepare neighbourhood development 
plans. A detailed legislative framework for undertaking neighbourhood planning 
is set out in the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as 
amended). Neighbourhood planning has been enthusiastically taken up by the 
many of the towns and parishes in the district (within and outside the South 
Downs National Park), with 12 plans at various stages of preparation, ranging 
from ‘made’ plans to those in the earliest stage of preparation.

1.3 Subject to a successful examination and referendum, a neighbourhood plan 
becomes part of the statutory development plan and sits alongside the Local 
Plan prepared by the Local Planning Authority (part of Seaford lies within the 
South Downs National Park ). Planning applications submitted within an area 
covered by a neighbourhood plan forming part of the development plan must be 
determined in accordance with both the neighbourhood plan and the Local Plan. 
Regard should be had to post-examination neighbourhood plans in making 
planning decisions also, despite not yet having been to referendum.

1.4 Seaford Town Council, with support and advice from the District Council, has 
produced a neighbourhood plan which has subsequently undergone a 
successful examination and is due to go to referendum on Thursday 6th 
February 2020.

2 Proposal

2.1 The Seaford Neighbourhood Plan has undergone a successful examination. The 
independent examiner recommended that subject to modifications, the Seaford 
Neighbourhood Plan should proceed to referendum. To comply with the 
Localism Act and provisions of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) 
Regulations 2012 (as amended), the local planning authority is required to 
‘make’ a neighbourhood development plan within 8 weeks of the day following a 
successful referendum.

2.2 Part of the parish of Seaford lies within the South Downs National Park. However, 
the majority of the parish population is located outside the Park and so, in-line 
with an agreed approach that Lewes District Council and the South Downs 
National Park Authority have in place for such cases, Lewes District Council 
assumed the responsibility as the lead planning authority for the Seaford 
Neighbourhood Plan.  

2.3 An application was received from Seaford Town Council to designate the entire 
parish as a neighbourhood area. The Seaford Neighbourhood Area corresponds 
with the Seaford Town Council boundary and was designated on 13th January 
2016, following public consultation.

2.4 The Neighbourhood Plan was submitted for examination in August 2019. The 
independent examiner determined that the Neighbourhood Plan met the basic 

Page 64



conditions1 (against which a Neighbourhood Plan is examined), subject to 
modifications, and recommended that the Plan proceeds to a referendum. This 
outcome was set out in the Examiner’s Report received in December 2019 and 
published by both authorities soon after (under Regulation 18).

2.5 The Seaford Neighbourhood Plan was amended in line with the examiner’s 
recommended modifications. The actions taken in response to the 
recommendations of the examiner are detailed in a Decision Statement along 
with the modifications recommended by the Examiner. This was published 
(Regulation 19) in December 2019 confirming that both authorities were satisfied 
that the Plan met the basic conditions and could proceed to referendum.   

2.6 A referendum is due to be held in Seaford on Thursday 6th February 2020, posing 
the following question to eligible voters: 

“Do you want Lewes District Council and the South Downs National Park 
Authority to use the Neighbourhood Plan for Seaford to help it decide 
planning applications in the neighbourhood area?”

2.7 In accordance with the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations (as 
amended), following the outcome of the referendum with a majority ‘yes’ vote, it 
will be for Lewes District Council and the South Downs National Park Authority to 
‘make’ the neighbourhood plan so that the Plan is formally ‘made’ and continues 
to be part of the development plan for Lewes District and the South Downs 
National Park.

2.8 For the avoidance of doubt and to make absolutely clear with respect to 
compliance with the Habitat Regulations (that transpose EU obligations into UK 
law), Lewes District Council is the competent authority in this respect and can 
only approve a plan or project if it is confident that there will be no likely 
significant adverse effects on the integrity of an EU protected site.   

2.9 It is hereby confirmed unequivocally that the Seaford Neighbourhood Plan has 
been determined not to have a likely significant adverse effect on any EU 
designated habitats, either within Lewes District or beyond, either alone or in 
combination with other plans or projects. This statement is made in light of the 
conclusions of a full and detailed, robust Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) 
that has been endorsed by the statutory consultee, Natural England.  It is further 
clarified that the HRA was substantially updated following the ‘Wealden 
Judgement’ regarding the Joint Core Strategy and responds to all the criticisms 
outlined in that judgement and the endorsement from Natural England follows a 
full update of their own internal guidance on responding to the judgement.  More 

1 As detailed in paragraph 8 of Schedule 4B to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), a 
draft order meets the basic conditions if: (a) it has regard to national policies and advice contained in 
guidance issued by the Secretary of State, it is appropriate to make the order, (b) it has special regard to the 
desirability of preserving any listed building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest that it possesses, it is appropriate to make the order, (c) it has special regard to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of any conservation area, it is appropriate to make the 
order, (d) the making of the Plan contributes to the achievement of sustainable development, (e) the making 
of the Plan is in general conformity with the strategic policies contained in the development plan for the area 
of the authority (or any part of that area), (f) the making of the order does not breach, and is otherwise 
compatible with, EU obligations, and (g) prescribed conditions are met in relation to the order and prescribed 
matters have been complied with in connection with the proposal for the order.

Page 65

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/schedule/10/enacted


information can be found on the Council’s Habitat Regulations webpage at: 
www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/planning-policy/habitats-regulations 

3 Outcome expected and performance management

3.1 If the Seaford Neighbourhood Plan is successful at referendum on 6th February 
2020 with a majority ‘yes’ vote, it will form part of the development plan for Lewes 
District and the South Downs National Park. If it is subsequently supported at Full 
Council, the Plan will be formally ‘made’ and will continue to form part of the 
development plan for Lewes District.

3.2 Should the neighbourhood plan fail to secure a majority vote in favour of its 
adoption, the authorities are not obliged to ‘make’ it. It is a requirement of the 
legislation2 that Neighbourhood Plans successful at referendum are ‘made’ 
(unless the Local Planning Authorities consider that it breaches or is otherwise 
incompatible with any EU or human rights obligations). 

3.3 The purpose of the Neighbourhood Planning is for local communities to decide 
what development is undertaken in the area and where it should happen. The 
Seaford Neighbourhood Plan seeks to allocate housing and commercial land in 
the neighbourhood area as well as designated local green spaces, therefore 
contributes to the housing delivery for the District and provides development 
management equivalent to Green Belt land for the proposed green spaces. 
During the process of preparing the Neighbourhood Plan, the proposed sites 
have been through a series of public engagement events and consultation. 

3.4 A ‘made’ Neighbourhood Plan can be reviewed at any time, particularly if the 
policies become out of date due to strategic Local Plan policies being reviewed 
and updated or if the Council falls below a sufficient housing land supply 
(rendering the development plan out of date). It is the Qualifying Body’s – in this 
case, the Town Council’s - responsibility to review its Neighbourhood Plan. There 
are now measures in place to allow Neighbourhood Planning groups to modify 
‘made’ Neighbourhood Plans, where the original legislation required a whole new 
Plan to be prepared if it was to be updated.

3.5 Until the Seaford Neighbourhood Plan is successful at referendum the Local Plan 
policies that are specific to this designated area will continue to be used to 
assess development proposals in the Seaford area. However, as the Plan is now 
a “post-examination” Neighbourhood Plan this means regard must be also be had 
to its modified policies in making decisions on relevant planning applications.

4 Consultation

2 Section 38A of the Planning and Compulsory  Purchase Act 2004 (as amended), states:
(4) A local planning authority to whom a proposal for the making of a neighbourhood development plan has 
been made – 

(a) must make a neighbourhood development plan to which the proposal relates if in each applicable 
referendum under that Schedule (as so applied) more than half of those voting have voted in favour of the 
plan…
(6) The authority are not to be subject to the duty under subsection (4)(a) if they consider that the making 
of the plan would breach, or would otherwise be incompatible with, any EU obligation or any of the 
Convention rights (within the meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998).

Page 66

http://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/planning-policy/habitats-regulations


4.1 The Seaford Neighbourhood Plan has undergone three regulated public 
consultations under the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as 
amended) . Two consultations under Regulation 14 (Reg. 14) undertaken by the 
Qualifying Body in 2017 and 2018 and a Regulation 16 consultation undertaken 
by the Local Planning Authority (Lewes District Council) in 2019.

4.2 The Town Council carried out the statutory consultations (Regulation 14) on the 
draft plan between November 2017 and January 2018 and as a result, a number 
of amendments were then made to the Plan in order to respond to 
representations received from the consultation. Another Reg. 14 consultation was 
carried out later, between November and December 2018 as a result of making 
some changes to the draft Plan well as. Some further amendments were then 
made to the Plan in order to respond to feedback received from this second 
consultation.

4.3 The Town Council submitted the revised plan (Regulation 15), along with other 
statutory submission documents, to Lewes District Council and the South Downs 
National Park Authority in May 2019. A further statutory consultation (Regulation 
16) took place (carried out by the District Council) between May and July 2019 
where comments were invited on the submission documents.

4.4 Following the Regulation 16 consultation period, Lewes District Council and the 
South Downs National Park Authority (with the approval of Seaford Town 
Council) appointed a suitably qualified and experienced independent examiner, 
Mr Nigel McGurk, to conduct the examination of the Seaford Neighbourhood Plan 
which took place between August and December 2019.

5 Business case and alternative option(s) considered

5.1 Not relevant for this report

6 Financial appraisal

6.1 Formally adopting the Seaford Neighbourhood Plan will allow the Town Council to 
benefit from a higher proportion of revenues arising from CIL chargeable 
development that takes place in the parish. This will rise from a capped 15% of 
levy revenue to an uncapped 25% when the Neighbourhood Plan is made.  This 
will result in the transfer of an increased proportion of CIL levy revenue from LDC 
to Seaford Town Council from applications approved after the Seaford 
Neighbourhood Plan is ‘made’ to spend on infrastructure required to support the 
development of the area.

6.2 There will be a financial implication in adopting the Neighbourhood Plan in terms 
of the apportionment of CIL income. There will be no financial implications for the 
General Fund base budget.

7 Legal implications

7.1 The legislation governing the decision to adopt a Neighbourhood Plan proposal is 
contained within S. 38 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Part 5 
of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012. As well as setting 

Page 67



out the steps to be taken in connection with the earlier stages of the process, it 
also sets out what steps the local planning authority must take to publicise their 
decision on a proposal, and for publicising any neighbourhood development plan 
made by Full Council.  

Legal Implications Provided (Seaford) 15.01.20     008876 -LDC-JCS

8 Risk management implications

8.1 I have completed a risk assessment. The following risks will arise if the 
recommendations are not implemented: 

(a) If the Seaford Neighbourhood Plan is successful at referendum 
(gaining a majority vote in favour of its adoption), the Council will be 
in breach of its statutory duty under the Town and County Planning 
Act 1990 if it does not bring it into force (i.e. ‘make’ it). As the 
legislation concerning the recommendation is quite explicit there is 
no way of mitigating this risk if it is found to be in conformity with EU 
obligations and the Convention Rights.

(b) If the Seaford Neighbourhood Plan fails at referendum, the Council 
would not be in breach of its duty not to ‘make’ it. 

No new risks will arise if the recommendations are implemented.

9 Equality analysis

9.1 Equality analysis has been submitted.

10 Environmental sustainability implications 

10.1 The Seaford Neighbourhood Plan is supported by a Sustainability Appraisal 
incorporating a Strategic Environmental Assessment, ensuring the Plan is 
economically, socially and environmentally sustainable, and that it meets 
European sustainability obligations. 

11 Background papers

11.1 The background papers used in compiling this report were as follows: 

 Seaford Neighbourhood Plan 
 Sustainability Appraisal incorporating the Strategic Environmental 

Assessment
 Examiner’s Report
 Summary of Representations (made at Regulation 16)
 Decision Statement (Regulation 18)

Each paper is located in the Seaford section of the Neighbourhood Planning 
page:
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning/

Page 68

https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning/


Report to: Cabinet

Date: 10 February 2020

Title: Adoption of the Lewes District Local Plan Part 2: Site 
Allocations and Development Management Policies

Report of: Director of Regeneration & Planning

Cabinet member: Councillor Emily O’Brien, Cabinet member for Planning

Ward(s): All wards in Lewes District that lie wholly or partially 
outside of the South Downs National Park

Purpose of report: To seek Cabinet and Council approval to adopt the Lewes 
District Local Plan Part 2, incorporating the modifications 
set out in the Examination Inspector’s report, as part of the 
statutory development plan for the district.
   

Decision type: Budget and policy framework

Officer 
recommendation(s):

(1) To recommend to Council that the Lewes District Local 
Plan Part 2, amended to incorporate the main modifications 
set out in the Examination Inspector’s report,  is adopted as 
part of the statutory development plan for the district in 
accordance with Section 23 of the Planning & Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 and Regulation 26 of the Town & 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 
2012;  

(2) To recommend to Council that the Lewes District Local 
Plan Part 2 is published, together with the relevant adoption 
statements, Policies Map, and Sustainability Appraisal in 
accordance with Regulations 26 and 35 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning)(England) Regulations 
2012;  

(3) To recommend to Council that the Director of 
Regeneration & Planning be authorised to agree any minor 
editorial corrections identified prior to publication of the 
adopted Lewes District Local Plan Part 2.

Reasons for 
recommendations:

To ensure that the Council has an up-to-date and 
comprehensive statutory development plan to guide 
decisions on individual planning applications for 
development in that part of the district outside the South 
Downs National Park.
    

Page 69

Agenda Item 12



Contact Officer(s): Name: Robert King
Post title: Senior Planning Policy Officer
E-mail: robert.king@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
Telephone number: 01273 085455 or 01323 415455 

1 Background

1.1 The Lewes District Local Plan Part 1: Joint Core Strategy (JCS) was adopted by 
the Council in 2016 and provides the strategic planning policy framework to 
guide growth across the district to 2030.

1.2 The Lewes District Local Plan Part 2 (LPP2) builds upon the strategic policies of 
the JCS by allocating smaller-scale sites for development and providing more 
detailed development management policies to inform planning decisions. It also 
covers the period to 2030 and, when adopted, will replace the majority of the 
‘saved’ policies of the 2003 Local Plan.

1.3 The LPP2 was submitted to the Secretary of State for independent examination 
in 2018. The examination hearings took place in April 2019, following which the 
Council received the Inspector’s proposed main modifications to the plan. These 
modifications were proposed in response to issues raised at the examination 
hearings and were considered necessary by the Inspector to make the plan 
‘sound’. 

1.4 The proposed main modifications were published for consultation over a six 
week period in July/August 2019. This represented the final stage of formal 
public consultation on the LPP2, following the Issues & Options Topic Papers 
(2013), Consultation Draft Plan (2017) and Pre-Submission Plan (2018). A total 
of 55 representations were received and passed to the Inspector for his 
consideration.
  

1.5 We have now received the Inspector’s final report on the examination. This 
concludes that the LPP2 is legally compliant and meets the tests of soundness 
defined in the National Planning Policy Framework, subject to a number of 
changes (the main modifications) being made. 

2 The Inspector’s Report

2.1 The Inspector’s report was received on 20 December 2019 and is attached as 
Appendix 1. This effectively concludes the examination of the LPP2. In 
summary, and subject to the main modifications being incorporated, the report 
concludes that:

 The Council has engaged constructively and actively in the preparation of 
the LPP2 and has therefore met the duty to co-operate

 All other relevant legislative requirements have been met during the 
preparation of the LPP2

 The LPP2 gives effect to, and is consistent with, the strategy of the 
adopted JCS

Page 70



 The site allocations and development management policies are positively, 
prepared, justified, effective and consistent with national planning policy

2.2 The Council is therefore able to formally adopt LPP2 as part of the statutory 
development plan for the area, provided that all the Inspector’s main 
modifications are accepted and incorporated into the plan. The Inspector’s report 
is not binding on the Council but it should be noted that failure to include all the 
recommended main modifications will mean that the LPP2 cannot be adopted. 

2.3 The Inspector’s main modifications are listed at Appendix 2 of this report.  They 
are substantially the same as the proposed main modifications approved for 
consultation by Cabinet on 1 July 2019 (Minute 17). They essentially involve 
redrafting parts of individual policies or their supporting text. None of them 
involve the deletion of whole policies or the insertion of new ones.

3 The Next Steps

3.1 Once adopted by the Council, the LPP2 will have full weight in the determination 
of planning applications in that part of Lewes District outside of the South Downs 
National Park. Its policies will replace 67 of the ‘saved’ policies in the 2003 Local 
Plan, thereby providing a robust, up-to-date and comprehensive development 
plan to guide planning decisions across the area. 
 

3.2 The LPP2 will help to achieve the Council’s vision and strategic objectives, as 
set out in the adopted JCS.  Whilst it is recognised that some sections of the 
local community will inevitably be disappointed by the Inspector’s conclusions, 
the adoption of the LPP2 will have substantial benefits for the district overall. 
This is particularly the case for those communities that have previously been 
vulnerable to speculative development on greenfield sites outside of the 
settlement planning boundaries. 
 

3.3 A copy of the LPP2 incorporating the Inspector’s main modifications is attached 
as Appendix 3 to this report. Adoption will take place immediately upon the 
resolution of the Council. Following adoption, the LPP2 will be published as soon 
as practically possible, together with the accompanying Policies Maps, 
Sustainability Appraisal and an adoption statement. All interested parties will 
also be notified individually. A six week period when the LPP2 could be 
challenged through an application to the High Court will also come into effect (as 
with all Local Plans).
 

3.4 The adoption of the LPP2 by the Council, the ‘Competent Authority’, will not lead 
to any adverse effects on the integrity of European sites; this is confirmed by the 
accompanying Habitats Regulations Assessment, which is supported by Natural 
England and found to be legally compliant through the examination in public.

4 Financial appraisal

4.1 The financial implications of publishing the adopted LPP2, together with the 
accompanying Policies Maps, Sustainability Appraisal and an adoption 
statement will be minimal, primarily the costs associated with printing and 
postage.  These costs will be met within the existing budget for adopting the 

Page 71



LPP2.

5 Legal implications

5.1 The legal powers that govern the adoption of the Lewes District Local Plan Part 
2, as amended, are set out in the body of the report. The Council must formally 
adopt the plan to bring it into force by way of a resolution of a full meeting of the 
Council pursuant to section 23(5), Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
and regulation 4(1) and the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) 
(England) Regulations 2000).

5.2 Adoption of the plan by the council will trigger a six week period from its 
adoption, within which any person aggrieved by the plan may make an 
application to the High Court under section 113 of the 2004 Act on limited 
grounds, namely that either: (a) the document is not within the appropriate 
power; or (b) a procedural requirement has not been complied with. 

The adoption of the plan can only be challenged therefore on the above legal 
grounds and not simply because certain persons disagree with the Inspector’s 
recommendations.

Legal Implications Provided 15.01.20     008866 -LDC-JCS

6 Risk management implications

6.1 The Council may not adopt an unsound local plan. Failure to accept the 
Inspector’s main modifications would leave the Council without an up-to-date 
and comprehensive statutory development plan to guide development in that 
part of the district outside of the South Downs National Park. It would mean that 
the Council is unable to meet its strategic requirements for new homes, including 
permanent Gypsy & Traveller pitches, thereby hindering its ability to meet its 5 
year housing land supply. 

6.2 The lack of an up-to-date development plan would also mean continued reliance 
on the ‘saved’ policies of the 2003 Local Plan, which are likely to come under 
increasing challenge from applicants due to their age and lack of compliance 
with national planning policy. The vacuum created by the absence of allocated 
housing sites and up-to-date development management policies is likely to be 
filled by speculative development in less sustainable locations, and the unco-
ordinated delivery of the infrastructure necessary to support it.  

7 Equality analysis

7.1 The Equality and Fairness Analysis undertaken for the Pre-Submission LPP2 
has been updated and is included as a background paper to this report.

8 Environmental sustainability implications

8.1 The preparation of the Local Plan Parts 1 and 2 has been informed by 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA), incorporating Strategic Environmental 
Assessment, at every stage of the process. The SA supporting the adoption 

Page 72



version of the LPP2 is included as a background paper to this report.  

8.2 A district that is responsive to the challenges of climate change is one of the key 
elements of the overall spatial vision set out in the Local Plan Part 1. The 
strategic objectives which support that vision include seeking to reduce both the 
causes of climate change and the district’s vulnerability to the impact of climate 
change; these objectives will be delivered through both the spatial strategy of 
the Local Plan and the application of its policies. 

8.3 The Local Plan has applied a sequential, risk-based approach to the location of 
development growth, taking into account the current and predicted future 
impacts of climate change, which is reflected in the spatial strategy for the 
district. This strategy seeks to focus growth in the most sustainable locations, 
based upon accessibility and the range of services offered, in order to facilitate 
the fullest possible use of walking, cycling and public transport.

8.4 The need to reduce greenhouse emissions and provide resilience to the impacts 
of climate change is also addressed by the Local Plan policies covering green 
infrastructure, air quality, the natural and built environment, biodiversity and 
geodiversity, water resources, water quality, flood risk, coastal erosion, 
sustainable drainage, sustainable travel, renewable and low carbon energy,the 
sustainable use of resources, and high quality design.

9 Appendices

 Appendix 1 – The Inspector’s Report of the examination of the LPP2
 Appendix 2 – The Schedule of Main Modifications
 Appendix 3 – LPP2 (adoption version)

10 Background papers

The background papers used in compiling this report were as follows: 

 Policies Map (adoption version)
 Sustainability Appraisal (January 2020)
 Equality & Fairness Analysis update (January 2020)
 LPP2 Consultation Statement Addendum (2019)
 Schedule of Main Modifications (published for consultation in 2019)
 Submission LPP2 (December 2018)
 Submission Policies Map (December 2018)
 Habitats Regulations Assessment 2018

All the background papers are available at https://www.lewes-
eastbourne.gov.uk/planning-policy/lewes-local-plan-part-2-site-allocations-and-
development-management-policies/

Page 73

https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/planning-policy/lewes-local-plan-part-2-site-allocations-and-development-management-policies/
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/planning-policy/lewes-local-plan-part-2-site-allocations-and-development-management-policies/
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/planning-policy/lewes-local-plan-part-2-site-allocations-and-development-management-policies/


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1

Report to Lewes District Council

by Mike Fox BA (Hons), Dip TP, MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 

Date: 20 December 2019

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004

(as amended)

Section 20

Report on the Examination of the

Lewes District Local Plan Part 2: Site 
Allocations and Development Management 

Policies

The Plan was submitted for examination on 21 December 2018 

The examination hearings were held between 2 April and 12 April 2019

File Ref: PINS/P1425/429/14 

Page 75



2

Abbreviations used in this report

AA
AH
AMR

Appropriate Assessment
Affordable Housing
Authority Monitoring Report

CAJ
CJEU
dpa

Court of Appeal Judgment
European Court Judgment
dwellings per annum

DTC
EA
EIA

Duty to Co-operate
Environment Agency
Environmental Impact Analysis

ESCC
GTAA
ha

East Sussex County Council
Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment
Hectare (s)

HRA
IDP

Habitats Regulations Assessment
Infrastructure Delivery Plan

IR
km
LEP

Inspector’s Report
kilometre
Local Enterprise Partnership

LPP1 Lewes District Local Plan Part 1: Joint Core Strategy 2010-2030
LPP2 Lewes District Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and 

Development Management Policies
m
MHCLG

metre
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government

MM
NE

Main Modification
Natural England

The 
Framework
NP

National Planning Policy Framework (2012 version)

Neighbourhood Plan
OAN Objectively assessed housing need
PAR Port Access Road (at Newhaven)
PPTS Planning Policy for Traveller Sites
SA
SAC
SANG
SCG

Sustainability Appraisal
Special Area of Conservation
Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace
Statement of Common Ground

SDNP
SEA

South Downs National Park
Strategic Environmental Assessment

SHLAA Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment
sm
SPA
SSSI

square metre
Special Protection Area
Site of Special Scientific Interest

Page 76



Lewes District Local Plan Part 2, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 
December 2019

3

Non-Technical Summary

This report concludes that the Lewes District Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and 
Development Management Policies, provides an appropriate basis for the planning 
of that part of the District that falls within the plan area, provided that a number of 
main modifications [MMs] are made to it.  Lewes District Council has specifically 
requested that I recommend any MMs necessary to enable the Plan to be adopted.

The MMs all concern matters that were discussed at the examination hearings.  
Following the hearings, the Council prepared schedules of the proposed main 
modifications.  The MMs were subject to public consultation over a six-week period.  
In some cases, I have amended their detailed wording and/or added consequential 
modifications where necessary.  I have recommended their inclusion in the Plan 
after considering all the representations made in response to consultation on them.

The main modifications can be summarised as follows:

Summary of Main Modifications
Clarify references to Habitats Regulation Assessment in relation to the 
Ashdown Forest SPA/SAC.
Clarify parameters of policy NH02 for residential development at the Marina, 
Newhaven, with regard to remediation of ground contamination, wastewater 
management and biodiversity.
Clarify parameters of policy CH02 for residential development at Layden Hall, 
East Grinstead Road, with regard to pedestrian access.
Clarify parameters of policy GT01 for the development of 5 net additional 
permanent gypsy and traveller pitches at Land South of the Plough, 
Plumpton, with regard to site levelling, sewerage connection and pedestrian 
access.
Clarify parameters of policy E1 for port related and employment development of 
Land at East Quay, Newhaven Port, with regard to biodiversity, landscape 
character, public footpaths and heritage assets.
Clarify parameters of policy E2 for office, health and educational uses on land 
adjacent to American Express Community Stadium, Village Way, Falmar, 
with regard to the setting of the South Downs National Park, sustainable 
transport and ancillary uses.
Clarify the need to require appropriate surface water drainage mitigation and 
flood risk assessments in relation to several specific development allocations.
Clarify the parameters of policy DM24 for the protection of biodiversity and 
geodiversity, with particular reference to SSSIs, Marine Conservation Zones 
and potential loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitats.
Include the Council’s housing trajectory within the Plan.

Introduction

1. This report contains my assessment of the Lewes District Local Plan Part 2 in 
terms of Section 20(5) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as 
amended).  It considers first whether the Plan’s preparation has complied with 
the duty to co-operate.  It then considers whether the Plan is sound and 
whether it is compliant with the legal requirements.  The National Planning 
Policy Framework 2012 (paragraph 182) makes it clear that in order to be 

Page 77



Lewes District Local Plan Part 2, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 
December 2019

4

sound, a Local Plan should be positively prepared, justified, effective and 
consistent with national policy.

2. The revised National Planning Policy Framework (The Framework) was 
published in July 2018 and further revised in February 2019.  It includes a 
transitional arrangement in paragraph 214 which indicates that, for the 
purpose of examining this Plan, the policies in the 2012 NPPF will apply.  
Similarly, where the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) has been updated to 
reflect the revised NPPF, the previous versions of the PPG apply for the 
purposes of this examination under the transitional arrangement. Therefore, 
unless stated otherwise, references in this report are to the 2012 NPPF and 
the versions of the PPG which were extant prior to the publication of the 2018 
NPPF.

3. The starting point for the examination is the assumption that the local 
planning authority has submitted what it considers to be a sound plan.  The 
Lewes District Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 
Management Policies, submitted in December 2018, is the basis for my 
examination.  It is the same document as was published for consultation in 
September 2018.

Main Modifications

4. In accordance with section 20(7C) of the 2004 Act, the Council requested that 
I should recommend any main modifications [MMs] necessary to rectify 
matters that make the Plan unsound and thus incapable of being adopted.  My 
report explains why the recommended MMs, all of which relate to matters that 
were discussed at the examination hearing sessions, are necessary.  The MMs 
are referenced in bold in the report in the form MM1, MM2 etc, and are set 
out in full in the Appendix.

5. Following the examination hearings, the Council prepared a schedule of 
proposed MMs and carried out sustainability appraisal of them1.  The MM 
schedule was subject to public consultation for six weeks. I have taken 
account of the consultation responses in coming to my conclusions in this 
report and in this regard, I have made some amendments to the detailed 
wording of the main modifications and added consequential modifications 
where these are necessary for consistency or clarity.  None of the 
amendments significantly alters the content of the modifications as published 
for consultation or undermines the participatory processes and sustainability 
appraisal that has been undertaken.  Where necessary, I have highlighted 
these amendments in the report.

Policies Map  

6. The Council must maintain an adopted policies map which illustrates 
geographically the application of the policies in the adopted development plan. 
When submitting a local plan for examination, the Council is required to 
provide a submission policies map showing the changes to the Proposed 
Changes Map that would result from the proposals in the submitted local plan. 

1 Lewes District Council: Lewes District Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management Policies – 
Proposed Main Modifications: Addendum to the Sustainability Appraisal; June 2019 [Examination Document 
CD088].

Page 78



Lewes District Local Plan Part 2, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 
December 2019

5

In this case, the only change to the submission policies map comprises a 
revised Plan for policy E1, entitled ‘Site area as proposed to be modified’. 

7. The policies map is not defined in statute as a development plan document 
and so I do not have the power to recommend main modifications to it. 
However, one of the published MMs to the Plan’s policies requires further 
corresponding changes to be made to the policies map. 

8. These further changes to the policies map were published for consultation 
alongside the MMs2.

9. When the Plan is adopted, in order to comply with the legislation and give 
effect to the Plan’s policies, the Council will need to update the adopted 
policies map to include all the changes proposed in Examination Document 
CD087 and the further changes published alongside the MMs, incorporating 
any necessary amendments identified in this report.

Scope of the Plan

10. The Lewes District Local Plan: Part 2 – Site Allocations and Development 
Management Policies, which I refer to as the Plan, is Part 2 of the Lewes 
District Local Plan.  It covers the whole of the District of Lewes outside the 
South Downs National Park and is referred to as LPP2.  The scope of the Plan 
is to enable the effective delivery of Part 1 of the Plan3, in particular 
allocations to meet the housing and employment growth requirements, whilst 
protecting and enhancing the quality of the environment in the District and in 
neighbouring areas, as set out in Part 1 (which I refer to in my report as 
LPP1).  Anything outside its scope, such as the strategic provisions of LPP1, is 
therefore not a matter for this Plan to address. 

11. Any challenge to the strategic provisions of LPP1 will need to be made when 
that document is reviewed, and not through Part 2 of the Plan (i.e. this Plan).  
This is also supported in my view by a Court of Appeal Judgment (CAJ)4, which 
states that, in preparing a development plan, the local authority must have 
regard to any other development plan document already in existence which 
covers the relevant local plan area.

12. The Framework does not require a development plan document which is 
dealing with the allocation of sites and development management policies for 
an amount of housing provision which has already been found sound in LPP1, 
to address the question of whether further housing provision will need to be 
made.

13. As this is a subsidiary plan, there is no requirement for me to re-examine the 
strategic issues which were covered in LPP1, where they were found to be 
sound.  No successful challenges were made to LPP1, in as far as they refer 
directly to this Plan5 within the prescribed period, and it is therefore 

2 Examination Document CD087.
3 Lewes District Local Plan -Part 1: Joint Core Strategy 2010-2030; adopted in May 2016 by Lewes District Council 
[Examination Document CD031].
4 Court of Appeal Judgment (CAJ): Oxted Residential Ltd v Tandridge District Council; 29 April (Ref 2016 EWCA Civ 
414).
5 See paragraph 28 below.

Page 79



Lewes District Local Plan Part 2, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 
December 2019

6

unnecessary for me to go down the route of re-examining the strategic basis 
of the Plan. 

Assessment of Duty to Co-operate 
14. Section 20(5)(c) of the 2004 Act requires that I consider whether the Council 

complied with any duty imposed on it by section 33A in respect of the Plan’s 
preparation.

15. The Plan is largely non-strategic in nature.  Therefore, in the main, the Council 
is not required through its strategic policy-making duties to co-operate further 
with the specific Duty to Co-operate (DTC) bodies, having already done so for 
the strategic LPP1.  Nevertheless, local planning authorities are bound by the 
statutory duty to co-operate, where strategic issues have arisen since the 
adoption of LPP1.  The Council has documented these issues in its DTC 
evidence6, including the disaggregation of the spatial strategy for housing 
growth between Lewes District inside and outside the South Downs National 
Park (SDNP); and its addressing of the ‘in combination’ air quality impacts of 
the spatial strategy for housing growth.

16. The Council has demonstrated that it has continued to engage in cross-
boundary working in relation to these strategic areas.  Regarding the potential 
impacts on the Ashdown Forest Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and 
Special Protection Area (SPA), the Council has contributed to the working of 
the Ashdown Forest Working Group, most of the members of whom have 
supported the Plan, as evidenced in the Ashdown Forest Statement of 
Common Ground (SCG)7.  Furthermore, the lone dissenting member of this 
group did not make any representations to the Plan at the Regulation 19 
stage.  

17. The Council’s interim legal agreement covering mitigation arrangements for 
recreational impacts on the Ashdown Forest SPA is to be replaced by a legal 
agreement, to include at least four neighbouring local authorities and other 
relevant organisations.  The Council has also liaised with, and reached 
agreement with, Natural England (NE) over facilitating mitigation for 
development within another local planning authority area within 7 km of the 
Ashdown Forest that cannot provide its own suitable alternative natural 
greenspace (SANG).

18. I am satisfied that where necessary, the Council has engaged constructively, 
actively and on an on-going basis in the preparation of the Plan and that the 
duty to co-operate has therefore been met.

Assessment of Soundness
Main Issues

19. Taking account of all the representations, the written evidence and the 
discussions that took place at the examination hearings, I have identified six 
main issues upon which the soundness of this Plan depends.  This report deals 
with these main issues.  It does not respond to every point or issue raised by 

6 Council’s Duty to Cooperate Statement [Examination Document CD/007].
7 Ashdown Forest Statement of Common Ground [Examination Document CD/008].

Page 80



Lewes District Local Plan Part 2, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 
December 2019

7

representors.  Nor does it refer to every policy, policy criterion or allocation in 
the Plan.  

Issue 1 – Is the Plan effective in delivering Part 1 of the Plan8 and national 
policy? 

Key strategic parameters for Lewes

20. LPP1 sets out the key strategic parameters for the District of Lewes.  These 
include the provision of 6,900 new homes over the plan period (2010-2030), 
which is substantially lower than the objectively assessed housing need (OAN) 
of the District.  The LPP1 Inspector, in his report (IR) 9, acknowledges 
(paragraph 25) that the full OAN over the plan period will not be met.  This is 
primarily due to the existence of multiple constraints, including the fact that 
the growth of most of the larger settlements is constrained by their proximity 
to the sea, the limited capacity of the coastal road network and the extent of 
areas affected by flood risks, in addition to those parts of the District covered 
by landscape and nature conservation designations.  The recently designated 
South Downs National Park (SDNP) has, if anything, added to the force of 
these constraints.

Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulation Assessment 

21. The evidence, which is well documented, and which was generally supported 
at the examination hearing sessions, shows that both the Sustainability 
Appraisal (SA) and Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) processes have 
been iterative and influential from the start of the plan-making process. 

22. Alternatives for the housing site allocations in the Plan were informed by three 
key processes, namely the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 
(SHLAA); the sites proposed in the Draft Plan; and the submissions received 
following the Council’s call for sites.  I am satisfied that all the realistic options 
were subjected to assessment against the SA framework.  In addition, 
specialist input from East Sussex County Council (ESCC) in relation to 
landscape, flood risk, gypsy and traveller accommodation and highways, 
informed the choice of allocations in the Plan. Furthermore, the alternatives 
were reviewed by the Environment Agency (EA), NE and Heritage England, 
and these reviews are set out in some detail.

23. Clearly, the scoring of sites for development is a subjective process and it is 
inevitable that not all parties are going to afford specific sites the same scores 
in relation to a wide range of criteria, including the 18 SA objectives.  I am 
satisfied, however, that the scores given in the SA for the allocations in the 
Plan, and for rejecting other realistic development options are not 
unreasonable and are not flawed, and do not bring into question the 
soundness of the SA approach as employed by the Council.  I consider that 
this overall conclusion also relates to the assessment for policy E1, for the 
allocation for employment uses associated with the Port of Newhaven, which 
came under particular scrutiny during the Examination. 

8 Lewes District Local Plan -Part 1: Joint Core Strategy 2010-2030 [Examination Document CD031].
9 Examination Document CD072.

Page 81



Lewes District Local Plan Part 2, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 
December 2019

8

24. The evidence before me shows that there are no significant adverse effects 
identified in either the SA or HRA in relation to wildlife/biodiversity, either 
within the plan area or within potential areas of impact outside the plan area, 
that require significant mitigation.  In relation to potential impact on Ashdown 
Forest, which lies outside the plan area, MMs 1 & 2 set out the necessary 
clarity in relation to the requirements for Appropriate Assessment (AA) relating 
to residential development within 7 km of the Forest.  

25. These measures which are in place, also take into account the work that has 
been carried out through the HRA and assessments of air quality and 
recreational impacts, work which is largely supported by the Ashdown Forest 
Working Group and which has the support of NE.   On this basis, it is possible 
to conclude that the development proposals and development management 
policies in the Plan will have no adverse effect on Ashdown Forest SAC and 
that the Plan is positively prepared and in line with national policy.

26. The Plan also takes into account the relevant aspects of the Sweetman 2 
(CJEU) European Court Judgment and that it has been robustly tested both in 
relation to the SA and HRA.

Issue 1 - Conclusion

27. From the evidence before me, I conclude in relation to Issue 1, that, subject to 
the above modifications, the Plan is effective in delivering the adopted 
strategy of LPP1.  I also conclude that it has been robustly tested both in 
relation to the SA and HRA.

Issue 2 – Does the Plan provide the quantum, type, deliverability and 
distribution of housing provision, including gypsy and traveller 
accommodation, set out in Part 1 of the Plan to meet the needs of the Plan 
area over the plan period in accordance with national policy?

Quantum of housing provision and deliverability 

28. Part 1 of the Lewes District Local Plan (LPP1) makes provision for a total of 
6,926 new homes within the period 2010 to 2030.  The SDNP was designated 
in April 2011, as England’s newest National Park.  Following a legal challenge 
in March 2017, spatial policies 1 and 2 of the LPP1, which covered the overall 
provision of housing and employment land, and the distribution of housing, 
were quashed in so far as they related to the SDNP10.  However, the judgment 
stated that the housing requirement and distribution could effectively be 
disaggregated between those areas falling within the SDNP and the remainder 
of the area, i.e. this Plan. The disaggregation between the two local planning 
authorities is agreed in a Statement of Common Ground (SCG) signed by the 
SDNP Authority and the Council.11 

29. The disaggregation between this Plan and the area of Lewes District within the 
SDNP results in the 6,926 new homes provided for in LPP1 being divided into 
1,432 new homes to be provided within the SDNP and the remaining 5,494 to 

10 Examination Document CD075 (see paragraphs 123 and 125).
11 Examination Document CD007.

Page 82



Lewes District Local Plan Part 2, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 
December 2019

9

be provided within this Plan.  This calculation was primarily based, as 
Examination Document CD007 explains, on LPP1 spatial policy 2 (Distribution 
of Housing). 

30. Against this total, it is necessary to deduct the numbers of housing units which 
have already been built, and which are committed through planning 
permissions (some of which are under construction), plus the likely supply 
from windfalls and from rural exception sites.  When these are deducted from 
the LPP1 housing requirement of 5,494 for this Plan, the residual housing 
requirement for this Plan falls to 1,660 units.  One of my principal tasks in the 
examination of this Plan is to form a judgment as to whether this figure is 
realistic, and therefore whether the Plan is effective in its ability to deliver 
LPP1 so far as it relates to the plan area.

31. The constraints to new development (especially housing) which were identified 
in LPP1 have not materially changed since the adoption of that Plan, and 
based on my conclusions in Matter 1, it is not the role of this Part 2 Plan to 
reassess the objectively assessed housing need (OAN) of the plan area, or 
whether its overall housing provision should continue to be limited by these 
constraints.  Clearly, these are matters for the forthcoming Review of the 
entire Plan (i.e. LPP1 and LPP2), which the Council is committed to as a matter 
of urgency. 

32. The Plan provides for a modest over-provision of residual housing in relation to 
the LPP1 requirement for the plan area.  Firstly, Table 3 of the Plan indicates 
that the planned level of housing is 1,682 units, based on adopted and 
emerging Neighbourhood Plan (NP) housing figures and the allocated housing 
sites within the Plan.  However, it is clear from the most up-to-date estimates 
of housing delivery from the allocated housing sites in the Plan that the 
identified delivery exceeds the Plan figure by 95 dwellings, with a further 
excess of 99 dwellings being the estimated delivery of sites, mainly within NP 
allocations12.  Adding these two totals to the figure in Table 3 of the Plan 
indicates that the likely housing delivery, estimated at 1,876, will exceed the 
Plan total of 1,660 units by 216 units, or 13.01%.  Whilst this remains a 
modest buffer, it does not raise soundness concerns.

33. Regarding the reliance on NPs delivering 1,250 dwellings towards the Plan’s 
housing requirement, the Plan has identified a yield of 395 dwellings from the 
four ‘made’ NPs, whilst the updated total of housing allocations from these NPs 
is identified at 385 dwellings.  However, the Plan allocates a site at Ringmer 
for 32 dwellings, which increases the yield in these four NPs to 417 dwellings.  
I have no evidence to point to the likelihood of an overall failure of the NPs in 
the District to meet the target of 1,250 dwellings over the rest of the plan 
period.  Although it would appear that progress on the Peacehaven NP has 
stalled, the evidence before the examination pointed to most of the NPs 
exceeding their initial housing contributions following the submission of 
planning applications and other work, resulting in an overall surplus of housing 
provision above the requirements in this Plan.

12 Table 1 in the Council’s Matter 3 Statement [Examination Document LDC/005].

Page 83



Lewes District Local Plan Part 2, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 
December 2019

10

34. Several of the housing allocations in the Plan have deliverability issues.  
However, MMs 3-17 and 28 include the necessary changes to ensure the 
effectiveness of the relevant policies covering the following aspects:

 Addressing flood risk and securing surface water drainage (policy 
NH01, land south of Valley Road, Newhaven; policy BH01, land at the 
Nuggets, Valebridge Road; policy RG01, Caburn Field) [MM3, 4, 10 
&11,14&15];  

 Provision of sewerage connections and site levelling (policy GT01, Land 
South of The Plough) [MM16&17];

 Remediation of contamination, on-site sewerage provision and 
addressing biodiversity impact (policy NH02, land at the Marina, 
Newhaven) [MM5-9]; 

 Securing safe pedestrian access to the nearest bus stop (policy CH02, 
Layden Hall, East Grinstead Road) [MM13] (and policy GT01, Land 
South of The Plough) [MM28];  

 Provision of landscaped buffers (policy BH01, land at the Nuggets, 
Valebridge Road) [MM12].

35. The Council issued a further note covering the deliverability of the largest 
housing allocations (including one spatial policy site from LPP1), taking 
account of the above considerations but also addressing other issues such as 
Section 106 progress, viability, especially in relation to affordable housing 
(AH) and, where applicable, environmental impact analysis (EIA) work13.  This 
detailed work demonstrates that the six key sites identified in the note can be 
delivered within the plan period, and that all the identified constraints can be 
overcome to enable scheme completion within this time.  

36. Moreover, the revised capacities of these sites, in part based on recent 
planning permissions and on more detailed site work, has increased, in some 
cases significantly14.  These six sites, totalling 1,200 units, are: Reprodux 
House, Newhaven (80 dwellings); Land at Harbour Heights, Newhaven (696 
dwellings, based on the planning application figure); Land South of Valley 
Road, Newhaven (24 dwellings); Land at the Marina, Newhaven (300 
dwellings); Land adjacent to High Street, Barcombe Cross (10 dwellings); and 
Caburn Field, Ringmer (90 units using the policy RG01 figure).  

37. The windfall numbers are out-performing the allowance made for them in LPP1 
spatial policy 2, even taking account of the fact that the LPP1 figure includes 
windfalls arising within the SDNP.  I see no reason to consider that the windfall 
allowance of 50 dpa should be decreased over the remainder of the plan 
period, especially as the figures for the last five years, excluding residential 
gardens, have averaged 58 dpa15.  Moreover, the Council applies a 25% 

13 Document LDC/022 – Response to Inspector’s Questions ID6 and ID7; April 2019.
14 For example, land at Harbour Heights is allocated in Spatial Policy 7 for approx. 400 dwellings; this has been 
increased to 696 houses and apartments, based on the detailed work set out in Document LDC/022, Appendix 1-
Deliverability of large 6 sites.
15 Council’s Matter 3 Statement, paragraph 3.29 [Document LDC/005].

Page 84



Lewes District Local Plan Part 2, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 
December 2019

11

discount to small sites to allow for non-implementation (whilst the allowance 
for non-implementation for large sites is considered on a site-by-site basis).

38. The inclusion of a housing trajectory in the Plan, divided into individual years, 
and categories (market housing, affordable housing (AH), windfalls, approvals 
subject to Section 106 and completions) [MM27] forms a key element in 
ensuring that the Plan is positively prepared and effective.

Distribution of housing

39. The distribution of the residual housing provision of this Plan accords with the 
SA; it also accords with the strategic principles set out in LPP1 and with the 
principles of sustainable development.  Inevitably, some of the distribution has 
gone to villages, which I accept are generally less sustainable than the towns. 
Whilst some of this growth in villages will meet local needs, and where there 
are in many cases a number of facilities and services, it is not possible within 
the current planning system to differentiate between housing for commuters 
and housing to meet local needs. 

40. In relation to the provision of the 200 dwellings ‘to be determined’ in Table 3, 
these are largely met through the planning permission recently granted for 
183 dwellings at the former Newlands School at Seaford, with the remaining 
17 dwellings to be located at Newhaven.  These are both sustainable 
settlements and no soundness issues arise.

41. Whilst I agree with the view expressed by several representors that the town 
of Lewes is located sustainably in relation to the District of Lewes, the fact that 
it is located outside the plan area and within the SDNP means that it is also 
outside the remit of my examination of this Plan.  

42. The provision of 14 net additional dwellings at the Nuggets, Valebridge Road in 
policy BH01, results in a net addition of 95 dwellings sustainably located on 
the fringe of Burgess Hill, to the north of the plan area, in accordance with 
LPP1.  It is acknowledged by the Council that the occupiers of these properties 
are highly likely to rely primarily on the health facilities, schools and other 
community services located outside the District.  This, however, does not 
override my conclusion that these developments are sustainably located and 
that their location accords with the spatial strategy set out in LPP1.  

Can the Plan deliver a five-year supply of housing?

43. National planning policy requires each local planning authority to maintain a 
five-year supply of deliverable housing sites.  Paragraph 49 of the 
Framework16 states that the relevant policies (in a Local Plan) shall not be 
considered up-to-date if the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a 
five-year supply of deliverable housing sites.

44. The Council’s latest published position17 shows that at 1 October 2018, the 
Council was able to demonstrate it had 5.22 years’ housing land supply.  This 
document bases its calculations on the LPP1 figure with a five-year target 

16 Department of Communities and Local Government: National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework); 
March 2012.
17 Lewes DC Five Year Housing Land Supply Position as at 1 October 2018 [Examination Document CD/061].

Page 85



Lewes District Local Plan Part 2, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 
December 2019

12

figure of 5,494 and a 5% buffer.  The MHCLG letter dated 22 October 201918 
confirms that the Housing Delivery Test measurement for 2018 is 86%, which 
confirms that the Council’s housing delivery is in line with paragraph 73 of the 
Framework.  A 5% buffer is therefore appropriate at this point. 

45. The shortfall has been met by the use of the ‘Liverpool’ method (which 
annualises the requirement over the full extent of the remaining plan period, 
i.e. utilising a backloaded trajectory), as opposed to the ‘Sedgefield’ method 
(which requires the total shortfall to be made good within 5 years).  The 
arguments for opting for the ‘Liverpool’ method are made in the LPP1 
Inspector’s Report (IR), which argues that that: “there is sufficient local 
justification for the Councils to meet the shortfall of this area over the full plan 
period”19.  

46. I see no reason, based on the evidence before me, which includes the need for 
major works on a number of the main site allocations, to overcome issues 
such as remediation from contamination and flood defence work, to disagree 
with the view in the IR in relation to this Plan.  Therefore, on the basis of 
employing the ‘Liverpool’ method, I am satisfied that the Council can 
demonstrate that there is a reasonable prospect of the Plan achieving a five-
year housing land supply for the plan area, assuming a 5% buffer. 

Qualitative aspects of housing supply – is there a need for any qualitative 
parameters for housing provision in the Plan, such as provision for affordable 
housing (AH), self-build, older persons’ accommodation, care homes, accessible 
housing and student accommodation?

47. The Council is committed to addressing qualitative aspects of housing supply 
in its review of the Plan.   The Council is promoting self-build through a 
register and is already looking at its own sites, and a 20-dwelling plot for self-
build housing has been identified as part of the Harbour Heights strategic 
allocation at Newhaven.  

48. The Council’s affordable housing (AH) provision, including the threshold total 
and mixture of AH types, is set out in core policy 1 of LPP1, and I have no 
reason to come to a different conclusion.  Policy DM2 in the Plan addresses AH 
provision on ‘exception’ sites, especially where the social mix and vitality of 
villages is being undermined by a shortage of AH; this policy also recognises 
the intrinsic beauty of the rural landscape and the need to avoid isolated 
homes in the countryside, and to ensure any new development responds to 
local character.   I therefore consider the policy is justified and effective, and 
in line with national policy.  

49. Whilst sympathetic to representations on this, it is not appropriate to add a 
requirement to the policy that schemes should be supported by the local 
community, as this would not accord with paragraph 154 of the Framework 
which requires that only policies that provide a clear indication of how a 

18 Letter from MHCLC, dated 22 October 2019, following High Court proceedings by Lewes DC in relation to 
publication of MHCLC’s annual housing delivery test results in February 2019, which indicated that the Council had 
only delivered 50% of the housing required under its adopted local plan over the last three years.
19 Paragraph 40 of the Report on the Examination into the Lewes District Local Plan – Part 1 – Joint Core Strategy 
(22 March 2016) [Examination Document CD072].

Page 86



Lewes District Local Plan Part 2, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 
December 2019

13

decision maker should react to a development proposal should be included in 
the Plan.

50. I am mindful of the representations in favour of policies for older persons’ 
housing, and the lack of them in LPP1 and in this Plan.  However, it is clear 
that the Council would need additional time to formulate a meaningful policy, 
based on robust evidence, as opposed to general wording.  In which case, I 
consider that it would be more appropriate to include a policy addressing the 
need for older persons’ housing in the forthcoming Local Plan Review.

Gypsy and traveller accommodation – Is policy GT01, which allocates a site for the 
provision of 5 net additional permanent gypsy and traveller pitches on land to the 
south of The Plough, to the north of Plumpton Green village, positively prepared, 
justified, effective and in accordance with national planning policy and LPP1?

51. National planning policy20 aims to ensure fair and equal treatment for the 
gypsy and traveller community through understanding their accommodation 
needs whilst respecting the needs of the settled community. In accordance 
with national policy, the Council has demonstrated that it has sought to 
engage with the local community in the village of Plumpton Green from the 
earliest stages of developing policy GT01 as part of seeking to meet the needs 
of the gypsy and traveller community in the plan area.  The Council has stated 
that it has sought to explore possible sources of potentially suitable sites as 
part of its local plan preparation process. This included holding a public 
meeting held within the village on 5 September 2018.  I am satisfied that the 
Council’s preparation for policy GT01 demonstrates positive preparation and is 
in accordance with national policy. 

52. Moreover, the provision of a new site for gypsies and travellers will also 
address the issue of unauthorised gypsy and traveller encampments within the 
plan area.  As part of its activities under its commitment to the DTC, the 
Council has sought to work with neighbouring local planning authorities in 
securing gypsy and traveller provision.

53. As I stated at the outset of my report, the scope of this Plan is to implement 
LPP1, which has been found to be sound in relation to national policy at the 
time of its adoption.  The fact that national policy in relation to gypsy and 
traveller accommodation has subsequently changed its emphasis21 is not 
therefore a matter which I can have regard to in determining the soundness of 
this Plan.  Within the ambit of national policy, LPP1 has had regard to the level 
of need identified in the 2016 East Sussex and South Downs National Park 
Authority Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Accommodation 
Assessment (GTAA). 

54. LPP1 core policy 3 (Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation) identifies the number 
of permanent pitches required across the District for the period 2014-2030, as 
well as its distribution between the areas inside and outside the SDNP. The 
policy requires the provision of 5 pitches outside the SDNP, i.e. within this plan 
area; policy GT01 of this Plan reflects the LPP1 total in allocating a site for the 

20 Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS), Department for Communities and Local Government; August 2015.
21 In the PPTS, Annex 1, the definitions of ‘gypsies and travellers’ and ‘travelling show people’ have been 
amended.  Previously included within the definition were those who had ceased to travel temporarily or 
permanently for reasons of health, education or old age. “Permanently” has been deleted from the definitions. 

Page 87



Lewes District Local Plan Part 2, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 
December 2019

14

development of 5 net additional permanent gypsy and traveller pitches on a 
0.69 ha site on land south of The Plough, to the north of Plumpton Green 
Village. 

55. Core policy 3 also sets out six criteria to guide the allocation of gypsy and 
traveller sites, stating that in considering planning applications for sites for 
gypsies and travellers (and travelling showpeople), proposals will be supported 
where the six criteria, which are set out in the policy, have been met  and 
where the proposal in is conformity with  other relevant district-wide policies.  
These criteria, which are reflected in policy GT01, were discussed in some 
detail at the hearing sessions, and it is necessary to examine each one in turn.

56. Criterion 1 - Avoid locating sites in areas of high flood risk, or significantly 
contaminated land, or adjacent to existing uses incompatible with residential 
uses, such as waste tips and wastewater facilities:  The proposed site is 
located within Flood Zone 1, so that no sequential test is needed.  There has 
been no objection to policy GT01 from the Environment Agency (EA).  
Moreover, no robust arguments were made either at the hearing sessions or in 
subsequent representations to the main modifications, that the site is 
unsuitable for pitches for gypsies and travellers on the basis of either flood risk 
or proximity to environmentally incompatible uses.  I have no evidence to 
come to a different conclusion.

57. A modification to policy GT01, to ensure that the development will provide a 
connection to the sewerage system, as advised by Southern Water [MM17] is 
necessary to ensure that the policy is positively prepared and effective.  Also, 
a further modification to ensure that the policy is clear in referring to the site 
which should be levelled rather than the development [MM16], is necessary 
to secure the effectiveness of the Plan.

58. Criterion 2 – The site is well related to or has reasonable access to, 
settlements with existing services and facilities such as schools, health 
services and shops:  The proposed site is located just to the north of the 
village of Plumpton Green, to which it is connected by Station Road, which 
forms the spinal route of the village, and which is designed to enable traffic 
generally to flow freely in both directions.  The site lies immediately to the 
north of an industrial site, which is known as The Old Brickworks, and it is also 
located close to a number of scattered dwellings and a public house (The 
Plough).  

59. Although it is located outside the planning boundary of the village and 
comprises part of a field, the site is not isolated or remote, and is not located 
in a peripheral hamlet.  The site is accessible to a range of services which are 
within the village. 

60. The evidence that I heard at the hearing sessions and read in submissions and 
observed at the site and in the area, is that site GT01 is located within 1.5 to 
1.9 kilometres (km) from the facilities within the village.  There is a bus stop 
150 m to the north of the proposed access to the site; and I heard no robust 
evidence that the regular bus service is likely to cease operating any time 
soon. There is a doctors’ surgery within a 2.5 km range, which is not an 
unreasonable distance away.  The nearest primary school is about 2.25 km 
away, and the nearest secondary school is about 4 km distant.  These 

Page 88



Lewes District Local Plan Part 2, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 
December 2019

15

distances do not equate to the site being in unsustainable rural isolation.  
Moreover, policy GT01(a) makes provision for pedestrians and cyclists along 
the main road. 

61. On the basis of the above evidence, I consider that site GT01 is close to the 
village of Plumpton Green, and is well related to, and has reasonable access 
to, settlements with existing services and facilities.  This view is also agreed 
by the ESCC Gypsy and Traveller Team Manager, who considers that the 
allocation meets the relevant criteria for ensuring a satisfactory site for gypsy 
and traveller pitches.

62. Criterion 3 – The proposal does not compromise the special features of 
national historical, environmental or landscape designations, such as the 
SDNP: The site is located to the north of Plumpton Green, whereas the SDNP 
is located to the south of the village.  Any view of the proposed development 
on site GT01 from the SDNP would only be seen within the context of the 
entire village and would therefore not be viewed as a pristine area of 
undeveloped countryside.  As such, it would not adversely affect the setting of 
the SDNP. In addition, policy GT01 requires the proposed development to use 
the natural topography in screening the site from the wider, sensitive 
landscape views and to be designed to minimise the perception of urbanisation 
in this location.

63. Criterion 4 – There is safe and convenient access to the road network: There is 
already a vehicular access to site GT01, which the highway authority deems 
acceptable in terms of safety and convenience.  Policy GT01(b) also requires 
that the development should be laid out to provide sufficient room for vehicles 
to turn around within the site, and therefore to be able to access and egress 
the site in forward gear.  Regarding safety concerns, no accident data was 
submitted by any party.  

64. Although there is presently no roadside footpath alongside the site, the Council 
indicated at the hearing sessions that a dedicated footpath connecting the site 
to the nearest bus stop would be necessary in the interests of pedestrian 
safety, and I have added this to the list of modifications [MM28].  This is 
necessary to ensure that the site is linked satisfactorily to the facilities within 
the village and in the interests of pedestrian safety and ensures that the Plan 
is positively prepared.  On the basis of the above considerations, subject to 
the recommended added modification, it is my view that the site affords safe 
and convenient access to the road network.

65. Criterion 5 – There is capacity to provide on-site physical and social 
infrastructure such as water, power, drainage, parking and amenity space:  
There are no additional infrastructure issues which would curtail the 
development of the site for gypsy and traveller accommodation, and this is 
therefore not a reason for policy GT01 to be deleted.

66. Criterion 6 – Adequate levels of privacy for residents on or adjacent to the site 
are provided through planning considerations such as site layout, scale and 
landscaping: The nearest residential neighbours occupy plots on the opposite 
side of Station Road to site GT01, and the separation distances between the 
habitable windows of these properties and the proposed development are 

Page 89



Lewes District Local Plan Part 2, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 
December 2019

16

sufficient to ensure that there would be no potential for significant detriment 
to neighbouring living conditions, such as overlooking, loss of privacy, or other 
forms of disturbance.  In addition, the requirement in policy GT01(c) for the 
proposal to be designed to minimise the perception of urbanisation in this 
location would also minimise any impacts on neighbouring living conditions.

67. At the suggestion of the Council, I visited the permanent gypsy and traveller 
site at Offham, just to the north of the town of Lewes.  I observed how 
successfully the site has been assimilated into its surroundings, and I am not 
persuaded that a similar, sensitive scheme could not be implemented at site 
GT01.

68. Several other issues were raised by the parties and I address these below.  
Firstly, in relation to Plumpton Neighbourhood Plan (NP); there is no allocation 
for a gypsy and traveller site within the Plumpton NP, neither is there a policy 
which sets out any criteria for determining such a site.  The NP is therefore 
silent on the issue. 

69. Furthermore, at the time of the examination, no other emerging or ‘made’ NPs 
within the plan area have sought to deliver a site for permanent gypsy and 
traveller pitches. Given the complete NP policy silence throughout the plan 
area and the fact that there is both a national policy and LPP1 requirement to 
meet an identified need for gypsy and traveller pitches within the plan area, 
the Council undertook to allocate a site for this need within the Plan.  I 
consider that this was the appropriate response for the Council to take in order 
to secure the soundness of the Plan, and to have avoided the issue would have 
been contrary to national and LPP1 policy.

70. Secondly, regarding the selection process in relation to the GT01 site, I was 
informed at the hearing sessions that several alternative sites were considered 
over a period of time, but during the preparation of LPP1, none of these sites 
was found to be suitable.  LPP1 therefore delegated the task of allocating a 
gypsy and traveller site to LPP2.  Initially, site GT01 was considered as part of 
a larger site, which was appraised and rejected.  It is clear that site GT01 is 
just part of the larger site referred to above, with the nature of the access 
requirements amounting to a significant difference between the earlier site 
and site GT01 (involving matters such as the extent of hedge loss, steepness 
of gradient, the need to acquire third party land and flood risk). 

71. The plan period for both LPP1 and LPP2 is 2010-2030, and policy GT01 is 
considered to be implementable well within this period, and I have no reason 
to disagree with this view.  Although ideally, several realistic, alternative sites 
should be considered, as the Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) points 
out, it is not reasonable to consider the alternative of ‘no site’.  ‘Doing nothing’ 
is therefore not a legitimate option in terms of satisfying national policy.  

72. The evidence, however, points to a thorough exercise being undertaken by the 
Council in the preparation of the Plan, which included close collaboration with 
the Council’s housing officers, included a review of the Council’s land holdings, 
followed by a further SEA and then a further assessment of sites from ESCC. 
There are therefore no soundness issues raised by the process whereby the 
GT01 site was introduced into the Plan.

Page 90



Lewes District Local Plan Part 2, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 
December 2019

17

73. Thirdly, in relation to the impact of gypsy and traveller accommodation on the 
viability of local businesses; I heard no robust (as opposed to hear say) 
evidence that the proposal was likely to lead to the loss of viability of either 
The Plough Public House or the Old Brickworks industrial site.  

74. Finally, in relation to precedent: there is no evidence to demonstrate that the 
allocation of site GT01 would set a precedent for either additional gypsy and 
traveller pitches, in Plumpton Green or elsewhere, or that the policy would 
lead to additional urban growth in and around the village.  Additional 
allocations for gypsy and traveller accommodation or housing for the settled 
community or any other form of development would need to be formulated 
through the local plan or NP process, in the same way that policy GT01 is 
being formulated, and the process would require public scrutiny and the 
exercise of an examination in the public realm.  Any windfall applications 
would also be considered in the context of the existing development plan 
(LPP1, LPP2 and NPs) and national policy.

75. From the evidence before me, policy GT01 is in line with national policy as it 
existed at the time LPP1 was adopted.  It is entirely in line with core policy 3. 
None of the additional arguments against the policy made in statements to the 
examination and which were discussed at the hearing sessions or in response 
to the suggested modifications, have persuaded me, either individually or 
cumulatively, to delete the policy, which I consider, subject to the above 
modifications, to be positively prepared, justified, effective, and in accordance 
with both national policy and LPP1.

Issue 2 - Conclusion

76. From the evidence before me, I conclude in relation to Issue 2, that subject to 
the above modifications, the Plan is positively prepared, justified and effective 
in delivering LPP1 over the plan period and accords with national policy.

Issue 3 – Are the Plan’s provisions for the protection and enhancement of 
the environmental, landscape, biodiversity, open space, recreational and 
leisure and heritage assets positively prepared, justified, effective and in 
accordance with national policy?

77. The Plan contains a suite of policies which address a range of environmental 
issues, which are generally in accordance with national policy. 

78. Natural England (NE) suggested an amendment to policy DM24 (protection of 
biodiversity and geodiversity).  This refers to impacts either individually or 
collectively, and to add a new section to protect the loss or deterioration of 
irreplaceable habitats, such as ancient woodland or veteran trees in all but 
wholly exceptional circumstances, where a suitable compensation strategy 
exists [MM25&26].  These changes are justified and ensure the policy 
accords fully with national policy.

Issue 3 - Conclusion

Page 91



Lewes District Local Plan Part 2, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 
December 2019

18

79. From the evidence before me, I conclude in relation to Issue 3, that subject to 
the above modification, the Plan is positively prepared, justified, effective and 
accords with national policy.

Issue 4 – Are the policies to manage and promote the local economy and 
employment areas positively prepared, justified and effective and in line 
with national policy and LPP1?

Overall provision of employment land in the Plan Area

80. LPP1, based on evidence provided in the Council’s Employment Background 
Paper22, sets out an employment land requirement of 74,000 sq metres (sm) 
for the District.  The outstanding supply figure is now reduced to 32,000 sm 
following the granting of planning permissions, some of which have been 
completed.  

81. The Background Paper shows that the employment land allocations at Cradle 
Hill, Seaford (now a NP allocation); Harbour Heights, Newhaven (allocated in 
LPP1); land at East Quay, Newhaven (allocated by policy E1 in this Plan); and 
land adjacent to the AMEX Community Stadium, Falmar (allocated by policy E2 
in this Plan), amount to 43,000 sm, which together with completions and 
extant permissions total 85,000 sm, i.e. in excess of the 74,000 sm provision 
in LPP1.  This amount of headroom will increase the choice and range of sites 
for employment development, adding flexibility to the Plan.  The Plan 
therefore conforms to the LPP1 overall strategy and provides a framework to 
meet current employment needs within the District.

Expansion of the Port of Newhaven

82. Policy E1 allocates employment uses associated with Newhaven Port and its 
expansion, at East Quay.  This comprises an open area to the east of the 
existing port, extending almost as far south as the foreshore of the English 
Channel.  It is contained by an enclosed tidal channel known as Tide Mill 
Creek, to the north.  The written representations and discussion at the hearing 
sessions point to the following principal criteria which I address below.

Criterion 1 – The need for land for the expansion of the Port of Newhaven and 
for port-related employment land

83. LPP1 recognises the Port of Newhaven as an important strategic asset, both 
for the District and also for the wider region23.  Policy E1 is in line with LPP1 
core policy 4 (7), which supports the continued use of Newhaven Port for 
freight and passengers, including plans for the modernisation of the port as 
identified in the Port Authority’s Port Masterplan24.  This accords with the 
Government’s aim of building a strong, competitive economy, as set out in 
paragraphs 18 to 21 of the Framework. 

84. Although several representors questioned the need for any expansion of the 
port or for additional employment land at Newhaven, no robust evidence was 

22 Examination Document CD051.
23 LPP1, paragraph 7.48.
24 Newhaven Port Masterplan 2012 [Examination Document CD047].

Page 92



Lewes District Local Plan Part 2, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 
December 2019

19

put forward which demonstrated that the justification for core policy 4 (7), as 
reflected in policy E1 had now disappeared or had in some way diminished.

85. The LPP1 Inspector’s Report (IR) is clear that port expansion at Newhaven is 
justified and that it is in line with national planning policy.  The IR also states: 
“Given the obvious constraints that severely limit the realistic potential for 
peripheral expansion of the district’s towns, it is appropriate and reasonable in 
this area to seek to safeguard existing employment sites from other competing 
uses, in principle at least.” 25  Core policy 4 (7) supports the continued use of 
Newhaven Port for freight and passengers, including plans for the expansion 
and modernisation of the port, as identified in the Port Authority’s Master Plan.

86. The Port Authority’s Masterplan makes the business case for the expansion of 
the Port of Newhaven.  It identifies the land that is needed for the expansion 
of the port, for both freight and passenger use.  The port’s land requirement 
includes the allocation identified in policy E1.  The Masterplan also sets out in 
detail the arguments for the expansion of the port and the proposals for 
specific parts of the land covered by policy E1, which it maintains are the 
principal focus of the port’s expansion proposals, including the provision of a 
new berth at East Quay and relocation of  the existing ferry terminal in order 
that the port can accommodate modern ferries; the Port Authority certainly 
does not shed doubt on the continuation of the ferry services currently 
operating from the port, and I see no reason to take a different view.  

87. These arguments are also supported by the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP), 
indicating to me that policy E1 is supported by the local business community.  
Furthermore, no robust case was made at the examination which 
demonstrated that the case for port expansion in economic terms was 
unjustified.

88. On the basis of the evidence before me and the discussions at the hearing 
sessions, I conclude on the first criterion, that the need for port expansion at 
Newhaven, including the need for employment land, as provided for in policy 
E1, is justified and that the policy is effective, and that it is in accordance with 
both LPP1 and national planning policy.  

Criterion 2 - Whether any constraints to the development of the policy, such 
as the construction of the Port Access Road (PAR), have been overcome.  Also, 
have flood risk issues been satisfactorily addressed, and how critical are other 
potential adverse factors, such as air and noise pollution, traffic congestion 
and impact on the marine environment?

89. The first stage of the Port Access Road (PAR)26, which, as its name implies, 
aims to link the Port of Newhaven to the national highway network, extends as 
far south as the proposed roundabout, and has planning permission.  It had 
been partially constructed as far as the projected railway bridge crossing at 
the time of my site visit.  Work on the final phase commenced on 7 January 
2019 and the ESCC scheme is programmed for completion by October 2020, 
at a cost of £23.2 million.  This money is now available and allocated for the 

25 LPP1 Inspector’s Report, paragraph 119 [Examination Document CD072].
26 A map of the PAR, including the roundabout, can be seen in Document Rep/486/001 [March 2019].

Page 93



Lewes District Local Plan Part 2, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 
December 2019

20

implementation of the PAR.  Its completion date is now realistic and not just 
aspirational. 

90. The Newhaven Flood Alleviation Scheme is scheduled for completion by 
autumn 2019 and will provide a 1 in 200-year standard of protection.  Most of 
policy E1 is located within Flood Zone 1, whilst employment uses are likely to 
fall into the ‘less vulnerable’ flood risk classification.  It is also, for logistical 
reasons, important that port-related operational and employment uses, are 
located in close proximity to the port, which I regard as a critical 
consideration.  It would appear from the evidence submitted that the drainage 
and flooding constraints will be largely overcome once the flood alleviation 
scheme is in operation in the near future. 

91. The entire area of undeveloped land has some environmental value, for 
example as part of the foreshore and the enclosed tidal channel, known as 
Tide Mill Creek, where large bird populations can and do thrive. Much of this 
area, however, comprises relatively low value shrubland and is bordered by 
even more extensive areas of suitable bird habitat.

92. Nevertheless, the environmental importance and sensitivity of the site and 
adjoining coastal strip have required several modifications to the Plan to be 
suggested.  MM20 provides for a north-south aligned buffer zone at the 
eastern end of the proposed port expansion in order to effectively protect the 
Tide Mills Nature Reserve immediately to the east of site E1.  It therefore 
makes the Plan justified and effective.  Several dimensions for the buffer zone 
were suggested by some parties, ranging from below 10 to about 80 m in 
width, but no robust evidence was put to me to support any specific 
dimension.   The exact width, height and landscaped treatment of the buffer 
will be determined at the development management stage, based on 
appropriate evidence, with the entire land take for the buffer coming from 
within the policy E1 area.  

93. Secondly, MM19 provides for the deletion of the land originally within policy 
E1 to the south of the bunded footpath. This would protect an integral part of 
the vegetated shingle habitat which extends along the foreshore, including the 
site of the former World War Two Seaplane Base, which is an undesignated 
heritage asset, and is therefore necessary for the Plan to be justified and 
effective.  A consequential change to the Policy Map is therefore necessary. 

94. Thirdly, MM18 strengthens the mitigation requirements, to ensure that the 
proposed development would be acceptable in environmental terms.  This 
ensures, amongst other things, that mitigation should be delivered, and time 
allowed for its establishment before any development occurs, so that no net 
loss of biodiversity occurs at any time. Whilst the remit of this modification is 
limited to the area contained within site E1, the development proposals will be 
required to ensure that any impact on the existing public footpath which runs 
through the site will be mitigated in relation to convenience, safety and 
amenity of this right of way, in accordance with policy DM35.

95. These three modifications address the key biodiversity issues in and around 
the area covered by the submitted policy E1 which need to be effectively 

Page 94



Lewes District Local Plan Part 2, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 
December 2019

21

considered to ensure that the policy is justified and accords with national 
policy.  

96. The option of deleting additional scrubland to the east of the PAR from policy 
E1 would not in my view result in significant additional environmental or visual 
benefits, whilst it would artificially curtail the ‘natural’ expansion of the port 
eastwards.  The impact of the PAR, some sections of which are elevated, will, 
of course, have a visual impact on the landscape to the east of the port.  
However, far from a pristine view of open countryside from the cliffs in the 
SDNP overlooking site E1, the views over Newhaven from the National Park 
look down onto the urban area of the town and the existing port operations 
with the backdrop of the English Channel.  The relatively small-scale addition 
at the far end of the port represented by policy E1 would be dominated by the 
elevated sections of the PAR, with any cumulative impact from the 
implementation of policy E1 on the setting of the SDNP being minimal.

97. The PAR is likely to decrease traffic congestion on the residential roads which 
lead to the port, and there are likely to be benefits in a reduction of both noise 
and air pollution for residential areas which are currently adversely impacted 
by the disturbance arising from heavy goods vehicles entering and leaving the 
port and the port activities themselves.  Moreover, the application of a number 
of policies, including DM20 (pollution management), DM23 (noise) and DM25 
(design) will also safeguard the quality of the living conditions of neighbouring 
residential occupiers from the potential environmental effects of the 
implementation of policy E1.

98. On the basis of the written evidence and the discussions at the hearing 
sessions, I conclude on the second criterion, subject to the proposed 
modifications, that the potential constraints to the sustainable implementation 
of policy E1 can be mitigated to ensure that the policy is positively prepared, 
justified and effective, and that it is in accordance with both LPP1 and national 
policy.  

Criterion 3 - The sustainable planning balance

99. In strategic planning terms, the sustainable planning balance was determined 
in favour of policy E1 in LPP1.  It is my contention that the material planning 
considerations that led to the support for policy E1’s predecessor in LPP1 (core 
policy 4(7) have not significantly changed.  No new soundness considerations 
have arisen to persuade me to delete policy E1.  If anything, I consider the 
arguments in favour of the policy, including the realisation of the commitment 
to construct the PAR, are now even stronger than they were during the 
examination of LPP1.

100.The evidence which I have considered in the previous paragraphs still points 
conclusively to the need for the proposed employment and port-related 
development on site E1.  Moreover, the potential constraints to the port-
related development as set out in policy E1, the overcoming of which were if 
anything less certain at the time of the examination of LPP1, have already 
been overcome, are in the process of being overcome, or are satisfactorily 
addressed by other relevant policies in the Plan.  Pedestrian access to all the 
remaining areas of the foreshore will be retained, and I heard no evidence to 

Page 95



Lewes District Local Plan Part 2, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 
December 2019

22

demonstrate that the abundant and diverse bird population within and around 
site E1 would be significantly adversely affected.  

101.There are clearly environmental considerations which have to be addressed in 
assessing the soundness of policy E1.  However, it is clear to me that the 
suggested modifications, to ensure the protection of the Nature Reserve 
through a buffer, the deletion of the policy area to the south of the footpath so 
as to protect the vegetated shingle habitat, and the mitigation requirements 
prior to any development being started, enable the policy to be implemented 
in an environmentally sustainable way, and are therefore justified.  For this 
reason I do not consider that the arguments to keep the site undeveloped, on 
the grounds of protecting its wildlife, recreation and leisure potential, its 
attraction for tourists and visitors and its potential harmful effect on the 
setting of SDNP (which I consider would be minimal) are sufficient to outweigh 
the arguments in favour of implementing policy E1.

Land adjacent to American Express Community Stadium, Village Way, Falmer

102.Policy E2, for office and health/educational uses associated with the Stadium 
or the Brighton Universities, is for development which would be clearly visible 
from the SDNP which overlooks the site. Development on this site clearly has 
the potential to contribute to the existing heavy congestion on the busy A27 
main road which runs adjacent to the site, close to the Falmer junction.  

103.Modifications to the policy, to require that the design and external materials 
should reflect the setting of the SDNP [MM21], and to require sustainable 
transport infrastructure to ensure that the development does not have an 
adverse impact on the performance of the Falmer Interchange trunk road 
junction at the A27/B2123 Falmer Junction [MM22]. These are necessary for 
the policy to be sensitive to the setting of the SDNP and to secure sustainable 
transport access.  An additional modification, to introduce flexibility so as to 
allow for ancillary uses associated with the Stadium and Brighton Universities 
[MM23], is necessary for the Plan to be effective, whilst MM24 introduces the 
necessary flexibility in the requirement for green infrastructure.

Other economic and employment aspects

104.The Plan also addresses several other aspects of the local economy and 
employment provision.  This includes the protection of existing and allocated 
employment sites from development for other uses, such as housing, in 
accordance with national policy, and it addresses the need for a sustainable 
housing/employment balance in the interests of reducing commuting distances 
where possible.  LPP1 also includes town centres policies, e.g. core policy 6, 
which satisfactorily address retail and town centre issues.  Policy DM9, 
covering farm diversification, accords with national policy and LPP1 strategy.  
Finally, policy DM11 takes a proactive stance and accords with the strategic 
thrust of core policy 4 in taking a proactive approach to supporting the rural 
economy in line with both national policy and LPP1. 

Issue 4 - Conclusion

Page 96



Lewes District Local Plan Part 2, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 
December 2019

23

105.From the evidence before me, I conclude in relation to Issue 4, that subject to 
the above modifications, the Plan is positively prepared, justified and effective 
and in line with national policy and LPP1.

 
Issue 5 – Are the transport, infrastructure, implementation and 
monitoring provisions positively prepared, justified, effective and in like 
with national policy? 

106.There is recognition in the LPP1 IR that the capacity of the highways network, 
especially on the A27 and A259, the latter serving the main settlements along 
the coast, such as Newhaven, Peacehaven and Seaford, is a major contributor 
towards the fact that the OAN figures cannot be met in full27.  

107.Although the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP)28 is committed towards 
implementing small scale capacity improvements on the A27 to the east of 
Lewes, there is a realisation on the part of Highways England, ESCC and 
others that an emphasis on the construction of new highways is not an 
appropriate way forward in the plan area. This approach is justified by the 
high coverage of landscape, wildlife and coastal constraints.  

108.The sustainable way forward identified by the leading infrastructure agencies 
is to investigate more comprehensive solutions to address peak hour 
congestion between Lewes and Polegate, using sustainable transport where 
possible.  Although this stretch of highway falls within the SDNP, it will have 
important implications for traffic movement within the plan area.   The only 
exception to this strategy is the PAR, which is a new road construction project 
focused on the specific delivery issues of the Port of Newhaven, which I have 
already addressed in Issue 4 above. 

109.The IDP identifies the infrastructure required to meet the level and distribution 
of growth which is proposed in the Plan over the plan period.  The Council, 
supported by ESCC as highway authority, considers that there is a reasonable 
prospect that the required highway and transport infrastructure improvements 
could be delivered in a timely fashion over the plan period.

110.Regarding flood risk, the only housing site allocation within Flood Zone 3 is the 
land at the Marina, Newhaven (policy NH02).  However, a flood risk 
assessment has been carried out for this site, including a sequential test, by 
the Council.  The EA has agreed that this assessment is sufficient to 
demonstrate the acceptability of this allocation within the Plan, subject to 
detailed sewerage and decontamination modifications which I have addressed 
under Issue 2 above.

111.In relation to the quantity and quality of water supply, the plan area, along 
with the rest of the South East, is in an area of ‘serious water stress’, as 
defined by the EA29.  With this situation in mind, LPP1 core policy 14 requires 
all new dwellings to achieve a water consumption rate of not more than 110 

27 IR, paragraph 25 [Examination Document CD072].
28 Examination Document CD057.
29 Council’s Statement in response to Inspector’s questions – Matter 7paragraph 6.1 [Examination Document 
LDC/009].

Page 97



Lewes District Local Plan Part 2, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 
December 2019

24

litres per person per day.  Policy DM22 builds on core policy 14 and seeks to 
ensure that new development will not put the quality of the water environment 
at risk.  This policy is supported by EA, ESCC, NE and Sussex Wildlife Trust, 
and I consider it is justified and in accordance with national policy.

Issue 5 - Conclusion

112.From the evidence before me, I conclude in relation to Issue 5, that the Plan is 
positively prepared, justified and effective and is in line with national policy 
and LPP1.

Issue 6 – Are the Plan’s provisions for settlement boundaries, 
development management, uncertainties and risks justified and effective? 

113.Policy DM1, which sets out the proposed development boundaries, operates 
within the spatial context of LPP1 spatial policy 2, which identifies the scale 
and distribution of housing development across the District.  The importance 
of gaps is recognised, to maintain the distinctive character and identity of 
individual settlements.  The Council’s response to my questions is to indicate 
that whilst the principle of retaining gaps between settlements is important 
and is covered at a contextual level in LPP1 strategic policy 2, a considerable 
body of work, including detailed landscape character analysis, would be 
required prior to formulating a detailed policy on gaps.  In these circumstances 
it is my view that, rather than commission the extra work now, the option of a 
gap policy can be pursued as part of the Local Plan Review.

114.The Council considers that there is ample scope within the planning boundaries 
based on policy DM1 which are defined on the Policies Map, to accommodate 
the supply of 468 dwellings on windfall sites which are required as a 
component of the overall housing provision in the Plan (as considered under 
Issue 2 above).  This was not robustly challenged during the examination, and 
on the evidence before me, I consider that this policy is not too restrictive in 
relation to the Plan’s windfall target.

115.In relation to development management, the relevant policies in Section 4 of 
the Plan provide the necessary direction, address local issues and replace the 
remaining ‘saved’ policies.  They have also addressed relevant uses raised by 
stakeholders and the public.  Policy DM4 manages residential conversions in 
the countryside; policy DM19 aims to protect the best and most versatile 
agricultural land.  Policy DM6 seeks to support sustainable growth and 
expansion of rural businesses whilst respecting the character of the 
countryside.  In addition, policies DM10 (Employment Development in the 
Countryside) and DM11 (Existing Employment Sites in the Countryside) seek 
more generally to support sustainable growth and expansion of rural 
businesses whilst respecting the character of the countryside.  These policies 
provide a more detailed framework than can be found in national policy and 
will assist in the delivery of an effective Plan. 

116.In terms of uncertainties and risks, the Plan provides a positive and flexible 
framework for decision taking.

117.Finally, in relation to monitoring, this is done annually through the Authority 
Monitoring Report (AMR).   The provisions for monitoring are covered in LPP1, 

Page 98



Lewes District Local Plan Part 2, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 
December 2019

25

and I therefore agree with the Council that there is no need for a monitoring 
policy in this Plan.  The Council has proposed that the AMR will be amended to 
add progress in NP preparation to its list of indicators, which I consider is 
appropriate. 

Issue 6 - Conclusion

118. From the evidence before me, I conclude in relation to Issue 6, that the Plan 
is justified and effective and is in line with national policy and LPP1.

Assessment of Legal Compliance
119.My examination of the legal compliance of the Plan is summarised below.  I 

conclude that the Plan meets them all.

120.The Lewes District Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 
Management Policies has been prepared in accordance with the Council’s Local 
Development Scheme.

121.Consultation on the Local Plan and the MMs was carried out in compliance with 
the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement. 

122.Sustainability Appraisal has been carried out and is adequate. 

123.The Habitats Regulations Appropriate Assessment Screening Report [August 
2018] sets out why an AA is necessary for recreational pressure. 

124.The Local Plan includes policies designed to secure that the development and 
use of land in the local planning authority’s area contribute to the mitigation 
of, and adaptation to, climate change. The theme of sustainability permeates 
the entire Plan and several policies will help to secure that the development 
and use of land will contribute to the mitigation of, and adaptation to, climate 
change.  These include the various policies on the protection of biodiversity, 
although some of the key policies such as those addressing coastal erosion 
and renewable and low carbon energy, are included in Part 1 of the Plan 
(LPP1). 

125.In addition, the overall spatial focus on the main settlements for the majority 
of new development and policies generally aim to protect the countryside from 
development, and to allocate housing and employment land within or near to 
the urban areas.  This strategy is intended to reduce the need to travel.  
Accordingly, the Plan, taken as a whole, achieves this statutory objective.  

126.The Local Plan complies with all other relevant legal requirements, including in 
the 2004 Act (as amended) and the 2012 Regulations.  

127.I have had due regard to the aims expressed in S149(1) of the Equality Act 
2010.  This has included my consideration of several matters during the 
examination including the provision of traveller sites to meet need and 
improving access to housing.  

Overall Conclusion and Recommendation

Page 99



Lewes District Local Plan Part 2, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies, Inspector’s Report 
December 2019

26

128.The Plan has a number of deficiencies in respect of soundness for the reasons 
set out above, which mean that I recommend non-adoption of it as submitted, 
in accordance with Section 20(7A) of the 2004 Act.  These deficiencies have 
been explored in the main issues set out above.

129.The Council has requested that I recommend MMs to make the Plan sound and 
capable of adoption.  I conclude that with the recommended main 
modifications set out in the Appendix, the Lewes District Local Plan Part 2: Site 
Allocations and Development Management Policies satisfies the requirements 
of Section 20(5) of the 2004 Act and meets the criteria for soundness in the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

Mike Fox

Inspector

This report is accompanied by an Appendix containing the Main Modifications. 

Page 100



LPP2 Schedule of Main Modifications December 2019

APPENDIX 2

Lewes District Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 
Management Policies

Schedule of Main Modifications
The modifications expressed below are expressed either in the conventional form of 
strikethrough for deletions and underlining for additions of text, or by specifying the 
modifications in words in italics.

The page numbers and paragraph numbering below refer to the submission Local Plan, and 
do not take account of the deletion or addition of text.

MM No CD12/80 
Ref

Submitted 
Local Plan 
Reference

Proposed Change

MM1 M03 Paragraph 
1.19, page 11

Habitats Regulation Assessment
Amend paragraph 1.19 after: ”The Habitat Regulations 
Assessment” as follows:
published alongside this document constitutes a 
number of individual reports and addendums that 
demonstrate that there will be no Likely Significant 
Effect on any of the protected areas as a result of 
implementing the Local Plan Part 1 or Part 2 only 
recreational impacts on the Ashdown Forest SPA/SAC 
from residential development within 7km will require 
Appropriate Assessment.  For all other impact 
pathways, a conclusion of No Likely Significant Effects 
on European Sites is reached.

MM2 M04 Following 
paragraph 
1.19

Habitats Regulation Assessment
New paragraph in supporting text to read:
Mitigation measures contained within the Local Plan 
Part 1 Core Policy 10 (3i) can be applied at the 
Appropriate Assessment stage and, as such, in 
accordance with the Habitats Regulations  Assessment 
it is therefore possible to conclude that there will be no 
adverse effect on the integrity of any European sites 
due to growth in Local Plan Part 1 or 2, either alone or 
in combination with other plans and projects.

MM3 M05 Policy NH01, 
page 20

Policy NH01: Land South of Valley Road
Amend policy NH01 by adding an additional criterion to 
read:
(c) Appropriate surface water drainage mitigation is 
agreed with relevant body and local planning authority 
and implemented accordingly;
 

MM4 M07 Supporting 
text to policy 
NH01, page 
21

Policy NH01: Land South of Valley Road
Following paragraph 2.28, add new paragraph to read:
The site lies within Flood Zone 1 (at least risk of 
flooding). However, a risk of surface water flooding has 
been identified associated with a major overland flow 

Page 101



LPP2 Schedule of Main Modifications December 2019

route, along the site’s northern boundary.  Therefore, to 
ensure that flood risk is not created, or exacerbated, on 
or off-site by the development, consideration should be 
given to the design and layout of the site.  A specific 
flood risk assessment may also be required, and 
mitigation implemented accordingly.

MM5 M10 Policy NH02, 
page 22

Policy NH02: Land at The Marina
Amend criterion (e) of policy NH02 to read:
e) Development is subject to investigation into potential 
contamination and appropriate mitigation remediation 
measures agreed with the relevant authority;

MM6 M37 Following 
paragraph 
2.38, page 24

Policy NH02: Land at The Marina
New paragraph in supporting text to read:
Development will be required to submit a desk study, 
conceptual model, site investigation, risk assessment 
and Remedial Method Statement for contaminated land 
in line with best practice approaches and carried out by 
or under the direction of a suitably qualified competent 
person and in accordance with most recent guidance.

MM7 M38 Following 
paragraph 
2.38, page 24 
and MM5 

Policy NH02: Land at The Marina
New paragraph in supporting text to read:
Where additional moorings are provided, consideration 
must be given to the management of additional waste 
and sewage arising.  Appropriate services, such as 
toilets and pump-out facilities, should be provided 
where appropriate to reduce the risk to water quality 
from recreational boating.  The size of the pump-out 
facility should be appropriate to that of the development 
and agreed by the local planning authority prior to 
construction.

MM8 M11 and 
M36

Policy NH02, 
page 22

Policy NH02: Land at The Marina
Add new text in criterion (g), after “biodiversity”:
There should be no net loss, and seek to provide a net 
gain to biodiversity, in particular to Habitats of Principal 
Importance (formerly known as BAP habitats). Where 
impacts on biodiversity cannot be avoided or mitigated, 
like-for-like compensatory habitat at or close to the 
development site will be required. Development allows 
for the protection of biodiversity and enhancement 
where possible.

MM9 M34 Policy NH02, 
page 22

Policy NH02: Land at the Marina
Add new text at the end of criterion (b) to read:
Where there is a net increase in the number of berths, 
appropriate toilet and pump-out facilities must be 
provided to manage waste and sewage arising.

MM10 M13 Policy BH01, 
page 26

Policy BH01: Land at The Nuggets, Valebridge Road
Amend policy BH01 by inserting additional criterion, to 
read:
g) Appropriate surface water drainage mitigation is 
agreed with relevant body and local planning authority 

Page 102



LPP2 Schedule of Main Modifications December 2019

and implemented accordingly;

MM11 M16 Supporting 
text to policy 
BH01, page 
28

Policy BH01: Land at The Nuggets, Valebridge Road
Following paragraph 2.51, insert new paragraph to 
read:
The site lies within Flood Zone 1 (at least risk of 
flooding).  However, a risk of surface water flooding has 
been identified associated with overland flow routes 
running north-south through the site.  Therefore, to 
ensure that flood risk is not exacerbated, on or off-site, 
by the development, consideration should be given to 
the design and layout of the site.  A specific flood risk 
assessment may also be required, and mitigation 
implemented accordingly.

MM12 M39 Policy BH01, 
page 26

Policy BH01: Land at The Nuggets, Valebridge Road
Amend criterion (d) to read:
Tree surveys undertaken and appropriate measures, 
including proper buffers, are identified and implemented 
accordingly to mitigate potential adverse impacts on the 
Tree Protection Order group and Ancient Woodland (at 
least 15m buffer) on and/or adjacent to the site.

MM13 - Policy CH02, 
page 41

Policy CH02: Layden Hall, East Grinstead Road
Amend criterion (a) to read after East Grinstead Road:
Including safe and convenient pedestrian access to the 
nearest bus stop.

MM14 M19 Policy RG01, 
page 49

Policy RG01: Caburn Field
Amend policy RG01 by inserting an additional criterion 
to read:
(f) Appropriate surface water drainage mitigation is 
agreed with relevant body and local planning authority 
and implemented accordingly;

MM15 M21 Supporting 
text to policy 
RG01, page 
51

Policy RG01: Caburn Field
Following paragraph 2.127, insert new paragraph to 
read:
The site lies within Flood Risk Zone 1 (at least risk from 
flooding).  However, a risk of surface water flooding has 
been identified associated with overland flow routes 
running both through the site and in close proximity to 
the site.  Therefore, to ensure that flood risk is not 
exacerbated, on or off-site by the development, 
consideration should be given to the design and layout 
of the site.  A specific flood risk assessment may also 
be required, and mitigation implemented accordingly.

MM16 M41 Policy GT01, 
page 53

Policy GT01: Land South of The Plough
Amend criterion (b) to read:
(b) Development The site should be levelled and laid 
out to provide sufficient room to allow vehicles to turn 
around within the site.

MM17 M40 Policy GT01, 
page 53

Policy GT01: Land South of The Plough
Add new criterion (h) to read:

Page 103



LPP2 Schedule of Main Modifications December 2019

The development will provide connection to the 
sewerage system at the nearest point of adequate 
capacity, as advised by Southern Water; if non-mains 
drainage, an environmental permit will be required.

MM18 M23 Following 
paragraph 
3.17, page 59

Policy E1: Land at East Quay, Newhaven Port
Note: Further modification to Modification 23 in CD 012: 
Following paragraph 3.17, insert additional paragraphs 
to read:
The majority of the site is located within the Tide Mills 
Local Wildlife Site, a non-statutory designation made in 
1993 in recognition of the value of the coastal and 
floodplain grazing marsh and coastal vegetated shingle.  
These habitats are now included on the Government’s 
list of habitats of principal importance for biodiversity 
conservation in England.  Any development must 
therefore ensure that any loss or damage to the nature 
conservation interest of the site can be mitigated to 
achieve a net gain in biodiversity, in accordance with 
Policy DM24 (Protection of Biodiversity and 
Geodiversity).  Appropriate mitigation should be 
identified by the applicant, along with the means for its 
delivery and maintenance.

Appropriate mitigation should be identified by the 
applicant, along with the means for its delivery and 
maintenance.  It is anticipated that such mitigation may 
include bringing the wider area of the Tide Mills Local 
Wildlife Site into positive management, including habitat 
creation (e.g. the creation of wet scrapes for birds) and 
controls on dog walking in order to avoid the more 
ecologically sensitive areas.  This will involve working in 
partnership with all relevant organisations, including the 
Ouse Estuary Project.

Due to the open nature of the coastline in this location, 
development is also likely to have an impact upon the 
setting of the South Downs National Park.  
Development proposals should therefore have due 
regard to Core Policy 10 (Natural Environment and 
Landscape Character) of the Local Plan Part 1, which 
seeks to conserve and enhance the landscape quality 
and scenic beauty of the Park, and be informed by the 
South Downs Integrated Landscape Character 
Assessment accordingly. 

Development of the site also has the potential to affect 
the setting of the Newhaven Fort Scheduled Monument 
and the Tidemills Archaeological Notification Area.  The 
remains of the WW1 seaplane base also needs to be 
protected.  Development proposals should therefore be 
accompanied by a heritage impact assessment and an 
appropriate archaeological assessment and evaluation 
of the site’s archaeological and historic interest, in 
accordance with Policy DM33 (Heritage Assets) and 
Core Policy 11 (Built and Historic Environment and High 

Page 104



LPP2 Schedule of Main Modifications December 2019

Quality Design) of the Local Plan Part 1.

A public footpath, which forms part of the proposed 
England Coast Path, runs through the site and any 
development proposals will be required to mitigate any 
harmful impact on the convenience, safety and amenity 
of this right of way, in accordance with Policy DM35 
(Footpath, Cycle and Bridleway Network). 

MM19 - Following 
paragraph 
3.17, page 59

Policy E1: Land at East Quay, Newhaven Port
New paragraph in supporting text to read:
The exclusion of the area of the port from the submitted 
proposed port expansion, i.e. covering the vegetated 
shingle habitat to the south of the bunded footpath, 
would ensure the protection of the Seaplane base, 
which is an important although undesignated, heritage 
asset. 
 

MM20 M24 Policy E1, 
page 59

Policy E1: Land at East Quay, Newhaven Port
Amend policy E1 to read:

Policy E1: Land at East Quay, Newhaven Port

Land at East Quay, as defined on the Policies Map (i.e. 
excluding the area of vegetated shingle habitat, situated 
to the south of the bunded footpath, which was included 
in the submitted Policy E1), is allocated for employment 
uses associated with Newhaven Port.  Employment 
development which is not associated with port-related 
activity will be permitted only where it can be 
demonstrated that such development would not 
undermine the operational use of the Port.  All 
development proposals should ensure that the visual 
impact on the landscape and scenic beauty of the 
South Downs National Park is minimised.  Development 
will be permitted subject to compliance with all 
appropriate development policies and the following 
criteria:

(a) An ecological impact assessment is 
undertaken, and appropriate measures 
identified and implemented accordingly to 
mitigate potential adverse impacts on 
biodiversity;

(b) A visual and landscape character 
assessment is undertaken to ensure that the 
visual impact on the landscape and scenic 
beauty of the South Downs National Park is 
minimised;

(c) An appropriate assessment and evaluation 
of archaeological potential is undertaken, 
and any necessary mitigation measures 
implemented; and

(d) The provision of a landscaped buffer to the 
east of the site to create a buffer zone to 
protect the Nature Reserve immediately to 

Page 105



LPP2 Schedule of Main Modifications December 2019

the east of the proposed port expansion.

MM21 M42 Paragraph 
3.21, page 61 

Policy E2: Land Adjacent to American Express 
Community Stadium, Village Way, Falmer
Amend paragraph 3.21 to read:
The design and massing of any proposed development 
will also need to consider the visual impact on both the 
Grade II registered Stanmer Park and the Listed 
Buildings within the University of Sussex campus.  
Careful consideration should be given to the choice of 
materials which should be complementary to those of 
the stadium, yet distinct and subservient, and designed 
to fit comfortably within the site’s downland context.  
The design and materials used should reflect the 
setting of the South Downs National Park, specifically 
paying reference to the South Downs Integrated 
Landscape Character Assessment (SDILCA) prepared 
by the South Downs National Park Authority. 

MM22 M43 Paragraph 
3.23, page 61

Policy E2: Land Adjacent to American Express 
Community Stadium, Village Way, Falmer
Amend paragraph 3.23 to read: 
Any development of land within the boundary of 
Brighton and Hove City Council will need to take 
account of the priorities set out in policy DA3 (Lewes 
Road Development Area) of the adopted Brighton & 
Hove City Plan Part 1.  The main thrust of the City 
Council’s strategy for the Lewes Road Development 
Area is to promote and enhance the role of the area for 
higher education, whilst securing improvements to the 
townscape, the public realm, green infrastructure, 
biodiversity and air quality.  In addition, sustainable 
transport infrastructure is required to ensure that the 
development does not have an adverse impact on the 
performance of the Falmer Interchange trunk road 
junction at the A27/B2123 Falmer junction.

MM23 - Policy E2, 
page 61

Policy E2: Land Adjacent to American Express 
Community Stadium, Village Way, Falmer
Land adjacent to the American Express Community 
Stadium, as identified on the Policies Map, is allocated 
for B1a (offices) and/or D1 (health/education) and/or 
other ancillary uses directly associated with the Stadium 
and/or Sussex and Brighton Universities.

MM24 M28 Policy E2, 
page 62

Policy E2: Land Adjacent to American Express 
Community Stadium, Village Way, Falmer
Amend criterion (d) of policy E2 to read:
(d) The provision of green infrastructure and wider 
landscaping enhancements through creative landscape 
solutions (including features such as green walls and 
roofs);

MM25 M46 Policy DM24, 
page 95

Policy DM24: Protection of Biodiversity and 
Geodiversity 
Amend the third paragraph of policy DM24 to read:

Page 106



LPP2 Schedule of Main Modifications December 2019

Development that would be likely to adversely affect a 
Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), National 
Nature Reserve (NNR), or a Marine Conservation Zone 
(MCZ), either individually or in combination with other 
developments, will only be permitted where the benefits 
of the development at this site, in the location proposed 
clearly outweigh the damage to the nationally 
recognised special interest of the designated site and 
any adverse impacts on the wider network of the SSSIs.

MM26 M48 Policy DM24, 
page 95

Policy DM24: Protection of Biodiversity and 
Geodiversity
Insert a new penultimate paragraph into policy DM24 to 
read:
Development resulting in the loss or deterioration of 
irreplaceable habitats (such as ancient woodland or 
veteran trees) will be refused, unless there are wholly 
exceptional circumstances and a suitable compensation 
strategy exists. 

MM27 - New 
Appendix 5 

Appendix 5 – Local Plan Part 2 Housing Trajectory

Insert new appendix, including graph shown on the 
following page, to read:
The Housing Trajectory indicates the anticipated 
delivery of market and affordable housing for the area 
of the district outside the South Downs National Park.  
The trajectory covers the plan period between 2010/11 
and 2029/30.  The Local Plan Part 2 reflects the 
disaggregated housing requirement figure of minimum 
5,494 net additional units up to 2029/30. 

The trajectory reflects the housing trajectory position as 
at 1 April 2019.  It is informed by the Local Plan Part 1, 
neighbourhood plans, the monitoring of housing 
commitments and completions, as well as the 2018 
Strategic Housing and Economic Land Availability 
Assessment (SHELAA).  The trajectory consists of 
several elements: completions (first nine years of the 
Plan); commitments; strategic and non-strategic 
allocations; and windfall allowance. The graph below 
indicates the anticipated delivery of these elements. 
The anticipated delivery of affordable units is also 
shown.

MM28 - Policy GT01, 
page 53

Policy GT01: Land South of The Plough
Add to criterion (a) to read:
Station Road, including provision of a dedicated 
pedestrian path connecting the entrance of the site to 
the nearest bus stop serving the site.

Graph to accompany new text in MM27

Page 107



LPP2 Schedule of Main Modifications December 2019

20
10

/1
1

20
11

/1
2

20
12

/1
3

20
13

/1
4

20
14

/1
5

20
15

/1
6

20
16

/1
7

20
17

/1
8

20
18

/1
9

20
19

/2
0

20
20

/2
1

20
21

/2
2

20
22

/2
3

20
23

/2
4

20
24

/2
5

20
25

/2
6

20
26

/2
7

20
27

/2
8

20
28

/2
9

20
29

/3
0

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

550

Affordable housing 
plus rural exception 
allowance

Completions

Market housing on 
Commitments

Market housing being 
delivered on Strategic 
allocations

Market housing on 
Non strategic 
allocations

Windfall allowance

Sites with approval 
subject to Section 106

Housing Trajectory outside the SDNP as at 1 April 2019

Year

U
ni

ts

Page 108



APPENDIX 3 

 
LEWES DISTRICT LOCAL PLAN PART 2: SITE 

ALLOCATIONS AND DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGEMENT POLICIES 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Adoption Version  

Page 109



1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
This document can be made available in large print, 
audiotape, disc, or in another language upon 
specific request. 
 
Telephone: 01273 471600 
 
Email ldf@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk

Page 110



2 

CONTENTS 

Section  

1.  INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................. 5 

2.  RESIDENTIAL SITE ALLOCATIONS ................................................................ 12 

3.  EMPLOYMENT SITE ALLOCATIONS ............................................................... 59 

4.  DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT POLICIES ................................................... 68 

Tables 

Table 1 Housing requirement numbers of Spatial Policy 1 ....................................... 12 
Table 2 Housing requirement outside the National Park .......................................... 12 
Table 3 Planned level of housing, outside the National Park ................................... 13 
Table 4 Growth identified in Local Plan Part 2 ......................................................... 15 
Table 5 Allocation requirements for Local Plan Part 2 ............................................. 15 
 

Figures 

Figure 1 Local Plan Part 2 Plan Area ......................................................................... 6 
Figure 2 Housing delivery through LPP2 or neighbourhood plans ........................... 17 
Figure 3 South of Valley Road housing site allocation ............................................. 20 
Figure 4 Land at The Marina housing site allocation ................................................ 23 
Figure 5 Land at the Nuggets, Valebridge Road housing site allocation .................. 28 
Figure 6 Barcombe Cross housing site allocations .................................................. 37 
Figure 7 Glendene, Station Road housing site allocation ......................................... 40 
Figure 8 Layden Hall, East Grinstead Road housing site allocation ......................... 43 
Figure 9 Land adjacent to Mill Lane housing site allocation ..................................... 47 
Figure 10 Caburn Field housing site allocation ........................................................ 52 
Figure 11 Land south of The Plough, Gypsy and Traveller site allocation ................ 57 
Figure 12 Land at East Quay employment site allocation ........................................ 64 
Figure 13 Land adjacent to American Express Community Stadium employment site 
allocation .................................................................................................................. 67 
 

Appendices 

Appendix 1: Glossary ............................................................................................. 116 
Appendix 2: Superseded 2003 Local Plan Policies ................................................ 125 
Appendix 3: Saved 2003 Local Plan Policies ......................................................... 127 
Appendix 4: Monitoring Framework ........................................................................ 128 
Appendix 5: Housing Trajectory …..……………………………………………………130 

Page 111



3 

INDEX OF POLICIES 

Residential Site Allocations 
Policy NH01 - South of Valley Road ......................................................................... 20 
Policy NH02 - Land at The Marina ........................................................................... 22 
Policy BH01 - Land at The Nuggets, Valebridge Road............................................. 27 
Policy BA01 - Land at Hillside Nurseries, High Street .............................................. 31 
Policy BA02 - Land adjacent to the High Street ....................................................... 33 
Policy BA03 - Land at Bridgelands ........................................................................... 35 
Policy CH01 - Glendene, Station Road .................................................................... 39 
Policy CH02 - Layden Hall, East Grinstead Road .................................................... 42 
Policy CH03 - Land adjacent to Mill Lane……………………………………………….44 
Policy RG01 - Caburn Field………………………………………….……………………49 
Policy GT01 - Land south of The Plough ……………………………………………….56 
 
Employment Site Allocations 
Policy E1: Land at East Quay, Newhaven Port ........................................................ 63 
Policy E2: Land Adjacent to American Express Community Stadium, Falmer ......... 66 
 
Spatial Strategy 
Policy DM1: Planning Boundary ............................................................................... 69 
Policy DM2: Rural Exception Sites ........................................................................... 71 
Policy DM3: Accommodation for Agricultural and Other Rural Workers ................... 72 
Policy DM4: Residential Conversions in the Countryside ......................................... 75 
Policy DM5: Replacement Dwellings in the Countryside .......................................... 76 
Policy DM6: Equestrian Development ...................................................................... 77 
Policy DM7: Institutional Sites .................................................................................. 78 
 
Improving Access to Housing 
Policy DM8: Residential Sub-Divisions and Shared Housing ................................... 79 
 
Promoting Sustainable Economic Growth and Regeneration 
Policy DM9: Farm Diversification ............................................................................. 81 
Policy DM10: Employment Development in the Countryside ................................... 83 
Policy DM11: Existing Employment Sites in the Countryside ................................... 84 
Policy DM12: Caravan and Camping Sites .............................................................. 85 
Policy DM13: Existing Visitor Accommodation ......................................................... 86 
 
Creating Healthy, Sustainable Communities 
Policy DM14: Multi-functional Green Infrastructure .................................................. 88 
Policy DM15: Provision for Outdoor Playing Space ................................................. 89 
Policy DM16: Children’s Play Space in New Housing Development ........................ 90 
Policy DM17: Former Lewes/Sheffield Park Railway Line ........................................ 90 
Policy DM18: Recreation and Rivers ........................................................................ 91 

Page 112



4 

 
Protecting and Enhancing the Distinctive Quality of the Environment 
Policy DM19: Protection of Agricultural Land ........................................................... 92 
Policy DM20: Pollution Management........................................................................ 93 
Policy DM21: Land Contamination ........................................................................... 93 
Policy DM22: Water Resources and Water Quality .................................................. 95 
Policy DM23: Noise .................................................................................................. 96 
Policy DM24: Protection of Biodiversity and Geodiversity ...................................... 100 
Policy DM25: Design .............................................................................................. 101 
Policy DM26: Refuse and Recycling ...................................................................... 103 
Policy DM27: Landscape Design……………………………………………………….104 
Policy DM28: Residential Extensions ..................................................................... 105 
Policy DM29: Garages and other buildings ancillary to existing dwellings ............. 107 
Policy DM30: Backland Development .................................................................... 108 
Policy DM31: Advertisements ................................................................................ 108 
Policy DM32: Telecommunications Infrastructure .................................................. 109 
Policy DM33: Heritage Assets ................................................................................ 111 
Policy DM34: Areas of Established Character ........................................................ 112 
 
Sustainable Travel 
Policy DM35: Footpath, Cycle and Bridleway Network ........................................... 113 
Policy DM36: Station Parking ................................................................................. 113 
Policy DM37: Former Lewes to Uckfield railway line .............................................. 114 
  

Page 113



1. 
 
What 
 

 1.1.

 
 1.2.

 
 

What 
 

 1.3.

 
 1.4.

INTR

is the Le

The Lewe
for the ar

 Loc
 Loc

Poli

The prim
plan for t
the Coun
and chan
district by
and it als
developm
on 11 Ma
2016.  

is the Lo

The Loca
Policies c
seeks to 
Plan Part

 allo
Loc

 sett
to g

Importan
covered 
within So
Downs L
(SDNPA)
Lewes D
www.sou

RODUCT

ewes Dis

es District 
rea and co

cal Plan Pa
cal Plan Pa
icies 

ary docum
he whole d

ncil and pro
nge in the p
y allocating
so contains
ment.  The 
ay 2016 an

ocal Plan

al Plan Par
comprises 
deliver the
t 1 by: 

cating add
cal Plan Pa
ting out de
guide deve

tly, the Loc
by the Lew

outh Downs
ocal Plan, 
) in 2019, n
istrict withi

uthdowns.g

TION 

strict Loc

Local Plan
mprises tw

art 1: Joint 
art 2: Site A

ment is the 
district. Thi
ovides a st
period to 2
g levels of 
s a number
Local Plan

nd the Sout

n Part 2?

rt 2: Site A
the secon

e strategic 

ditional site
art 1  
tailed (non
lopment an

cal Plan Pa
wes District
s National 
adopted b

now supers
in the Natio
gov.uk.

5 

cal Plan?

n forms pa
wo docume

Core Strat
Allocations

Local Plan
is sets out 
trategic po
2030.  It ide
housing g
r of strateg
n Part 1 wa
th Downs 

? 

Allocations 
d of the Lo
objectives

es to meet 

n-strategic)
nd change

art 2 only a
t Planning 
Park). Thi

by the Sout
rsedes the 
onal Park. 

? 

rt of the ap
ents: 

tegy 2010-
s and Deve

n Part 1, w
the long te
licy framew
entifies the
rowth to se

gic, large-s
as adopted
National P

and Devel
ocal Plan d
s and spatia

developme

) developm
e   

applies to t
Authority (
s is shown
th Downs N
Local Plan
For furthe

pproved de

-2030  
elopment M

hich is a st
erm vision 
work to gui
e spatial str
ettlements 
cale site a

d by Lewes
Park Author

opment Ma
documents
al strategy

ent growth

ment manag

the area of
(i.e. exclud

n in Figure 
National P
n Part 1 for
er informati

 

evelopmen

Manageme

trategic lev
and objec

ide develo
rategy for t
within the 

allocations 
s District C
rity on 23 J

anagemen
s. It suppor
y of the Loc

h identified 

gement po

f Lewes di
ding the ar
1. The So
ark Author
r the area 
ion, visit 

nt plan 

nt 

vel 
ctives of 
pment 
the 
district 
for 

Council 
June 

nt 
rts and 
cal 

in 

olicies 

strict 
ea 
uth 
rity 
of 

Page 114



6 

Figure 1 Local Plan Part 2 Plan Area 

 

  

Wivelsfield 

Chailey 

Newick 

Barcombe 

Hamsey 

Lewes 

Ditchling 

Ringmer 

Falmer 
St Ann  
Without 

Iford 

Telscombe 

Peacehaven 

Newhaven 

Seaford 

South  
Heighton 

Beddingham 

Glynde 

Plan area 

South Downs National Park Authority 

Parish boundary 

Made Neighbourhood Plan (adopted) 

Designated Neighbourhood Area 

  

Page 115



What 
 

 1.5.

 
 1.6.

 1.7.

 
 1.8.

 
 

How w
 
Consul
 

 1.9.

is the ro

Neighbou
fundame
with the c
use of lan
people to
local com
the releva
than the 

In Lewes
are the T
policies f
supportin
1.  A neig
once it ha
force as 
and dete
area. 

 
Within th
plans hav
formally d
neighbou
parish co
allocation
identified

Until neig
approved
2003, tha
to form p

was the 

ltation 

The proc
specific s

 

 

ole of Ne

urhood pla
ntal princip
community
nd within it
o play a lea
mmunity.  A
ant local p
local plan.

s District, th
Town and P
for their are
ng the strat
ghbourhoo
as been ap
part of the 
rmine plan

e area cov
ve been ‘m
designated
urhood plan
ouncil is de
ns for spec
d site speci

ghbourhoo
d at referen
at are spec
part of the d

Local Pla

cess of pre
stages, wh

ighbourh

ans were in
ple of neigh
y establishi
ts neighbo
ading role i
A neighbou
lan and ca
 

he appropr
Parish Cou
eas and all
tegic deve

od plan atta
pproved at
statutory d

nning appli

vered by th
made’ (ado
d as neighb
ns.  These

eveloping a
cific uses, t
fic policies

d plans for
ndum, the 
cifically app
developme

an Part 2

paring the 
ich are ide

7 

hood Pla

ntroduced i
hbourhood
ing local p
urhood. Ne
in respond

urhood plan
an promote

riate bodie
uncils.  The
locate sites
lopment ne
ains the sa
t a local ref
developme
cations wit

he Local Pl
pted) and 
bourhood a

e are illustr
a neighbou
the District
s in the Loc

r designate
‘saved’ po
plicable to 
ent plan for

2 prepare

Local Plan
entified in t

ans? 

in 2012 by 
d planning 
lanning po
eighbourho

ding to the 
n must be 
e more, but

s for produ
ey can set 
s for devel
eeds ident

ame legal s
ferendum. 
ent plan an
thin the de

lan Part 2, 
five towns 
areas for t
ated in Fig

urhood plan
t Council h
cal Plan Pa

ed neighbo
olicies in th

these des
r the area.

ed? 

n Part 2 wa
he timetab

the Locali
is that it is

olicies for d
ood plans 
needs and
in general 
t not less, 

ucing neigh
out specifi
opment, th
ified in the

status as th
At this poi

nd will be u
esignated n

seven nei
or parishe

he purpose
gure 1. Wh
n that will i
as not allo
art 2.  

ourhood ar
e Lewes D
ignated are

as divided 
ble below: 

ism Act. A 
s communit
developme
enable loc

d priorities 
 conformity
developme

hbourhood
ic planning
hereby 
e Local Pla
he Local P
int it come

used to ass
neighbourh

ghbourhoo
es have be
e of prepa
ere a town
nclude site

ocated site

reas have 
District Loc
eas, will co

into a num

ty-led, 
nt and 

cal 
of the 
y with 
ent 

d plans 
g 

n Part 
lan 
s into 
sess 
hood 

od 
een 
ring 

n or 
e 
s or 

been 
al Plan 
ontinue 

mber of 

Page 116



 
 1.10.

 
 1.11.

 1.12.

 
Duty to

 
 1.13.

           
1 LPP2 T
2 Consu

Stage

Issues
Consu
Pre-Su
Forma
Exami
Consu
Adopti

As can b
stages w
Options T
period in 
Draft Loc
period in 
together 
influence
published

The Cou
issues ra
and how 
backgrou
consultat
main issu
addresse

 
The Cou
examinat
raised by
examinat
consultat
represen

o Co-opera

The NPP
address s
boundari

                
Topic Papers
ltation Draft 

s of the L

s & Options
ultation Dra
ubmission 
al Submiss
nation in P

ultation on 
ion 

e seen fro
were undert
Topic Pape
2013/14. T

cal Plan Pa
2017/18. T
with engag

es on the p
d for consu

ncil has pu
aised during

the views 
und paper 
tion undert
ues raised 
ed those is

ncil submit
tion in Dec
y the public
tion in pub
tion over a
tations rec

ate 

PF requires
strategic p
es. The Di

                
s Summary o
LPP2 Summ

ocal Plan 

s Topic Pa
aft Plan
Consultati
ion to Sec

Public Hea
Proposed 
 

m the time
taken durin
ers were p
These Top
art 2, publis
The views 
gement wit
reparation

ultation ove

ublished a
g the cons
expressed
has also b
taken on th
by the rep
sues in the

tted the Lo
cember 201
c and other
lic hearing
 6 week pe

ceived wer

s local plan
priorities an

strict Coun

 
of Represent

mary of Repre

8 

Part 2 pre

apers 

ion 
cretary of S
rings
Modificatio

etable abov
ng the prep

published fo
pic Papers 
shed for pu
expressed
th key exte
 of the Pre
er a 6 wee

backgroun
sultation on
d influence
been publis
he Consult
presentatio
e Pre-Subm

ocal Plan P
18.  Public
r stakehold

gs, the Cou
eriod in Ju
re submitte

nning autho
nd develop
ncil and the

tations availa
esentations a

eparation

 
 
 

State 
   
ons           
 

ve, a numb
paration of
or public co
were follow

ublic consu
d on these 
ernal stake
e-Submissi
k period in

nd paper th
n the Issue
ed the Cons
shed that p
tation Draft
ons receive
mission Pla

Part 2 to the
c hearings w
ders in Apr
uncil publis
ly and Aug

ed to the Se

orities to w
pment requ
e National 

able at www.
available at w

 Winte
 Winte
    Autu
Decem
         A

       Summ
  Febru

ber of form
f the Plan. 
onsultation
wed by the
ultation ove
consultati

eholders, w
ion Local P

n 2018.   

hat identifie
es & Option
sultation D

provides de
t Plan, a su

ed, and how
an2.  

e Secretar
were held 
ril 2019. Fo
shed Main 
gust 2019. 
ecretary of

work collabo
irements a
Park Auth

lewes-eastb
www.lewes-e

r 2013/14 
r 2017/18 
umn 2018 

mber 2018 
April 2019 
mer 2019 
uary 2020 

mal consulta
Firstly, Iss

n over an 8
e Consulta
er an 8 we
on docume

were impor
Plan Part 2

es the mai
ns Topic P
Draft Plan1.
etails of the
ummary of
w the Coun

ry of State 
to discuss

ollowing th
Modificatio
All 
f State.  

oratively to
across loca
hority 

bourne.gov.u
eastbourne.g

ation 
sues & 
8 week 
ation 
eek 
ents, 
tant 

2, 

n 
Papers 

 A 
e 
f the 
ncil 

for 
s issues 
e 
ons for 

o 
al 

k  
gov.uk 

Page 117



 
 1.14.

 
 1.15.

 
 1.16.

 
Eviden

 1.17.

           
3 Update
eastbou
4 Availab
https://w
5 1st itera
https://w

demonst
the prepa

In terms 
participat
West Sus
Strategic
part of th
provision
This work
individua
will, there
Part 1 (by

The only 
through t
accommo
(see para
prepared
address t
reduced 

Since the
boundary
concerns
the Fores
establish
Wealden
Borough 
Crawley 
Council, 
Planning 
Statemen

nce Base  
 
The prep
gathered
evidence

                
e on the Duty
rne.gov.uk  
ble on the Le

www.lewes-e
ation availab

www.southdo

rated how 
aration of t

of strategic
te in the Ea
ssex and G

c Planning 
e region th

n of housing
k is now fu

al studies is
efore, be ti
y 2021).   

significant
the prepara
odation ne
as. 2.138 –
d between t
the unmet 
through th

e adoption 
y issue ma
s the comb
st. In respo
ed; memb
 District Co
Council, M
Borough C
East Suss
Authority)

nt of Comm

paration of 
 during the

e-based as

                
y to Coopera

ewes District 
astbourne.go

ble on the SD
owns.gov.uk/w

the ‘Duty t
the Local P

c issues, th
ast Sussex
Greater Bri
Board is to

hrough com
g and infra

ully scoped
s imminent
mely for in

t cross-bou
ation of the

eeds of Gyp
– 2.141).  A
the SDNPA
need with
e Submiss

of the Loc
aterialised i
bined effect
onse to this
ership incl
ouncil, Eas

Mid Sussex
Council, Se
ex County

), West Sus
mon Groun

the Local P
e Local Pla
sessments

 
ate Statemen

Local Plan P
ov.uk/plannin

DNPA Local P
wp-content/u

9 

to Co-oper
Plan Part 1

he District 
x Strategic
ighton Stra
o address t
mmissionin
astructure a
d and agree
t, with outp
nforming th

undary issu
e Local Pla
psies, Trav
A Statemen
A and Lew
in the distr

sion Local 

cal Plan Pa
in relation 
ts of neigh
s issue an 
udes the S
stbourne B
x District C
evenoaks D
y Council (a
ssex Coun
nd5 has bee

Plan Part 2
an Part 1 p
s.  As the p

nt (October 2

Part 2 Exam
ng-policy/loc
Plan Examin
uploads/2018

rate’ requir
, adopted 

Council co
c Planning 
ategic Plan
the unmet 

ng work to 
at the sub 
ed by the B
puts expect
he 5-year re

ue that rem
an Part 2 is
vellers and
nt of Comm

wes District
rict, which 
Plan Part 2

art 1 a furth
to the Ash

hbouring Lo
extensive 

SDNPA, Le
Borough Co
Council, Ta
District Cou
as the relev
nty Council
en prepare

2 has draw
process, in 
policies an

2015) availab

ination web p
cal-plan-part-
ation webpa
8/04/SDLP-1

rements we
in 20163.  

ontinues to
Members 

nning Board
housing n
assess the
regional st

Board.  Co
ted in 2019
eview of th

mains to be
s planning 
d Travelling
mon Groun
t Council to
has now b
2. 

her strateg
down Fore
ocal Plans 
Working G

ewes Distri
ouncil, Tun
ndridge Di
uncil, Roth
vant Miner
 and Natur

ed in suppo

wn on earlie
addition to
d allocatio

ble at www.le

page 
2-examinatio
ge 
4-Ashdown-

ere met du
 

o actively 
Group and
d.  The aim

need acros
e options f
trategic sc

ommissioni
9/2020.  O
he Local Pl

e addresse
to meet th

g Showpeo
nd4 has be
o identify a
been subst

ic cross-
est. The iss
on air qua

Group was
ict Council
nbridge We
istrict Coun
her District 
rals and W
ral Englan
ort of this i

er evidenc
o further 
ons contain

ewes-

on/  

-Forest-SCG

uring 

d the 
m of the 
s this 
for 
cale.  
ng the 

Outputs 
lan 

ed 
he 
ople 
en 

and 
antially 

sue 
ality at 
 
l, 
ells 
ncil, 

Waste 
d. A 
ssue.   

ce 

ned in 

G.pdf  

Page 118



 

Susta
 

 1.18.

 
 

Habita
 

 1.19.

           
6 These,

this docu
policies o
largely th
Plan Part
Availabili
Addendu
relation to

 
ainability

Sustaina
making b
environm
the requi
Directive
test optio
might ach
possible 
district th
the same
preparati
reasonab
favour of
Local Pla
alongside

ats Regu

The loca
proposals
Effect on
such as S
(SPAs) a
Significan
of the pla
local plan
cannot be
Conserva
as the ‘H

                
, and other, b

ument flow 
of the Loca
he same ev
t 1 evidenc
ty Assessm

um 2018, re
o the Ashd

y Apprais

bility Appra
by identifyin
mental impa

rements of
. The Loca

ons against
hieve susta
the scope 

hat the Loc
e sustainab
on of the L

ble alternat
f the Local 
an Part 2 S
e this docu

ulations 

l planning 
s containe
 Sites of E
Special Are

and Ramsa
nt Effect m
an in comb
ns of neigh
e ruled out
ation of Ha
abitat Reg

                
background d

from the o
al Plan Par
vidence ba
ce base: th
ment (SHE
elating spe
down Fores

sal 

aisal (SA) 
ng from an
acts of plan
f the Strate

al Plan Par
t a set of s
ainable de
of the SA 
al Plan Pa

bility object
Local Plan 
tive option
Plan Part 

Sustainabili
ument. 

Assessm

authority is
d within its

European a
eas of Con
ar sites (int

must be est
bination wit
hbouring au
t, an “Appr
abitats and
gulations’. T

 
documents a

10 

overarching
rt 1, they w
ase.  There
he 2018 St
ELAA) and 
ecifically to
st6. 

is a tool w
n early stag
ns and stra
egic Enviro
rt 2 has be
sustainabili
evelopment

has been 
art 2 relates
tives have 
Part 1 and
s that have
2 policies 
ity Apprais

ment 

s required 
s local plan
and Interna
nservation 
ternational
tablished b
th other po
uthorities’. 
ropriate As
 Species R
The Habita

are available

g developm
will have the
e are two n
trategic Ho
the Habita

o the Plan’s

which is use
ge the pote
ategies.  T
onmental A
en develop
ity objectiv
t and there
updated to
s to.  In ord
been used

d Part 2.  I
e been con
contained 

sal Report, 

to ensure 
n will not ha
ational Imp
(SACs) ,S
ly importan

both in term
olicies and 

 Where a 
ssessment”
Regulation
at Regulati

e at www.lew

ment strate
e same tim
otable upd

ousing and 
at Regulati
s effects on

ed to inform
ential socia
he process

Assessmen
ped and re
es to see h

eby inform 
o reflect the
der to ensu
d to inform
nformation
nsidered an
herein, are
which is p

that the po
ave a Like
ortance (E

Special Pro
nt wetlands
ms of the in
proposals,
Likely Sign
” is carried
s 2017, co
ons Asses

es-eastbourn

egy and str
me horizon 
dates to the
Economic

ions Asses
n air qualit

m decision 
al, econom
s incorpora
nt (SEA) 
efined usin
how well th
choice.  W
e area of t
ure consist

m both the 
n on the 
nd discoun
e set out in

published 

olicies and
ly Significa

European S
otection Are
s). A Likely
ndividual p
, such as t
nificant Eff

d out under
ommonly k
ssment pub

ne.gov.uk  

rategic 
and 
e Local 

c Land 
ssment 
y in 

mic and 
ates 

g SA to 
hey 

Where 
he 
tency, 

nted in 
n the 

 
ant 
Sites) 
eas 
y 
lan and 
he 
fect 
r the 
nown 
blished 

Page 119



 

1.20 

           
7 HRA d

alongside
addendu
Forest SP
Appropria
Likely Sig

Mitigation
(3i) can b
accordan
possible 
any Euro
or in com

                
ocuments ar

e this docu
ms that de
PA/SAC fr
ate Assess
gnificant E

n measure
be applied 
nce with th
to conclud

opean sites
mbination w

                
re available a

ument7 con
emonstrate
om residen
sment. For
ffects on E

es containe
at the App
e Habitats 

de that ther
s due to gro
with other p

 
at www.lewe

11 

nstitutes a 
e that only 
ntial develo
r all other i
European S

ed within th
propriate A
 Regulatio
re will be n
owth in the

plans and p

es-eastbourn

number of
recreation
opment wit
mpact path
Sites is rea

he Local Pl
Assessmen

ns Assess
no adverse
e Local Pla
projects.  

e.gov.uk  

f individual 
al impacts 
thin 7km w
hways, a c
ached. 

an Part 1 C
t stage and

sment it is t
 effect on t

an Part 1 o

 reports an
 on the As

will require 
conclusion 

Core Polic
d, as such
therefore 
the integrit

or 2, either 

nd 
hdown 

of No 

cy 10   
h, in 

ty of 
alone 

 

Page 120



2. 
 

Hous
 

 2.1.

 
 2.2.

 
 
Table 1 

Separ

Plan 

Local 

Local 
Park) 

South 

 
 

 2.3.

 
 
Table 2 

Hous
Local 
Built o
Housin
Supply
Supply
 
Resid
Park 

 

RES

ing Polic

Spatial P
of housin
Local Pla
Downs N
separate

Taking a
requirem
however 
separatin
delivered
(275 dwe

Housing re

rated hous

Plan Part 1 

Plan Part 1 

Downs Nat

Of the 5,4
total is al

Housing re

ing requir
Plan Part 1

or committed
ng supply fr
y from wind
y from rural 

ual require

IDENTIA

cy Conte

Policies 1 a
ng growth t
an Part 2 a
National Pa

d to the re

ll figures a
ent of 6,90
in its totali

ng the 6,92
d outside th
ellings per 

equirement n

sing numb

(outside th

tional Park 

494 dwellin
ready met

equirement o

rement an
1 housing 
d, as at 1 A
rom strateg
fall allowan
exception s

ement outs

AL SITE

ext 

and 2 of the
to be delive
applies only
ark (Nation
levant loca

s minimum
00 net add
ity Spatial 
26 housing
he Nationa
annum), a

numbers of 

ber table

e National 

Local Plan

ngs to be d
 or identifie

outside the 

d supply (
requiremen
pril 2015 
ic allocation

nce 
sites allowa

side the Nat

12 

E ALLO

e Local Pla
ered over t
y to the are
al Park), th
al planning

ms, Spatial
itional dwe
Policy 2 ad
 figure, the

al Park is th
as illustrate

Spatial Poli

Hou
figur

6,92

5,49

1,43

delivered o
ed, as illus

National Pa

(outside t
nt  

ns 

ance 

tional 

OCATION

an Part 1 s
the Plan pe
ea of the d
he housing
g authority 

 Policy 1 id
ellings (345
dds up to 6
e proportio
hen 5,494 
ed in Table 

icy 1 

sing requir
re 

6 

4 

2 

outside the
strated in th

ark 

he Nation
5,4
2,2
1,0
46
7

1,6

NS 

et the leve
eriod, 2010
istrict outs

g requireme
area. 

dentifies a 
5 dwellings
6,926 net d
n of housin
net additio
1 below.  

rement 

e National P
he Table 2

al Park) 
494 
216 
073 
68 
7 

660 

el and distr
0 to 2030. 

side the So
ent has be

housing 
s per annu
dwellings.  
ng to be 

onal dwellin
 

Park part o
2 below. 

ribution 
 As the 

outh 
een 

m), 
In 

ngs 

of this 

Page 121



 2.4.

 2.5.

Table 3 

Newha

Peace

Seafo

Edge 
(within

Barco

North 

South

Cooks

Newic

Plump

Ringm

Wivels

To be 
Total 

 
 
KEY 
 
 
 

 
 

 2.6.

The resid
housing a
neighbou

 
Table 3 a
outlined i
secondly
be delive
residual h

 
 
Planned lev

Settleme

aven 

ehaven & T

rd 

of Burgess
n Wivelsfie

ombe Cross

Chailey 

h Chailey 

sbridge 

ck 

pton Green

mer & Broy

sfield Gree

determine

 
Housing g
Housing g
Housing g

To help m
identify, o
Newick, P

dual figure 
allocations
urhood plan

also sets o
in Spatial P

y, the hous
ered (shade
housing gr

vel of housi

ent 

Telscombe 

s Hill 
eld Parish) 

s 

n 

le Side 

en 

ed 

growth to be
growth ident
growth ident

meet the 1
or will iden
Plumpton G

of 1,660 n
s identified
ns, as illus

ut: firstly, t
Policy 2, fo
ing growth
ed blue) th
rowth that t

ing, outside 

SP2 Pla
housi
grow

425

255

185

100

30

30

10

30

100

50

215

30

200
1,66

e delivered t
tified in ‘ma
tified in Loc

,660 dwell
tify, housin
Green, Rin

13 

net addition
within the

strated in T

the level an
or settleme
h that has b
hrough neig
the Local P

the Nationa

nned 
ing 

wth 

Ne
P
(a

5 

5 

5 

0 

0 

5 

0 
60 

through nei
de’ neighbo

cal Plan Par

ing figure, 
ng allocatio
ngmer and

nal dwelling
Local Plan

Table 3 bel

nd distribu
ents outside
been identi
ghbourhoo
Plan Part 2

al Park (2019

eighbourho
Plan housin
adopted an
emerging)

425 

255 

185 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

100 

68 

183 

34 

- 
1,250 

ghbourhood
ourhood pla
rt 2 

a number 
ons.  Hous
 Wivelsfiel

gs forms th
n Part 2 an
ow.   

tion of hou
e the Natio
ified (shad

od plans; an
2 will identi

9) 

ood 
ng 
nd 
 

R
hous
to be

in

d plans 
ans 

of neighbo
sing growth
d Green is

he basis fo
nd 

using grow
onal Park; 
ded yellow)
nd lastly, t
ify (shaded

Residual 
sing growth
e identified
n LPP2 

- 

- 

- 

100 

30 

30 

10 

30 

- 

- 

32 

- 

200 
432 

ourhood pl
h at Newha
s planned f

or the 

wth, as 

) or will 
he 
d pink).   

h 
d 

lans 
aven, 
for 

Page 122



 
 2.7.

 
 2.8.

  
 2.9.

 
 2.10.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

through t
Neighbou
growth fo

 Pea
 Sea

The Loca
growth at
Wivelsfie
Cooksbri

In areas 
allocation
in Spatia
Spatial P
should ex

Of the 1,6
planned f
difference
overlap w
strategic 
taken into
and Broy

Overall, t
minimum
emerging
will collec
dwellings

To satisfy
within ce
identify 4
come for
planning 

 

their respe
urhood pla
or the follow

acehaven a
aford. 

al Plan Par
t the rema

eld Parish),
dge. 

where an e
ns, it is ant
l Policy 2. 

Policy 2 are
xceed this 

660 total n
for, in ‘mad
e of 32 dw

with comm
allocation 

o account.
yle Side se

the ‘made’ 
m housing r
g neighbou
ctively be r
s.  

y the requi
rtain ‘made

432 net add
rward since
approvals

ctive ‘mad
ans are cur
wing settle

and Telsco

rt 2 is there
ining settle
, North Cha

emerging n
ticipated th
 It should b

e expresse
minimum 

net addition
de’ and em

wellings with
itments in 
Spatial Po
  A detaile
ction (para

neighbour
requiremen
urhood plan
required to

rements o
e’ neighbo
ditional dw
e April 201
 as shown

14 

e’ neighbo
rrently prog
ements (sh

ombe; 

efore requi
ements of E
ailey, Sout

neighbourh
hat it will m
be borne in

ed as minim
figure. 

nal dwelling
merging ne
hin the Rin
Local Plan

olicy 6: Lan
d explanat
agraphs 2.

rhood plan
nts by 22 n
ns (which i

o deliver a 

of Spatial P
ourhood pla
wellings.  O

5 and are 
 in Table 4

ourhood pla
gressing an
aded blue)

red to iden
Edge of Bu
th Chailey,

hood plan 
meet the mi

n mind tha
mums and 

gs 1,250 a
ighbourho

ngmer Neig
n Part 1 (Ta
nd north of
tion is prov
123 to 2.12

ns have tog
net addition
intend to d
minimum 4

Policy 2 and
ans, the Lo
f these 432
either now

4 below. 

ans (shade
nd will iden
): 

ntify the pla
urgess Hill 
 Barcombe

is identifyin
nimum req

at figures co
where app

are identifie
od plans.  
ghbourhoo
able 5, p53
f Bishops L
vided within
26). 

gether exce
nal dwelling
eliver hous

440 net ad

d respect t
ocal Plan P
2 dwellings

w built or co

ed yellow).
ntify the ho

anned hou
 (within 
e Cross an

ng housing
quirement s
ontained w

propriate g

ed, or being
There is a

od Plan onc
3) and the 
Lane, has b
n the Ring

eeded thei
gs.  The tw
sing alloca

dditional 

the differen
Part 2 shou
s, 305 hav
ommitted a

.  
ousing 

using 

nd 

g 
set out 

within 
rowth 

g 
a small 
ce the 

been 
mer 

ir total 
wo 
ations) 

nces 
uld 
ve 
as 

Page 123



Table 4 

Settle

Edge 
Wivels

Barco

North 

South

Cooks

Ringm

To be 

Total 

 2.11.

Table 5 

Settle

Edge 
(within
Parish
Barco
North 
South
Cooks
Ringm
To be 
Total 

 
 

 2.12.

           
8 LW/16/
including
public op

Growth ide

ment 

of Burgess
sfield Paris

ombe Cross

Chailey 

h Chailey 

sbridge 

mer & Broy

determine

 
 
The Loca
additiona
meeting t

 
 
Allocation r

ment 

of Burgess
n Wivelsfie
h) 
ombe Cross

Chailey 
h Chailey 
sbridge 

mer and Bro
determine

With rega
determin
committe
large, pre
planning 

 

                
/0800: Rede
g up to 40% 
pen space, a

entified in Lo

s Hill (withi
sh) 

s 

le Side 

ed 

al Plan Par
al dwellings
the minimu

requiremen

s Hill 
eld 

s 

oyle Side 
ed 

ards to the
ed’, as illus

ed (see Tab
eviously un
permissio

                
evelopment o

affordable h
a children’s p

ocal Plan Pa

Com
s

in 

rt 2 is there
s. Table 5 
um require

ts for Local 

Housing
identi

e 200 net a
strated in T
ble 4).  Fol
nidentified,
n for 183 d

 
of former New
ousing, prov

play area, pa

15 

art 2 

mmitted/ D
since April

81 

0 

14 

0 

27 

0 

183

305

efore requi
below sho

ed figures. 

l Plan Part 2

g growth to
ified in LPP

 
19 

30 
16 
10 
3 

32 
17 

127 

additional d
Table 3, a 
llowing the
, site in Se
dwellings a

wlands Scho
vision of a sp
arking and lan

Delivered 
l 2015 

ired to deliv
ws that, ov
  

2 

o be 
P2 

Un

dwellings in
total of 18

e adoption 
aford town

at the forme

ool for up to 1
orts pitch an
ndscaping. 

To be all
LP

1

3

1

1

3

1

1

ver a minim
verall, Loca

nits allocat
LPP2 

14 

42 
16 
10 
0 

50 
0 

132 

n locations 
3 have now
of the Loc

n was gran
er Newland

183 residenti
d ancillary c

located in 
PP2 

19 

30 

16 

10 

3 

32 

17 

27 

mum 127 n
al Plan Pa

ted in 

 ‘to be 
w been 

cal Plan Pa
nted outline
ds School8

al dwellings,
changing room

net 
rt 2 is 

art 1 a 
e 
8.   

, 
ms, 

Page 124



 2.13.

 
 2.14.

This site 
Strategic
subseque
growth fo
considere
units.  

Figure 2 
either thr

was first id
c Housing a
ent to the s
or settleme
ed appropr

below illus
rough ‘mad

dentified as
and Econo
strategic si

ents establi
riate for the

strates whe
de’ or emer

16 

s a potenti
omic Land A
ite allocatio
ished in Lo
e site to co

ere planne
rging neigh

ial delivera
Assessme
ons and th
ocal Plan P
ontribute to

d housing 
hbourhood

able site wi
ent (SHELA
e levels of

Part 1.  As 
owards the

growth is b
d plans or L

ithin the 20
AA).  This w
f planned h
such, it is 

e residual 2

being deliv
Local Plan 

015 
was 
housing 

200 

vered 
Part 2.

Page 125



Edge
Burg
Hill 

Figure 2

 
 
 
 
 

 2.15.

 
 2.16.

 P
  

 S
  

 S
( 

  

 O
  

 P
a 

  

 P
  

 P
a

e of 
gess 

W
G

2 Housing d

Where ne
sites for h

Ensuring
manner h

Plan Area 

South Downs 

Settlement wi
(SP2) in the P

Other settlem

Planned Hous
adopted Neig

Planned Hous

Planned Hous
a Neighbourh

Plumpton 
Green 

Wivelsfield
Green 

delivery thro

eighbourho
housing, a

 that the e
has been im

National Par

th a Planned 
Plan Area 

ent or plannin

sing Growth id
hbourhood P

sing Growth id

sing Growth t
ood Plan 

 
North
Chaile

Sou
Cha

Coo

Peace
and 
Telsco

ough Local P

ood plans 
llocations 

merging n
mportant to

rk 

Housing Gro

ng boundary

dentified in an
lan 

dentified in LP

o be identified

17 

Newick 
ey 

uth 
ailey Bar

Cro

oksbridge

ehaven 

ombe 

Plan Part 2 (

have not id
are set out

eighbourh
o contribut

owth 

n 

PP2

d in 

rcombe 
oss 

Ringmer a
Broyle Sid

Newhaven

(LPP2) or ne

dentified, o
t below.  

ood plans 
ting toward

and 
de 

n 

Seaf

eighbourhoo

or do not in

progress i
ds achievin

ford 

od plans 

ntend to ide

n a timely 
ng the obje

entify, 

ectives 

Page 126



 

Mecha
 
The Co
any co
measu
provisio
allocati
the Loc
 

Hous
 

 2.17.

 
 2.18.

 
 2.19.

 2.20.

and requ
preparati
Monitorin

anism for re

ouncil will c
ncerns aris
res are ne
on of addit
ions throug
cal Plan.   

ing Site 

This sect
contribute
Spatial P
neighbou
in Spatia
documen

Planning 
site alloc
plans are
review of
review of

Three of 
Plan that
Policy 2, 
they have
allocation
Newhave

 
Such a re
as a who
associate
within Sp
commitm
within Pa
includes 
changes 

 

irements o
on, for eac

ng Framew

eviewing th

closely mo
se regardin

eeded to re
tional supp
gh a subse

Allocatio

tion sets ou
e towards 

Policy 2 of L
urhood plan
l Policy 2 o

nt.  

boundarie
ations iden

e adjacent 
f the plann
f Local Pla

the ‘saved
t formed pa
have been
e not, or w
ns are: Sou
en (NH6) a

eview is co
ole, due to 
ed with the
patial Policy
ments they 
art (2); plan
necessary
in circums

of Local Pla
ch emergin

work for the

he Council

onitor the p
ng timings 

esolve the i
port or the 
equent dev

ons 

ut the prop
delivering
Local Plan
ns.  The or
of Local Pl

es have on
ntified with
to an exist
ing bounda
n Part 1. 

d’ housing 
art of the c
n reviewed

will not be, p
uth of Valle

and Caburn

onsidered c
the inclusi

em (totalling
y 2.  As the
do not con

nned housi
y amendme
stance and

18 

an Part 1. 
ng neighbo
e Local Pla

’s approac

progress of
then the C

issue(s).  T
Council re

velopment 

posed hous
the minim
 Part 1, no
rder of allo
an Part 1 a

nly been am
in this doc
ting planni
aries will b

allocations
commitmen
d through L
picked by a
ey Road, N
n Field, Rin

critical to th
on of these
g 395) with
ese ‘saved

ntribute to S
ing growth
ents to the
d/ or policy

 A timetab
ourhood pla
an Part 2.  

ch to neigh

f the neigh
Council wil
These mea
covering th
plan docu

sing site al
um level o

ot already m
ocations fol
and as set 

mended on
cument and
ng bounda

be undertak

s from the 
nts for the 
Local Plan 
a neighbou

Newhaven 
ngmer (RG

he delivery
e allocatio
hin the com
d’ allocation
Spatial Po
.  The revi
 policy wor
.   

le of the ke
an, forms p

bourhood p

bourhood p
l consider w
asures mig
he role of i
ment or a f

locations i
of housing i
met by ‘ma
llows the s
out in Tab

n the Polici
d ‘made’ ne
ary.  A com
ken as par

2003 Lewe
Local Plan
Part 2.  Th

urhood pla
(NH4); La

G1).   

y of the De
ns or perm
mmitment f
ns and figu
licy 2’s set
ew of thes
rding to ref

ey milesto
part of the 

planning 

plans.  Sho
what, if an

ght include 
identifying 
future revie

intended to
identified i
ade’ or eme
settlement 
ble 2 of this

ies Map wh
eighbourho

mprehensiv
rt of a futur

es District 
n Part 1 Sp
his is beca
an.  Those 
nd at the M

evelopmen
missions 
figure (1,55
ures are ex
ttlement fig
se allocatio
flect any m

nes of 

ould 
ny, 

ew of 

o 
n 
erging 
order 
s 

here 
ood 
ve 
re 

Local 
patial 
use 
2003 

Marina, 

t Plan, 

58) 
xisting 
gures 
ons 
material 

Page 127



 2.21.

 2.22.

 

Town
 

Newh
 

 2.23.

 
 2.24.

 2.25.

 
 2.26.

           
9 Table 5

The revis
sections 
the comm
Table 4 a

 
Whilst the
of develo
planning 
accordan
Plan Part
the Loca
where su
Sussex, S
also be g

ns 

haven 

Spatial P
of 425 ne
Newhave

The ‘mad
potential 
planned 
therefore
Local Pla

 
There are
housing a
known as
allocation
which co

In review
wording t
planning 
site boun
(i.e. exclu
guidance
the Flood

                
5 of Local Pl

sed 2003 s
below and

mitments a
above (i.e. 

e site alloc
opment, pla
application

nce with th
t 1, Site Al
l Plan Part

ufficient we
South Dow

given appro

Policy 2 of t
et additiona
en.  

de’ Newhav
to deliver 
level of gro

e not propo
an Part 2.  

e, howeve
allocations
s West Qu
ns, include
ntinue to c

wing the two
to reflect c
permissio

ndaries hav
uding wher
e from the E
d Risk Asse

                
an Part 1: Jo

site allocati
d any result
accounted f

Ringmer a

cations ide
anning per
n process.
e developm
location an
t 2, and po
eight can b
wns and Br
opriate con

the Local P
al dwelling

ven Neigh
465 net ad
owth over t
osing any n

r, two retai
s: South of 
ay).  Thes

ed within N
contribute t

o allocation
urrent circ
n has prev
ve been m
re land has
Environme
essment w

 
oint Core Stra

19 

ions are id
tant uplift i
for in Spat
and Broyle

ntified in th
rmission m
  Planning
ment plan,
nd Develop

olicies cont
e given.  O
righton & H
nsideration

Plan Part 1
s to be pro

bourhood 
dditional dw
the Local P

new housin

ined ‘save
Valley Ro
e sites are
ewhaven’s
to the Distr

ns, amend
umstances

viously bee
ade to refl
s now bee
ent Agency
which acco

ategy (2016)

entified wit
in dwelling
tial Policy 2
e Side).   

his docume
must still be

 applicatio
 including 
pment Man
ained with

Other relev
Hove Wast
n at the tim

1 sets the r
ovided with

Plan ident
wellings, w
Plan period
ng allocatio

d’ 2003 Le
ad and La

e deliverab
s housing c
rict’s housi

dments hav
s of each s
en granted
ect any ch
n develope
y, an updat
mpanied th

) 

thin the rel
s numbers
2, has been

ent establis
obtained t
ns will be d
Core Polic
nagement 
in neighbo
ant plans, 
e and Mine
e. 

requiremen
hin the sett

ifies housin
which meets
d.  The Dis
ons at New

ewes Distri
nd at the M
le unimple
commitmen
ng supply.

ve been ma
site, includi
.  Small am
anges in la
ed).  Furthe
te has bee
he 2007 W

levant sett
s, over and
n identified

sh the prin
through th
determined

cies of the 
(DM) polic

ourhood pla
such as th
erals Plan

nt for a min
tlement of 

ng sites w
ts the ident
strict Coun
whaven wit

ct Local Pl
Marina (als
emented ho
nt figure9, 
. 

ade to the 
ing where 

mendments
and availa
ermore, w

en undertak
West Quay 

tlement 
d above 
d within 

nciple 
e 
d in 
Local 

cies of 
ans 
he East 
, will 

nimum 

ith the 
tified 
cil is 
hin 

lan 
so 
ousing 
and 

policy 
a 
s to the 
bility 
ith 
ken to 

Page 128



 

 
Figure 3

 

Polic
 
Land
for re
dwel
plan 
 
a) A

p
b) A

m
p
th

c) A
re
a

d) T
a
W

planning 
can be fo

3 South of V

cy NH01 - S

d south of 
esidential 
lings subj
policies: 

Access, in
provided fr
An ecologi
measures 
potential a
he protect

Appropriat
elevant bo

accordingl
The develo
at the near
Water. 

application
ound as pa

Valley Road 

South of V

Valley Ro
developm

ject to com

cluding p
rom Valley
ical impac
identified 
dverse im
tion of bio
te surface
ody and lo
ly; and  
opment wi
rest point 

n to suppo
art of the S

housing sit

Valley Roa

oad (0.72h
ment provi
mpliance w

rovision fo
y Road; 
ct assessm
and imple

mpacts on 
odiversity 
 water dra

ocal plann

ill provide
of adequa

20 

ort the reten
ustainabilit

te allocation

ad 

a), as sho
iding appr
with all ap

for pedest

ment is un
emented a
biodivers
and enha

ainage mit
ning autho

e connecti
ate capaci

ntion of the
ty Appraisa

n 

own on fig
roximately
ppropriate

rians and 

ndertaken 
according
sity. Devel
ncement w
tigation is

ority and im

on to the 
ity, as adv

e housing a
al assessm

ure 3, is a
y 24 net ad
e developm

cyclists, t

and appro
ly to mitig
opment a
where pos

s agreed w
mplement

sewerage
vised by S

allocation. 
ment. 

allocated 
dditional 
ment 

to be 

opriate 
gate 
llows for 
ssible; 

with the 
ted 

e system 
Southern 

This 

 

 

Page 129



 2.27.

 
 2.28.

 2.29.

 
 2.30.

 

The land 
Lewes D
construct
applicatio
units.  Th
be broug

The site 
However
also a gre
such, an 
appropria

 
The site 
risk of su
overland 
that flood
developm
site. A sp
implemen

Any deve
views, fro
blends in
appropria

South of V
istrict Loca
ted, with th
on. Land to
he area wit
ht forward

itself does 
r, local reco
eenfield sit
ecological

ate mitigati

lies within 
urface wate

flow route
d risk is not
ment, cons
pecific flood
nted accor

elopment s
om the A25
nto the exis
ate for som

Valley Roa
al Plan.  Pa
he north se
o the south
thin the NH
. 

not form p
ords indica
te close to
l impact as
ion, inform

Flood Risk
er flooding 
e, along the
t created, o
ideration s
d risk asse
rdingly. 

should resp
59 in partic
sting form o
me limited e

21 

ad is an allo
art of the o
ection rece
h west has 
H01 allocat

part of a fo
ate presenc
o a Local W
ssessment

med by the 

k Zone 1 (a
has been 

e site’s nor
or exacerb

should be g
essment m

pect the vis
cular.  In o
of develop
excavation

ocation tak
original allo
ently promo

extant pla
tion is ther

rmal biodiv
ce of slow 

Wildlife Site
t (EcIA) wil
EcIA, to be

at least risk
identified a

rthern boun
bated, on o
given to the

may also be

sibility of th
rder to pro
ment and 

n to be carr

ken forward
ocation has
oted throug
anning perm
efore the r

versity des
worm nea

e (Meeching
l be require
e impleme

k of floodin
associated
ndary. The
or off-site b
e design a

e required, 

he site from
ovide a dev
landscape
ried out in t

d from the 
s been 
gh a plann
mission for
remaining a

signation.  
arby.  The s
g Down).  

red, togeth
nted accor

ng). Howev
d with a ma
erefore, to e
by the 
and layout o

and mitiga

m long and
velopment 
e, it may be
the land fo

2003 

ing 
r 85 
area to 

site is 
As 
er with 
rdingly. 

ver, a 
ajor 
ensure 

of the 
ation 

d short 
which 

e 
orm. 

Page 130



22 

 
 

Policy NH02 - Land at The Marina 
 
Land at The Marina (4.5ha), as shown on figure 4 below, is allocated for 
residential development providing approximately 300 net additional 
dwellings subject to compliance with all appropriate development plan 
policies and the following criteria: 
 
a) Provision of suitable access, including for pedestrians and cyclists; 
b) No loss in the number of existing berths. Where there is a net 

increase in the number of berths, appropriate toilet and pump-out 
facilities must be provided to manage waste and sewage arising; 

c) Provision of adequate parking to serve the berths; 
d) New development must include an appropriate standard of flood 

protection (including safe access to the site), and provision for 
future maintenance, to be agreed with the Environment Agency; 

e) Development is subject to investigation into potential contamination 
and appropriate remediation measures agreed with the relevant 
authority; 

f) A noise and odour impact assessment is undertaken to ensure that 
acceptable noise and odour standards are achievable within 
proposed homes and amenity areas; 

g) An ecological impact assessment is undertaken and appropriate 
measures identified and implemented accordingly to mitigate 
potential adverse impacts on biodiversity. There should be no net 
loss, and seek to provide a net gain to biodiversity, in particular to 
Habitats of Principal Importance (formerly known as BAP habitats). 
Where impacts on biodiversity cannot be avoided or mitigated, like-
for-like compensatory habitat at or close to the development site will 
be required.  Development allows for the protection of biodiversity 
and enhancement where possible; and  

h) The development will provide connection to the sewerage system at 
the nearest point of adequate capacity, as advised by Southern 
Water. 

 
In association with the residential development small-scale specialised 
retail/food and drink premises and leisure uses associated with The 
Marina activities would also be acceptable. 

Page 131



Figure 4

 
 2.31.

 
 2.32.

 
 2.33.

 2.34.

           
10 LW/07
(betwee

4 Land at Th

The Mari
town adja
along the
Monume
Road.  It 
existing u

The site 
adequate
accordan

The Mari
a use is m
 previous
considere

                
7/1475: Erec
n 3 & 9 store

he Marina ho

na site (als
acent to th
e Quayside
nt) and ac
is apprecia

uses within

is at risk of
e flood defe
nce with cu

na fulfils a
maintained
sly approve
ed that a ta

                
ction of 319 r
eys high) wit

ousing site 

so known a
e River Ou

e, close to 
ross the riv
ated that th
n the site, w

f flooding a
ence meas

urrent plann

an importan
d within the
ed planning
arget minim

 
esidential ap
h car parking

23 

allocation 

as West Q
use.  The s
Newhaven
ver from es
here is sco
whilst still m

and, theref
sures, and
ning guida

nt role in N
e site.  How
g applicatio
mum of 30

partments & 
g; 973sqm of

Quay) is loc
site lies in a
n Fort (a S
stablished 
ope for the
maintaining

fore, any d
 associate

ance. 

Newhaven a
wever, as d
on for 331 
0 net addit

12 town hou
f commercia

cated south
a very prom
cheduled A
industrial 
 rationalisa
g the marit

evelopmen
d maintena

and it is im
demonstra
dwellings1

tional dwel

ses arranged
l floorspace 

h of Newha
minent pos
Ancient 
uses on B
ation of the
time chara

nt should p
ance, in 

mportant th
ated by the 
10, it is 
llings could

d in 11 block
(including A3

aven 
sition 

each 
e 
acter. 

provide 

at such 

d also 

ks 
3 

 

Page 132



 
 2.35.

 
 2.36.

 
 2.37.

 
 2.38.

 
 2.39.

 
 2.40.

           
restaura
park; be

be accom
quality de
could be 

The prov
Marina is
Therefore

The natu
raises sig
adversely
groundwa
contrave
(WFD).  

The deve
to biodive
known as
recreatio
significan
identified

Where im
compens
taking ac
with the r

Where lo
pontoons
like comp

The polic
noise and
west ban
existing i
Wastewa
Whilst the
developm
developm
occupant

 

                
ant &/or A1 m
erths & rivers

mmodated 
esign deve
acceptabl

vision of ad
s considere
e, any sch

re of curre
gnificant po
y impact si
ater quality
ntion of ob

elopment s
ersity, in pa
s BAP hab
nal disturb

nt habitats 
d, along wit

mpacts on 
satory habi
ccount of a
relevant au

oss of habit
s or from b
pensatory 

cy makes r
d odour im

nk of the riv
ndustrial a

ater Treatm
ese activiti

ment they s
ment to hel
ts and bus

                
marina related

ide walkway

within the 
elopment, a
e on this s

dequate ca
ed as an im
eme shoul

ent and hist
otential for
ite users a
y. Pollution
bjectives se

should resu
articular to

bitats). The
bance, on d
must be c

th the mea

biodiversity
tat at or cl
n up-to-da

uthorities. 

tat occurs 
oats restin
habitat will

reference t
mpacts on f
ver is predo
and Port re
ment Works
ies are not
should be c
p minimise
inesses. 

                
d shops; ma

y. Expired 26 

24 

site.  As s
at a higher

site. 

ar and traile
mportant op
ld ensure t

toric indus
r contamina
and the env
n to contro
et out withi

ult in no ne
o Habitats o
e indirect im
designated

considered
ans for its d

y cannot b
ose to the 

ate ecologic

due to con
ng on intert
l be require

o the need
future resid
ominately 

elated uses
s lies appro
t seen as a
considered
e potential 

                
rina facilities
 July 2015.

uch, it is c
r density th

er parking t
perational 
that adequ

strial activit
ation to be
vironment, 
lled waters
in the Wate

et loss, and
of Principa

mpacts of d
d nature co
. Appropria
delivery an

be avoided 
developm

cal survey

nstruction o
tidal habita
ed. 

d for an ass
dents of the
residential

s.  In additi
oximately 
an immedia
d in the de
impacts o

               
s (including o

onsidered 
han set out

to serve th
requireme
ate facilitie

ies at the d
e present, w

including s
s may resu
er Framew

d seek to p
al Importan
developme
onservation
ate mitigati
d maintena

or mitigate
ent site wi
, subject to

of walkway
at, creation

sessment 
e developm
 the east b
on, Newha
630m east
ate constra
sign and la
n future an

                
office, clubroo

that with a
t in Core P

he users of
ent for the M
es are prov

developme
which coul
surface an

ult in 
work Direct

provide a n
nce (former
ent, such a
n sites and
ion must b
ance. 

ed, like-for
ll be requir
o the agree

ys, mooring
n of new lik

into potent
ment.  Whi
bank has a
aven East 
t of the site
aint on 
ayout of fu
nd existing

                
om etc); boa

a high 
olicy 1, 

f the 
Marina.  
vided. 

ent site 
d 

nd 

ive 

et gain 
rly 
s 

d other 
e 

r-like 
red, 
ement 

gs or 
ke-for-

tial 
lst the 

a mix of 

e. 

ture 
g 

             
at/car 

Page 133



 2.41.

 2.42.

 
 

Peace
 

 2.43.

 2.44.

 

Seafo
 

 2.45.

 
 2.46.

 

Developm
investiga
contamin
under the
accordan

 
Where ad
managem
such as t
to reduce
pump-ou
agreed b

ehaven &

Spatial P
of 255 ne
Peaceha

 
Peaceha
neighbou
neighbou
identified
undertak
Regulatio
Council w
plan to su

ord 

Spatial P
of 185 ne
Seaford. 

Seaford T
Council is
allocation
Town Co
advancin
stage.  T
their neig

ment will b
ation, risk a
nated land 
e direction 
nce with m

dditional m
ment of ad
toilets and 
e the risk to
t facility sh

by the local

& Telsco

Policy 2 of t
et additiona
aven and T

aven and T
urhood plan
urhood plan
d level of gr
en some in
on 14 docu
will maintai
ubmission.

Policy 2 of t
et additiona
 

Town is de
s preparing
ns to meet 
ouncil has t
ng technica
he District 

ghbourhood

e required
assessmen
in line with
of a suitab
ost recent

moorings ar
ditional wa
pump-out 

o water qu
hould be ap
 planning a

mbe 

the Local P
al dwelling
elscombe.

elscombe 
n area and
n that will i
rowth over
nformal co
ument for c
in a suppo
.  

the Local P
al dwelling

esignated a
g a neighb
their ident

to date und
al backgrou

Council w
d plan to s

25 

 to submit 
nt and Rem
h best prac
bly qualifie
guidance.

re provided
aste and se

facilities, s
ality from r
ppropriate 
authority p

Plan Part 1
s to be pro
.  

Towns are
d the Town
identify ho
r the Plan p

ommunity c
consultatio
orting role a

Plan Part 1
s to be pro

as a neigh
bourhood p
tified level 
dertaken it
und work to

will maintain
submission

a desk stu
medial Meth
ctice appro
d compete
 

d, consider
ewage aris
should be 
recreationa
to that of t

prior to con

1 sets the r
ovided with

e designate
n Councils 
using site 
period.  Th
consultation
n in late S

as they pro

1 sets the r
ovided with

bourhood 
plan that w
of growth 

ts Regulati
o feed into
n a suppor
n.  

udy, conce
hod Statem

oaches and
ent person 

ration mus
sing. Appro
provided w
al boating. 
the develo
struction.  

requiremen
hin the sett

ed as a sin
are looking
allocations

he Town Co
n and are p
ummer 20

ogress thei

requiremen
hin the sett

plan area a
ill identify h
over the P
on 14 cons

o their next 
rting role as

eptual mod
ment for 
d carried o
and in 

st be given 
opriate serv
where appr
 The size o
pment and
 

nt for a min
tlements o

ngle 
g to progre
s to meet t
ouncils ha
preparing 
19.  The D
ir neighbou

nt for a min
tlement of 

and the To
housing sit

Plan period
sultation a
t preparatio
s they prog

el, site 

ut by or 

to the 
vices, 
ropriate 
of the 
d be 

nimum 
f 

ess a 
heir 
ve 
their 

District 
urhood 

nimum 

own 
te 
.  The 
nd is 
on 
gress 

Page 134



Edge 
 

 2.47.

 2.48.

 2.49.

 

of Burge

Spatial P
of 100 ne
Burgess 
‘made’ ne
of Wivels
the edge 

 
The 2018
limited nu
Edge of B
Medway 
Rosery (f
either no
towards t
2. 

 
The follow
2018 SH
dwellings
minimum
additiona
However
exceedin
permitted
they will 
Wivelsfie

ess Hill (

Policy 2 of t
et additiona
Hill (within
eighbourho
sfield Gree
 of Burges

8 SHELAA
umber of s
Burgess H
Gardens (
for 54 net a
w complet
the minimu

wing site a
ELAA at th

s resulting 
m 100 requi
al dwellings
r, the short
ng their pla
d unidentifi
be conside

eld Neighbo

(within W

the Local P
al dwelling

n Wivelsfiel
ood plan w
n. It is ther

ss Hill. 

A, as well a
suitable site
ill area.  Tw

(for 27 net 
additional 
e or under
um 100 net

allocation is
he Edge of
in a total o
irement in 
s cannot be
fall has be
nned hous
ed sites. S

ered throug
ourhood P

26 

Wivelsfie

Plan Part 1
s to be pro
ld Parish).

which alloca
refore nece

as previous
es to meet
wo of the p
additional 
dwellings)
r construct
t additiona

s the rema
f Burgess H
of 95 net ad
Spatial Po
e currently

een balanc
sing figure 
Should add
gh a future
lan. 

ld Parish

1 sets the r
ovided with
 Wivelsfie

ates housi
essary for 

s Assessm
t the planne
previous ho
dwellings)
, have plan
ion.  Both 

al dwellings

aining ident
Hill deliver
dditional dw

olicy 2.  Th
y met at the
ed by othe
through ei

ditional suit
e review of 

h) 

requiremen
hin the area
ld Parish C
ng only for
LPP2 to id

ents, ident
ed level of 
ousing site
) and land 
nning perm
developme
s required 

tified delive
ing 14 net 
wellings ag
e shortfall 
e edge of B
er nearby s
ther site a
table site(s
the Local 

nt for a min
a of Edge 
Council ha
r the settle
dentify site

tified a ver
f housing fo
e options, l
rear of The

mission and
ents contri
by Spatial 

erable site
additional 

gainst the 
of five net 

Burgess H
settlements
llocations 

s) be identi
Plan or 

nimum 
of 
s a 
ment 
s for 

y 
or the 
and at 
e 
d are 
bute 
Policy 

 in the 

ill.  
s 
and/ or 
ified 

Page 135



27 

 
 

Policy BH01 - Land at The Nuggets, Valebridge Road 
 
This site (1.1ha), as shown on figure 5 below, is allocated for 
residential development providing approximately 14 net additional 
dwellings subject to compliance with all appropriate development 
plan policies and the following criteria: 
 
a) Access, including provision for pedestrians and cyclists, to be 

provided from Valebridge Road; 
b) Buildings reflect the local character in terms of mass, height and 

form; 
c) Retention of boundary trees, where possible, to provide 

appropriate landscape buffer; 
d) Tree surveys undertaken and appropriate measures, including 

proper buffers, are identified and implemented accordingly to 
mitigate potential adverse impacts on the Tree Protection Order 
group and Ancient Woodland (at least 15m buffer) on and/ or 
adjacent to site; 

e) Development is subject to an appropriate assessment and 
evaluation of archaeological potential and mitigation measures 
implemented accordingly; 

f) An ecological impact assessment is undertaken and appropriate 
measures identified and implemented accordingly to mitigate 
potential adverse impacts, either directly or indirectly, on 
biodiversity, including irreplaceable habitats. Development allows 
for the protection of biodiversity and enhancement;  

g) Appropriate surface water drainage mitigation is agreed with the 
relevant body and local planning authority and implemented 
accordingly; 

h) The development will provide connection to the sewerage system 
at the nearest point of adequate capacity, as advised by Southern 
Water.; 

i) Development layout is planned to ensure future access to the 
existing sewerage infrastructure for maintenance and upsizing 
purposes. 

Page 136



Figure 5

 
 2.50.

 
 2.51.

 
 2.52.

5 Land at th

This polic
east of B
leading to
single plo
outbuildin
services 
the town 

Access to
‘Nuggets
enable th
unless ot
in East S
County.  
traffic on 
county co

Existing d
linear wit
the rear. 

he Nuggets, 

cy allocate
Burgess Hil
o the prope
ot of land a
ngs with ex
and faciliti
centre are

o the site is
s’ property.
he required
ther suitab

Sussex Cou
Therefore
the local t

ouncils as 

developme
th private t
 However,

Valebridge 

es land for 
l, east of V
erty called
accommod
xtensive re
es are not 

e available 

s currently
  Demolitio

d road widt
le access 
unty, the ju
, issues of 
ransport n
highway a

ent along th
racks prov
, recent ap

28 

Road housi

residential
Valebridge 
 the ‘Nugg

dating one 
esidential c
 within wal
within app

y gained fro
on of the p
ths and jun
is establish

unction with
f access an
etwork wil

authorities.

he nearest
viding acce
pproved de

ing site allo

 developm
Road, off 

gets’.  The 
property, a

curtilage to
lking distan
proximately

om the priv
roperty ‘W

nction impr
hed.  Whils
h Valebridg
nd potentia
l need to b

t section of
ess to a sm
evelopment

cation 

ment.  The s
an existing
site is a re
a small pon
o the rear.  
nce, bus se
y 400m of t

vate track w
oodreeves

rovements 
st the site i
ge Road is
al impacts o
be consider

f Valebridg
mall numbe
ts south of

site lies no
g private tr
elatively lar
nd and sev
Whilst key
ervices to 
the site. 

which serv
s’ is neede
to be achi

is predomi
s in West S
of addition
red by bot

ge Road is
er of proper
f the site w

 

orth 
rack 
rge, 
veral 
y 
access 

ves the 
d to 
ieved, 
inately 
Sussex 
nal 
h 

 largely 
rties to 

will 

Page 137



 
 2.53.

 
 2.54.

 
 2.55.

 2.56.

 
 2.57.

 

effectivel
‘Nuggets
has med
terms. Th
substanti
surround

Much of t
Protectio
the local 
local biod
on the de
ecologica
and tree 
buffer zo
against th

The site 
However
reptiles.  
together 
implemen

Whilst the
Archaeol
as within 
appropria
archaeolo
mitigation

 
The site 
surface w
routes ru
risk is no
should be
assessm

Southern
drainage 
considere
taken into
developm

y ‘fill out’ t
s’ and Theo
ium/ high c
he site itse
ial parcels 
ing landsc

the site’s n
on Order (T

green infra
diversity. T
evelopmen
al impact a
surveys, is
nes, will ne
he potentia

itself does 
r, local reco
As such, a
with appro
nted accor

e site does
ogical Not
an area o

ate archae
ogical and
n by design

lies within 
water flood
nning nort

ot exacerba
e given to 
ent may a

n Water ha
sewers un

ed to be a 
o account 

ment. 

he areas to
obalds Roa
capacity fo

elf is well co
of woodla

cape from d

north and s
TPO) or se
astructure 

These desig
nt of this sit
assessmen
s required.
eed to be i
al impacts 

not form p
ords indica
an ecologic
opriate miti
rdingly. 

s not lie wit
ification Ar
f medium a
ological as
 historic in
n and reco

Flood Zon
ing has be
h-south th

ated, on or 
the design
lso be requ

s identified
nder the sit
significant
in the desi

 

29 

o the east 
ad.  Lands
or change i
ontained b
nd, providi
developme

south boun
ctions of A
and irrepla
gnations a
te but mus

nt, to includ
 Appropria
implement
of develop

part of a fo
ate presenc
cal impact 
gation, info

thin any hi
rea, the Co
archaeolog
ssessment
terest will 

ording. 

ne 1 (at lea
een identifi
rough the 

r off-site, by
n and layou
uired, and 

d that there
te requirin
t constraint
ign and lay

of Valebrid
cape analy
n landscap

by tree shaw
ing natural
ent.   

ndaries are
Ancient Wo
aceable ha
are not see
st be prope
de a survey
ate mitigati
ted to help 
pment. 

rmal biodiv
ce of bats,
assessme

ormed by t

istorical de
ounty Arch
gical poten
t and evalu
be expecte

ast risk of fl
ed associa
site. There
y the deve
ut of the sit
mitigation 

e are existi
g an easem
t to develo
yout of any

dge Road, 
ysis shows
pe sensitiv
ws leading
 existing m

e bordered 
oodland, wh
abitat netwo
n as a sign

erly assess
y of woodla
on, includi
protect the

versity des
 dormouse

ent (EcIA) w
the EcIA, t

esignation, 
aeologist i

ntial.  As su
uation of th
ed to inform

ooding). H
ated with o
efore, to en
lopment, c
te. A speci
implemen

ing combin
ment.  How

opment but
y future pro

 between t
s that this a
vity and val
g to more 
mitigation to

by a grou
hich contri

work suppor
nificant con

sed.  As su
and ground
ng at least
ese feature

signation.  
e, barn owl
will be requ
to be 

such as a
identifies t
uch, an 
he site’s 
m appropr

However, a
overland flo
nsure that 
considerati
ific flood ris

nted accord

ned and fo
wever, this
t will need 
oposed 

the 
area 
lue 

o the 

p Tree 
bute to 
rting 
nstraint 
ch, an 
d flora, 
t 15m 
es 

ls and 
uired, 

n 
he site 

iate 

a risk of 
ow 
flood 
on 
sk 
dingly. 

ul 
 is not 
to be 

Page 138



Villag
 

Barco
 

 2.58.

 
 2.59.

 2.60.

 2.61.

 2.62.

 2.63.

ges 

ombe Cro

Spatial P
of 30 net
Barcomb
identified

Barcomb
very early
has decid
plan.  Th
meet the
Barcomb
form part

 
Barcomb
junction o
village is 
and a ha

 
At the 20
includes 
the south
services 
The villag
Settleme
residents

 
Barcomb
wider lan
particular
predomin
by hedge
notable fe
Barcomb
runs nort

 
The 2018
limited nu
Barcomb
surround
expansio

oss 

Policy 2 of t
 additional

be Cross.  H
d below and

be Parish is
y stages o
ded not to 
erefore, th
 housing n

be Neighbo
t of the det

be Cross is
of the High
approxima
lf miles so

011 Census
Barcombe

h of Barcom
for a villag
ge is class

ent Hierarch
s are met w

be Cross is
ndscape.  A
rly to the n
nately form
es and tree
eatures ar

be Cross an
th/ south to

8 SHELAA
umber of s
be Cross.  T
ing areas 

on.  Noneth

the Local P
 dwellings 
Housing si
d will deliv

s designate
f preparing
identify ho
e District C

numbers re
ourhood Pl
termination

s a nucleate
h Street, Sc
ately three
uth west o

s Barcomb
e Cross and
mbe Cross
ge of its siz
ified as a S
hy recogni
within the v

s located on
As such, lo
orth and e

med of med
es, charact
e the Beve
nd the now
o the west 

A as well as
suitable site
This is due
adjacent to

heless thre

30 

Plan Part 1
 to be prov
ite allocatio
er approxi

ed as a ne
g a neighb
ousing site 
Council ha
equired at B
an has gai

n process o

ed settlem
chool Hill a

e and a half
of Uckfield, 

be Parish h
d the smal

s.  Barcomb
ze but limite
Service Vil
sing that th

village.   

n a ridge g
onger views
east of the 
dium to larg
teristic of th
ern Stream
w disused L
of the villa

s previous 
es to meet
e to visually
o the villag

ee sites are

1 sets the r
vided within
ons to deliv
mately 42 

eighbourho
ourhood p
allocations
s identified
Barcombe 
ined suffic
of future pl

ment largely
and Barcom
f miles nor
which lies

had a popu
ller settlem
be Cross h
ed accessi
llage within
he some d

giving it an 
s of the Lo
village. Th
ger irregula
he Low We

m which me
Lewes to U

age. 

SHELAA d
t the planne
y sensitive

ge, limiting 
e proposed

requiremen
n the settle
ver the min
net additio

od plan ar
lan.  The P
s within its
d housing s
Cross.  On
ient weight
anning ap

y concentra
mbe Mills R
rth of Lewe
s within We

ulation of 1
ment of Bar
has a good
ibility to pu
n the Distri
ay-to-day 

elevated p
ow Weald c

e surround
ar shaped 
ealden land
eanders no
Uckfield rai

documents
ed level of 

e nature of 
opportunit

d for alloca

nt for a min
ement of 
nimum are
onal dwellin

rea and is a
Parish Cou
s neighbou
site allocat
nce the 
t, policies 
plications.

ated at the
Road.  The
es town an
ealden Dist

,473.  The
rcombe loc
d range of 
ublic transp
ict Council
needs of 

position wi
can be had
ding landsc
fields bord
dscape.  O

orth and ea
ilway line w

s identified
f housing fo
the landsc

ties for 
ation that w

nimum 

e 
ngs. 

at the 
uncil 
rhood 
tions to 

in it will 

e 
e 
d four 
trict. 

e Parish 
cated to 
key 
port.  
’s 

thin the 
d, 
cape is 

dered 
Other 
ast of 
which 

d a 
or 
cape 

will 

Page 139



 

 
 2.64.

 2.65.

 2.66.

Polic
 
This 
resid
dwel
plan 
 
a) A

p
re

b) D
a
p

c) D
B

d) D
e
im

e) D
c
th

f) A
m
p
th
a

g) T
a
W

deliver ap
requirem

This polic
developm
village be
developm

 
The site 
part of th
in the sou
The site 
village ce

 
The site 
provides 
Sleed’.  A

cy BA01 - 

site (0.69h
dential dev
lings subj
policies a

Access, in
provided fr
ecreation 

Developme
amenity sp
provision o
Developme
Barcombe 
Developme
evaluation 
mplement

Developme
contamina
he relevan

An ecologi
measures 
potential a
he protect

and  
The develo
at the near
Water. 

pproximate
ent for the

cy allocate
ment.  This
etween the
ment, ‘The 

is a mediu
e former n
uth west co
is in walkin
entre, offer

is currently
vehicular 

A small num

Land at H

ha), as sh
velopment
ject to com
and the fol

cluding p
rom High 
field to al

ent incorp
pace along
of equippe
ent respec
Cross Co

ent is subj
of archae

ted accord
ent is subj
tion and a

nt authorit
ical impac
identified 
dverse im
tion of bio

opment wi
rest point 

ely 42 net a
e settlemen

es land at th
s site is loc
e property o
Grange’.  

m, flat and
nurseries.  
orner whic
ng distance
ring a susta

y accessed
access to t
mber of oth

illside Nu

own on fig
t providing
mpliance w
llowing cr

rovision fo
Street. Pe
so be pro

porates ap
g the north
ed and inf
cts the cha
onservatio
ject to an 

eological p
dingly; 
ject to inv

appropriat
ty; 
ct assessm
and imple

mpacts on 
odiversity 

ill provide
of adequa

31 

additional 
nt. 

he former 
ated on th
of ‘Hillside
 

d relatively 
A number 

ch will be re
e of local s
ainable loc

d by a trac
the residen
her adjace

rseries, H

gure 6 bel
g approxi
with all ap
riteria: 

for pedest
edestrian l
ovided; 
pproximate
hern boun
formal pla
aracter an

on Area;  
appropria

potential a

vestigation
te mitigati

ment is un
emented a
biodivers
and enha

e connecti
ate capaci

dwellings, 

Hillside Nu
e western 
’ and a sm

enclosed 
of small d

emoved as
services an
cation for n

k from the 
ntial prope

ent propert

igh Street

low, is allo
mately 10

ppropriate

rians and 
links to th

ely 1600sq
ndary to a
ay space;
nd appeara

ate assess
and mitiga

n into pote
ion measu

ndertaken 
according
sity. Devel
ncement w

on to the 
ity, as adv

12 above 

urseries for
edge of Ba

mall private 

grassed fie
erelict build
s part of an
nd facilities
new develo

High Stree
erties of ‘Hi
ies have u

t  

ocated for
 net addit

e developm

cyclists, t
he existing

qm of pub
llow for th

ance of th

sment and
ation meas

ential 
ures agree

and appro
ly to mitig
opment a
where pos

sewerage
vised by S

the minim

r residentia
arcombe C
residentia

eld and for
dings are 

ny develop
s available 
opment. 

et which pr
illside’ and
se of acce

r 
tional 
ment 

to be 
g 

blic 
he 

he 

d 
sures 

ed with 

opriate 
gate 
llows for 
ssible; 

e system 
Southern 

um 

 

al 
Cross 
al 

rms 
located 
ment.  
in the 

rimarily 
 ‘Vine 

ess via 

Page 140



 2.67.

 2.68.

 2.69.

 2.70.

 

the track
accommo

 
Barcomb
space.  H
adjacent 
alternativ
Lewes D
extension
Core Stra
the contin
shortfall o
commun

 
This site 
the need
provision
facilities w
establish
recreatio
condition
managem
using Co

 
The site 
Cross Co
focussed
grown inc
more rec
‘Hillside’,
townscap
respect t

 
Whilst the
Archaeol
archaeolo
assessm
will be ex

.  Improvem
odate addi

be Cross cu
However, it
Recreatio

ve land suit
istrict Loca
n of the Re
ategy ident
nued press
of children
ity and Co

allocation 
ed recreat

n of pedest
will be ess
ed recreat
n facilities 

n (i.e. level 
ment comp
ommunity In

lies within 
onservation
d at the villa
crementall

cently, nort
 is noted w
pe.  New d
he qualitie

e site does
ogical Not
ogical pote
ent and ev

xpected to 

ments to th
tional dwe

urrently be
t has long 
n Ground a
table for in
al Plan allo
ecreation G
tifies policy
sure betwe
’s equippe
uncil’s ass

therefore o
tion space 
rian links f

sential in or
tional uses
it is prefer
and grass

pany. The r
nfrastructu

the Barcom
n Area App
age crossr
y to the so
h (The Wil

within the C
evelopmen
s of the Co

s not lie wit
ification Ar
ential.  As s
valuation o
inform app

32 

he junction
ellings.   

enefits from
been reco
are in use 

nformal pla
ocated app
Ground (po
y BA1 as a
een the diff
ed play spa
sessment o

offers a re
for the villa

from the ex
rder for it t
s.  To secu
rable that t
sed) to Bar
required eq

ure Levy (C

mbe Cross
praisal (CA
roads to th
outh (Weal
lows).  The

CAA as on
nt should t
onservatio

thin any hi
rea, it is wi
such, an a

of the site’s
propriate m

n and track

m a surplus
gnised tha
by local te

ay.  To add
proximately
olicy BA1) f
a retained ‘
ferent user
ace is ident
of outdoor 

al opportun
age in a su
xisting recr
o benefit fr
re the deliv

the land be
rcombe Pa
quipment c

CIL) contrib

s Conserva
AA) highlig
e east of th
d View), ea
e property 
e which m
therefore b
n Area. 

istorical de
ithin an are

appropriate
s archaeolo
mitigation b

k are requir

s of informa
at when the
eams there
ress this c

y 0.4ha of t
for informa
‘saved’ pol
rs.  Further
tified by th
playing sp

nity to add
uitable loca
reation gro
rom the ad
very of the
e transferre
rish Counc
could then 
butions. 

ation Area.
hts that the
he site.  Th
ast (The G
adjacent t
akes a con

be of high q

esignation, 
ea of medi

e archaeolo
ogical and 
by design a

red to 

al children’
e pitches a
e is little 
conflict, the
the site as 
al recreatio
licy recogn
r to the ab
e local 
ace.   

dress and d
ation.  The
ound to the
djacent, 
e needed 
ed in a suit
cil, or suita
be provide

.  The Barc
e historic c
he village h

Grange) an
to the site, 
ntribution t
quality and

such as a
um 

ogical 
historic int

and record

’s play 
t the 

e 2003 
an 

on.  The 
nising 
ove, a 

deliver 
 

e new 

table 
able 
ed 

combe 
core is 
has 
d, 

o the 
d 

n 

terest 
ing. 

Page 141



 
 2.71.

 
 2.72.

 
 2.73.

Polic
 
This 
resid
dwel
plan 
 
a) A

p
b) B
c) D

t
a

d) D
e
im

e) A
m
p
a
p

f) A
s
p

g) O
d
p

This polic
western e
private tr
distance 
a sustain

Access to
This trac
propertie
propertie
provides 
utilised to

The site 
site slope
openness
the villag
Grange r

cy BA02 - 

site (1.24
dential dev
llings subj
policies a

Access, in
provided f
Buildings 
Developme
he adjace

adjacent b
Developme
evaluation
mplement

An ecolog
measures 
potential a
allow for th
possible;  
Appropriat
strategy an
planning a
Occupatio
delivery of
provider. 

cy allocate
edge of Ba
rack leadin
of local se

nable locati

o the padd
k primarily

es of ‘Hillsid
es have use

access to 
o gain acce

is a mediu
es up grad
s.  Conseq
e from the

residential 

Land adja

ha), as sh
velopmen
ject to com
and the fo

ncluding p
from High 
are no mo
ent respec

ent Barcom
buildings o
ent is sub

n of archae
ted accord
ical impac
identified

adverse im
he protect

te Flood R
nd mitigat

authority a
on of the d
f sewerag

es land for 
arcombe C
g to the pr

ervices and
ion for new

dock is curr
provides v

de’ and ‘Vi
e of access
the site.  I

ess, are re

m sized, g
ually from 

quently, it i
e east.  Glim
estate can

acent to th

hown on fi
t providin
mpliance 
llowing cr

provision f
Street; 

ore than tw
cts the ch

mbe Cross
of historic
bject to an
eological p
dingly;  
ct assessm

d and impl
mpacts on 
tion of bio

Risk Asses
tion is agr
and implem
developme
e infrastru

33 

residential
Cross betwe
roperty of ‘
d facilities a
w developm

rently gain
vehicular a
ne Sleed’. 
s via the tr
mproveme

equired to a

grassed fie
the main r
s visually s
mpses of t
n be seen. 

he High St

gure 6 be
ng approxi
with all ap
riteria: 

for pedest

wo storeys
haracter, a
s Conserv
c interest;
 appropria
potential a

ment is un
emented a
 biodivers

odiversity 

ssment, s
reed with 
mented ac
ent is phas
ucture, in 

 developm
een Bridge
Hillside’. T
available in
ment. 

ed from th
access to t

 A small n
rack.  An e
ents to the 
accommod

ld currently
road, High 
sensitive, p
he rooftop
 However,

treet  

low, is all
imately 25
ppropriate

trians and

s in heigh
appearanc
vation Are

ate assess
and mitiga

ndertaken
according
sity. Devel
and enha

surface wa
appropria
ccordingly
sed to alig
liaison wi

ment.  The s
elands and
The site is i
n the villag

e track eas
he two res

number of o
asement o
junction a

date additio

y used as a
Street, giv

particularly
s of ‘Hillsid
, the site is

ocated for
5 net addit
e developm

 cyclists, 

ht; 
e and sett
a, includin

sment and
ation mea

and appr
gly to mitig
lopment w

ancement w

ater draina
ate body a
y; and 
gn with the
th the ser

site lies at 
d an existin
in walking 

ge centre, o

st of the si
sidential 
other adjac
on the trac
nd track, if
onal dwelli

a paddock
ving a sens
y when ent
de’ and Th
s otherwise

r 
tional 
ment 

to be 

ting of 
ng 

d 
asures 

ropriate 
gate 

will also 
where 

age 
nd local 

e 
rvice 

 

the 
ng 

offering 

te.  

cent 
k 
f 
ngs.   

k.  The 
se of 
tering 
e 

e 

Page 142



 
 2.74.

 
 2.75.

 
 2.76.

 
 2.77.

 
 2.78.

relatively
the south
mature tr
should be
‘blocks’ o
village fro

Barcomb
Barcomb
historic c
residentia
the site is
Careful c
developm
impacts a

A small c
Notificatio
remains. 
As such, 
site’s arc
appropria

The site 
However
are ident
Plan.  As
with appr
impact as

Although
area to th
surface w
the deve
required.
Sustaina
mitigate a

Southern
network, 
of flow at
limit to gr
required 
localised 

y contained
h and east,
rees to the
e set back 
of developm
om the sur

be Cross C
be Cross C
core is focu
al property
s identified
consideratio
ment, ensu
and constr

corner in th
on Area, n
 The site a
an approp

chaeologica
ate mitigati

itself does 
r, slows wo
ified as pro

s such, an 
ropriate mi
ssessment

 the site is
he west of 
water flood
lopment of
 Any nece
ble Urban 
any risk of 

n Water, th
has identif

t the practi
rowth but is
and ensur
risk of sew

d from wide
, by the dis
 north.  As
from the H

ment avoid
rrounding r

Conservatio
Conservatio
ussed arou
y ‘Willow C
d as a build
on will nee
ring any sc

raints of the

he south ea
oted for its
also lies in
priate archa
al and histo
ion by des

not form p
orms and g
otected sp
ecological 
tigation wh
t. 

s within Flo
the site ‘T
ing.  To en
f this site, a
ssary mitig
Drainage 
surface w

rough mod
fied a limit
cal point o
s highlight
re that this 
wer floodin

34 

er surround
sused railw
s part of an
High Street
ded to help
rural area. 

on Area bo
on Area Ap
und the cro
Cottage’ loc
ding of hist
ed to be giv
cheme is s
e local hist

ast part of 
s post-med
 an area o
aeological 
oric interes
ign and re

part of any 
grass snak
ecies as w
impact as

here neces

ood Zone 1
he Bridgel
nsure that 
a site spec
gation mea
System (S

water floodi

delling the 
ed capacit

of connectio
ed here to
is underta

ng. 

ding views
way emban
ny developm
t, be no mo

p retain a s
 

orders the s
ppraisal (CA
ossroads to
cated adjac
toric or loca
ven to the 
sensitive to
toric enviro

the site is 
dieval ham
of medium 

assessme
st will be e
cording. 

formal bio
es have be

well as subj
sessment 
ssary as in

 (the least
ands’ curre
the situatio

cific flood r
asures, inc
SuDs) will n
ng resultin

capacity o
ty to accom
on in the lo
 indicate th

aken at the 

by existing
nkment to t
ment, new
ore than tw
ense of tra

site on thre
AA) highlig

o the east o
cent to the 
al interest w
design and

o potential 
onment. 

within an A
let interest
archaeolog
ent and eva
xpected to

odiversity d
een record
ject to Biod
will be req
formed by

 at risk of f
ently expe
on is not ex
isk assess
luding app

need to be 
g from the

of the local 
mmodate in
ocal sewer
hat extra w
right time 

g developm
the west an

w properties
wo storeys 
ansition int

ee sides.  T
ghts that th
of the site.
south wes
within the 
d layout of
landscape

Archaeolog
t and WWI
gical poten
aluation of

o inform 

designation
ded on site
diversity A

quired, toge
y the ecolog

flooding), t
riences iss
xacerbated

sment will b
propriate 

implemen
e developm

sewerage
ncreased le
r.  This is n
work is likel

to mitigate

ment to 
nd by 
s 
and 

to the 

The 
he 

 The 
st of 
CAA.  
f future 
e 

gical 
I 

ntial.   
f the 

n.  
, these 
ction 
ether 
gical 

the 
sues of 
d by 
be 

nted to 
ment. 

e 
evels 

not a 
ly to be 
e the 

Page 143



 

 
 2.79.

 
 2.80.

Polic
 
This 
resid
dwel
plan 
 
a) A

p
b) D

b
v

c) D
a

d) D
e
m

e) A
s
p

f) T
a
im

g) A
m
p
t
a

h) T
a
W

This polic
western e
allotment
services 
location f

Access to
propertie
proponen
achieve t
proposed
Sussex C

 

cy BA03 - 

site (0.55
dential dev
llings subj
policies a

Access, in
provided f
Developme
built form,
village edg
Developme
adjacent B
Developme
evaluation
measures 
Appropriat
strategy an
planning a
Tree surve
and implem
mpacts on

An ecolog
measures 
potential a
he protec

and 
The develo
at the near
Water. 

cy allocate
edge of Ba
ts to the ea
and faciliti
for new de

o the site is
es.  Initial te
nt and dem
the require
d shared p
County Cou

Land at B

ha), as sh
velopmen
ject to com
and the fo

ncluding p
from the H
ent compl
 in terms 

ge location
ent respec

Barcombe 
ent is sub

n of archae
implemen
te Flood R
nd mitigat

authority a
eys undert
mented ac
n Tree Pro
ical impac
identified

adverse im
tion of bio

opment w
rest point 

es land for 
arcombe C
ast.  The s
es availab
velopment

s from Brid
echnical hi

monstrates
ed visibility 
edestrian a
uncil, the h

Bridgeland

hown on fi
t providin
mpliance 
llowing cr

provision f
High Street
lements th
of height,
n; 
cts the ch
Cross Co

bject to an
eological p
nted accor
Risk Asses
tion is agr
and implem
taken and
ccordingly
otection O
ct assessm

d and impl
mpacts on 
odiversity 

ill provide
of adequa

35 

residential
Cross betwe

ite is within
ble in the vi
t. 

dgelands w
ghways wo
that the ne
to accomm

access, ar
highway au

ds 

gure 6 be
ng approxi
with all ap
riteria: 

for pedest
t via Bridg
he charac
 mass and

haracter an
onservatio
 appropria
potential a
rdingly;  
ssment, s
reed with 
mented ac

d appropri
y to mitiga

Order on s
ment is un
emented a
 biodivers
 and enha

e connecti
ate capac

 developm
een Bridge
n reasonab
illage centr

which serve
ork has be
ecessary ju
modate the
e acceptab
uthority.  

low, is all
imately 7 n
ppropriate

trians and
gelands; 
ter of the 
d design, 

nd appear
on Area; 
ate assess
and any m

surface wa
appropria
ccordingly
ate measu
ate potent
ite;  
ndertaken
according
sity. Devel
ancement,

ion to the 
ity, as adv

ment.  The s
elands, to t
ble walking
re, offering

es a small 
een underta
unction im
e additiona
ble in princ

ocated for
net additio
e developm

 cyclists, 

existing lo
and the si

rance of th

sment and
mitigation 

ater draina
ate body a
y; 
ures are id
ial advers

and appr
gly to mitig
lopment a
 where po

sewerage
vised by S

site lies at 
the west, a
g distance 
g a sustain

number of
aken by th
provemen

al dwellings
ciple with E

r 
onal 
ment 

to be 

ocal 
ite’s 

he 

d 

age 
nd local 

dentified 
se 

ropriate 
gate 
allows for 
ossible; 

e system 
Southern 

 

the 
and the 
of local 
able 

f 
e 
ts to 
s, and 
East 

Page 144



 2.81.

 2.82.

 2.83.

 2.84.

 2.85.

 

The site 
north and
views by 
and by m
larger, de
developm
local cha
the gene
Local Pla

 
A small s
Cross Co
Appraisa
crossroad
property 
identified

 
Whilst the
Archaeol
as within 
appropria
archaeolo
mitigation

 
The site 
this, the s
water floo
ditches. T
risk and t
site, a sit
mitigation
System (
potential 
should be
towards v

 
Within th
The inco
achievab
on the de
need to i

is a small, 
d south en
existing d

mature tree
etached tw
ment of this
aracter, as 
ral need fo

an Part 1. 

section of t
onservation
al (CAA) hig
ds to the e
‘The Old S

d as one wh

e site does
ogical Not
an area o

ate archae
ogical and
n by design

is within Fl
site and su
oding.  The
Therefore, 
the floodin
te specific 
n measure
(SuDs), im
ecological

e given to 
valuable ha

e site a sin
rporation o

ble.  As suc
evelopmen
nform app

linear and
d.  The site
evelopmen
s to the no

wo storey p
s site shou
well as the

or smaller h

he site’s so
n Area.  Th
ghlights tha
east of the 
Station Hou
hich make

s not lie wit
ification Ar
f medium a
ological as
 historic in
n and reco

lood Risk Z
urrounding 
e site pres
to ensure 
g situation
flood risk a

es, includin
plemented
l value, the
opportunit
abitats for 

ngle design
of the desig
ch, the des
nt of this sit
ropriate m

36 

d vacant pa
e is well co
nt and disu
orth and ea
properties s
uld be sens
e site’s villa
housing un

outhern bo
he Barcom
at the histo
site.  The 
use’ locate
s a contrib

thin any hi
rea, the Co
archaeolog
ssessment
terest will 

ording. 

Zone 1 (the
 area curre
ently acco
that no dw

n is not exa
assessmen
g appropri

d according
erefore in c
ies for pos
wildlife an

nated Tree
gnation wit
signation is
te.  Howev
itigation an

arcel of lan
ontained fr
used railwa
ast. Bridge
set back fro
sitively des
age edge l
nits, as refl

oundary is 
mbe Cross C
oric core is
CAA notes

ed to the so
bution to th

istorical de
ounty Arch
gical poten
t and evalu
be expecte

e least at r
ently exper
mmodates

wellings are
acerbated b
nt will be re
ate Sustai

gly. The po
considering
sitive contri
nd future re

e Protection
thin a sche
s not seen 
ver, ecolog
nd impleme

d tapering
om wider s

ay embank
lands is ch
om the roa

signed to co
ocation, be
ected in C

adjacent to
Conservat
s focussed 
s that the r
outh west o
e Conserv

esignation, 
aeologist i

ntial.  As su
uation of th
ed to inform

risk of flood
riences iss
s a pond an
e placed in
by the dev
equired an
nable Urba

onds and d
g mitigation
ibutions to 

esidents’ am

n Order (T
eme’s layou
as a signif
ical and tre
ented acco

g at the bot
surroundin
kment to th
haracterise
ad.  The 
omplemen
earing in m

Core Policy

to the Barc
tion Area 
around th

residential 
of the site 
vation Area

such as a
identifies t
uch, an 
he site’s 
m appropr

ding).  Des
sues of sur
nd number
n an area o
velopment o
nd any nec
an Drainag

ditches offe
n options r
 be made 
menity. 

TPO) is pre
ut is consid
ficant cons
ee surveys
ordingly. 

th the 
ng 
he west, 
ed by 

nt the 
mind 
y 2 of 

combe 

e 

is 
a.   

n 
he site 

iate 

spite 
rface 
r of 
of flood 
of this 
essary 
ge 
er 
regard 

esent. 
dered 
straint 
s will 

Page 145



Figure 6

 

North
 

 2.86.

 
 2.87.

 
 2.88.

6 Barcombe

h Chailey

Spatial P
of 30 net
Chailey.  

Chailey P
Council is
Council h
neighbou
site alloc
Once the
within it w
applicatio

North Ch
staggere
Road (A2
developm
eastward

e Cross hou

y 

Policy 2 of t
 additional
  

Parish is de
s at the ea
has decide
urhood plan
ations to c

e Chailey N
will form pa
ons. 

hailey is a r
d cross roa
272 westbo
ment along
ds towards 

sing site all

the Local P
 dwellings 

esignated 
arly stages 
ed not to id
n.  Therefo

contribute t
Neighbourh
art of the d

relatively n
ads of Eas
ound) and 
 the north 
Newick.  T

37 

locations 

Plan Part 1
 to be prov

as a neigh
of prepari
entify hous

ore, the Dis
to meeting
hood Plan 
eterminati

nucleated s
st Grinstea
Station Ro
side of Sta

The village

1 sets the r
vided within

hbourhood 
ng a neigh
sing site al
strict Coun
the requir
has gained
on process

settlement 
d Road (A
oad (A272 
ation Road
e is approx

requiremen
n the settle

plan area 
hbourhood 
locations w

ncil has ide
ement at N
d sufficient
s of future 

concentrat
A275), Hayw

eastbound
d extends t
imately 5 m

nt for a min
ement of N

and the P
plan.  The

within its 
entified hou
North Chai
t weight, p
planning 

ted around
wards Hea
d).  Ribbon
the built up
miles east 

nimum 
North 

arish 
e Parish 

using 
ley.  
olicies 

d the 
ath 
n 
p area 
of 

Page 146



 
 2.89.

 
 2.90.

 
 2.91.

Hayward
and appr

At the 20
the settle
the south
placed to
Access to
transport
Council’s
employm
higher or

North Ch
The settle
several d
small to m
land.  Ch
borders m
along Do
the above
landscap
surround

The 2018
limited nu
North Ch
additiona
construct
site optio
towards t
leaving 1
Local Pla
combined

s Heath (th
roximately 

011 Census
ements of S
h.  North C
o access a 
o public tra
t.  The villa
s Settlemen

ment opport
rder settlem

hailey is loc
ement and

distinguishi
medium siz

hailey Com
much of th
owns View 
e, the built

pe terms, w
ing area. 

8 SHELAA
umber of s
hailey.  One
al dwellings
tion.  Given

ons for Nor
the identifi
6 net addi

an Part 2.  
d total of 1

he nearest
7 miles no

s Chailey P
South Stre
hailey has
wide rang

ansport is l
age is class
nt Hierarch
tunities are
ments is po

cated withi
d surroundi
ng feature
zed woodla
mon (desi
e settleme
to the eas

t area of N
well contain

A, as well a
suitable site
e of those
s, has now
n the limite
rth Chailey 
ed minimu
tional dwe
The follow
6 net addit

38 

t town and
orth of Lew

Parish had
eet, South C
s a limited r
e of servic
limited res
sified as a 
hy recognis
e immediat
oor. 

n the Low 
ing landsc

es, includin
and areas 
gnated SS

ent to the n
st is also de
orth Chaile

ned with lim

as previous
es to meet
housing si

w been app
ed number
 the Kings 

um 30 net a
ellings to be
wing two pr
tional dwe

 located w
wes town. 

d a populat
Chailey an
range of ke
ces and fac
ulting in a 
Local Villa
sing that fe
tely availab

Weald lan
ape charac

ng smaller, 
and remna

SSI and Lo
north and w
esignated a
ey is relativ
mited long 

s SHELAA 
t the planne
tes, the Ki

proved for h
r of alterna
Head dev

additional d
e allocated
roposed all
llings. 

ithin Mid S

ion of 3,08
d Chailey 
ey services
cilities in H
likely relian

age within t
ew facilities
ble and ac

dscape ch
cter is influ
irregular fi

ant heathla
cal Nature

west.  A str
as a LNR. 
vely compa
distance v

Assessme
ed level of 
ngs Head 
housing an
tive sustain
elopment w
dwellings. 
d on a furth
ocations d

Sussex dist

88.  This in
Green loca
s but is we
aywards H
nce on priv
the District
s, services

ccessibility 

haracter ar
uenced by 
fields, parc
and and co

e Reserve) 
retch of lan
 As a resu

act and, in 
views from 

ents, identi
f housing fo
for 14 net 

nd is under
nable hous
will contrib
 Therefore

her site(s) i
deliver a 

trict) 

ncludes 
ated to 

ell 
Heath.  
vate 
t 

s 
to 

ea.  

cels of 
ommon 

nd 
ult of 

the 

ified a 
or 

r 
sing 

bute 
e 
in the 

Page 147



39 

 
 

Policy CH01 - Glendene, Station Road  
 
This site (0.5ha), as shown on figure 7 below, is allocated for 
residential development providing approximately 10 net additional 
dwellings subject to compliance with all appropriate development plan 
policies and the following criteria: 
 
a) Access, including provision for pedestrians and cyclists, to be 

provided from Station Road; 
b) Buildings reflect the local character in terms of mass, height and 

form; 
c) Development is subject to an appropriate assessment and 

evaluation of archaeological potential and any mitigation measures 
implemented accordingly;  

d) Appropriate surface water drainage mitigation is agreed with 
appropriate body and local planning authority and implemented 
accordingly; 

e) An ecological impact assessment is undertaken and appropriate 
measures identified and implemented accordingly to mitigate 
potential adverse impacts.  Development allows for the protection 
of biodiversity and enhancement where possible; 

f) Appropriate buffer, at least 15m, between the site and adjacent 
Ancient Woodland; and 

g) The development will provide connection to the sewerage system 
at the nearest point of adequate capacity, as advised by Southern 
Water. 

Page 148



Figure 7

 
 2.92.

 
 2.93.

 

           
11 LW/15
with all m

7 Glendene,

This polic
approxim
small, gra
Road) an
previous 

A new ac
borders t
statemen
submitted
point and
considere
highway 

                
5/0550: Outli
matters rese

, Station Ro

cy allocate
mately 500m
assed field
nd largely l
Glendene

ccess point
the site’s s
nts, as well
d as part o
d impact of
ed accepta
authority.  

                
ine applicatio
rved except 

ad housing 

es land for 
m east from
d sloping aw
acking in d
Fruit Farm

t to the site
outhern bo
l as other s

of a recent 
f additional
able in prin

 
on for the red
for access 

40 

site allocat

residential
m the cent
way from t
distinguish
m, now occ

e will be di
oundary.  S
supporting
planning a
l developm

nciple by E

development

tion 

 developm
re of North
the main ro
ing feature

casionally u

rectly from
Supporting
 assessme

application
ment on the

ast Sussex

t of the site to

ment.  The s
h Chailey.  
oad to the 
es.  It forms
used for gr

m Station R
 transport 

ents mentio
11.  The pro

e highway 
x County C

o provide 10

site lies 
The site is
south (Sta
s part of th
razing.   

Road which
and acces
oned below
roposed ac
network is

Council, the

0 residential d

 

s a 
ation 
he 

h 
ss 
w, were 
ccess 
 
e 

dwelling 

Page 149



 2.94.

 
 2.95.

 
 2.96.

 
 2.97.

 
 2.98.

The site f
north side
characte
back from
this site s

Whilst the
area to th
Notificatio
medieval
and evalu
expected

The site 
However
An Exten
Mitigation
applicatio
species o
edge bou
demonst
developm
appropria
repeated
frequentl
same are

A rectang
of woodla
north of t
edge nea
Whilst the
the appro
to mitigat
developm

The site 
supportin
submitted
that appr
proposed
this site. 

forms a ga
e of Statio
rised by tw
m Station R
should com

e site does
he south of
on Area, n
l farm com
uation of th
d to inform 

itself does 
r, protected
nded Phase
n Report h
on.  Survey
of slow wo
undary.  Su
rate that th

ment of this
ately imple
 to inform 
y latest gu
ea. 

gular sectio
and to the 
the site.  A
arest the si
e area of A
opriate me
te against 

ment of this

lies within 
ng Sustaina
d as part o
ropriate Su
d developm
  

ap within an
n Road.  E

wo storey, d
Road with g
mplement t

s not lie wit
f Station R
oted as Ro
plex.  As s
he site’s ar
appropriat

not form p
d species (
e 1 Habitat
as been un
ys conclud
rm and gra
uitable miti
hese ecolo
s site, subj

emented. A
future dev
idance adv

on of wood
east, is loc

A smaller se
ite’s bound
Ancient Wo
asures, inc
potential im
s site. 

Flood Risk
able Urban

of the afore
uDs could b
ment and th

41 

n otherwis
Existing dev
detached a
generous b
the adjacen

thin any hi
Road is des
oman indu
such, an ap
rchaeologi
te mitigatio

part of any 
(bats) have
t Survey, a
ndertaken 

ded the site
ass snake 
igation me

ogical intere
ect to any 

Above appr
elopment p
vises surve

dland, incre
cated appr
ection of th
dary, is des
oodland is 
cluding at 
mpacts on 

k Zone 1 (a
n Drainage
ementioned
be accomm
herefore w

e ribbon fo
velopment
and semi-d
back garde
nt characte

istorical de
signated an
strial settle
ppropriate 
cal and his

on by desig

formal bio
e been rec
along with 
to inform t

e to have a
limited to t
asures we
ests would
final mitiga

ropriate su
proposals 
eys should

easing to a
roximately 
his woodlan
signated a
not immed
least a 15m
the Ancien

at least at 
e Systems 
d planning 
modated to

would not p

orm develo
t adjacent t
detached p
ens.  New 
er. 

esignation, 
n Archaeol
ement, me
archaeolo

storic intere
gn and rec

odiversity d
orded adja
a Reptile S
the 2015 p
a populatio
the norther

ere identifie
 not preclu
ation meas
rveys may
depending

d be undert

a more sub
12m, at its
nd, includin
s Ancient W
diately adja
m buffer, m
nt Woodlan

risk of floo
(SuDs) as
application

o manage r
reclude the

opment alo
to the site 

properties s
developme

an extens
logical 

edieval and
ogical asse
est will be 

cording. 

designation
acent to the
Survey and
planning 
n of comm
rn woodlan
ed.  Survey
ude the 
sures bein
y need to b
g on how 
taken for t

bstantial se
s nearest p
ng the sou
Woodland
acent to th
must be pro
nd from th

oding).  A 
ssessment,
n, demons
run-off from
e developm

ong the 
is 
set 
ent on 

sive 

d post-
ssment 

n.  
e site.   
d 

mon 
nd 
ys 

g 
be 

he 

ection 
point, 
uthern 
.  
e site 
ovided 
e 

, 
strates 
m 
ment of 

Page 150



42 

 
 

Policy CH02 - Layden Hall, East Grinstead Road  
 
This site (0.51ha), as shown on figure 8 below, is allocated for 
residential development providing approximately 6 net additional 
dwellings subject to compliance with all appropriate development plan 
policies and the following criteria: 
 
a) Access, including provision for pedestrians and cyclists, to be 

provided from East Grinstead Road including safe and convenient 
pedestrian access to the nearest bus stop;  

b) Development complements nearby local character in terms of 
height, mass and form; 

c) Retention of boundary trees, where possible, to provide appropriate 
landscaping buffer;  

d) An ecological impact assessment is undertaken and appropriate 
measures identified and implemented accordingly to mitigate 
potential adverse impacts on Chailey Common SSSI and the local 
biodiversity. Development allows for the protection of biodiversity 
and enhancement where possible; and 

e) Development is subject to an appropriate assessment and 
evaluation of archaeological potential and any mitigation measures 
implemented accordingly. 

Page 151



Figure 8

 2.99.

 
 2.100.

 
 2.101.

 
 2.102.

8 Layden Ha

This polic
approxim
small, rec
‘Layden H

A new ac
utilising la
also be p
north alo

The site 
extend th
by predo
set back 
Downs V
detached
characte
potential 

The sout
which wil

all, East Grin

cy allocate
mately 250m
ctangular p
Hall’ and p

ccess point
and in the 

provided, li
ng East G

is located t
he built up 
minately la
from the ro

View to the 
d.  Develop
r, with part
impacts o

hern sectio
ll need to b

nstead Road

es land for 
m south of 
parcel of la
part woodla

t to the site
same site 
nking the s
rinstead R

to the sout
area south

arge, detac
oad and w
north east

pment of th
ticular atte
n views int

on of the s
be cleared 

43 

d housing s

residential
f the centre
and forming
and.  

e will be di
ownership

site to the 
Road (appro

th of the vi
hwards.  A
ched two a

within gener
t of the site
his site sho
ntion to the
to the site 

site is large
to enable 

site allocatio

 developm
e of North C
g part of th

rectly from
p.  Safe pe
existing ex
oximately 1

llage.  Dev
Adjacent de
and two an
rous garde
e is more u
ould compl
e height of
from the s

ely covered
developm

on 

ment.  The s
Chailey.  T
he garden t

m East Grin
edestrian a
xtent of the
120m).  

velopment 
evelopment
d a half sto

ens.  Devel
uniform and
ement the 
f buildings 
urrounding

d by trees, 
ent. Whilst

site lies 
The site is a
to the prop

nstead Roa
ccess sho

e pavemen

of this site
t is charac
orey prope
lopment al
d generally
adjacent 
to help mi

g area. 

the majori
t there are 

a 
perty 

ad 
uld 

nt to 

e would 
cterised 
erties, 
long 
y semi-

tigate 

ty of 

 

Page 152



 
 2.103.

 
 
 

South
 

 2.104.

 
 2.105.

 2.106.

presently
tree surv
considere
surround
possible,
buffer sc
of and ac
Interest (
and strad
diverse in
assessm
appropria

Whilst the
proximity
Roman in
WWII sea
assessm
will be ex

h Chailey

Spatial P
of 10 net
Chailey. 
dwellings

Chailey P
Parish Co
Parish Co
neighbou
site alloc
the Chail
it will form

 
South Ch
(A275) a
offshoots
incremen
miles nor

 

y no tree pr
eys should
ed importa
ing landsc
 and shou
heme for t
cross the ro
(SSSI).  Ch
ddles the A
nvertebrate
ent is ther

ate mitigati

e site does
y to two des
ndustrial se
arch light a
ent and ev

xpected to 

y 

Policy 2 of t
 additional
 A housing

s is identifie

Parish has 
ouncil is at
ouncil has 
urhood plan
ations to m
ey Neighb

m part of th

hailey appe
nd Mill Lan
s of develo
ntal pocket
rth of Lewe

rotection o
d be under
ant in helpin
cape, partic
ld be taken
he develop
oad from C
hailey Com
A272.  It is 
e and bird 
efore requ
ion to be im

s not lie wit
signated A
ettlement, 
and hut ba
valuation o
inform app

the Local P
 dwellings 

g site alloca
ed below.

been desi
t the early 
decided n

n. Therefo
meet the ho
bourhood P
he determi

ears as a r
ne where d
pment run
s of newer
es town. 

44 

order desig
rtaken.  Th
ng to mitig
cularly from
n into acco
pment.  Th
Chailey Co
mmon is pre

designate
communit
ired to ide
mplemente

thin any hi
Archaeolog

medieval a
ses.  As su

of the site’s
propriate m

Plan Part 1
 to be prov
ation to de

ignated as
stages of 

not to ident
re, the Dis
ousing req

Plan has ga
nation pro

relatively lin
developme
 from thes
r developm

nations on
e retention

gate potent
m the south
ount when 
he site is al
ommon, a S
edominate
d for its he
ies. An app
ntify any p
ed. 

istorical de
gical Notific
and post-m
uch, an ap
s archaeolo
mitigation b

1 sets the r
vided within
eliver the m

 a neighbo
preparing 
tify housing
strict Counc
uirement f
ained suffic
cess of fut

near settle
ent is conce
e two bise

ment.  The 

n or adjace
n of bounda
ial impacts
h where lon
establishin
so approx

Site of Spe
ely located 
eath habita
propriate e
otential im

esignation, 
cation Area
medieval fa
propriate a

ogical and 
by design a

requiremen
n the settle

minimum 10

ourhood pla
a neighbou
g site alloc
cil has iden
or South C
cient weigh
ure plannin

ement along
entrated.  H
cting roads
village is a

ent to the s
ary trees is
s on the 
nger views
ng a landsc
ximately 25
ecial Scien
west of the

at, which su
ecological 

mpacts and 

is in close
as, noted a
arm comple
archaeolog
historic int

and record

nt for a min
ement of S
0 net addit

an area an
urhood pla

cations with
ntified hou

Chailey.  O
ht, policies
ng applica

g South R
However, s
s resulting

approximat

ite, 
s 

s are 
cape 

5m east 
tific 
e A275 
upports 
impact 

e 
as 
ex and 
gical 
terest 
ing. 

nimum 
South 
tional 

nd the 
an.  The 
hin its 
sing 
nce 

s within 
tions. 

oad 
several 
 in 
tely 5 

Page 153



 2.107.

 2.108.

 2.109.

 

At the 20
the settle
Chailey.  
to access
to public 
The villag
Settleme
employm
higher or

 
South Ch
The settle
several d
generally
connecte
surround
be obser

 
The 2018
South Ch

011 Census
ements of S
 South Ch
s a wide ra
transport i

ge is class
ent Hierarch
ment opport
rder settlem

hailey is loc
ement and

distinguishi
y irregular i
ed by hedg
ing area. C

rved, partic

8 SHELAA
hailey and 

s Chailey P
South Stre
ailey has a

ange of ser
s limited re
ified as a L
hy recogni
tunities are
ments is po

cated withi
d surroundi
ng feature
in shape a
es and sha

Consequen
cularly from

A only ident
this forms 

45 

Parish had
eet, Chailey
a limited ra
rvices and 
esulting in 
Local Villag
sing that fe
e immediat
oor.   

in the Low
ing landsc

es, includin
and parcels
aws.  Sout
ntly some l

m the south

tified one p
the propo

d a populat
y Green, S
ange of key

facilities in
a likely rel
ge within t
ew facilitie
tely availab

w Weald lan
ape charac

ng small to 
s of medium
th Chailey 
longer, alb
h and west

potentially 
sed alloca

ion of 3,08
South Chail
y services 
n Hayward
liance on p
he District 
s, services
ble and ac

ndscape ch
cter is influ
medium s

m sized wo
is slightly e

beit interrup
 of the villa

suitable sit
tion below

88.  This in
ley and No
but is well 

ds Heath.  A
private tran
Council’s 

s and 
ccessibility 

haracter ar
uenced by 
ized fields 
oodland ar
elevated fr
pted, views
age. 

te for hous
w. 

ncludes 
orth 
placed 

Access 
nsport.  

to 

rea.  

reas 
rom the 
s may 

sing at 

Page 154



46 

 
 

Policy CH03 - Land adjacent to Mill Lane  
 
This site (0.47ha), as shown on figure 9 below, is allocated for 
residential development providing approximately 10 net additional 
dwellings subject to compliance with all appropriate development 
plan policies and the following criteria: 
 
a) Suitable vehicular and pedestrian access provided connecting 

site to Mill Road and pavement;  
b) Development complements nearby local character in terms of 

height, mass and form; 
c) Retention of boundary hedge and trees, where possible, within an 

appropriate landscape buffer; 
d) Development is subject to an appropriate assessment and 

evaluation of archaeological potential and any mitigation 
measures implemented accordingly;  

e) An ecological impact assessment is undertaken and appropriate 
measures identified and implemented accordingly to mitigate 
potential adverse impacts on biodiversity. Development allows for 
the protection of biodiversity and enhancement where possible;  

f) The development will provide connection to the sewerage system 
at the nearest point of adequate capacity, as advised by Southern 
Water; and 

g) Development is subject to investigation into potential 
contamination and appropriate mitigation measures agreed with 
the relevant authority. 

Page 155



Figure 9

 
 2.110.

 
 2.111.

 
 2.112.

9 Land adjac

This polic
northern 
land whic
the prope
to the we

A new ac
pedestria
pavemen

Developm
westward
and sem
storey pr
site shou
the site’s
contained
landscap
particular
be given 
surround

cent to Mill 

cy allocate
edge of So

ch slopes g
erty ‘Mill Co
est.  

ccess point
an access 
nt on the so

ment of thi
ds.  Adjace
i-detached
roperties no
uld complem
s edge of v
d by an ex

pe to the no
r attention 
to help mi
ing area. 

Lane housin

es land for 
outh Chaile
gently dow
ottage’, to 

t to the site
should also
outhern sid

s site woul
ent develop
d properties
orth of Mill
ment the lo
illage locat
isting hedg
orth of the 
to the heig
tigate pote

47 

ing site alloc

residential
ey. The sit

wn to the so
the east, a

e will be di
o be provid
de of Mill R

ld margina
pment is ch
s, set back
 Lane in S
ocal chara
tion.  Whils
ge and the
site is ope

ght of build
ential impa

cation 

 developm
te is a sma
outh to Mill
and access

rectly from
ded, linking

Road. 

ally extend 
haracterise
k from the r

St John Ban
cter, havin
st the site i

e immediate
en and sligh
dings and b
cts on view

ment.  The s
all, rectang
 Road.  Th
s point to B

m Mill Road
g the site t

the built u
ed by two s
road, with 
nk.  Develo
g regard to
itself is rela
e topograp
htly elevate
boundary t
ws into the

site lies on
ular parce
he site is b
Broomfield

d.  Safe 
to the exist

p area 
storey deta
some sing

opment of 
o the abov
atively wel
phy, the 
ed.  There
treatment s
e site from 

n the 
l of 
etween 
 Farm 

ting 

ached 
gle 
this 

ve and 
l 

fore, 
should 
the 

 

Page 156



 
 2.113.

 
 2.114.

 

Cooks
 

 2.115.

 
 2.116.

 
 2.117.

 
 2.118.

           
12 The H
July 201

The site 
of windm
archaeolo
Mill, is loc
archaeolo
historic in
and reco

The site 
However
bats.  As
with appr
according

sbridge 

Spatial P
of 30 net
Cooksbri

Hamsey 
neighbou
housing s
delivery o

The 2018
limited nu
for Cooks
one is wi
within the
Yard, has
construct

Given the
Cooksbri
settlemen
dwellings
has been
housing f
sites.  Sh

                
Hamsey Neig
16. 

is within an
mill remains

ogical pote
cated in th
ogical asse
nterest will
rding. 

itself does 
r, local reco
 such, an e
ropriate mi
gly. 

Policy 2 of t
 additional
dge.  

Parish Co
urhood plan
site selecti
of housing 

8 SHELAA
umber of s
sbridge.  O
thin the SD
e Hamsey 
s planning 
tion. 

e current la
dge the ap
nt’s planne
s cannot be
n balanced
figure throu
hould addit

                
ghbourhood P

n Archaeol
s and prehi
ential.  The
e North W
essment a
be expect

not form p
ords indica
ecological 
tigation, in

the Local P
 dwellings 

uncil has a
n does not
on and de
to meet th

A, along wit
suitable site
Out of the t
DNP and a
Neighbour
approval (

ack of pote
pproved Ch
ed housing
e currently
 by other n
ugh either 
tional suita

 
Plan was ‘ma

48 

logical Not
istoric activ
e base of a

West part of
and evaluat
ted to infor

part of a fo
ate presenc
impact ass

nformed by

Plan Part 1
 to be prov

a ‘made’ ne
t allocate h

esign polici
he settleme

th previous
es to meet
hree previ

another is n
rhood Plan
(LW/16/09

ential suita
hatfields Y

g figure.  Th
y met in Co
nearby sett
site alloca

able site(s) 

ade’ by LDC 

tification A
vity and the
an old smo
f the site. A
tion of the 
rm appropr

rmal biodiv
ce of prote
sessment w

y the EcIA,

1 sets the r
vided within

eighbourho
housing site
es to assis
ent’s plann

s SHELAA 
t the planne
ously pote
now design
n.  The rem
35) for 27 

ble housin
Yard develo
he shortfal

ooksbridge
tlements e

ations and/ 
be identifi

on 21 July 2

rea, noted 
erefore has
ck mill, So

As such, an
site’s arch
riate mitiga

versity des
ected speci
will be req
to be impl

requiremen
n the settle

ood plan12.
es but sets
st in the se
ned housing

Assessme
ed level of 
ntial suitab
nated a Lo

maining site
dwellings 

g sites ide
opment wil
l of three n
.  However

exceeding t
or permitt
ed they ca

2016 and by 

 for the pre
s high 

outh Comm
n appropria
haeologica
ation by de

signation.  
ies, includi
uired, toge
lemented 

nt for a min
ement of 

.  The 
s out a num

election and
g requirem

ents, ident
f housing g
ble sites id
ocal Green 
e, Chatfield
and is und

entified in 
l contribute

net addition
r, the shor
their plann
ted unident
an be cons

the SDNPA 

esence 

mon 
ate 
l and 

esign 

ing 
ether 

nimum 

mber of 
d 

ment. 

ifies a 
growth 
entified 
Space 

ds 
der 

e to the 
nal 
tfall 

ned 
tified 
idered 

on 14 

Page 157



 

Newic
 

 2.119.

 
 2.120.

 

Plump
 

 2.121.

 
 2.122.

 

Ringm
 

 2.123.

 
 2.124.

           
13 The P
14 The R

through e
Plan.  

ck 

Spatial P
of 100 ne
Newick. 

Newick P
2015, tha
site, New
future pla
Neighbou
into cons

pton Gre

Spatial P
of 50 net
Plumpton

Plumpton
neighbou
housing s
applicatio
considers
within the

mer and 

Spatial P
215 net a
Ringmer 
number o
sites hav

As referre
the Ringm
strategic 
and Tabl

                
Plumpton Nei
Ringmer Neig

either a fut

Policy 2 of t
et additiona

Parish Cou
at allocates
wick Hill ide
anning app
urhood Pla
sideration p

een 

Policy 2 of t
 additional
n Green.   

n Parish Co
urhood plan
sites totalli
ons, or pot
s housing 
e adopted 

Broyle S

Policy 2 of t
additional d
Parish Co

of housing 
ve since ga

ed to earlie
mer Neigh
allocation,
e 5 of Loca

                
ighbourhood
ghbourhood P

ture review

the Local P
al dwelling

ncil has a 
s sites for 1
entified for 
plications, o
an which co
policies wit

the Local P
 dwellings 

ouncil has 
n contains 
ng 68 net 

tential revie
allocations
developme

Side 

the Local P
dwellings t

ouncil has a
policies an

ained plann

er in parag
bourhood 
, Land nort
al Plan Pa

 
 Plan was ‘m
Plan was ‘ma

49 

w of the Ha

Plan Part 1
s to be pro

‘made’ Ne
100 net ad
30 net dw

or potentia
onsiders h
thin the ad

Plan Part 1
 to be prov

a ‘made’ n
 a number
additional 
ew of the P
s, will need
ent plan. 

Plan Part 1
o be provid
a ‘made’ n
nd allocatio
ning permis

graph 2.8, a
Plan (RNP
th of Bisho
rt 1.  The r

made’ by Lew
ade’ by Lewe

msey Neig

1 sets the r
ovided with

eighbourho
dditional dw
wellings is a
al review of
ousing allo
opted deve

1 sets the r
vided within

neighbourh
r of housing
dwellings.

Plumpton N
d to take in

1 sets the r
ded within
eighbourho
ons.  A num
ssion.  

a number o
P) overlap w
ops Lane, i
removal of 

wes District C
es District Co

ghbourhood

requiremen
hin the sett

ood Plan, a
wellings.  O
almost com
f the Newic
ocations, w
elopment p

requiremen
n the settle

hood plan1

g policies a
  Any futur

Neighbourh
to conside

requiremen
Ringmer a

ood plan14 
mber of the

of sites wit
with comm
dentified in
these dup

Council on 2 
ouncil on 25 

d Plan or L

nt for a min
tlement of 

adopted Ju
One allocat
mplete.  An
ck 
will need to
plan. 

nt for a min
ement of 

3.  The 
and allocat
re planning
hood Plan 

eration poli

nt for a min
and Broyle
4 which con
ese alloca

thin Policy 
mitments or
n Spatial P
plications re

May 2018. 
February 20

Local 

nimum 

ly 
ted 
y 

o take 

nimum 

tes four 
g 
which 
cies 

nimum 
e Side.  
ntains a 
ted 

6.4 of 
r the 
Policy 2 
esults 

016. 

Page 158



 
 2.125.

 
 2.126.

 

in a total 
of 32 net
minimum

The shor
Examina
Lewes D
likely to d
number c
additiona
dwellings
capacity 

The incre
District C
to meet t
been ma
of 96 dwe
approxim
over the 
of 50 ove

of 183 net
 additional

m 215 net a

rtfall was re
tion, during
istrict Loca
deliver abo
contained w
al 20 dwelli
s, was cons
for an eve

ease in cap
Council own

he minimu
de on the 
ellings.  It i

mately 90, m
minimum o

er and abov

t additiona
 dwellings

additional d

ecognised 
g which it w
al Plan hou
ove the orig
within the c
ngs, there
sidered at 
ntual prop

pacity was 
ned land.  
um of 215 n
developme
is therefore
meeting th
of 215 net 
ve the ‘sav

50 

l dwellings
, against th

dwellings.

and discu
was agree
using alloc
ginal target
commitme

eby providin
that time t
osal.   

 partly due
A further 1
net additio
ent propos
e proposed
e shortfall 
additional 

ved’ 2003 a

s identified 
he planned

ssed at the
d that the 
ation RG1
t minimum

ents figure f
ng a total o
to be a rea

e to the inc
12 dwelling
nal dwellin

sals for this
d to allocat
of 32 and 
dwellings.
allocation.

within the 
d housing g

e Local Pla
retained ‘s
: Caburn F
 of 40 dwe
for Spatial 
of 60 net a
asonable an

lusion of a
gs, howeve
ngs.  Progr
s site, whic
te Caburn 
providing a
  This repr

RNP; a sh
growth figu

an Part 1 
saved’ 200
Field was h
ellings (the
 Policy 2). 
dditional 
nticipated 

adjacent Le
er, is still re
ress has si
ch indicate 

Field for 
an addition
resents an 

hortfall 
ure of 

3 
highly 
 
 An 

ewes 
equired 
nce 
a yield 

nal 18 
uplift 

Page 159



51 

 
 

Policy RG01 - Caburn Field 
  
Land at Caburn Field (1.91ha) as shown on figure 10 below, is 
allocated for residential development providing approximately 90 net 
additional dwellings subject to compliance with all appropriate 
development plan policies and the following criteria: 
 
a) A replacement playing field of equivalent area and quality is 

available and ready for use at an acceptable location in Ringmer 
before development takes place; 

b) Access, including provision for pedestrians and cyclists, to be 
provided from Anchor Field;  

c) The identification, delivery and funding of sustainable transport 
improvements to mitigate the impacts of development on the local 
highway network, and in particular the Earwig Corner junction, to 
the satisfaction of the local planning authority in consultation with 
the local highway authority; 

d) Development is subject to an appropriate assessment and 
evaluation of archaeological potential and any mitigation 
measures implemented accordingly;  

e) An ecological impact assessment is undertaken and appropriate 
measures identified and implemented accordingly to mitigate 
potential adverse impacts on biodiversity. Development allows for 
the protection of biodiversity and enhancement where possible; 

f) Appropriate surface water drainage mitigation is agreed with the 
relevant body and local planning authority and implemented 
accordingly;  

g) Layout is planned to ensure future access to the existing 
sewerage infrastructure for maintenance and upsizing purposes; 
and 

h) Occupation of the development is phased to align with the 
delivery of sewerage infrastructure, in liaison with the service 
provider, and completion of the planned junction improvements at 
Earwig Corner. 

Page 160



Figure 1

 
 2.127.

 
 2.128.

 
 2.129.

10 Caburn F

This reta
Football C
the contin
provides 
surround

The site, 
of the fac
It is enclo
residentia
The rede
highly su
commun
that set o
through h

The hous
Plan Part
and A26 
to be del
net addit

Field housin

ined 2003 
Club and r
nued wish 
an importa
ing area a

covering a
cilities, serv
osed on th
al develop

evelopment
stainable r
ity facilities
out in Core
high quality

sing growth
t 1, is limite
(Earwig C
ivered by t
ional dwell

ng site alloca

Local Plan
redevelopm
for the clu

ant recreat
nd relocati

approximat
vices and p
ree sides b
ment is co
t of this sit
residential 
s. Its villag
e Policy 1 o
y design. 

h at Ringm
ed due to t
orner) junc
the strateg
lings to be 

52 

ation 

n allocation
ment of its 
ub to move
tional reso
ion will allo

tely 1.91ha
public tran
by resident

onsidered t
e offers th
scheme w
e centre lo

of Local Pla

mer and Bro
the current
ction.  Curr
ic site at B
 accommo

n for the re
current gro
 to an alter
urce for th
ow the club

a, is locate
nsport links
tial develo
o be appro
e unique o

with the ben
ocation len
an Part 1, w

oyle Side, 
t highway c
rent identif

Bishops La
odated with

elocation of
ound, Cab
rnative site
e village a

b to improv

ed in close 
s in the cen
pment.  Th

opriate with
opportunity
nefit of imp
ds itself to 
which shou

as identifie
constraints
fied junctio
ne, allow f

hin the sett

f Ringmer 
urn Field, 
e. The Club
and the 
ve its facilit

proximity 
ntre of the 
herefore, 
hin this loc
y to deliver 
proved 
 a density 
uld be ach

ed within L
s of the B2
on improve
for a total o
tlement. Du

reflects 
b 

ties. 

to most 
village. 

cation. 
a 

above 
hieved 

Local 
2192 
ments, 

of 385 
ue to 

 

Page 161



 
 2.130.

 
 2.131.

 
 2.132.

 2.133.

 
 2.134.

the juncti
Ringmer 
This is ev
delivered
of Cabur
dwellings
taken into
there is a
take the t
be accep
highly su
residentia

This qua
implemen
and enco
bus, cycl
rather tha
an eleme
additiona

The site 
of mediev
to lie in a
archaeolo
historic in
and reco

The site 
However
slow wor
together 
implemen

 
The site 
a risk of s
flow route
Therefore
developm
site. A sp
implemen

Southern
such, an 

ion capacit
and Broyle

ven allowin
d through th
n Field at a
s, once ove
o account.
an agreem
total plann

ptable in pr
stainable v
al develop

ntum of de
ntation of s
ourage sus
ing and wa
an just the 
ent of trip b
al dwellings

is within an
val and po

an area of h
ogical asse
nterest will
rding. 

itself does 
r, local reco
rms.  As su
with appro
nted accor

lies within 
surface wa
es running
e, to ensur

ment, cons
pecific flood
nted accor

n Water ha
easement

ty constrai
e Side bey
ng for the p
he strategi
approxima
erlapping a
  However
ent that de
ed develop

rinciple.  Th
village cen
ment has l

evelopmen
sustainable
stainable m
alking).  Th
proportion

banking to 
s.  

n Archaeol
ost-medieva
high archa
essment a
be expect

not form p
ords indica
uch, an eco
opriate miti
rdingly. 

Flood Risk
ater floodin
 both throu
re that floo
ideration s
d risk asse
rdingly.  

s identified
t will be req

53 

nts there is
yond the pl
planned jun
ic allocatio

ately 90 dw
allocations 
r, in discus
evelopmen
pment in R
his is on th

ntre locatio
long been 

t would be
e transport

methods of 
his would b
n of develo
occur, offs

logical Not
al village a

aeological p
and evaluat
ted to infor

part of a fo
ate presenc
ological im
gation, info

k Zone 1 (a
ng has bee
ugh the sit

od risk is no
should be g
essment m

d a surface
quired.  Th

s effectivel
lanned 385
nction imp

on at Bisho
wellings will

and expire
sion with t

nt on the Ca
Ringmer be
he basis of 
n and the f
establishe

e subject to
t improvem
transport t

be applied 
opment with
setting veh

tification A
and potterie
potential.  A
tion of the 
rm appropr

rmal biodiv
ce of prote
pact asses
ormed by t

at least risk
en identified
e and in cl
ot exacerb
given to the

may also be

e water sew
his will nee

ly a cap on
5 net additi
rovements
ps Lane.  T
 exceed th
ed permiss
he local hig
aburn Field
eyond the 3
Caburn Fi

fact that th
ed on this s

o the identi
ments that m
to and from
to the who
hin the 385
icle movem

rea, noted 
es.  The sit
As such, a
site’s arch
riate mitiga

versity des
ected speci
ssment wil
the EcIA, t

k from floo
d associate
ose proxim
ated, on or
e design a

e required, 

wer under 
d to be des

n developm
ional dwel

s that will b
The develo

his cap by 
sions have
ghway aut
d site that 
385 figure 
ield having

he principle
site.   

ification an
minimise c
m the site (
ole develop
5 ‘cap’, pro
ments of th

 for the pre
te also ide

an appropr
haeologica
ation by de

signation.  
ies, includi
l be requir
to be 

oding). How
ed with ove

mity to the 
r off-site by

and layout o
and mitiga

the site.  A
signed into

ment in 
lings.  

be 
opment 
14 

e been 
thority 
would 
would 

g a 
e of 

nd 
car use 
(i.e. 
pment, 
oviding 
he 

esence 
entified 
iate 
l and 

esign 

ing 
ed, 

wever, 
erland 
site. 
y the 
of the 
ation 

As 
o the 

Page 162



 
 2.135.

 

Wivel
 

 2.136.

 
 2.137.

 

Gypsy
 

 2.138.

 
 2.139.

           
15 The W

layout of 
tree plan

Southern
network, 
flow at th
to growth
required 
localised 

lsfield Gr

Spatial P
of 30 net
Wivelsfie

Wivelsfie
Wivelsfie
additiona
also prov
where ne
planning 
Plan whic
policies w

y and Tr

The Gove
travellers
travellers
Governm
importan
Gypsies, 
need.  

To this e
was unde
Local Pla
pitches fo
apportion
National 
within the

                
Wivelsfield Ne

any develo
ting. 

n Water ha
identified 

he practica
h but is hig
and ensur
risk of sew

reen 

Policy 2 of t
 additional

eld Green. 

eld Parish C
eld Neighbo
al dwellings
vides a spa
ew develop
application

ch conside
within the a

raveller A

ernment’s 
s, in a way 
s while resp
ment’s natio

ce of local
 Travellers

nd, a Gyps
ertaken ov
an Part 1 s
or Gypsies
ned across
Park, to en

eir area.  A
                

eighbourhoo

opment so

s, through 
a limited c
l point of c
hlighted he

re that this 
wer floodin

the Local P
 dwellings 

Council ha
ourhood P
s within the
atial policy 
pment migh
ns, or pote

ers housing
adopted de

Accomm

overarchin
that facilita

pecting the
onal Plann
 authorities

s and Trave

sy and Tra
er 2015.  I
ets out a r

s and Trave
s the two a
nable each

As such, Co
 
d Plan was ‘

54 

o that it is c

 modelling
apacity to 

connection 
ere to indic
is underta

ng. 

Plan Part 1
 to be prov

as a ‘made’
lan (WNP)
e settlemen
of the neig
ht be supp
ential review
g allocation
evelopmen

odation

ng aim is to
ates the tra
e interests 
ing Policy 
s both ass
elling Show

aveller Acco
nformed b

requiremen
ellers acro
reas: insid

h local plan
ore Policy 

‘made’ by LD

clear of all 

g the capac
accommod
in the loca

cate that ex
aken at the 

1 sets the r
vided within

’ neighbou
) allocates 
nt of Wivel
ghbourhoo

ported withi
w of the W
ns, will nee
nt plan. 

o ensure fa
aditional a
of the sett
for Travell
essing the
wpeople an

ommodatio
by the GTA
nt for 13 ne
ss Lewes 
e and outs

nning autho
3 identifies

DC on 7 Dece

proposed 

city of the l
date increa
al sewer.  T
xtra work i
right time 

requiremen
n the settle

rhood plan
three sites
sfield Gree

od plan whi
in the Paris

Wivelsfield N
ed to take i

air and equ
nd nomadi
tled commu
er Sites (P

e accommo
nd then pla

on Assessm
AA, Core Po
et additiona
District.  T
side the So
ority to pla
s a need fo

ember 2016.

buildings a

ocal sewe
ased levels
This is not 
is likely to 
to mitigate

nt for a min
ement of 

n15.  The 
s for 34 ne
en.  The W
ich prioritis
sh.  Any fu
Neighbour
into consid

ual treatme
ic way of li
unity.   

PPTS) note
odation nee
anning for 

ment (GTA
olicy 3 of t
al permane

This figure i
outh Down
an for the n
or five perm

. 

and 

rage 
s of 
a limit 
be 
e the 

nimum 

t 
WNP 
ses 
uture 
hood 

deration 

ent for 
ife of 

es the 
eds of 
this 

AA) 
he 
ent 
is 
s 

need 
manent 

Page 163



 
 2.140.

 
 2.141.

 

pitches to
Park and

At the tim
identified
considere
Traveller 
Authority
used in d
Travelling

The Gyps
Local Pla
Further c
Council h
proposed
Council’s

o serve the
d eight perm

me of adop
d for allocat
ed in any f
r pitch alloc
y’s Local Pl
determining
g Showpeo

sy and Tra
an Part 2 c
collaborativ
however ha
d permane
s duty to m

e area of L
manent pit

ting the Lo
tion.  Ther
future asse
cations ma
lan or neig
g any plann
ople use. 

aveller call-
consultation
ve work be
as resulted
nt Gypsy a
ake provis

55 

Lewes Distr
tches to se

ocal Plan P
refore, Cor
essment of
ade through
ghbourhood
ning applic

-for-sites u
n did not a

etween the 
d in the Co
and Travel
sion for 5 p

rict outside
erve the are

Part 1, no s
e Policy 3
f subseque
h Local Pla
d plans.  C
cations for 

undertaken
ttract any 
Council an

ouncil being
ler site.  Th

permanent 

e the South
ea within th

suitable pit
sets out cr

ent potentia
an Part 2, t

Core Policy
Gypsy and

 as part of
potential s
nd East Su
g able to id
he propose
pitches. 

h Downs N
he Park. 

tches had b
riteria to be
al Gypsy a
the Nation

y 3 is also t
d Traveller

f the 2017 
ite submis

ussex Cou
dentify the 
ed site me

National 

been 
e 

and 
al Park 
to be 
r or 

draft 
sions.  
nty 
below 
ets the 

Page 164



56 

 
 

Policy GT01 – Land south of The Plough  
 
This site (0.69ha), as shown on figure 11 below, is allocated for the 
development of 5 net additional permanent Gypsy and Traveller 
pitches, subject to compliance with all appropriate development plan 
policies and the following criteria: 
 
a) Access, including provision for pedestrians and cyclists, to be 

provided from Station Road, including provision of a dedicated 
pedestrian path connecting the entrance of the site to the nearest 
bus stop serving the site; 

b) The site should be levelled and laid out to provide sufficient room 
to allow for vehicles to turn around within the site; 

c) Development should use the natural topography in screening the 
site from wider, sensitive landscape views and designed to 
minimise the perception of urbanisation in this location, 
particularly with regards to hardstanding and amenity buildings; 

d) Development is subject to an appropriate assessment and 
evaluation of archaeological potential and mitigation measures 
implemented accordingly; 

e) An ecological impact assessment is undertaken and appropriate 
measures identified and implemented accordingly to mitigate 
potential adverse impacts on biodiversity. Development allows for 
the protection of biodiversity and enhancement where possible; 

f) Appropriate flood risk assessment and surface water drainage 
strategy and mitigation is agreed with the appropriate body and 
implemented accordingly;  

g) The development should be occupied by only those that fulfil the 
definition of a Gypsy or Traveller; 

h) The development will provide connection to the sewerage system 
at the nearest point of adequate capacity, as advised by Southern 
Water; if non-mains drainage, an environmental permit will be 
required. 

Page 165



Figure 1

 
 2.142.

 
 2.143.

11 Land sou

This polic
pitches. T
adjacent 
residentia
including
Plumpton
of these f
with serv
Heath to 

An existin
the site.  
hedgerow
and pede
within hig
improvem
authoritie

 

uth of The P

cy allocate
The site lie
to ‘The Ol

al dwelling
 a local co
n Green.  W
facilities th

vices to the
the north. 

ng agricult
Improvem

ws, are req
estrians.  T
ghway land
ments mus
es and imp

Plough, Gyps

es land for t
es approxim
d Brickwor
s.  There i

onvenience
Whilst the s
here is a bu
e village an

ural acces
ments, inclu
quired to pr
This include
d or the sa
st be agree
plemented 

57 

sy and Trav

the develo
mately 650
rks’ industr
s a good r

e shop, prim
site is not w
us stop app
nd Lewes t

ss point is l
uding remo
rovide a su
es a small 
me landow

ed by the lo
accordingl

veller site all

opment of G
0m north of
rial site an
range of se
mary schoo
within a re
proximatel
own to the

ocated wit
oval and m
uitable and
section of 

wnership.  
ocal planni
y.  

location 

Gypsy and
f Plumpton
d a small n

ervices and
ol and train
asonable w
y 200m no

e south and

thin the sou
aintenance

d safe acce
hedges to

The neces
ng and loc

d Traveller 
n Green vil
number of 
d facilities, 
n station, w
walking dis
orth of the 
d Hayward

uth east co
e of bound
ess for veh
o the south
ssary 
cal highway

lage, 

within 
stance 
site 
s 

orner of 
dary 
hicles 
h not 

y 

 

Page 166



 2.144.

 2.145.

 2.146.

 2.147.

 2.148.

 

 The site 
gently slo
to accom
space.  T
trees res
the deve
encroach
topograp
opportun
north and

 
Whilst the
Archaeol
activity fr
archaeolo
historic in
and reco

 
The site 
However
species, 
As such, 
with appr
according

 
The site 
risk of su
east-wes
flood risk
should be
assessm

 
The alloc
Traveller
traveller s
and Trav
identify lo

lies in the 
opes north

mmodate 5 
The site is 
pectively b
lopment w

hment into 
phy, as wel
ity to creat
d west.  

e site does
ogical Not

rom the Ro
ogical asse
nterest will
rding. 

itself does 
r, local reco
including b
an ecolog

ropriate mi
gly. 

lies within 
urface wate
st along the
k is not cre
e given to 
ent may a

cation is fo
rs as define
sites. The 

veller Team
ocal familie

south eas
 to south.  
permanen
bounded to

but is other
ill need to 
the adjace
l as additio
te a natura

s not lie wit
ification Ar

oman perio
essment a
be expect

not form p
ords indica
bats, and o
ical impac
tigation, in

Flood Risk
er flooding 
e site’s sou
ated on or 
the design
lso be requ

r the provis
ed within A
Council wi

m, and othe
es in need 
 

58 

st corner of
The area 

nt pitches a
o the east 
rwise unde
establish a

ent land.  In
onal appro
al, banked 

thin any hi
rea, the wi

od onwards
and evaluat
ted to infor

part of a fo
ate the pre
other notab
ct assessm
nformed by

k Zone 1 (a
has been 

uthern bou
r off-site by
n and layou
uired and m

sion of per
Annex 1 of 
ill work wit
er relevant 
of accomm

f a larger a
of the site 

and the req
and south

efined to th
a new, wel
n levelling 
priate bun
landscape

istorical de
der area h
s.  As such
tion of the 
rm appropr

rmal biodiv
sence of n
ble inverteb

ment (EcIA)
y the EcIA, 

at least risk
identified f
ndary.  Th

y the devel
ut of the sit
mitigation i

rmanent pi
governme

th East Sus
organisati

modation.

agricultural 
is conside

quired large
 by existin
e north an
l defined b
the site th
ding, provi

e buffer and

esignation, 
as evidenc

h, an appro
site’s arch
riate mitiga

versity des
otable and
brates and
 will be req
to be impl

k of floodin
from the st
erefore, to
opment co
te. A speci
implement

tches for G
ent 2012 Pl
ssex Coun
ons where

 field whic
ered appro
e vehicle t
g hedges a

nd west.  A
boundary to
e local 
ides an 
d border to

such as a
ce of histo
opriate 
haeologica
ation by de

signation.  
d protected
d vascular 
quired, tog
lemented 

ng).  Howe
tream runn
o ensure th
onsideratio
ific flood ris
ted accord

Gypsies an
lanning po

nty Council
e appropria

h 
priate 
urning 
and 

As such, 
o avoid 

o the 

n 
rical 

l and 
esign 

d 
plants. 
ether 

ever, a 
ning 
hat 
n 
sk 
ingly. 

nd 
licy for 
 Gypsy 

ate, to 

Page 167



3. 
 

 3.1.

 
 3.2.

 3.3.

 3.4.

EMP

Spatial P
employm
from 201
Employm
which wa
the Loca
district, s
available

The Loca
quantitat
sq.m. wit
(p.49) of 
space wi
employm
premises
allowanc
the possi

 
Consequ
additiona
EELA do
floorspac
this quali
allocated
unimplem
opportun
Downs L

 
Whilst the
within the
(Econom
a positive
employm
intensific
for emplo
further su
Developm
the Coun

 

PLOYME

Policy 1 of t
ment floorsp

2 to 2031.
ment and E
as commiss
l Plan. It w

since it is im
e to fill them

al Plan Par
ive terms t
thin the dis
the docum
th the iden

ment needs
s (including
e for mark
ibility of a g

uently, ther
al sites for 
oes identify
ce within Le
tative need

d for a mixe
mented site
ities within
ocal Plan a

ere is no id
e area of th

mic Develop
e approach

ment sites, 
ation, upgr
oyment pur
upport by P
ment in the
ntryside) in

ENT SIT

the Local P
pace (B1, B
 This figure

Economic L
sioned as 

was also inf
mportant to
m. 

rt 1 demon
to meet the
strict in the 
ment, which
ntified pote
s of the dist
g unimplem
ket choice t
greater tha

re is no req
employme

y a qualitati
ewes town
d will be m
ed-use dev
e allocation
n Lewes tow
and/or rele

dentified re
he district c
pment and 
h to sustain
promoting 
rading and
rposes.  Th
Policies DM
e Countrys
 this docum

59 

TE ALLO

Plan Part 1
B2 and B8
e was info

Land Asses
part of the
fluenced by
o balance t

nstrates tha
e employm
 period to 
h compare

ential suppl
trict to be m

mented site
to allow for
an expecte

quirement i
ent purpose
ive need fo

n in the Sou
met at the N
velopment 
ns at Mallin
wn are exp

evant Neig

equirement
covered by

d Regenera
nable econ
mixed-use

d redevelop
he stimulat
M9 (Farm D
side) and D
ment. 

OCATIO

1 sets out a
8) of 74,000
rmed by th
ssment (EE

e evidence 
y the hous
the numbe

at there is s
ment floorsp

2031. This
s the need
y. This ide
met on exi
e allocation
r the chang

ed level of l

in quantita
es in the Lo
or addition
uth Downs

North Stree
in the Loc

ng Brooks 
pected to b
hbourhood

t for additio
y the Local
ation) of the
nomic grow
e developm
pment of e
tion of the 
Diversifica

DM11 (Exis

ONS  

a planned l
0 sq.m. ove
he findings 
ELA) for Le
base for th

sing deliver
er of jobs w

sufficient la
pace requi
s is illustrat
d for indust
entified sup
sting empl

ns) with a m
ging needs
ocal econo

tive terms 
ocal Plan P
al office an

s National P
et Quarter, 
al Plan Pa
Business A

be identifie
d Plans. 

onal emplo
l Plan Part
e Local Pla
wth by safe
ments, and
xisting em
rural econ
tion), DM1

sting Emplo

level of 
er the peri
 of the 
ewes Distr
he prepara
ry target fo

with the peo

and in 
rement of 
ted in Tabl
trial and of
pply will all
loyment sit
modest 
s of busine
omic grow

to allocate
Part 2.  Th
nd light ind
Park.  Som
which is 

art 1, and o
Area. Furt

ed by the S

oyment site
t 2, Core P
an Part 1 s
eguarding e
d supportin

mployment s
nomy is giv
0 (Employ
oyment Sit

od 

rict, 
ation of 
or the 
ople 

74,000 
e 3 
ffice 
ow the 
tes and 

ess and 
th. 

e 
e 

dustrial 
me of 

on 
her 

South 

es 
Policy 4 
sets out 
existing 
g the 
sites 

ven 
yment 
tes in 

Page 168



 3.5.

 3.6.

 3.7.

 3.8.

 3.9.

Core Pol
presump
allocation
Local Pla
suitability
appropria
expansio
Policy E1
date. A n
identified
Falmer, a

 
As descr
plan area
of this do
preparing
allocation
purposes
Plan 200
developm
these tow

 
Many of t
district in
develope
Developm
Sites in th
considera
not carrie
Other em
because 
no longe

 
At Newha
Offshore 
(Econom
the regen
The Loca
of the coa
the Newh
eight site

 
The EZ is
to Capita

icy 4 (Econ
tion in favo
ns from the
an Part 2 h
y of existing
ate. As a c
on of Newh
1 in this do
new opport
d on land a
as set out i

ribed earlie
as of Peac
ocument.  T
g neighbou
ns within th
s at Hoyle 
03 will there
ment plan f
wns are ap

the sites a
 the Local 

ed land.  Th
ment and R
he Country
ation of de
ed forward 
mployment 

they have
r considere

aven Port, 
Wind Farm

mic Develop
neration of
al Plan’s ap
astal towns
haven Ente
es. 

s a partner
al Local En

nomic Dev
our of retai
e Lewes D
as therefo
g employm

consequenc
haven Port 
ocument, w
unity for em
djacent to 
in Policy E

er, site alloc
ehaven, Te
This is bec
urhood plan
heir areas. 
Road, Pea
efore conti
for the area
pproved. Th

llocated fo
Plan 2003

he Council
Regenerati
yside) prov

evelopment
as specific
allocations
 either rec
ed suitable

the operat
m has now
pment and 
f the town a
pproach to
s has also 
erprise Zon

rship ventu
terprise Pa

60 

velopment 
ining the u
istrict Loca

ore included
ment site a
ce, the site
in the Loc

with approp
mploymen
the Ameri

E2. 

cations wit
elscombe 

cause thes
ns which w
 The polici

acehaven, 
nue to be 
a until the 
he relevan

or employm
3 are curre
l considers
ion) and P
vide an app
t proposals
c employm
s in the Lo
eived plan

e for emplo

tions and m
w opened in
d Regenera
and helpin

o economic
 been supp
ne (EZ), w

ure betwee
artnership.

and Regen
nimplemen

al Plan 200
d a review 
llocations a
e allocated
cal Plan 20
priate amen
nt developm
can Expre

thin the de
and Seafo
e town and

will conside
ies allocati
and Cradle
‘saved’ an
respective
t policies a

ment uses w
ntly occup

s that Core
olicy DM1
propriate p
s on such s

ment alloca
cal Plan 20
ning conse

oyment pur

maintenan
n accordan
ation). This
g to stimul

c developm
ported by t
hich cover

en the Distr
 Over the 

neration) a
nted emplo
03. The pre
of the deli

and their re
 for the up
03 is carrie
ndments to
ment has a
ss Commu

signated n
ord are outs
d parish co
er appropri
ng sites fo
e Hill, Seaf
d form par

e neighbou
are listed in

within the r
ied or com

e Policy 4 (
1 (Existing
policy fram
sites. They

ations in thi
003 have n
ent for dev
rposes. 

ce base fo
nce with Co
s is acting a
ate the loc

ment and th
the formal 
rs 79 ha of 

rict Counci
next 25 ye

also contai
oyment site
eparation o
iverability a
etention w

pgrading an
ed forward
o bring it u
also been 
unity Stadiu

neighbourh
side of the
ouncils are
iate land-u
or employm
ford, in the

rt of the 
rhood plan
n Appendix

rural parts 
mprise prev

Economic 
g Employm
ework for t
y are there
is docume
not been re
velopment 

or the Ram
ore Policy 
as a cataly
cal econom
he regener
designatio

f land acros

il and the C
ears, it is 

ns a 
e 
of the 
and 

where 
nd 
d by 
p to 

um at 

hood 
 scope 
 
se 

ment 
e Local 

ns for 
x 3. 

of the 
viously 

ment 
the 

efore 
nt. 
etained 
or are 

mpion 
4 

yst for 
my.  
ration 
on of 
ss 

Coast 

Page 169



 3.10.

 

Land 
 

 3.11.

 
 3.12.

 3.13.

 3.14.

anticipate
employm
existing e
opportun

 
Also in N
withdraw
light indu
Council t
in terms o
uses so a
barrier to
district. 

at East Q

Newhave
mainland
of the Ra
coast, an
are safeg
by the Ea
Plan (Po

The port 
who publ
developm
East Sus
work with
recognitio
for both t

 
In 2016, 
existing w
purpose 
the south
workshop
competiti
and allow
arise. 

 
The furth
Core Pol
Local Pla

ed that the
ment floorsp
employmen
ities and e

Newhaven, 
wing permitt
ustrial to re
o support 
of safegua
as to avoid
o business 

Quay, Ne

en is a rela
d Europe. I
ampion offs
nd the impo
guarded fo
ast Sussex
licy WMP1

is owned a
lished a m

ment of the
ssex Count
h NPP to a
on that Ne
the town an

NPP were
working po
berth at Ea

h, and new
ps. It is ant
ive by offe

wing the po

her expans
icy 4 (Econ

an Part 1 in

e EZ will ac
pace and t
nt premise

encourage 

an Article 
ted develo
sidential. T
Core Polic

arding exist
d a lack of 
investmen

ewhaven

atively sma
t also play
shore wind
ortation of 
r the existi

x, South Do
5) and the

and operat
asterplan i

e port over 
ty Council 

achieve the
whaven ne
nd the port

 granted p
ort area, inc
ast Quay, t

w space for 
ticipated th
ring moder
ort to accom

ion and en
nomic Dev
n order to h

61 

ct as cataly
the refurbis
es. This inv

further gro

4 Direction
opment righ
This is acti
cy 4 (Econo
ting emplo
supply or c

nt and the c

n Port 

all port but 
ys a vital ro
d farm, whi
marine ag
ing and fut
owns and 
e Waste an

ted by New
in 2012 to 
the next 2
and Newh

e implemen
eeds a hig
t to have a

planning pe
cluding the
the constru

r associate
his develop
rn facilities
mmodate l

nhancemen
velopment 
help revita

yst to delive
shment of s
vestment w
owth and in

n will take 
hts for cha
on has bee
omic Deve

oyment site
choice of p
continued 

provides im
ole in the o
ch is locat
gregates. 
ture minera
Brighton &

nd Minerals

whaven Po
provide a 

20-30 years
aven Town

ntation of t
her level o

a sustainab

ermission f
e refurbishm
uction of a 
d offices, w

pment will 
s to future i
larger vess

nt of Newh
and Regen
lise the ec

er 55,000 s
some 15,0

will create n
nvestment 

effect in N
nges of us
en taken b

elopment an
es from oth
premises b
economic 

mportant m
peration an
ed 13km o
Its wharve
al imports a

& Hove Wa
s Sites Pla

ort and Pro
strategic fr
s. Lewes D
n Council h
his master

of economic
ble future. 

or the expa
ment of the
new berth

warehouse
allow the p
investors a
sels should

haven Port 
neration) o
onomy of t

sq.m. of ne
000 sq.m. o
new busine
in the tow

November 2
se from offi
by the Distr
nd Regene

her compet
becoming a

growth of 

maritime lin
nd mainten

of the Suss
es and railh
and proces

aste and M
an (Policy S

operties (N
ramework 
District Cou
have agree
rplan in 
c activity in

ansion of t
e existing 
h and slip w
es and 
port to rem
and custom
d the oppo

is support
of the adop
the coasta

ew 
of 
ess 
n. 

2018, 
ices or 
rict 
eration) 
ting 
a 
the 

nks to 
nance 
sex 
heads 
ssing 
inerals 
SP2).  

PP), 
for the 

uncil, 
ed to 

n order 

the 
multi-
way to 

main 
mers 
rtunity 

ted by 
pted 
l area. 

Page 170



 3.15.

 3.16.

 3.17.

 3.18.

 3.19.

An exten
exists to 
slipway a
related a

 
Much of t
District L
been con
Road and
Newhave
employm
developm

 
The first 
with the c
new road
railway li
to both th

 
The viab
through t
Environm
Capital L
a 1-in-20
account t
autumn 2

 
The majo
non-statu
coastal a
habitats a
importan
therefore
of the site
accordan

 
Appropria
means fo
may inclu
positive m
scrapes f
ecologica
relevant o

 

sive area o
the north-e

and this are
ctivities. 

this area w
ocal Plan 2

nstrained b
d Beach R
en Port acc

ment space
ment poten

phase of th
constructio
d will then c
ne and Mil
he allocate

ility of emp
the current

ment Agenc
LEP and So
00-year sta
the effects
2019. 

ority of the 
utory desig
and floodpl
are now in
ce for biod

e ensure th
e can be m
nce with Po

ate mitigat
or its delive
ude bringin
manageme
for birds) a
ally sensitiv
organisatio

of largely u
east of the
ea is consi

was previou
2003. How

by its poor v
Road. The c
cess road i
 in this par

ntial of the 

he Newhav
on of the fin
carry traffic
l Creek, pr

ed employm

ployment d
t investmen
cy and the 
outh East L
ndard of p
 of climate

site is loca
gnation ma
ain grazing
cluded on 

diversity co
at any loss

mitigated to
olicy DM24

ion should
ery and ma
ng the wide
ent, includi
and control
ve areas. T
ons, includ

62 

undevelope
e proposed
idered suit

usly alloca
wever, deve
vehicular a
constructio
is anticipat
rt of Newha
site. 

ven Port a
nal phase 
c by a brid
roviding a 
ment site a

developme
nt in new f
 two Local
LEP). This

protection f
e change, a

ated within
ade in 1993
g marsh an
the Gover

onservation
s or damag
o achieve a
4 (Protectio

d be identif
aintenance
er area of t
ng habitat 
ls on dog w
This will inv

ding the Ou

ed land in 
 port expa

table for th

ated in Poli
elopment o
access, wh
on of the fin
ted to unlo
aven and s

ccess road
due to be c
ge over th
direct vehi

and the rem

nt on the s
lood defen
 Enterprise
 flood allev
or the town
and is due 

n the Tide M
3 in recogn
nd coastal 
rnment’s lis
n in Englan
ge to the n
a net gain i
on of Biodi

ied by the 
e. It is antic
the Tide M
creation (e

walking in o
volve work
use Estuar

the owners
nsion and 
e future ex

cy NH20 o
of this site 
hich is curr
nal section

ock capacit
significantly

d was com
completed
e Newhave
cular acce

mainder of 

site will be 
nces in New
e Partnersh
viation sch
n and the p
to be com

Mills Local 
nition of the
vegetated

st of habita
nd. Any dev
ature cons
in biodiver
iversity and

applicant, 
cipated that
ills Local W
e.g. the cre
order to av
king in part
y Project. 

 

ship of NP
new berth

xpansion o

of the Lewe
has previo

rently via R
n of the new
ty for new 
y enhance

mpleted in 2
d by 2020. 
en to Seaf

ess from th
the port la

further enh
whaven by
hips (Coas

heme will p
port, taking

mpleted by t

 Wildlife S
e value of t
d shingle. T
ats of princ
velopment
servation in
rsity, in 
d Geodiver

along with
t such miti

Wildlife Site
eation of w
void the mo
tnership wi

PP 
 and 

of port-

es 
ously 
Railway 
w 

e the 

2015, 
The 
ford 
he A259 
nd.  

hanced 
y the 
st to 
rovide 

g into 
the 

ite, a 
the 

These 
cipal 
t must 
nterest 

rsity). 

h the 
gation 
e into 

wet 
ore 
ith all 

Page 171



 3.20.

 3.21.

 3.22.

 3.23.

 
 
Policy 
 
Land a
vegeta
was in
associ
compl
criteria
 
a) An

me
adv

b) A v
the
Na

c) An
un

Due to th
likely to h
Developm
(Natural E
which se
beauty of
Landscap

 
Developm
Newhave
Notificatio
protected
heritage 
and evalu
accordan
and Histo

 
A public f
runs thro
mitigate a
right of w
Network)

 
The exclu
expansio
bunded f
an impor

E1: Land

at East Qu
ated shing
ncluded in
iated with
iance with
a: 

n ecologic
easures id
verse imp
visual and
e visual im
ational Par
n appropri
dertaken,

he open na
have an im
ment propo
Environme
eks to con
f the Park,
pe Charac

ment of the
en Fort Sch
on Area. T
d. Develop
impact ass
uation of th
nce with Po
oric Enviro

footpath, w
ough the sit
any harmfu

way, in acco
). 

usion of th
on, i.e. cove
footpath, w
rtant althou

 at East Q

uay, as def
gle habitat
 the subm
 Newhave
h all appro

al impact 
dentified a
pacts on b
d landscap
mpact on t
rk is minim
ate asses
 and any n

ature of the
mpact upon
osals shou
ent and Lan
serve and 
 and be inf
ter Assess

e site also 
heduled M

The remain
ment prop
sessment a
he site’s ar
olicy DM33
nment and

which form
te and any
ul impact o
ordance w

e area of t
ering the v

would ensu
ugh undesi

Quay, New

fined on th
t, situated 

mitted Poli
en Port. De
opriate dev

assessme
and implem
biodiversit
pe charact
the landsc
mised; 
sment and
necessary

63 

e coastline 
 the setting

uld therefor
ndscape C
 enhance t
formed by 
sment acco

has the po
onument a

ns of the W
posals shou
and an app
rchaeologi
3 (Heritage
d High Qua

s part of th
y developm
on the conv

with Policy D

the port fro
vegetated s
re the prot
gnated, he

whaven Po

he Policie
 to the so
cy E1), is 
evelopme
velopmen

ent is und
mented ac
ty; 
ter assess

cape and s

d evaluati
y mitigatio

in this loca
g of the So
re have du

Character)
the landsc
the South 

ordingly. 

otential to a
and the Tid

WW1 seapla
uld therefo
propriate a
cal and his

e Assets) a
ality Design

he propose
ment propo
venience, s
DM35 (Foo

om the sub
shingle hab
tection of t
eritage ass

rt  

es Map (i.e
uth of the
allocated 
nt will be 

nt plan pol

dertaken, a
ccordingly

sment is u
scenic bea

ion of arch
on measur

ation, deve
outh Downs
e regard to
of the Loca
ape quality
Downs Int

affect the s
demills Arc
ane base a
re be acco

archaeolog
storic intere
and Core P
n) of the Lo

ed England
sals will be
safety and
otpath, Cyc

mitted pro
bitat to the
he Seaplan

set.     

e. excludin
bunded f
for emplo
permitted
licies and 

and appro
y to mitiga

undertaken
auty of the

haeologic
res implem

elopment is
s National 
o Core Pol
al Plan Pa
y and scen
tegrated 

setting of th
chaeologica
also needs
ompanied b
gical asses
est, in 

Policy 11 (B
ocal Plan P

d Coast Pa
e required 

d amenity o
cle and Bri

posed por
e south of t
ne base, w

ng the are
footpath, w
oyment us
d subject t

the follow

opriate 
ate potent

n to ensu
e South D

cal potenti
mented; a

s also 
Park. 

licy 10 
rt 1, 

nic 

he 
al 

s to be 
by a 
sment 

Built 
Part 1. 

ath, 
to 

of this 
idleway 

t 
he 

which is 

a of 
which 
ses 
to 
wing 

ial 

re that 
Downs 

al is 
nd 

Page 172



d) Th
bu
pro
 
 

Figure 1

 
 

Land 
Way, 
 

 3.24.

           
16 The B
administ

e provisio
ffer zone 
oposed po

12 Land at E

Adjacen
Falmer 

This site 
located w
Hove City
Policy CP
allocated
providing
with Suss
proximity
operation

                
Brighton & Ho
trative area f

on of a lan
to protect
ort expans

East Quay e

nt to Ame

is adjacen
within the b
y Council16

P17 of the 
d site provid
g offices or
sex and Br
y. Developm
n of the sta

                
ove City Plan
for the uses s

ndscaped 
t the Natur
sion. 

mployment 

erican Ex

nt to the Am
boundaries
6. As a maj
adopted B
des an opp
r health/ ed
righton Un
ment propo
adium as a

 
n Part 2 is als
set out in Po

64 

buffer to t
re Reserv

t site allocat

xpress C

merican Ex
s of both Le
ajor sportin
Brighton & 
portunity to
ducation us
iversities, w
osals for th

a major spo

so proposing
olicy E2. 

the east o
e immedia

tion 

Commun

xpress Com
ewes Distr
g venue, th
Hove City 
o enhance 
ses associ
whose cam
he site sho
orting venu

g to allocate t

of the site t
ately to th

ity Stadi

mmunity St
ict Council
he stadium
Plan Part 
the stadiu
ated with t
mpuses are
ould not con
ue. 

the part of th

to create 
he east of 

um, Villa

tadium and
l and Brigh

m is protect
1. Howeve

um facilities
the stadium
e located i
nstrain the

he site within

a 
the 

age 

d is 
hton & 
ted by 
er, the 
s by 
m or 
n close 

e 

n its 

 

Page 173



 
 3.25.

 
 3.26.

 
 3.27.

 
 3.28.

 
 3.29.

Whilst the
National 
from with
conserve
to avoid h
proposals
road and

The curv
architectu
curves of
site helps
setting. T
careful co
that new 
architectu

The desig
consider 
the Listed
considera
complem
designed
and mate
Park, spe
Landscap
National 

The loss 
Brighton 
mitigated
accordan
also be ta
accordan

Any deve
Council w
(Lewes R
Part 1. T
Developm
education
green inf
transport

e allocated
Park, the s

hin the Nat
e and enha
harm to the
s should a
 railway, in

ed and slo
ural eleme
f the surrou
s to lessen
The design
onsideratio
developm

ural presen

gn and ma
the visual 
d Buildings
ation shou

mentary to t
d to fit com
erials used
ecifically pa
pe Charac
Park Auth

of the land
& Hove Ci

d through th
nce with Co
aken to im
nce with Po

elopment o
will need to
Road Deve
he main th
ment Area 
n, whilst se
frastructure
t infrastruct

d site and t
stadium is 
ional Park 

ance the lo
e special s
lso addres

n accordan

oping form 
ent in the a
unding dow

n the bulk o
 of any dev

on to the re
ent does n
nce.  

assing of a
impact on

s within the
ld be given
those of th
fortably wi
 should ref
aying refer
ter Assess
ority. 

dscaped bu
ity Council
he use of g
ore Policy 
prove the 
olicy DM25

of land with
o take acco
elopment A
hrust of the

is to prom
ecuring imp
e, biodivers
ture is requ

65 

the stadium
visible in a
itself. Any
cality and 

setting of th
ss any adv
nce with Po

of the stad
rea and is 
wnland. An
of the stadi
velopment
elationship
not erode o

ny propose
 both the G
e Universit
n to the ch

he stadium,
thin the sit
flect the se
rence to th
sment (SD

und, which
,  is consid
green walls
8 (Green I
public real

5 (Design).

hin the bou
ount of the
Area) of the
e City Coun
mote and en

provement
sity and air
uired to en

m are outs
a significan
y new deve
overall set
he Nationa
erse noise
olicy DM23

dium provid
designed 

n existing l
ium and in
t proposals

p with the s
or detract f

ed develop
Grade II re
ty of Susse
oice of ma
, yet distinc
te’s downla
etting of th
he South D
ILCA) prep

h is located
dered acce
s, green ro
Infrastructu
lm around 
. 

undary of B
 priorities s

e adopted 
ncil’s strate
nhance the
ts to the to
r quality. In
nsure that t

ide of the S
nt number 
elopment s
tting of the 
al Park. De
e impact fro
3 (Noise). 

des a prom
to sit within
andscaped
tegrate it in
s will theref
stadium in o
rom the sta

pment will 
gistered S

ex campus
aterials whi
ct and sub
and contex
e South Do
owns Integ

pared by th

d within the
eptable pro
oofs or land
ure). Oppo
the stadium

Brighton & 
set out in P
Brighton &
egy for the 
e role of the
ownscape, 
n addition, 
the develo

South Dow
of key view
hould ther
 stadium in

evelopment
om the adja

minent 
n the natu
d bund on 
nto its dow
fore need 
order to en
adium’s 

also need 
Stanmer Pa

. Careful 
ich should 

bservient, a
xt. The des
owns Natio
grated 
he South D

e boundary
ovided that
dscaping, 

ortunities sh
m for user

Hove City 
Policy DA3
& Hove City

Lewes Ro
e area for 
the public 
sustainab
pment doe

wns 
ws 
efore 
n order 
t 
acent 

ral 
the 

wnland 
to give 

nsure 

to 
ark and 

be 
and 
sign 
onal 

Downs 

y of 
t it is 
in 
hould 
s, in 

3 
y Plan 
oad 
higher 
realm, 
le 

es not 

Page 174



66 

have an adverse impact on the performance of the Falmer Interchange trunk 
road junction at the A27/B2123 Falmer junction.     

 
 
Policy E2: Land Adjacent to American Express Community Stadium, Village 
Way, Falmer  
 
Land adjacent to the American Express Community Stadium, as defined on the 
Policies Map, is allocated for B1a (offices), D1 (health/education) uses and/or 
other ancillary uses directly associated with the Stadium and/or Sussex and 
Brighton Universities. 
 
Development will be permitted subject to compliance with all appropriate 
development plan policies and the following criteria: 
 
a) Development should achieve a high quality of design which respects and 

enhances the adjoining stadium development and downland character; 
b) Development should preserve and where possible enhance the setting of 

the South Downs National Park and nearby heritage assets; 
c) Sustainable transport infrastructure will be required to support proposals 

and to ensure that there is no adverse air quality impact; 
d) The provision of green infrastructure and wider landscaping 

enhancements; 
e) Development must ensure that groundwater sources are protected to the 

satisfaction of the Environment Agency; 
f) The developer will enter into a training place agreement to secure training 

for local people; 
 

Page 175



Figure 1

 

13 Land adjaacent to Ammerican Expr

 

67 

ress Community Stadiuum employmment site alllocation 

 

Page 176



4. 
 

 4.1.

 
 4.2.

 4.3.

 4.4.

 

SPAT
 
Plann
 

 4.5.

DEV

The polic
planning 
be consid
National 
assessm
about the
developm

 
The deve
not be re
together 
South Do
neighbou
policies i
and shou

 
When co
approach
contained
jointly fin
possible,
environm
on page 

 
For ease
headings
each sec
However
Plan Part
considere

TIAL STR

ning Bou

The Cou
distinctio
developm
planning 
certain ci
positively

VELOPM

cies in this 
application

dered in th
Park.  The
ent of plan

e Council’s
ment. 

elopment m
ead in isola
with the po

owns and B
urhood plan
n the Natio
uld also be

onsidering d
h that refle
d in the NP
d solutions
 and to se

mental cond
40 of the L

e of referen
s as the Lo
ction contri
r, as the de
t 1 policies
ed helpful 

RATEGY 

ndaries 

ncil has ad
n between

ment would
boundarie
ircumstanc
y focus gro

MENT MA

document
ns for the d
ose areas 

eir purpose
nning appli
s expectatio

manageme
ation. The L
olicies set 
Brighton & 
ns that hav
onal Plann
 read alon

developme
cts the pre

PPF. It will 
s which me
cure devel
ditions in th
Local Plan 

nce, the for
ocal Plan P
bute only t

evelopmen
s and help 
to follow th

dopted the 
n town and 
d be accep
es) where d
ces. The pu
owth on sus

68 

ANAGE

t set out th
developme
 of the dist

e is to prov
cations, an
ons in resp

ent policies
Local Plan 
out in the 
 Hove Was
ve been br
ing Policy 
gside this 

ent propos
esumption 

always wo
ean that pr
lopment th
he area. Th
Part 1. 

rmat of this
Part 1. This
to the them

nt managem
to deliver 

he same st

use of ‘pla
 village loc

ptable, and
developme
urpose of t
stainable s

EMENT 

e more de
ent and use
trict outside

vide a cons
nd to help 
pect of ach

s contained
Part 2 sho
Local Plan
ste and Mi
rought into 
Framewor
document

als, the Co
in favour o
ork proactiv
roposals ca
hat improve
his policy a

s documen
s does not 
mes under 
ment polici
a common
tructure. 

anning bou
cations whe
 the countr

ent would b
the plannin
settlements

POLICIE

tailed crite
e of land a
e the Sout

sistent appr
provide cla

hieving sus

d in this do
ould be rea
n Part 1, th
nerals Pla
force. Nat

rk (NPPF) a
. 

ouncil will t
of sustaina
vely with a
an be appr
es the econ
approach is

nt follows th
mean that 
which they
es supplem

n set of obj

undaries’ to
ere, in prin
ryside (i.e.
be accepta
ng bounda
s, reduce t

ES  

eria against
and building
th Downs 
roach to th
arity to app
stainable 

ocument sh
ad as a wh
e East Sus
n, and any
tional plan
are not rep

take a pos
ble develo

applicants t
roved wher
nomic, soc
s set out in

he same 
the policie

y appear. 
ment the L
ectives, it 

o make a c
nciple, furth
 outside of

able only in
ries is to 
the need to

t which 
gs will 

he 
plicants 

hould 
hole, 
ssex, 
y 
ning 
peated 

itive 
opment 
to 
rever 
cial and 
n full 

es in 

Local 
is 

clear 
her 
f the 

n 

o 

Page 177



 
 4.6.

 4.7.

 
 
Policy 
 
Within
develo
policie
 
Outsid
countr
where 
need f
 
Develo
within 
with C
 
 
 
 

travel, an
accordan

 
It is impo
Local Pla
developm
limits in p
carefully 
existing f
countrysi
villages, 
designate
importan

 
Whilst lan
planning 
developm
boundari
enhance 
includes 
promote 
affordabl
energy o
overriding
demonst

DM1: Pla

n the plann
opment wi
es and pro

de the plan
ryside will
it is cons

for a coun

opment pr
7km of th
ore Policy

nd protect t
nce with th

ortant to no
an policies 
ment contro
physical or
considered

form, patte
ide betwee
and enviro
ed areas o
ce. 

nd outside
policy pur

ment. The p
es to supp
the intrins
specific po
a sustaina
e housing 
r essential
g need for 
rated. 

nning Bou

ning boun
ill be perm
oposals in

nning bou
l be protec

sistent with
tryside lo

roposals t
he Ashdow
y 10(3) of t

the intrinsi
e spatial st

ote that the
to a specif

ol decision
r social term
d, taking in

ern and fun
en them, th
onmental c
of national 

 of the plan
poses, this
potential fo

port vital ru
sic qualities
olicies for d
able rural e

or commu
 infrastruct
the develo

undary  

daries, as
mitted prov
n the devel

undaries, t
cted and n
h a specif
cation can

that result
wn Forest 
the Local 

69 

c characte
trategy set

e planning 
fic area, th

ns. It does 
ms. The pl
nto accoun
nction of se
he characte
consideratio
landscape

nning boun
s does not 
or new dev
ral commu

s of the rur
developme
economy o
unity faciliti
ture, may 
opment to 

s defined o
vided that
lopment p

the distinc
new devel
fic develop
n be demo

t in a net in
will only b
Plan Part

er and beau
t out in the

boundary 
hereby givi
not attemp
anning bou

nt a range o
ettlements,
er and sett
ons, such 

e, ecologica

ndaries is r
represent 

velopment 
unities and
ral area is r
ent proposa
r meet rec
es. Other u
also be ap
be located

on the Po
t it is in ac
plan 

ctive chara
lopment w
pment pla
onstrated.

ncrease o
be permitt
t 1. 

uty of the c
e Local Pla

is a policy 
ng a sound

pt to define
undaries h
of factors i
 important 
ting of indiv
as the nee
al, geologic

regarded a
an absolu
outside of 
 also to co
recognised
als that wo
ognised lo
uses, such

ppropriate w
d in the cou

licies Map
ccordance

acter and 
will only be
an policy o
 

of one or m
ted where

countryside
n Part 1. 

line applyi
d basis for

e town or v
have been 
including th
t ‘gaps’ of 
vidual town
ed to conse
cal, or hist

as countrys
ute restrictio
f the planni
onserve or 
d. The Loc
ould help to
ocal needs 
h as renew
where an 
untryside c

p, new 
e with othe

quality of
e permitte
or where t

more dwel
e they com

e, in 

ing 
r 
illage 

he 

ns and 
erve 
oric 

side for 
on on 
ing 

cal Plan 
o 
for 

wable 

can be 

er 

f the 
ed 
he 

lings 
mply 

Page 178



Rural
 

 4.8.

 
 4.9.

 4.10.

 4.11.

 Excepti

The shor
house pr
coupled w
sites allo
Peaceha
housing i
villages a
developm
identified
the privat

 
‘Rural Ex
housing i
for housi
Assessm
should be
the natio
Housing 
sites for a
(generall

 
It is impo
being tha
of a parti
evidence
below. Th
needs m
Council. 
other ava
demonst

 
Given tha
countrysi
Only tenu
will be pe
schemes
not be co
normally 
landowne
to addres
can be de

on Sites

rtage of aff
rices driven
with restric
cated in th

aven and R
in the town
and rural a
ment will be
d housing n
te housing

xception Si
in rural com
ng. The Co

ment recom
e used to i
nal level, t
urges the 
affordable 
y defined a

ortant that h
at a need fo
cular site. 

e of housing
he ability o
ust be clea
This will be
ailable up-t
rated that t

at housing 
ide policies
ures which
ermitted in 
s where oc
onsidered a
be permitt

ers to sell t
ss this, a p
emonstrate

s 

fordable ho
n up by dem
cted scope
he Local Pl
Ringmer wil
ns and larg
reas which
e focused o
need amon
 market. 

tes’ can be
mmunities 
oastal Wes

mmends this
ncrease th
he 2008 T
need for m
homes to 
as settleme

housing sc
or housing
Proposed 
g need and

of the propo
arly demon
e assessed
to-date hou
the propos

permitted 
s, it is impo

h can be gu
such sche
cupiers ca
appropriate
ted for hou
their land b

proportion o
ed that an 

70 

ousing for l
mand from

e for new h
an Part 1 a
ll help to in

ger villages
h have very
on providin

ng local pe

e used to r
where suc

st Sussex 
s as one o

he supply o
aylor Revi

more proac
meet local
ents with p

chemes sh
g exists in t

developm
d must fulf
osed sche

nstrated to 
d using the
using need
sal is finan

through th
ortant that 
uaranteed 
emes. For 
an potentia
e. Where p
using, it can
below open
of market h
affordable

local peop
m people m
ouse build
at Lewes t
ncrease the
s in the dist
y limited o
ng affordab
ople who a

release site
ch land wo
Strategic H

of a numbe
of affordab
ew of Rura

ctive engag
l needs in 
populations

ould be ne
the parish, 
ents must 
fil the criter
me to mee
the satisfa

e Council’s
ds assessm
cially viabl

his policy is
it remains 
to remain 
example, g
lly purchas
planning pe
n still be di
n market re
housing ma
e housing s

le can resu
moving to ru

ing. The st
own, Newh
e supply of
trict. Howe
r no faciliti
ble homes 
are unable

es to delive
uld not oth

Housing M
er of mecha
le housing
al Economy
gement to b
smaller rur
s under 3,0

eeds led, th
rather tha
be based 
ria as state
et identified
action of Le
s Housing R
ments. It sh
e and deliv

s an excep
‘affordable
affordable 
general sh
se 100% of
ermission w
ifficult to en
esidential v
ay be perm
scheme wo

ult from hig
ural areas,
trategic ho
haven, 
f affordable

ever, in sm
es, new ho
 which me

e to compe

er affordab
herwise be
arket 
anisms wh
g in rural ar
y and Affo
bring forwa
ral commu
000). 

he starting 
an the avail
on sound 

ed in Policy
d local hou
ewes Distr
Register a
hould also 
verable. 

ption to nor
e’ in perpe
 in the long
ared owne
f the equity
would not 
ncourage 
values. In 

mitted whe
ould be unv

gh 
 

ousing 

e 
maller 

ousing 
et an 
te in 

ble 
 used 

ich 
reas. At 
rdable 
ard 

unities 

point 
lability 

y DM2 
using 
rict 
nd 
be 

rmal 
etuity. 
g term 
ership 
y will 

order 
re it 
viable 

Page 179



 
 
Policy 
 
Outsid
for affo
follow
 
(1) the

loc
 
(2) the

to 
 
(3) the

set
 
(4) the

pe
 
(5) the

ens
Pro

 
(6) dev

Co
 
The in
can be
criteria
circum
of affo
of sign
 
 

Accom
 

 4.12.

without c
District V

DM2: Rur

de the plan
ordable ho
ing criteri

e propose
cal need in

e propose
an existin

e scale an
ttlement a

e affordab
rpetuity fo

e propose
sure that 
ovider or o

velopmen
ore Policy 

clusion of
e demonst
a would be

mstances, 
ordable ho
nificant aff

mmodat

The NPP
home ma
essential
work. In L
such wor
potentiall
acknowle
demands

cross-subsi
Valuer, or e

ral Except

nning bou
ousing to 
a are met

ed develop
n terms of

ed develop
ng village 

d design 
and will re

ble housin
or, househ

ed scheme
it is able t
other app

nt proposa
10(3) of th

f open ma
trated that
e unviable
the amou

ousing and
fordable h

ion for A

PF states th
ay be justif
 to enable 
Lewes dist
rkers to live
ly intrusive
edged that 
s of certain

idy.  Viabil
equivalent, 

tion Sites

undaries, a
meet loca
: 

pment will
f the sizes

pment is w
or other s

of the dev
spect its c

g is made
holds with

e is subjec
to be prop
roved bod

als within 
he Local P

arket hous
t an afford
e without 

unt of mark
d at the low
housing. 

Agricultu

hat one of 
fied within t
a rural wo

trict, it may
e in nearby
e developm

there will 
n rural busi

71 

ity will be i
at the app

as defined
al needs w

 assist in 
s, types, a

within, adj
settlement

velopment
character 

e available
h a local c

ct to an ap
perly mana
dy; 

7km of th
Plan Part 1

sing will n
dable hous
cross-sub
ket housin
west prop

ral and O

the few cir
the country

orker to live
y often be a
y towns or 

ment in the 
be some in
nesses wi

ndepende
plicant’s ex

d on the P
will be per

meeting a
nd tenure

acent to, o
t; 

t is approp
and settin

e to, and w
connection

ppropriate
aged by a 

e Ashdow
1.  

ot normal
sing sche

bsidy. In s
ng must b
portion tha

Other Ru

rcumstance
yside is wh
e permane
as conven
villages, s
countrysid

nstances w
ll make it e

ntly assess
xpense. 

olicies Ma
mitted wh

an identifi
s of the dw

or otherwi

priate to th
ng;  

will be reta
n; 

e legal agr
partner R

wn Forest 

ly be supp
eme that m
such excep
be lower th
at will ena

ural Work

es where a
hen the ac
ntly at or n
ient and su

so avoiding
de.  Howev
where the n
essential fo

sed by the

ap, propos
here the 

ed  and ge
wellings; 

ise well re

he nature 

ained in 

reement to
Registered

comply w

ported un
meets the a
ptional 
han the am
able the de

kers 

an isolated
ccommodat
near their p
ustainable 
g new and 
ver, it is 
nature and
or one or m

e 

sals 

enuine 

elated 

of the 

o 
d 

with  

less it 
above 

mount 
elivery 

d new 
tion is 
place of 
for 

d 
more 

Page 180



 
 4.13.

 4.14.

 4.15.

 
 
Policy 
 
Outsid
perma
forestr
demon
 
(1) the

people e
work. Su
operation

 
Planning 
it is esse
the estab
to provide
will not b
holding. S
demonst
test to as
economic
draw upo
proposals

 
Changes
have the 
countrysi
condition
the Coun
dwellings
occupatio
usefulnes

 
Neverthe
need to d
agricultur
agricultur
surround
that the d
marketed
genuine 
dwelling 
commun

DM3: Acc

de the plan
anent dwel
ry or anot
nstrated th

ere is a cle

ngaged in 
ch a need 

n of the bu

applicatio
ntial for on

blished nee
e for the p
e sufficien
Security is
rating genu
ssess whet
cally viable
on indepen
s.  

s in the sca
potential t

ide particu
n attached 
ncil recogn
s vacant, o
on simply b
ss. 

eless, appli
demonstrat
ral dwelling
ral and rur
ing area, t

dwelling tie
d to likely in
interest ha
for a rural 
ity. 

commoda

nning bou
llings will 
her enterp
hat the fol

early esta

the enterp
must neve
siness. 

ns will be s
ne or more 
eds of the e
roper supe
t that it is m
 not in itse
uine need,
ther an agr
e and plann
ndent profe

ale and cha
to affect th
larly where
when plan
ises no pu

or that exist
by virtue of

ications for
te convinc
g in the loc
al workers
therefore it
ed to an oc
nterested p

as been sh
worker wit

tion for A

undaries, a
be permit

prise requ
lowing cr

blished ex

72 

prise to live
ertheless b

subject to 
 full-time w
enterprise 
ervision of 
merely con

elf a sufficie
, it will also
ricultural o
ned on a s

essional ad

aracter of a
e longer-te
e these ha

nning perm
rpose wou
ting occup
f a plannin

r the remo
ingly that t

cality. Such
s seeking a
t will need 
ccupancy c
parties in t
own regar
th an esse

Agricultura

as defined
tted for th

uiring a co
riteria are 

xisting fun

e at, or very
be essentia

a functiona
workers to 

at most tim
agricultura

nvenient or
ent justifica
o be neces
r other rura

sound finan
dvice when

agricultura
erm require
d an “agric

mission was
uld be fulfill
iers should

ng condition

val of an o
there is no 
h dwellings
accommod
to be dem

condition h
the area co
ding the pu
ntial need 

al and Oth

d on the P
hose emplo
ountryside
met:  

nctional n

y close to, 
al to the su

al test to e
be readily 
mes, day a
al processe
r desirable 
ation. In re
sary to app
al enterpris
ncial basis
n considerin

l and fores
ement for d
cultural wo
s granted. 
led in keep
d be oblige
n that has 

occupancy 
long-term 

s could be 
ation within
onstrated t
as been ef

oncerned, a
urchase or
to live in th

er Rural W

olicies Ma
oyed in ag

e location w

eed; 

their place
uccessful 

stablish w
available t

and night, s
es or livest
 to live on 
lation to 
ply a finan
se is 
. The Coun
ng such 

stry busine
dwellings i

orker occup
In such ca
ping such 
ed to rema
outlived its

condition w
 need for a
used by o
n the wide
to the Cou
ffectively 
and that no
r rental of t
he local 

Workers 

ap, new 
griculture,
where it c

e of 

hether 
to meet 
such as 
tock. It 
the 

cial 

ncil will 

sses 
n the 
pancy” 
ses, 

in in 
s 

will 
an 
ther 
r 

uncil 

o 
the 

, 
can be 

Page 181



73 

 
(2) the functional need relates to a full-time worker;  
 
(3) the unit and the rural enterprise concerned have been established for at 

least three years, have been profitable for at least one of them, are 
currently financially sound and have a clear prospect of remaining so; 

 
(4) the functional need cannot be met by another existing dwelling on the unit 

or other existing accommodation in the area which is suitable and 
available for occupation by the workers concerned;  

 
(5) the proposed dwelling, and any subsequent extension, is of a size 

commensurate with the established functional need of the enterprise. 
Dwellings and any subsequent extensions which are unusually large in 
relation to the needs of the unit or unusually expensive to construct in 
relation to the income it can sustain in the long term will not be permitted;  

 
(6) the dwelling is suitably located to meet the identified functional need of the 

enterprise, is well related to existing buildings wherever possible, and its 
siting and design is appropriate to the rural character of the locality.  

 
Where the functional need is proven but Criterion 3 is not met, a temporary 
permission will be granted for a caravan, mobile home or other temporary 
accommodation where it can be demonstrated that the following criteria are 
met: 
  
(i) Criteria (1) and (4) above; 
 
(ii) there is clear evidence of a firm intention and ability to develop the 

enterprise concerned;  
 
(iii) there is clear evidence that the proposed enterprise has been planned on a 

sound financial basis.  
 
Occupancy conditions will be imposed on dwellings permitted in accordance 
with this policy and, where appropriate, on other dwellings within the holding. 
Applications to remove such conditions will only be permitted where it can be 
demonstrated that all the following criteria are met: 
 
(a) the essential need which originally justified the dwelling no longer applies 

and the dwelling will not be required to meet such need in the longer term; 
 
(b) the property has been actively marketed in specialist and local press and 

estate agents at least once a month for a minimum of 12 months; 
 
(c) the advertised selling price or rental is realistic given the age, size, 

condition and location of the property; and 
 
(d) no realistic offers have been made to the vendors for occupation of the 

dwelling in compliance with the original occupancy condition. 

Page 182



 
In app
a perm
 
Propos
comply
 
 

Resid
 

 4.16.

 
 4.17.

 
 4.18.

 
 4.19.

 
 4.20.

ropriate c
manent dw

sals withi
y with Co

dential C

A new ho
of a redu
immediat
boundari
out in Po
likely to r
unlikely t

In order t
and qual
residentia
converted
proposed
This may
survey. 

Where a 
heritage 
the optim
Council w
a plannin
removal o

Redunda
habitats f
of Way A
Directive
assessm
protected
where ne
enhance

Some red
purposes

circumstan
welling to a

n 7km of t
re Policy 1

onversio

ome in the 
ndant or d
te setting. 
es will ther

olicy DM4. 
result in the
o be accep

to prevent 
ities of the
al use will 
d or replac
d use witho
y need to b

redundant
asset, resi

mal viable u
will not nor
ng conditio
on cessatio

ant agricult
for other p

Act 2000, th
s. The Cou
ent to acco

d species w
ecessary, a
ment of bio

dundant ag
s or the sto

nces, the C
adjacent b

the Ashdo
10(3) of th

ons in th

countrysid
isused bui
Residentia
refore be s
If a buildin
e need for 
ptable.  

the cumula
 district’s c
normally o

ced is struc
out signific
be demons

t agricultur
dential con

use in acco
rmally supp
n or condit
on of agric

ural or oth
rotected sp
he UK Biod
uncil may t
ompany pl
within the a
and recom
odiversity.

gricultural 
orage of ve

74 

Council w
buildings o

own Fores
he Local P

e Countr

de may be 
ilding and 
al developm
supported w
g is not re
a replacem

ative erosi
countryside
only be acc
cturally sou
ant recons

strated thro

ral or other
nversion w
ordance wi
port the re-
tion of prio
cultural use

er rural bu
pecies iden
diversity A
therefore r
anning ap
application
mend app

buildings m
ehicles, fue

will seek a 
or to the l

st will only
Plan Part 1

ryside 

justified w
leads to an
ment outsid
where it co
dundant, o
ment struc

on of the d
e, proposa
ceptable w
und and ca
struction, m
ough the su

r rural build
will only be 
ith paragra
-use of bui

or approval
e. 

uildings ofte
ntified in th
ction Plan,
require an 
plications i
 site, set o
ropriate m

may have b
el, herbicid

planning 
and formi

y be permi
.  

where it invo
n enhance
de of the p
omplies wit
or its conve
ture, then t

distinctive r
ls for conv
here the b
apable of c
modification
ubmission 

ding is con
supported

aph 55 of th
ldings whic
which req

en serve a
he Country
, and other
ecological 
in order to 

out any mit
easures fo

been used
es or other

obligation
ing the ho

itted wher

olves the r
ment to th

planning 
th the crite
ersion wou
the propos

rural chara
version to 
uilding to b

conversion 
n or extens
of a struct

nsidered a 
d if this rep
he NPPF. 
ch are sub

quires their

as bat roos
yside and R
r Regulatio
impact 
identify 

tigation me
or the 

d for engine
r pesticide

n to tie 
olding. 

re they 

re-use 
e 

eria set 
uld be 
sal is 

acter 

be 
to the 

sion. 
ural 

resents 
The 

bject to 
r 

t or 
Rights 
ons and 

easures 

eering 
s. 

Page 183



75 

Proposals for the conversion of buildings that are known or suspected to be 
affected by contamination will have to meet the requirements set out in 
Policy DM21 (Land Contamination). In locations at risk from surface or 
ground water flooding, a site specific flood risk assessment may also be 
required in accordance with Core Policy 12 of the Local Plan Part 1.       

 
 
Policy DM4: Residential Conversions in the Countryside 
 
Proposals for the conversion of redundant agricultural or other rural buildings 
to residential use outside the planning boundaries, as defined on the Policies 
Map, will be permitted where the following criteria are met: 
 
(1) the building is of sound construction and capable of conversion without 

significant rebuilding, modification or extension. The Council will normally 
require this to be demonstrated through the submission of a structural 
survey; 

 
(2) the building is not in an exposed or isolated location where the 

construction of lengthy access roads or overhead power lines would be 
harmful to the rural character of the area; 

 
(3) the proposed development will lead to an enhancement to the immediate 

setting of the building, either by the removal of existing structures and 
features that detract from the character and identity of the locality or by 
improved boundary treatment that responds sensitively to the rural nature 
of the site; 

 
(4) any proposed alterations to the building (e.g. fenestration, doors, internal 

subdivision) would not harm its architectural integrity nor materially 
change its appearance as a rural building; 

 
(5) the creation of a residential curtilage would not detract from the rural 

setting of the building or harm the character of the wider landscape; 
 
(6) the proposal would not create an unacceptable impact on the local road 

network and there is a satisfactory means of vehicular access and parking 
arrangements; 

 
(7) the proposed development would not prejudice any viable agricultural 

operations; 
 
(8) development within 7km of the Ashdown Forest will comply with Core 

Policy 10(3) of the Local Plan Part 1. 
 
Where appropriate, conditions may be imposed to remove permitted 
development rights.  
 
 

Page 184



Repla
 

 4.21.

 
 
Policy 
 
Outsid
replac
reside
 
(1) the

co
dev

 
(2) the

exi
lan

 
In sens
extens
 
 

Eques
 

 4.22.

 
 4.23.

acement 

The suita
outside o
in the cou
a one to 
dwellings
developm
environm
planning 
to the rem
and char

DM5: Rep

de the plan
ement of 
ntial curti

e scale, fo
mpatible w
velopmen

e replacem
isting dwe
ndscape, h

sitive loca
sions and 

strian De

There are
district bu
pursuit th
stables w
manure b
roads fro

Horse rid
recreatio
help to d
developm

Dwelling

able replac
of the plann
untryside, 
one basis,

s. However
ment on the
ment and av

application
moval of pe
racter of th

placement

nning bou
an existin
lage will b

orm, heigh
with its ru

nt;  

ment dwel
elling, unl
highway a

ations, per
other stru

evelopm

e a limited 
ut it is pred
hat come fo
will include 
bays but m
om the high

ding and ot
n in the co
iversify rur

ment needs

gs in the

cement of e
ning bound
replaceme
 i.e. there 
r, the Coun
e distinctiv
void ‘subur
ns for repla
ermitted de
e surround

t Dwelling

undaries, a
ng dwelling
be permitt

ht, and ma
ural locatio

ling is loc
ess an alt

access or 

rmitted de
uctures m

ent 

number of
dominantly
orward as 
a tack roo

may also inc
hway. 

ther eques
ountryside t
ral econom
s to be car

76 

e Country

existing dw
daries.  In o
ent dwelling
should be 
ncil seeks 
ve characte
rbanisation
acement d
evelopmen
ding countr

gs in the C

as defined
g by anoth
ted where 

assing of t
on and the

cated in th
ternative l
local ame

evelopmen
ay be rem

f large com
y small-sca
planning a

om as well 
corporate 

strian activi
that can co

mies. Howe
refully man

yside 

wellings is c
order to av
gs will norm
no increas
to minimis

er and qua
n’ of the co
dwellings, c
nt rights in 
ryside. 

Countrysid

d on the P
her dwelli
the follow

the replace
e surround

he same or
ocation w

enity benef

nt rights r
moved.  

mmercial e
ale facilities
applications
as externa
sand scho

ities are inc
omplemen

ever, eques
naged, prim

considered
void new is
mally only 
se in the nu
e the impa
lities of the

ountryside.
considerati
order to re

de 

olicies Ma
ng within 

wing criter

ement dw
ding form

r similar p
would resu

fits.  

relating to 

questrian c
s for individ
s. Typically
al hard-stan
ols, jumps

creasingly 
t agricultur
strian and 
marily for la

d acceptab
solated dw
be accept
umber of 

act of built 
e rural 
 In determ
ion may be
etain the id

ap, the 
the same

ria are me

welling is 
m of 

position of
ult in clear

 future 

centres in 
dual and pr
y, proposa
ndings and

s or new ac

popular fo
ral activitie
associated

andscape 

ble 
ellings 
able on 

mining 
e given 
dentity 

 
t:  

f the 
r 

the 
rivate 

als for 
d 
ccess 

orms of 
es and 
d 

Page 185



 4.24.

 
 
Policy 
 
Propos
locally
In part
 
(1) the

of 
set

 
(2) co

dev
 
(3) pro
 
(4) all 

sta
exi

 
(5) any

an
sta
im
am

 
(6) ad

ter
 
(7) co

sh
the

 
In som
develo

reasons. 
rural loca
the forma
facilities w

 
In assess
be given 
space for
of the exc
which ca
density o
(Good Pr

DM6: Equ

sals for eq
y distinctiv
ticular: 

e siting, sc
any new b
tting;  

nsideratio
velopmen

oposals s

proposals
ables and 
isting buil

y associa
cillary str
andings, fe
pact on th

menities; 

equate pr
rms of the

mmercial 
ould have
e use of u

me circums
opment rig

This is im
ations and 
ation of pa
within a co

sing propo
to the nee
r grazing a
cessive su
n often res

of one hect
ractice Equ

uestrian D

questrian 
ve charact

cale and d
buildings 

on will be 
nts on land

hould not

s, includin
related fa
ldings;  

ted floodl
uctures, in
encing an

he surroun

rovision sh
e size of ac

riding sch
e satisfact
nsuitable 

stances, c
ghts for fe

portant in t
the cumula
ddocks, an

oncentrated

sals for eq
ed to ensur
and exercis
ub-division 
sult from su
are per ho
uine Pastu

Developme

developm
ter and am

design, inc
or facilitie

given to t
dscape ch

 be sited i

ng sand s
acilities, sh

ighting, e
ncluding s

nd jumps, 
nding cou

hould be m
ccommod

hools, live
ory acces
roads.  

conditions
encing and

77 

terms of bo
ative impa
nd the con
d area. 

questrian d
re the safe
sing. This w
of fields a
uch develo

orse should
ure Manage

ent 

ment will b
menities o

cluding m
es should 

he cumula
haracter an

in promin

chools, co
hould be s

arthworks
storage fa
should no

untryside, 

made for t
dation and

ery stables
ss to the p

s (such as
d external 

oth new de
ct of the su
struction o

evelopmen
ty and com
will also he
nd over gr

opment. Ge
d be used a
ement, SE

be permitte
of the coun

materials a
be approp

ative impa
nd feature

ent or iso

ommercia
satisfacto

s, new acc
acilities, m
ot have an
biodivers

the safety
 land for g

s and othe
public brid

s the remo
storage) 

evelopmen
ubdivision 

of stables a

nt, conside
mfort of hor
elp to addre
azing/loss 
enerally, st
as an appr
EDA 2008

ed where t
ntryside a

nd bound
priate to t

act of eque
es and bio

lated loca

al riding sc
rily integr

cess route
manure bay
n unaccep
ity or loca

 and comf
grazing an

er comme
dleway net

oval of per
may be ap

nts in isolat
of farm ho

and associa

eration will 
rses in term
ess the pro
of soil stru

tocking at 
ropriate gu
8). 

the intrins
re mainta

dary treatm
their rural 

estrian 
odiversity;

ations; 

chools, liv
rated with 

es or othe
ys, hard-

ptable adve
al resident

fort of hor
nd exercis

ercial facil
twork with

rmitted 
pplied to 

ted 
oldings, 
ated 

also 
ms of 
oblem 
ucture 
a 

uideline. 

sic and 
ined. 

ment, 

; 

very 

r 

erse 
tial 

rses in 
sing; 

ities 
hout 

Page 186



preven
 
 
Institu
 

 4.25.

 
 
Policy 
 
Outsid
for the
reside
 
(1) exi

ch
 
(2) exi

loc
 
(3) the
 
(4) dev

dw
of 

 
Alterna
site, its
approp
 
 

IMPR
 

 4.26.

nt any pot

utional S

Sites occ
countrysi
existing u
well integ
clearance
intrusive 
to norma
removal o
the natur
of service

DM7: Inst

de the plan
e change o
ntial instit

isting buil
aracter of

isting buil
cality will 

e site is ge

velopmen
wellings w

the Local 

ative uses
s building
priateness

OVING A

The need
needs of 
sustainab
are two k

ential har

Sites 

cupied by r
ide can co
use ceases
grated into 
e is unlikel
or unsight

ally combin
of the wors
re of the sit
es, includin

titutional 

nning bou
of use and
tutions wi

ldings wh
f the site w

ldings wh
be remove

enuinely r

nt proposa
ithin 7km 
Plan Part

s will be as
gs and set
s of the pr

ACCESS 

d to deliver
the distric

ble location
key objectiv

m to the lo

residential 
me forward
s to be viab
the countr
y to be ap
ly structure
e the reten
st. The acc
te, the buil
ng public tr

Sites 

undaries, a
d conversi
ll be perm

ich make 
will be reta

ich are de
ed; 

redundant

als that res
of the Ash

t 1. 

ssessed b
ting, the a
roposed u

TO HOU

r an approp
t, whilst ac
ns without 
ves of the 

78 

ocal lands

institutions
d unexpec
ble. Often 
ryside. In s
propriate u
es. The re-
ntion and c
ceptability 
dings and 
ransport. 

as defined
ion of land

mitted whe

a positive
ained; 

etrimental 

t; 

sult in a n
hdown Fo

by conside
availability
use.  

USING 

priate rang
ccommoda
adversely 
Local Plan

scape. 

s (Use Cla
ctedly for d
these sites

such cases
unless the 
-use of the
conversion
of alternat
their rural 

d on the P
d and buil
ere the fol

e contribu

to the rur

net increas
orest comp

eration of 
y of local s

ge of home
ating new r

affecting t
n. Policy D

sses C2 o
evelopmen
s have, ove
s, widespre
site is who

e site is the
of the bes

ive uses w
setting, an

olicies Ma
dings occ
lowing cri

tion to the

ral charact

se of one o
ply with C

the chara
services a

es to meet 
esidential d
the charact
M8 supple

r C2a) with
nt when an
er time, be
ead site 
olly occupie
erefore exp
st buildings

will depend 
nd the ava

ap, propos
cupied by 
iteria are m

e existing 

cter of the 

or more 
Core Policy

acteristics
and the 

the identif
developme

cter of the a
ements Cor

hin the 
n 
ecome 

ed by 
pected 
s and 
upon 
ilability 

sals 

met: 

y 10(3) 

s of the 

fied 
ent in 
area, 
re 

Page 187



 

Resid
 

 4.27.

 
 4.28.

 
 4.29.

 
 
Policy 
 
Within
the su
dwellin
will be
 
(1) the

res
 
(2) the

ne
lev

 
(3) the

Policy 2 (
to help ac
countrysi
by Policie
documen
addresse
Enhancin

dential Su

The incre
have incr
single pe
developm
through t
settlemen

It is ackn
can give 
need for 
useable, 
effect of a
street ma
worse. T

Other iss
increased
resulting 

DM8: Res

n the plann
b-division
ngs to hou

e permitted

ere is adeq
sidents, an

e proposa
ighbourin

vels of act

ere would 

(Housing T
chieve the
ide, includi
es DM2, D
nt, whilst re
ed by Polic
ng the Dist

ub-Divis

ease in the
reased the
eople and y
ments, one
the sub-div
nt planning

owledged,
rise to an 
the provisi
and provis
a number 
ay also pro
his is parti

sues that m
d noise an
from the u

sidential S

ning boun
n of existin
uses of m
d where th

quate prov
nd storag

al would no
ng residen
tivity that 

be no adv

Type, Mix a
se objectiv
ing afforda

DM3, DM4 a
esidential e
cies DM28 
inctive Qu

ions and

e number o
e demand f
young coup
e effective w
vision of ex
g boundari

, however, 
increased 
ion of adeq
sion of refu
of changes

ogressively
cularly the

may need to
d the over

use of upst

Sub-Divisi

daries, as
ng dwellin
ultiple occ

he followin

vision for 
e for bicyc

ot result in
tial prope
give rise t

verse imp

79 

and Densit
ves. Propo
able homes
and DM5 i
extensions
and DM 2
ality of the

d Shared

of small ho
for small lo
ples on mo
way of pro
xisting fam
es. 

 that the co
requireme

quate ame
use storage
s from sing

y change it
e case for t

o be addre
rlooking im
tairs rooms

ons and S

s defined o
ngs to flats
cupation o
ng criteria

r car parki
cles and r

n unaccep
erties thro
to excessi

pact on the

ty) of the L
osals for ne
s on excep
n the ‘Spa
 and ancill
9 in the se

e Environm

d Housing

useholds a
ow-cost dw
odest incom
viding this 
ily sized dw

onversion 
ent for off-s
enity space
e facilities 
gle dwelling
s characte
erraced dw

essed inclu
pact on ne
s as main l

Shared Ho

on the Po
s or the co
or other fo
a are met:

ng, privat
recycling/r

ptable har
ugh loss o
ive noise 

e characte

Local Plan 
ew dwelling
ptions sites
tial Strateg
ary buildin

ection titled
ent’.  

g 

and rising h
wellings, pa
mes. Apart
type of ac

wellings w

of single d
street parki
e, which is 
for future o
gs to multi

er and appe
wellings. 

ude the pot
eighbouring
iving room

ousing 

licies Map
onversion
orms of sh

e amenity
refuse con

rm to the a
of privacy
or disturb

er of the im

Part 1 in s
gs in the 
s, are addre
gy’ section
ngs are 
d ‘Protectin

house pric
articularly f
t from new
ccommoda

within the 

dwellings to
ing, as we
both privat
occupants
ple units in
earance fo

tential for 
g househo

ms. 

p, proposa
n of existin
hared hou

y space fo
ntainers; 

amenities 
y or daylig
bance; 

mmediate 

eeking 

essed 
 of this 

ng and 

ces 
rom 

w build 
tion is 

o flats 
ll as a 
te and 
. The 
n a 
or the 

lds 

als for 
ng 
using 

r 

of 
ght or 

Page 188



loc
ext

 
Develo
permit
 
 

PROM
REGE
 

 4.30.

 

Farm 
 

 4.31.

 4.32.

 4.33.

cality thro
tensions t

opment pr
tted where

MOTING 
ENERATI

The Loca
recognisi
terms pro
creating w
(Encoura
Economy
for the co
rural eco
accommo

Diversif

National 
agricultur
described
farms an
The Cou
contribute
agricultur
with their

 
The natu
qualities 
characte
spatial st
of popula
infrastruc
recognise
high volu
moveme
be inapp

 
The Cou
clearly th

ugh the c
to the orig

roposals w
e they com

SUSTAIN
ION 

al Plan see
ing both th
oviding em
wealth.  Th

aging Econ
y) of the Lo
onsideratio
nomy and 
odation wit

fication 

planning p
ral and oth
d as any p
d is often v
ncil is supp
e to sustai
ral enterpr
r rural loca

re and ext
of the cou
r and appe
trategy, wh
ation and to
cture difficu
ed. Certain

umes of tra
nts of heav
ropriate.  

ncil encou
he implicati

umulative
ginal dwel

within 7km
mply with 

NABLE E

eks to stimu
e role of th

mployment 
he policies
nomic Deve
ocal Plan P
on of propo

for the ret
thin the dis

policy prom
her land-ba
roposal wh
vital to the 
portive of w
nable deve
ise, provid
tion. 

ent of dive
ntryside an

earance. It 
hich seeks 
o reduce re
ulties in se
n types of d
affic or whic
vy goods v

rages the s
ons of dive

80 

e impact o
ling or oth

m of the As
Core Polic

ECONOM

ulate a buo
he rural are
opportunit

s in this sec
elopment a
Part 1, and
osals for th
tention and
strict. 

motes the d
ased rural b
hich seeks
continuing

well-conce
elopment o
ed that the

ersification 
nd accord 
should als
both to rel
eliance on 

ervicing dis
developme
ch would g
vehicles, pa

submission
ersification

of physical
her structu

shdown F
cy 10(3) o

MIC GRO

oyant and 
ea and the
ies, attract
ction suppl
and Regen
d provide a 
e diversific

d improvem

developme
businesses

s to supplem
g viability o
ived farm d
objectives 
ey are cons

should res
with the pr

so take acc
late develo
the car for
persed dev
ent, such a
generate si
articularly 

n of Farm 
n proposals

l alteration
ures; 

Forest will 
f the Loca

OWTH & 

balanced l
e contributio
ting investm
ement Cor

neration) an
more deta

cation and 
ment of exis

nt and dive
s. Diversifi
ment incom
of many far
diversificat
and help to
sistent in s

spect the la
rotection of
count of th
opment to e
r journeys 
velopment

as those wh
gnificant a
on unsuita

Business P
s on the co

ns or 

only be 
al Plan Pa

local econo
on of touris
ment and 
re Policies
nd 5 (The 
ailed frame
growth of 
sting visito

ersification
cation can
me on wor
rm enterpr
tion schem
o maintain
scale and d

andscape 
f its distinc
e Local Pla
existing ce
to work. G

t should als
hich gener

additional 
able roads,

Plans to in
ontinued 

rt 1.  

omy, 
sm in 

s 4 
Visitor 

ework 
the 

or 

n of 
n be 
king 
ises.  

mes that 
n the 
design 

ct 
an’s 

entres 
General 
so be 
rate 

 may 

dicate 

Page 189



 
 
Policy 
 
Develo
helps m
manag
 
(1) the

ap
 
(2) wh

adj
 
(3) any

sca
 
(4) the

the
the

 
 
Emplo
 

 4.34.

 4.35.

operation
economic
are inform
matters s
demolitio
improvem
for farm d
are not p
the main 

DM9: Far

opment wh
maintain t

gement wi

e propose
propriate 

herever po
joining an

y new bui
ale, layou

e propose
e local roa
e landscap

oyment D

In order t
protect th
continue 
employm
planning 
buildings
employm
and local

 
Small-sca
will there
redundan
activity ca

n of the wh
c issues, p
mal and co
such as the
on of unsig
ment, publi
diversificat

part of a wo
farm ente

rm Diversi

hich form
the viabilit
ill be perm

ed develop
to its rura

ossible, ne
n existing 

lding resp
t, design a

ed develop
ad network
pe or ecol

Develop

to positivel
he intrinsic
to be the f

ment develo
boundarie

s in the cou
ment space

l jobs.  

ale employ
efore be su
nt buildings
an be acco

hole farm a
particularly 
omplement
e implicatio
htly buildin
c access, 

tion could b
orking farm
rprise and 

fication 

s part of a
ty of farm

mitted whe

pment will
al location

ew or repl
group of b

ponds sen
and use o

pment wou
k or requi
ogical val

ment in t

y focus gro
 character 
focus of em
opment sho
es.  Howev
untryside c
 to assist i

yment deve
pported wh
s and wher
ommodate

81 

and to assis
where the

tary to a pl
ons for oth
ngs, landsc
etc., as ap
be support

m. Proposa
ideally wil

a farm div
m business
ere the foll

 stimulate
n; 

acement b
buildings

nsitively to
of material

uld not cre
re highwa
lue of rura

the Coun

owth on su
r and beaut
mployment
ould norma

ver, the re-u
an potentia
n supportin

elopment o
here it invo
re it can be

ed without h

st in weigh
ese are fine
anning app
er land an

cape mana
ppropriate. 
ted for sma
ls should b
l complem

ersificatio
ses engag
lowing cri

e new eco

buildings 
; 

o its rural 
ls; 

eate an un
ay improve
al roads in

ntryside

ustainable 
ty of the co
t growth. A
ally be loca
use or rede
ally provide
ng the vita

outside of t
olves the re
e demonst
harm to the

hing the en
ely balance
plication an
d buildings

agement, h
It is unlike

aller parce
be a secon
ent the da

on scheme
ed in sust
teria are m

nomic act

are locate

setting, in

nacceptab
ements th
n the area.

settlement
ountryside,

Accordingly
ated within
evelopmen
e an impor
lity of rural

the plannin
e-use or re
rated that 
e rural cha

nvironment
ed. Such p
nd can cov
s, possible
habitat 
ely that pro
ls of land w

ndary activ
aily farm ac

e or otherw
tainable la
met: 

tivity with 

ed within o

n terms of

ble impact
hat would 
. 

ts and to h
, the towns

y, large-sca
n the settle
nt of redun
rtant sourc
l communi

ng bounda
eplacemen
the busine

aracter and

al and 
plans 
ver 
 

oposals 
which 
ity to 

ctivity. 

wise 
and 

a use 

or 

f its 

t on 
harm 

help 
s will 
ale 
ment 

ndant 
ce of 
ties 

aries 
nt of 
ess 
d 

Page 190



 
 4.36.

 
 4.37.

 
 4.38.

 
 4.39.

 
 
 
 

amenities
The repla
purposes
and susta

It should 
for conve
are many
lightweig
once red
erosion o
proposals
where the
conversio
modificat

Tourist o
to locate 
accordan
conversio
accommo
planning 
criteria se
Local Pla

Matters s
levels, us
may be c
agreeme
re-use of
prior app

Redunda
habitats f
of Way A
Directive
assessm
protected
where ne
enhance

s of the are
acement of
s will also b
ainable de

be recogn
ersion or re
y minor she
ht construc
undant, ar

of the distin
s for emplo
e building 
on to the p
tion or exte

r leisure fa
within exis

nce with th
on or repla
odation or 
boundarie
et out Polic
an Part 1.  

such as the
se of exter
controlled b
ents will als
f buildings 

proval whic

ant agricult
for other p

Act 2000, th
s. The Cou
ent to acco

d species w
ecessary, a
ment of bio

ea, or to th
f existing b
be support
velopment

nised that n
eplacemen
eds and sh
ction, do n
re best dem
nctive char
oyment us
to be conv

proposed u
ension. 

acilities req
sting towns
e overall s

acement of
leisure fac

es provided
cy DM10 a

e nature of
nal areas, 
by planning
so be requi
which are 
h requires 

ural or oth
rotected sp
he UK Biod
uncil will th
ompany pl
within the a
and recom
odiversity.

82 

he historic 
buildings in
ted where 
t than coul

not all build
nt to accom
helters in th
ot readily l

molished. I
racter and 
e will there

verted is st
se without

quiring new
s and villag
spatial strat
f existing ru
cilities may
d that the p
and Core P

f the propo
including p

g condition
ired. The C
subject to 
 their remo

er rural bu
pecies iden
diversity A
herefore re
anning ap
application
mend app

significanc
n the count
it would re
d be achie

dings in the
mmodate ne
he country
lend thems
n order to 
qualities o

efore norm
tructurally s
t significan

w buildings 
ge planning
tegy for the
ural buildin
y also be p
proposed d
Policy 5 (Th

osed use, h
parking an
ns and in s
Council will

a planning
oval on ces

uildings ofte
ntified in th
ction Plan,

equire an e
plications i
 site, set o
ropriate m

ce of any h
tryside for 
sult in a m

eved throug

e countrysi
ew busines

yside which
selves to c
prevent th

of the distric
ally only b
sound and
t reconstru

will norma
g boundari
e district.  H
ngs to prov
ermitted ou

developme
he Visitor E

hours of op
d access a
ome circum
l not norma
g condition
ssation of a

en serve a
he Country
, and other
cological im
in order to 

out any mit
easures fo

heritage as
employme

more accep
gh convers

ide are sui
ss uses. T
h, due to th
conversion 
he cumulat
ct’s countr

be accepta
d capable o
uction, 

ally be exp
ies, in 
However, 

vide visitor 
utside of th

ent meets t
Economy) 

peration, no
arrangeme
mstances 
ally suppo

n or conditi
agricultura

as bat roos
yside and R
r Regulatio
mpact 
identify 

tigation me
or the 

sets. 
ent 
table 
sion. 

itable 
There 
heir 
and, 

ive 
ryside, 
ble 
of 

ected 

the 

he 
he 
of the 

oise 
ents, 
legal 
rt the 
on of 

al use. 

t or 
Rights 
ons and 

easures 

Page 191



83 

Policy DM10: Employment Development in the Countryside  
 
Outside the planning boundaries, as defined on the Policies Map, proposals 
for small-scale employment development, including tourist and leisure 
facilities, will be permitted where either: 
 
(a) it involves the conversion or re-use of an existing agricultural or other 

rural building, or 
 
(b) it comprises the demolition and replacement of an existing agricultural or 

other rural building where this would result in a more sustainable 
development than could be achieved through converting the building. 

 
A building to be converted must be structurally sound and capable of 
conversion to the proposed use without the need for significant 
reconstruction, modification or extension. The Council will normally require 
this to be demonstrated through the submission of a structural survey. 
 
All proposals for the conversion or replacement of an existing agricultural or 
other rural building must also satisfy all the following criteria: 
 
(1) the detailed design responds sensitively to its rural setting, in terms of its 

scale, layout and use of materials; 
 
(2) the siting and design respects the local landscape character, both in terms 

of immediate impact and distant views; 
 
(3) the proposed boundary treatment is appropriate to a rural location and 

helps to integrate the development into the wider landscape; 
 
(4) unobtrusive provision can be made for any associated servicing and 

parking facilities or plant, equipment or storage; 
 
(5) External lighting, or light spillage from internal lighting, is kept to the 

minimum necessary for operational or safety purposes; 
 
(6) the proposed use would not adversely affect the residential amenities of 

nearby properties by reason of the scale and nature of use, noise, dust, 
fumes or the general level and nature of activities; 

 
(7) the proposed use would not create an unacceptable impact on the local 

road network or require highway improvements that would harm the 
landscape or ecological value of rural roads in the area. 

 
(8) the proposed development would not prejudice any viable agricultural 

operations. 
 
 
 

Page 192



Existi
 

 4.40.

 
 
Policy 
 
Outsid
redeve
permit
 
(1) the
 
(2) the

ch
nat
an
ass

 
(3) pro

we
acc

 
Except
the pla
would 
local e
alterna
with th
improv
 
 
Carav
 

 4.41.

ing Emp

There are
outside o
nurseries
appropria
intensific
countrysi
considera
permitted
local cou
and layou
rural surr

DM11: Ex

de the plan
elopment 
tted for em

e existing 

e propose
aracter of
ture and i
d site cov
sociated t

oposals w
ell located
cessible b

tionally, th
anning bo
facilitate 

economy, 
ative site a
he site as 
vements, s

van and c

The over
the Loca
retaining 

loyment 

e a numbe
of the settle
s. In order 
ate, retain 
ation of ex
ide, subjec
ations rem
d where it c
ntryside w
ut conside
roundings. 

xisting Em

nning bou
or intensif

mploymen

developm

ed develop
f the locali
ntensity o

verage of t
traffic gen

which wou
 in relatio

by public t

he outwar
undaries w
the retent
subject to
available. 
a whole a
such as e

camping

rarching po
l Plan Part
and impro

Sites in 

er of existin
ement plan
to help sup
key emplo

xisting emp
ct to the cri
ain import
can be dem

will be cons
rations are

mployment

undaries, a
fication of
t purpose

ment and e

pment wou
ity or loca

of the use,
the buildin

neration; 

ld be likel
n to neigh
transport.

rd expans
will be pe
tion of an 
o the abov
Proposals
nd includ
nhanced l

g sites 

olicy appro
t 1 is to sup
oving the s

84 

the Cou

ng industria
nning boun
pport the r

oyers, prop
ployment s
iteria set o
ant and su
monstrated
served and
e satisfacto

t Sites in t

as defined
f existing 

es where t

employme

uld not de
al resident
, noise, du
ngs, or its

ly to creat
hbouring t
 

ion of an 
rmitted w
employm

ve criteria 
s will be e
e measure
landscapi

oach in Cor
pport touris
upply of vi

untryside

al and com
ndaries, inc
ural econo

posals for th
ites will be
ut in in Po

uch develo
d that the d
 that other

orily addres

the Count

d on the P
employm

the followi

ent use is 

etract from
tial amenit
ust, fumes
s access re

te a signif
towns or v

existing e
here it can
ent use w
and there

expected t
es to secu
ing and bi

re Policy 5 
st facilities
sitor accom

e 

mmercial en
cluding gar
omy and, w
he redevel

e supported
licy DM11.
pment will 
distinctive c
r amenity, t
ssed in kee

tryside  

olicies Ma
ent sites w
ing criteria

lawful; 

m the distin
ties by vir
s, the sitin
equiremen

icant num
villages an

employme
n be demo

which is im
e being no
to deal com
ure enviro
odiversity

(The Visit
, giving en
mmodation

nterprises 
rden centre

where 
lopment or
d in the 
. Environm
only be 

character o
traffic, acc
eping with 

ap, the 
will be 
a are met:

nctive rur
rtue of the
ng, design
nts or 

mber of job
nd readily

nt site ou
onstrated 

mportant to
o suitable 
mprehens

onmental 
y gains. 

tor Econom
ncouragem
n, including

located 
es and 

r 

mental 

of the 
ess 
the 

:-  

ral 
e 
n, scale 

bs are 
y 

tside 
that it 

o the 

sively 

my) of 
ment to 
g 

Page 193



 4.42.

 4.43.

 
 
Policy 
 
Propos
permit
 
(1) the

net
 
(2) the

ap
 
(3) the

ad
sch
det

 
(4) exi

an
 

caravan a
accommo
significan
ensure th
the distric
conserve

 
Holiday c
caravan s
exposed 
lesser im
summer 
considera
permitted
and cam
Policy DM

 
Within 7k
sites, or e
available
Managem
Protectio
measure
on the Fo
Forest in 

DM12: Ca

sals for ne
tted where

ere is reas
twork; 

e size and
pearance 

e proposa
equately s
heme that
tracting fr

isting buil
cillary fac

and campi
odation pro
ntly to the l
hat there a
ct, this aim

e the enviro

caravan sit
sites can h
coastline. 

mpact due t
months wh
ations, pro
d. Howeve
ping sites w
M12. 

km of the A
extensions

e pitches, w
ment and M
on Area. Th
s to avoid 
orest and w
 partnersh

aravan an

ew or exte
e the follow

sonable ac

d scale of t
and inten

al would no
screened,
t enables t
rom the ch

ldings or s
cilities; 

ng sites. It
ovided by c
ocal econo
re adequa

m must be b
onment tha

tes can be 
have a part
Touring ca

to their low
hen vegeta
oposals for 
r, proposa
will be per

Ashdown F
s to existing
will be requ
Monitoring 
he SAMM S
or reduce 

will be deliv
ip with the

d Campin

ended tou
wing crite

ccessibilit

the propos
nsity of us

ot be visu
 either by 
the develo
haracter a

structures

85 

t is acknow
caravan an
omy. Howe

ate facilities
balanced a
at attracts v

very intrus
ticularly da
aravan and

wer density
ation cover
new static
ls for the fu

rmitted sub

Forest, prop
g sites tha

uired to con
(SAMM) S

Strategy w
the impact
vered by th

e relevant lo

ng Sites 

ring carav
eria are me

ty from th

sal would
se with its 

ually intrus
 existing v
opment to

and quality

s are used

wledged th
nd campin
ever, whils
s for carava
against the
visitors in t

sive in the 
amaging im
d camping 
, seasonal
r is greates
c caravan s
urther prov

bject to me

posals for 
t would inc
ntribute to 
Strategy fo
will provide 
t of additio
he Conserv
ocal autho

van and ca
et:  

e primary 

d be comp
location;

sive in the
vegetation

o be accom
y of the co

d, where p

at short sta
g sites con

st the Coun
anning and

e need to p
the first pla

landscape
mpact, espe

sites gene
 use (main

st). In view
sites are un
vision of to
eting the c

new carav
crease the 
the Joint S
r Ashdown
the necess

onal recrea
vators of th
rities.   

amping si

or second

atible in te

e landscap
n or by a l
mmodated
ountryside

possible, to

ay holiday 
ntributes 
ncil wishes
d camping 

protect and
ace. 

e and static
ecially on t
erally have
nly during t

w of these 
nlikely to b

ouring cara
criteria set 

van and ca
number o

Strategic A
n Forest Sp
sary mitiga

ational pres
he Ashdow

ites will be

dary route

erms of 

pe and wo
andscape

d without 
e; 

o provide 

 to 
within 
 

c 
the 

e a 
the 

be 
van 
out in 

mping 
f 

Access 
pecial 
ation 
ssures 
wn 

e 

e 

ould be 
e 

Page 194



(5) the
ter

 
(6) in t

an 
 
Condit
use as
carava
 
 
Existi
 

 4.44.

 
 
Policy 
 
Develo
includ
can be
 
(1) the

an
acc

 
(2) the

po
 
 

CREA
 

 4.45.

e design o
rms of its 

the case o
improved

tions will 
s permane
ans. Propo

ing Visito

The avai
necessar
overnight
provides 
importan
economic
Where an
accommo
months a
accommo
types of i
the prope

DM13: Ex

opment wh
ing tourin

e demonst

e building
d it is not 
commoda

ere is no d
ositive con

ATING HE

The polic
Core Pol
promote 

of any new
scale, lay

of extensi
d layout an

be applied
ent residen
osals for n

or Accom

lability of a
ry for a suc
t stays, ge
important 
t to resist t
c case can
n applicatio
odation, it 
active and 
odation at 
interested 
erty for visi

xisting Vis

hich woul
ng caravan
trated that

 or land is
economic

ation throu

demand fo
ntribution 

EALTHY

cies in this 
icy 8 (Gree
healthy, su

w buildings
out and us

ons to exi
nd landsc

d to limit t
ntial accom
new static

mmodati

a wide rang
ccessful to
nerates inc
employme

the loss of 
n be demon
on is made
will need t
continuous
an approp
parties an
itor accom

sitor Acco

d result in
n and cam
t either: 

s no longe
cally viabl
ugh redev

or the acco
to the loc

, SUSTA

section su
en Infrastru
ustainable 

86 

s respond
se of mate

isting site
caping. 

the use of
mmodatio

c caravan s

ion 

ge of high 
ourist indus
come from
ent and bu
such acco

nstrated in
e that woul
o be suppo
s marketin

priate mark
d their rea
modation w

ommodatio

n the loss 
mping sites

er suitable
le to retain

velopment

ommodati
al econom

AINABLE 

upplement 
ucture) of t
communit

ds sensitiv
erials 

es, the pro

f the site in
on or as w
sites will n

quality visi
stry. Visitor
m spending

siness opp
ommodatio
 accordan
ld result in 
orted by ev
g of the pr

ket level. D
sons for no
will be exp

on 

of existin
s, will only

e to accom
n, enhanc
t of the sit

ion and it 
my. 

COMMU

Core Polic
the Local P
ties by info

vely to its 

oposals sh

n order to
winter stora

not be per

tor accom
r accommo
by staying

portunities.
on unless a
ce with Po
the loss o

vidence of 
roperty for 
etails of th
ot pursuing

pected.  

g visitor a
y be perm

mmodate t
e or reins
e; or 

can no lo

UNITIES 

cy 7 (Infras
Plan Part 1
orming the 

rural sett

hould resu

o preclude
age for to
rmitted. 

modation 
odation attr
g visitors, a
. It is there
a sound 
olicy DM13
of existing v
f at least 12
visitor 

he numbers
g their inte

accommo
mitted whe

the curren
state the v

onger mak

structure) a
1. They see
design and

ting, in 

ult in 

 its 
uring 

is 
racts 
and 
fore 

. 
visitor 
2 

s and 
rest in 

dation, 
re it 

nt use 
isitor 

ke a 

and 
ek to 
d 

Page 195



 4.46.

 4.47.

 

Green
 

 4.48.

 4.49.

 

layout of 
exercise 
functiona
activity a
the conse

 
Since the
has been
village. T
providing
the impac
Area. Sig
been ach
Wivelsfie

 
The Cou
proposals
through o
Landscap

n Infrastr

Core Pol
overall st
infrastruc
critical ec
essential
carbon st
such as a
through o
contribut
which ca

 
Unless d
in increas
contribute
habitats a
provide a
infrastruc
ecologica
green inf
developm
economic

developm
and relaxa

al green inf
nd social i
ervation an

e adoption 
n provided 
This area c
g Suitable A
ct of new d

gnificant im
hieved at N
eld, funded

ncil expect
s to take a
organisatio
pe Institute

ructure 

icy 8 (Gree
trategic fra
cture netwo
cological lin
 ecosystem
torage, foo
access to t
opportuniti
ing to the e
n encourag

evelopmen
sed pressu
e to the fut
and specie
an opportu
cture, as w
al and soci
frastructure
ment propo
c benefits w

ent propos
ation.  The 
frastructure
nclusion a
nd enhanc

of the Loc
at Newick
omprises m
Alternative
developme

mprovemen
Newhaven,
 by housin

ts the desi
account of t
ons such a
e. 

en Infrastru
amework fo
ork across 
nks betwee
m services
od and mat
the wider c
es for walk
economy t
ge busines

nt is carefu
ure on exis
ture fragm
es. Howeve
nity to enh

well as impr
al value. P

e is deliver
osals and a
where app

87 

sals and in
 aim is to a
e that will o
nd provide
ement of la

cal Plan Pa
k, funded by
meadows, 
e Natural G
ent on the A
nts to outdo
 Peacehav

ng develop

gn of new 
the range 
s Fields in

ucture) of t
or managin
 the distric
en town an

s such as fl
terials. It a
countryside
king, cyclin
through the
ss investm

ully manag
sting green
entation, lo
er, at an in

hance the q
roving its a
Policy DM1
red as an in
achieves m
propriate. 

ncreasing o
achieve an
open up op
e wider com
andscape 

art 1, 11.8 
y new hou
woodland

Greenspace
Ashdown F
oor play sp
ven, Telsco
ment in the

open spac
of technica
 Trust, Spo

the Local P
ng and enh
ct. Green in
nd country 
lood protec

also provide
e, and hea
ng and othe
e creation o

ment. 

ed, there i
n infrastruc
oss and de

ndividual si
quality and
accessibility
14 therefor
ntegral par

multiple env

opportunitie
n improved
pportunities
mmunity be
character 

ha of publi
sing devel
, streams a
e (SANG) t
Forest Spe
pace provis
ombe, Sea
ese locatio

ces in deve
al guidance
ort England

Plan Part 1
hancing the
nfrastructur

and provid
ction, clean
es us with 
lth and we
er activities
of attractiv

s a risk tha
ture resou

eterioration
te level, de
 quantity o
y and conn
e seeks to
rt of the de
vironmenta

es for recre
d network o
s for physi
enefits, suc
and biodiv

ic open spa
lopment in 
and ponds
to help mit

ecial Protec
sion have a
aford and 
ons. 

elopment 
e available
d and the 

1 sets out t
e green 
re maintain
des us with
n air and w
cultural se

ell-being be
s, as well a

ve environm

at it could r
urces and 
n of the dis
evelopmen
of green 
nectivity, a

o ensure th
esign of ne
al, social a

eation, 
of multi-
cal 
ch as 

versity. 

ace 
the 

s, 
tigate 
ction 
also 

e 

the 

ns 
h 

water, 
ervices, 
enefits 
as 
ments 

result 

strict’s 
nt can 

and 
at 
w 
nd 

Page 196



 
Policy 
 
Develo
additio
provid
playing
should
possib
site. Ex
corrido
compo
 
 

Outdo
 

 4.50.

 4.51.

 4.52.

 4.53.

 
 
 

DM14: Mu

opment wi
onal green
ded where 
g space. G
d incorpor
ble, enhan
xisting ec
ors should
onent of g

oor Playi

In line wi
provision
developm
to avoid e
space en
residents

 
The Cou
informal 
The Cou
benchma
quantity, 
Beyond t

 
Currently
and villag
a particu
with the t
situation 

 
The oppo
due to th
Infrastruc
facilities, 
all-weath
be used 

ulti-functi

ill be perm
n infrastru

justified b
Green infr
rate featur

nce existin
cological n
d, where p

green infra

ing Spac

th Governm
n for outdoo
ments in or
exacerbati

ncourages 
s, both you

ncil therefo
recreation 
ncil’s adop
ark guidelin
quality and

the Six Acr

y the overa
ges indicat
lar deficien
town counc
that is ofte

ortunities fo
e lack of s
cture Levy 
for examp

her pitches
more inten

onal Gree

mitted whe
ucture hav
by the cha
rastructure
res to enc
ng features
networks s
practical a
astructure 

ce 

ment guida
or playing 
rder to mee
ng existing
people to 
ng and old

ore seeks t
space me

pted standa
nes publish
d accessib
re Standar

all provision
tes that mo
ncy in the p
cils confirm
en emphas

or providin
ites in Cou
(CIL) prov

ple by the i
, or the up

nsively.  

88 

en Infrastr

ere opport
ve been fu
aracter of 
e provided

courage bi
s of natur
should be
and appro
 provision

ance, it is c
space is m
et the recre
g deficienc
adopt an a

d, to play a

to ensure t
eets the ne
ards for ou
hed by Fie
bility (Guida
rd, FiT 201

n of outdoo
ost fall belo
provision o
ms the ove
sised by loc

ng addition
uncil owne
vides a sou
mproved d
grading of 

ucture 

tunities fo
lly consid
the area o

d as part o
iodiversity
re conserv
e identified
priate, for

n to ensur

considered
made in ass
eational ne

cies. The ex
active lifest
and socialis

that the pro
eds arising

utdoor play
lds in Trus
ance for O
5).    

or playing s
ow the FiT 
of children’
rall deficie
cal sports 

al outdoor 
rship. How
urce of fund
drainage of

ancillary f

or the prov
dered and 
or the nee
of new dev
y and reta
vation valu
d and ecol
rm an esse
re habitat c

d essential 
sociation w
eeds of new
xistence of
tyle and als
se with oth

ovision of o
g from new
ing space 

st (FiT) to a
Outdoor Spo

space in th
recommen
s play spac
ncy at a lo
clubs and 

sports fac
wever, the C
ding to enh
f pitches, t
acilities, to

vision of 
would be 

ed for outd
velopmen
in or, whe
ue within t
logical 
ential 
connectiv

 that adeq
with new ho
w resident
f outdoor p
so helps 

hers. 

outdoor pla
w developm

are based
address iss
ort and Pla

he district’s
nded level
ce. Consu

ocal level, a
organisatio

cilities are l
Communit
hance exis
the provisio
o enable th

door 
nt 
ere 
the 

vity.   

uate 
ousing 
s and 
playing 

ay and 
ment. 
d on 
sues of 
ay: 

s towns 
s, with 
ltation 
a 
ons.  

imited 
y 

sting 
on of 
hem to 

Page 197



Policy 
 
The Co
as a m
minim
 
(a) 1.6

ten
 
(b) 0.2
 
(c) 0.3

are
 
In area
quanti
new re
the us
or the 
 
 
Child
 

 4.54.

 4.55.

 4.56.

DM15: Pr

ouncil will
matter of p

um standa

6 ha per 10
nnis court

25 ha per 1

3 ha per 10
eas and sk

as where t
tative or q

esidential 
e of the C
enhancem

ren’s Pla

Outdoor 
develop t
considera
potentiall
to homes
problems
continues
but consi
in terms o
developm

  
The prov
within ne
Policy DM
by the de
relevant t
space pro
exception
sheltered
and stude

 
Children’
homes, w

rovision fo

l seek to a
ractice an
ards:  

000 popul
ts, and bow

1000 popu

000 popul
kateboard

there is de
qualitative
developm

Community
ment of ex

ay Space

play is imp
their physi
ation for ch
ly dangero
s on space
s. The Cou
s to provid
iders that a
of providin

ments. 

vision of on
ew housing
M16.  The 
evelopmen
town or pa
ovision in t
n to this po
d housing o
ent housin

s play spa
with safe a

or Outdoo

achieve pr
nd policy a

ation for o
wling gree

ulation for

ation for o
d parks). 

eficiency o
e terms, th
ment will b
y Infrastru
xisting, ou

e 

portant to c
cal abilities
hildren’s pl

ous areas s
es not desig
uncil, in par
e and main
a complem
g opportun

n-site childr
 developm
scale of pr
t, calculate

arish, and t
the locality
olicy will be
or other sp
g. 

ace should 
nd conven

89 

or Playing 

rovision o
available f

outdoor s
ens; 

r equipped

other outd

of outdoo
he impact 
be mitigate
ucture Lev
utdoor play

children’s h
s and their
lay in the p
such as roa
gned for pl
rtnership w
ntain child

mentary role
nities for p

ren’s play 
ments of 20
rovision sh
ed by the a
the existing
y using the
e made in t
pecialist ac

be located
nient pedes

Space 

of outdoor 
for public 

ports, inc

d/designat

door provi

r playing s
of the inc

ed either b
vy to secu
ying spac

health and 
r emotiona
past has le
ads, railwa
lay with co

with town a
ren’s playg
e should b
lay within n

space will 
0 dwellings
hould relate
average ho
g level and
 FiT bench
the case o

ccommodat

d within a s
strian acce

playing s
use, to th

luding pla

ted childre

ision (mul

space in e
rease in p

by on-site 
re the pro

ce and faci

well-being
l response
d to them 

ay embank
onsequentia
and parish 
grounds an
e played b
new housin

therefore b
 or more, a
e to the de
ousehold s
d quality of 
hmark guid
f one bedr
tion for the

short walki
ess. It shou

space, whi
he followin

aying pitch

en’s play 

ltiple use 

either 
population
provision

ovision of 
ilities.  

g. It helps t
es. Lack of 
playing in 

kments, or 
al disturba
councils, 
nd playing 
by house b
ng 

be required
as set out 

emand gen
size of the 
f children’s 
delines. An
room units
e elderly/re

ng distanc
uld be desi

ich is 
ng 

hes, 

space; 

games 

n from 
n or by 
new, 

to 

close 
ance 

fields 
uilders 

d 
in 
erated 

play 
n 
, 

etired, 

ce of 
gned 

Page 198



 
 
Policy 
 
Reside
childre
standa
 
(1) int
 
(2) sit

dw
 
(3) pro
 
(4) ad
 
(5) pro

sta
dev

 
The ab
or spe
 
 

Forme
 

 4.57.

 
Policy 
 
Inform

to minimi
supervisi
areas an
Play equ
in accord
should al
A guide t

DM16: Ch

ential deve
en’s play s
ards set o

tegral to th

ed in safe
wellings an

ovided wit

ditional to

operly dra
age or stag
velopmen

bove stand
ecialist acc

er Lewes

It is unrea
Railway L
parts of t
currently 
provides 
opportun
of a footp
former lin

DM17: Fo

mal recreat

ize vandali
on. There 
d informal 
ipment sho

dance with 
lso be take
to creating 

hildren’s P

elopments
space is p
ut in crite

he overall 

e, open an
nd well us

th seating

o any incid

ained, laid
ges no lat

nt. 

dard will n
commoda

s/ Sheffie

alistic to pr
Line for fut
he track ha
used as a
a valuable
ities to inc

path, cycle
ne. 

ormer Lew

tional uses

ism, avoid 
should be 
play space

ould be de
European

en of existi
successfu

Play Spac

s of 20 dw
provided o
ria (b) of P

design an

d welcom
sed pedest

g for accom

dental am

 out, lands
ter than th

not be app
tion for ol

eld Park 

rotect the r
ture potent
ave been d

a bridleway
e wildlife ha
rease acce
way or brid

wes/Sheffie

s, such as

90 

nuisance 
a combina
e which sh

esigned, ma
 Standards
ng nationa

ul play spa

e in New H

wellings or
on-site in a
Policy DM

nd layout 

ming locati
trian route

mpanying

enity spac

scaped an
he comple

plied in the
lder peopl

Railway

route of the
tial use as 
developed
y and much
abitat.  The
ess to the 
dleway alo

eld Park R

s walking,

to neighbo
ation of des
hould be sa
anufacture
s EN1176 
al guidance
ces (Play E

Housing D

r more wil
accordanc

M15. This s

of the dev

ons which
es; 

g adults; 

ce;  

nd equipp
etion of the

e case of 
le or stude

y Line 

e former L
a public tr
. However
h of the un
e Council w
countrysid

ong the und

Railway Li

, cycling a

ours and al
signated e
afe, secure
ed, installed
and EN11

e, including
England, 2

Developme

l only be p
ce with the
space sho

velopment

h are over

ped for use
e final dwe

one-bedro
ents. 

ewes/Shef
ransport co
, part of th
developed
will therefo
e by enab
developed 

ne 

and horse-

llow easy 
equipped p
e and stimu
d and main
77. Accou

g Design fo
2008).  

ent 

permitted 
e minimum
uld be: 

t; 

rlooked by

e at an ag
elling of t

oom dwel

ffield Park 
orridor bec
e route is 

d part of the
ore encoura
ling the pro
part of the

-riding, wi

lay 
ulating. 
ntained 
nt 
or Play: 

where 
m 

y 

reed 
he 

lings 

ause 

e route 
age 
ovision 
e 

ill be 

Page 199



permit
railway
enhan
prejud
by alte
 
 

Recre
 

 4.58.

 
 
Policy 
 
Develo
and as
where 
directl
feature
 
 

PROT
THE E
 

 4.59.

tted along
y line whe
ce the bio

dice such u
ernative ro

eation an

The Rive
both for w
provided 
affecting 
is importa
wildlife a
account t
location. 
recreatio
be accep

DM18: Re

opment pr
ssociated 

it can be 
y or indire
es or on th

TECTING
ENVIRON

The high 
major ass
is recogn
Areas of 
The distr
Conserva
resource
this secti
Environm
and High
framewo

g the route
ere it can b
odiversity 
uses will n
oute provi

nd Rivers

er Ouse an
water-base
that such 
the integri

ant to ensu
nd geologi
the impact
Policy DM
nal develo

ptable. 

ecreation 

roposals f
wetlands 
demonstr
ectly, on t
he natural

G AND EN
NMENT 

quality of 
sets and v

nised by 16
Conservat

rict also ha
ation Areas
s are prote
on supplem

ment & Lan
h Quality D
rk within w

e of the un
be demon
value of t
not be per
sion.  

s 

d its hinter
ed activities
activities c
ty of any r
ure that the
cal feature
 of traffic a

M18 therefo
opment affe

and River

for recreat
(as define

rated that 
their quiet
l functioni

NHANCIN

the district
alued by re

6 Sites of S
tion design
s a rich leg
s. It is vital
ected and e
ment Core
ndscape Ch
esign) of th

which natur

91 

ndevelope
nstrated th
the route. 
rmitted un

rland offer 
s and for w
can be acc
river or tida
e tranquil c
es are prot
and parking
ore sets ou
ecting the R

rs 

tional use
ed on the 
there wou

t and natu
ing of the 

NG THE 

t’s natural 
esidents a
Special Sci
nated unde
gacy of he
l to ensure
enhanced 

e Policies 9
haracter) a
he Local P
ral and buil

d part of t
hat such u
Developm

nless prop

potential a
walking, cy
commodate
al defence 
character o
tected, in p
g on this se

ut the circum
River Ouse

 on the Ri
Policies M
uld be no 
ral charac
river and 

DISTINC

and built e
nd visitors
ientific Inte
er the Euro
ritage asse

e that these
wherever 

9 (Air Quali
and 11 (Bu
Plan Part 1
lt assets ca

the Lewes
ses would

ment which
posals are

as a recrea
cling and h

ed without 
embankme

of the river 
particular ta
ensitive en
mstances 
e and its h

ver Ouse,
Map) will b
adverse im

cter, wildli
associate

CTIVE QU

environmen
alike. Its v

erest, includ
opean Hab
ets, includi
e valued en
possible. T
ity), 10 (Na

uilt & Histor
. They see
an be effec

s/Sheffield
d maintain
h would 

e accompa

ational reso
horse-ridin
adversely 
ent. Howe
corridor a

aking into 
nvironment
in which 
interland w

, its margi
be permitt
mpact, eit
ife or geol
ed wetland

UALITY O

nt is one of
value for w
ding two S
itats Direc
ing 35 
nvironmen
The policie
atural 
ric Environ
ek to provid
ctively prot

d Park 
n or 

anied 

ource, 
ng, 

ver, it 
nd its 

tal 

would 

ins 
ed 
ther 
logical 
ds. 

OF 

f its 
wildlife 
Special 
tive. 

tal 
es in 

nment 
de a 
tected 

Page 200



 

Prote
 

 4.60.

 

 

Policy 
 
Develo
versat
Classif
there a
overrid
agricu
 
 
Pollut
 

 4.61.

 
 
 
 

and prud
developm

ction of 

Farming 
topograp
to take in
versatile 
Classifica
higher qu
unavoida
only impo
to be rea

DM19: Pr

opment th
ile agricul
fication S
are no sui
ding susta
ltural use

tion Man

The cont
the Coun
Safety Ex
legislatio
developm
should be
The Cou
developm
environm
uses care
environm

ently mana
ment propo

Agricult

activity va
phy, draina
nto accoun
agricultura

ation) and 
uality wher
able. Prote
ortant for fo

alised, such

rotection o

hat would r
ltural land
ystem) wi
table alter
ainability b
. 

nagemen

rol of pollu
ncil’s Direct
xecutive, th
n. Howeve

ment and u
e taken int
ncil will the

ment with t
mental effec
efully man

ment for tho

aged throu
osals. 

ural Lan

ries across
ge and tra
t the econo
al land (lan
use areas 

re the signi
cting the b
ood produc
h as flood a

of Agricult

result in th
d (Grades 
ill not be p
rnative loc
benefits th

nt 

ution is larg
tor of Serv
hrough the
er, any una
use of land 
o account 
erefore use
he potentia
cts is appro
aged. The 
ose who liv

92 

ugh the con

nd 

s the distric
dition.  Loc
omic and o

nd in grade
 of poorer 
ificant deve

best and m
ction but e
alleviation 

tural Land

he irrever
1, 2, 3a in

permitted 
cations an
hat outwe

gely regula
vice Delive
e Environm
acceptable
 can be a m
in the dete

e its planni
al to cause
opriately lo
 aim is to p

ve and wor

ntrol and im

ct accordin
cal plannin
other bene
es 1, 2 and
quality lan
elopment o
ost versati

enables fur
or aquifer 

d 

rsible loss
n the DEFR

unless it c
nd the pro
eigh the lo

ated by the 
ry, in cons

mental Prot
 risk from p
material pl
ermination 
ing powers
e pollution 
ocated and
provide a s
rk in the dis

mplementa

ng to differi
ng authoriti
efits of the b
 3a of the A
d in prefer
of agricultu
le agricultu
ther enviro
recharge. 

s of the be
RA Agricu
can be de

oposal wou
ss of land

Environm
ultation wit
ection Act 
pollution a
anning con
of plannin

s to ensure
or other ha

d its impact
safe and he
strict.  

ation of 

ing soils, 
ies are exp
best and m
Agricultura
rence to th
ural land is
ural land is
onmental b

est and mo
ultural Lan
emonstrate
uld have 

d from 

ent Agenc
th the Hea
1990 and 
rising from
nsideration

ng applicat
e that 
armful 
t on other 
ealthy 

pected 
most 
al Land 
at of a 
 

s not 
benefits 

ost 
nd 
ed that 

cy and 
alth & 

related 
m the 
n and 
ions. 

land 

Page 201



Policy 
 
Develo
unacce
permit
 
(1) its 

su
(2) the

nat
(3) the
(4) wh
 
 
Land 
 

 4.62.

 4.63.

 
 
Policy 
 
Develo
by con
works,
undert
risk to
the me
and/or
develo

DM20: Po

opment th
eptable le
tted where

location i
rrounding
e developm
tural envi
e developm
here releva

Contam

Any land 
serious c
the site, f
waste dis
NPPF pla
safe land
affected 
accordan
Practice 

 

The Cou
developm
through t
consideri
involved.
contained
contamin
referred t

DM21: La

opment pr
ntaminatio
, including
taken with

o health or
ethodolog
r removal 
opment. D

ollution M

hat may po
evels of so
e it can be

is appropr
g area; 
ment will 
ronment o
ment will 
ant, the ap

ination 

contamina
cause of po
for exampl
sposal site
aces the o
d/developm
by contam

nce with es
for the Inv

ncil needs 
ment not ad
the plannin
ing plannin
 There is f
d in the na
nated land 
to prior to s

and Conta

roposals o
on will onl
g investig
hout escap
r to the en
gy by whic

of all cont
evelopme

anagemen

otentially c
oil, air, wat
e demonst

riate in ter

not have a
or general
not have a
ppropriate

ated with h
ollution. Co
e, industria
s where la
nus with th

ment. It also
ination and

stablished 
estigation 

to ensure 
ddressed b
ng system. 
ng applicat
further info
ational Plan
produced 
submitting 

amination

on a site is
y be perm
ation of th
pe of cont
vironmen

ch risks wi
taminants

ent will no

93 

nt  

contribute
ter, noise 
trated that

rms of lan

an unacce
l amenity;
an advers
e after-use

hazardous 
ontaminatio
al process

andfill gas a
he develop
o requires 
d expects 
practices s
of Potentia

that the im
by other le
 Policy DM
tions where

ormation on
nning Prac
on the GO
 a planning

s that is k
mitted whe
he nature 
taminants
t. Informa
ill be addr

s prior to t
t be perm

e to, or be 
or light p

t: 

nd use in r

eptable im
 

se impact o
e of land c

or toxic m
on can res
es involvin
and leacha
per and/or l
a risk asse
all investig
such as BS
ally Contam

mplications
gislation a

M21 provide
e land con
n land affec
ctice Guida
OV.UK web
g applicatio

nown or s
ere the Co
of any co
 that coul

ation shou
ressed and
the comm
itted unle

adversely
ollution w

relation to

mpact on h

on the use
can be sec

aterials is 
ult from pr

ng chemica
ate are still
landowner
essment of
gations to b
S10175 (20
minated Sit

s of contam
re properly
es the fram
tamination
cted by co
nce and an

bsite which
on.   

suspected
uncil is sa
ntaminatio
d cause u

uld be prov
d ensuring
encement
ss practic

y affected
will only be

o the uses 

health, the

e of other 
cured 

potentially
revious use
als or close
l present. T
r for securi
f land pote
be underta
013) ‘Code
tes’. 

mination for
y considere
mework for
n issues are
ntaminatio
n overview

h should als

d to be affe
atisfied th
on, can be

unaccepta
vided deta
g the trea
t of 
cable and 

 by, 
e 

in the 

e 

land; 

y a 
es of 
ed 
The 
ng a 

entially 
aken in 
e of 

r a new 
ed 
r 
e 

on 
w of 
so be 

ected 
at all 
e 
ble 
ailing 
tment 

Page 202



effectiv
 
(1) exp

un
(2) thr

adj
(3) cau
(4) cau

co
(5) da
 
 

Water
 

 4.64.

 4.65.

 4.66.

 4.67.

ve measu

posing the
acceptabl
reatening 
joining th
using the 
using the 
ntaminatio
maging o

r Resour

The prote
bodies is
ecology a
and varie
Ouse and
Water Fr
protectio
waters. 

 

All new d
the water
or storm 
accordan
managem
Risk, Coa
Plan Part

 
The prote
majority o
aquifers. 
sustainin
ground w
serious r
rather tha

 
The Envi
which ind
quantity o
proposed
anticipate
impact of

res are ta

e future o
le risk; 
the struct
e site 
contamin
contamin
on to cont
r putting a

rces and

ection and 
s important
and genera
ed water en
d Cuckmer
ramework D
n of groun

developme
r environm
water run-

nce with th
ment of sur
astal Erosi
t 1.  

ection of g
of the publ
These fea
g flow in d

water is eas
isk to publ
an treat it a

ronment A
dicate whe
of groundw
d developm
ed that wo
f such wor

ken to avo

ccupiers a

tural integ

nation of a
nation of a
tinue; 
at risk the

Water Q

enhancem
 in terms o
al amenity 
nvironmen
re rivers, la
Directive e
dwater and

nt should e
ment, both w
-off, water 
e Water Fr
rface wate
ion, Sustai

round wate
ic water su

atures also
ry periods
sily pollute
ic health. I
afterwards

Agency has
re there ar

water. Appl
ment on gro
rks may pe
ks will nee

94 

oid: 

and users

grity of any

any water 
adjoining l

e quality of

Quality 

ment of wa
of sustainin

of the dist
t, including
akes and p

establishes
d inland su

ensure tha
within the d
abstraction
ramework 

er run-off is
inable Drai

er is partic
upply is ab

o provide a
, and for o

ed, directly 
t is better t
. 

s defined G
re likely to 
licants sho
oundwater
enetrate th

ed to be as

s of the de

y building

course, w
land or all

f the natu

ter quality 
ng the supp
trict. Lewes
g chalk aqu
ponds, spri
s a statutor
urface wate

at there will
district and
n or sewer
Directive. 

s addresse
inage and 

cularly impo
bstracted fr
n importan
ther wildlif
and indire
to prevent 

Groundwat
be particu

ould consid
r recharge,
he natural w
sessed an

evelopmen

g or struct

water body
owing suc

ral enviro

in rivers a
ply of wate
s district ha
uifers, cha
ngs, and t

ry framewo
ers, estuar

l be no adv
d beyond, t
rage discha
The appro
d by Core 
Slope Stab

ortant in Su
rom water-
nt water so
e habitats.
ctly, and c
contamina

er Source 
lar risks to

der any pos
 flows and

winter wate
d discusse

nt to 

ture built o

y or aquife
ch 

nment. 

nd other w
er and the 
as an exte
lk streams

the sea. Th
ork for the 
ries, and co

verse impa
through su
arge in 
opriate 
Policy 12 
bility) of th

ussex, sinc
-bearing st
ource for riv
. The quali

can pose a 
ation at sou

Protection
o the qualit
ssible impa

d levels. If i
er table the
ed with the

on or 

er; 

water 

nsive 
s, the 
he 

oastal 

act on 
urface 

(Flood 
e Local 

ce the 
rata or 
vers, 
ty of 

urce 

n Zones 
y or 
act of 
it is 
en the 
e 

Page 203



 
 
Policy 
 
Develo
not res
 
(1) un

(in
 
(2) ch

un
 

(a) 
(b) 

(c) 

 
Work b
compr
constr
propos
 
 

Noise
 

 4.68.

 
 
 
 
 

Environm
are likely

DM22: W

opment wi
sult in: 

acceptabl
cluding re

anges to g
acceptabl

adjoining
the qual
resource
the pote
habitats

beneath th
rehensive 
ruction, op
sal. 

e 

The plan
developm
sources o
and othe
ensure th
processe
be likely 
will be im
Policy DM
guidance
informatio
Statemen

ment Agenc
y, agreed m

Water Reso

ill be only

le risk to t
eservoirs)

groundwa
le adverse

g land; 
ity of grou
es;  
ntial yield
. 

he water t
groundwa

peration, r

ning syste
ment, such
of noise, in
r forms of 
hat potentia
es or some
to cause n

mposed to s
M23. The n
e on addres
on is availa
nt for Engla

cy. If detrim
mitigation m

ources and

 permitted

the quality
); or  

ater and su
e impacts 

undwater 

d of groun

able will n
ater mana
restoration

m has a ro
 as housin

ncluding in
transport t
ally noise c

e recreation
nuisance. W
secure ade
national Pl
ssing noise
able in the
and’ (DEFR

95 

mental con
measures w

d Water Q

d where it 

y and qua

urface wa
on: 

resources

dwater res

not be per
agement s
n and on-

ole in seek
ng and sch
dustrial us
that would 
creating us
nal activitie
Where this 
equate mit
anning Pra
e related d

e ‘Explanato
RA). 

nsequence
will be nec

uality 

can be de

ntity of su

ter levels 

s or poten

sources, r

rmitted un
scheme ag
going man

king to ensu
ools, is no

ses and no
lead to nu

ses such a
es are not l

is not pos
igation. Th
actice Guid
developme
ory Note to

s for the w
essary. 

emonstrat

urface and

that woul

tial groun

river flows

less there
greed for t
nagement

ure that ne
t located c
ise genera
isance. It s

as some ind
located wh
sible, plan

his approac
dance prov
nt and add
o the Noise

water enviro

ted that it 

d groundw

ld have 

ndwater 

s or natur

e is a 
the 
t of the 

ew noise se
close to exi
ated by veh
should also
dustrial 
here they w
nning cond
ch is reflec
vides furthe
ditional 
e Policy 

onment 

would 

water 

al 

ensitive 
isting 
hicles 
o 

would 
itions 

cted in 
er 

Page 204



Policy 
 
Reside
where 
expose
 
Noise-
demon
expose
future 
impact
propos
 
1) the
2) exi
3) me
4) ho
 
Where
unacce
suppo
Planni
update
unacce
 
 

Prote
 

 4.69.

 4.70.

DM23: No

ential and 
it can be 

ed to unac

-generatin
nstrated th
ed to nois
users. Wh
ts through
sals, acco

e location
isting leve
easures to

ours of ope

e noise sen
eptable no

orted by a 
ng Noise 

ed docum
eptable no

ction of 

It is impo
for our fu
human lif
and supp
to biodive
importan
enhanced
Landscap

 

Sites and
Lewes D

 Eur
 Site
 Nat
 Loc
 Wild
 Loc

 

oise 

other noi
demonstr
cceptable

ng develop
hat nearby
se impact 
here appro
h careful p
ount will b

, layout an
els of back
o reduce o
eration an

nsitive us
oise distu
Noise Imp
Advice Do
ent. Deve
oise levels

Biodiver

ortant to rec
uture, not le
fe. The dis
ports a ran
ersity or ge
t sites. It is
d, in accor
pe Charac

d areas rec
istrict inclu

ropean Site
es of Speci
tional Natu
cal Nature 
dlife Trust 
cal Wildlife 

se sensiti
rated that 
 noise dis

pment will
y noise se
that will a
opriate, pr
planning, 
e taken of

nd design
kground n

or contain 
nd servicin

es are like
rbance, th

pact Asses
ocument: 
lopment t
s will not b

rsity and

cognise th
east becau
strict’s natu
ge of habit
eodiversity
s essential 
rdance with
cter) of the 

cognised fo
ude: 

es of Intern
ial Scientif
re Reserve
Reserves
Reserves
Sites 

96 

ive develo
users of t

sturbance 

l only be p
ensitive us
adversely 
roposals w
layout and
f; 

 of the pro
noise; 
generated

ng 

ely to be e
he Counci
ssment pr
Sussex (J
hat would
be permit

d Geodiv

e value of 
use of the c
ural environ
tats, specie

y value, inc
that these

h Core Pol
Local Plan

or their bio

national Im
fic Interest
es 

opment wi
the develo
from exis

permitted 
ses (existi
affect the 
will be req
d design. 

oposed de

d noise 

exposed to
il will requ
repared in
July 2015)
d expose n
ted.  

ersity 

the natura
crucial role
nment is on
es and oth

cluding inte
e are prote
licy 10 (Na
n Part 1.   

odiversity a

mportance

ll be only 
opment wi
sting or fut

where it c
ng or plan
amenity o

quired to m
In assess

evelopmen

o significa
uire that ap
n accordan
) or any su
noise sens

al environm
e it plays in
ne of its gr
er features

ernationally
cted, and w

atural Envir

and geodive

permitted
ill not be 
ture uses

can be 
nned) will 
of existing
mitigate n
sing mitiga

nt;  

ant or 
pplication
nce with t
ubsequen
sitive uses

ment in plan
n sustaining
reatest ass
s that cont
y and natio
where pos
ronment & 

ersity valu

d 

.  

not be 
g or 
oise 
ation 

ns are 
he 
t 
s to 

nning 
g 
sets 
tribute 
onally 
sible 

e in 

Page 205



 4.71.

 

 
 4.72.

 4.73.

 4.74.

 4.75.

Details o
Natural E
Reserves

Internatio

Lewes D
Hill and L
These sit
that prov
habitats t
protected
long-term
emphasis
economic

 

The prov
into UK la
Conserva
that may 
Habitat R
significan

 
The Ashd
wholly ou
Assessm
developm
combinat
significan
Additiona
therefore
of Core P

 
The nece
(SANG) t
Ashdown
Reedens
that resu
Ashdown
managem
the Strate
Ashdown
partnersh

f the intern
England, w
s and Loca

onally Desi

istrict cont
Lewes Dow
tes have b
ides for the
that suppo
d sites calle
m survival o
s placed o
cal. 

visions of th
aw through
ation of Ha
have an im

Regulations
nt effect the

down Fore
utside of Le

ment undert
ment in tha
tion with de
nt adverse 
al residenti
e required t
Policy 10 o

essary prov
to help mit
n Forest SA
s Meadow o
lt in a net i

n Forest wi
ment and m
egic Acces
n Forest.  L
hip with the

national an
whilst inform
al Wildlife S

ignated Sit

ains two S
wns – whic
een design
e protectio

ort them thr
ed Natura 
of the most
n sustaina

he Europea
h a range o
abitats and
mpact on a
s Assessm
en an App

est SAC an
ewes Distr
taken on th

at part of th
evelopmen
impact on
al develop
to mitigate 

of the Loca

vision for S
igate the im
AC and SP
on the edg
ncrease of
ll be requir

monitoring 
ss Manage
Lewes, We
e Conserva

97 

nd national 
mation on L
Sites can b

tes 

Special Are
ch are both
nated unde

on of specie
rough the e
2000. The
t threatene

able manag

an Habitat
of acts and
 Species R

a European
ment. If this

ropriate As

nd Special 
rict. Howev
he Local P
he district w
nt in neighb
 protected

pment with
 its potenti
l Plan Part

Suitable Al
mpact of n

PA has bee
ge of Newic
f one or m
red to cont
of the SAN

ement and 
ealden and
ators of the

designatio
Local Natu
be obtained

eas of Cons
h located o
er the Euro
es of Euro
establishm

e aim of thi
ed species
gement, bo

ts Directive
d regulation
Regulation
n Site will b
s Assessme
ssessment

Protection
ver, a Habi
Plan Part 1 
within 7km 
bouring dis
 species w
in 7km of t
ial harm in 
t 1. 

ternative N
new residen
en made o
ck village. 
ore dwellin
tribute tow
NG, as we
Monitoring
 Tandridge
e Ashdown

ons can be
re Reserve
d from the 

servation (
utside of th
opean Hab
pean impo

ment of a ne
s network 
and habita

oth ecologi

e have bee
ns, most re
s 2010. An
be required
ent conclud
t will be req

Area (SPA
tats Regul
concluded
of the Ash

stricts, cou
within the S
the Ashdow
accordanc

Natural Gre
ntial develo
n 11.8ha o
All develop

ngs within 
ards the fu
ll as the im
g Strategy 
e District C
n Forest, h

e obtained 
es, Wildlife
Council. 

(SAC) – Ca
he Plan are
bitats Direc
ortance and
etwork of 
is to assur
ats, with th
cal and 

en transpos
ecently the
ny develop
d to undert
des a likel
quired.   

A) is locate
lation 
d that 
hdown Fore
uld have a 
SAC and S
wn Forest 
ce with crit

eenspace 
opment on
of land at 
pment pro
7km of the
uture 

mplementat
(SAMMS) 

Councils, in
have produ

from 
e Trust 

astle 
ea. 
ctive 
d the 

re the 
he 

sed 
e 
pment 
take a 
y 

ed 

est, in 

PA. 
is 
terion 3 

n the 

posals 
e 

tion of 
for the 

n 
ced a 

Page 206



 

 
 4.76.

 
 4.77.

 

 
 4.78.

 

 
 4.79.

SAMMS 
contribut

Nationally

The Plan
have bee
SSSIs ar
legal sys
was desi
Brighton 

The Cou
notificatio
Countrys
reasonab
features 
the ‘Appr
impact on
Assessm

Local Site

There are
Local Wi
same leg
Neverthe
substanti
threatene
represen

Habitats 

Habitats 
England 
Rural Co
potential 
Council i
other bod
preserva
protectio
local targ

 

guidance d
ions.   

ly Designa

n area inclu
en designa
re given a h
tems. The 
gnated in 2
to the wes

ntryside an
on, protect
side Act (19
ble steps to
for which t
ropriate As
n a SSSI w

ment. 

es 

e three Loc
ldlife Sites

gal protecti
eless, they 
ive nature 
ed habitats
t an essen

of principa

of principa
are identif

ommunities
adverse im
n the cons
dies and or
tion, restor
n and reco

gets. 

document 

ted Sites 

udes four S
ated for the
high level o
Beachy H

2013 and r
st and Bea

nd Rights o
tion and ma
981) place
o further th
the sites ar
ssessment’
will normall

cal Nature 
 within the
on as inter
have been
conservati

s and spec
ntial part of

al importan

al importan
ied under S

s Act 2006.
mpacts upo
sideration o
rganisation
ration and 

overy of pri

98 

and tariff f

Sites of Sp
eir national 
of protectio

Head West 
runs parall
chy Head 

of Way Act
anagemen

es a genera
he conserv
re designa
’ process f
ly require a

 Reserves
e Plan area
rnationally 
n identified
ion value, 

cies and ge
f the distric

nce 

nce for the 
Section 41
. They do n
on them w
of developm
ns, the Cou
re-creation
iority speci

for the colle

ecial Scien
biological 

on through
Marine Co

lel to the d
to the east

t 2000 mak
nt of SSSIs
al duty on l
vation and e
ated. There
for SSSIs, 
an Environ

, one Wild
a. These lo

or nationa
d and selec
based on 

eological fe
ct’s critical 

purpose o
1 of the Na
not receive

will be taken
ment propo
uncil seeks
n of priority
ies populat

ection of th

ntific Intere
or geologi

h both the p
onservation
istrict’s coa
t.  

kes provisi
s, whilst the
ocal autho
enhancem

e is not a re
but develo
mental Im

life Trust R
cal sites do

ally designa
cted locally
important, 

eatures.  C
stock of na

f conservin
tural Envir

e statutory 
n into acco
osals. In pa
s to promo
y habitats a
tions, linke

he necessa

est (SSSIs)
ical interes
planning a
n Zone (MC
astline bet

ion for the 
e Wildlife a
orities to ta

ment of the 
equiremen
opments lik
pact 

Reserve an
o not rece
ated sites. 
y for their 
distinctive

Collectively 
atural capa

ng biodive
ronment an
protection

ount by the
artnership 

ote the 
and the 

ed to nation

ary 

) that 
st. 
nd 
CZ) 
ween 

and 
ake 

t for 
kely to 

nd 49 
ive the 
 

e and 
they 

acity. 

rsity in 
nd 
n but 
 
with 

nal and 

Page 207



 4.80.

 
 4.81.

 
 4.82.

 
 4.83.

 4.84.

           
17 https:/
 

Managing
 

The Cou
managem
increase 
protect a
network r
potential 
circumsta

Protected
to specifi
the Wildl
protected
applicatio
impact, in
close pro
informed 

In the sa
importan
accompa
conserva
biodivers
a Europe
through c
guidance

It is impo
assessm
needs at 
resulting 
ecologica
methodo
details of
to enable
accordan

 
Any harm
should be
higher ec

                
//sxbrc.org.u

g sites of n

ncil will giv
ment of the
their ecolo
nd increas
resilient to 
to harm th

ances set o

d species, 
c legislatio
ife and Co
d species is
ons. Devel
ncluding cu
oximity to th
 through co

me way, a
t habitats, 

anied by up
ation value
sity survey 
ean Site is 
consultatio
e is availab

ortant to be
ents will be
pre-applic
from requ

al reports s
logy and a
f avoidance
e report rec
nce with Po

m or loss to
e compens
cological va

                
k/home/ 

nature con

ve priority t
e areas list
ogical resil
se biodiver

current an
hese areas
out in Polic

which ofte
on under th
untryside A
s a materia
opment pr
umulative i
he develop
onsultation

ll developm
or other bi

p-to-date in
.  The type
and report
involved. S

on with the 
ble on how 

ear in mind
e seasona

cation stag
irements fo
should incl
assessmen
e, mitigatio
commenda
olicy DM24

o a designa
sated by re
alue. Wher

 

99 

servation o

to the prote
ted above, 
ience in or

rsity, and e
nd future p
s listed will 
cy DM24 a

en exist on 
he Europea
Act (1981)
al consider
roposals sh
impact, on
pment site
n with the S

ment propo
iodiversity 
nformation
e of assess
t through t
Such an as
Sussex Bi
and when

 that the s
ally restricte
e can help
or survey b
ude finding

nt of the im
on, compen
ations to be
4. 

ated site sh
eplacemen
re, very ex

or geologic

ection, enh
seeking to

rder to enh
establish a 
ressures. 
not be per

are met. 

designate
an Birds an
. Neverthe
ration in th
hould there
n protected
.  Such an 
Sussex Bio

osals affec
or geodive
 proportion
sment need
o EIA and 
ssessment
iodiversity 

n to underta

urvey work
ed. Discus
p reduce th
being ident
gs of the s

mpacts. The
nsation an
e condition

hould only 
nt with a fea
xceptionally

cal sites 

hancement
o ensure th
hance lands
coherent e
Developme
rmitted unl

ed habitats,
nd Habitats

eless, the e
e determin

efore asses
 species b
assessme

odiversity R

cting design
ersity featu
nate to the
ded will va
Appropriat
t should be
Record Ce

ake such a

k needed to
sion of bio
e likelihoo
tified at a l
urvey, deta

ey should a
d enhance

ned and en

occur as a
ature of co
y, a specie

t and 
heir integrit
scape cha
ecological 
ent that ha
less the 

, are the s
s Directive

existence o
nation of p
ss the like

both on and
ent should 
Record Ce

nated sites
ures should
ir nature 

ary from a 
te Assessm
e informed
entre. Nati
assessmen

to inform s
odiversity s
od of delays
ater stage
ails of the 
also contai
ement mea
nforced in 

a last reso
omparable 
es populati

ty and 
aracter, 

as 

ubject 
es and 
of 
lanning 
ly 
d in 
be 

entre17.  

s, 
d be 

ment if 

onal 
nts. 

uch 
survey 
s 
. All 
survey 
in 
asures 

rt and 
or 
on 

Page 208



 
Policy 
 
Develo
site, de
classif
where 
agains
where 
be per
over-ri
compe
 
Develo
within 
with C
10 (3i) 
monito
as defi
 
Develo
Interes
(MCZ),
be per
clearly
the de
 
Develo
geolog
Reserv
habitat
only b
damag
to ach
 
Develo
(such 
wholly
exists.
 
Where
agreem
site ma
enhan

needs to 
undertak
the local 
ensure th
undertak

DM24: Pr

opment wh
esignated
fied or pot
adverse l

st. After av
residual a

rmitted if t
iding publ
ensation is

opment pr
7km of th
ore Policy
can be fu

oring of th
ined on th

opment th
st (SSSI), 
, either ind
rmitted wh
y outweigh
signated s

opment wh
gical value
ves (LNR)
ts, and ha
e permitte

ge to the c
ieve a net

opment re
as ancien

y exceptio
. 

e developm
ments in o
anagemen
cement m

be moved
en to an a
status and

he survival
en prior to

rotection o

hich woul
d or candid
tential Spe
ikely sign

voidance a
adverse li
there is no
lic interes
s provided

roposals t
he Ashdow
y 10(3) of t

ulfilled thro
he Suitable
he Policies

hat would b
National N
dividually 
here the be
h the dam
site and a

hich woul
e of region
, Wildlife T

abitats and
ed where t
conservati
t gain in b

esulting in
t woodlan
nal circum

ment is pe
order to m
nt measur

measures. 

d to make w
ppropriate 

d security o
 of the tran
 the start o

of Biodive

d be likely
date Spec
ecial Prote

nificant eff
and mitiga
kely signi

o alternativ
st that wou
d.  

that result
wn Forest
the Local 
ough a co
e Alternat
s Map. 

be likely t
Nature Res
or in com

enefits of 
age to the
ny advers

d result in
nal or loca
Trust Res
d species 
the benefi
ion interes
iodiversity

 the loss o
nd or veter
mstances 

ermitted, th
minimise th
res and, w

100 

way for dev
 profession
of that pop
nslocated s
of the deve

ersity and 

y to adver
cial Area o
ection Are
fects can b
ation mea
ficant effe
ve solutio

uld justify 

t in a net in
will only b
Plan Part

ontribution
tive Natura

o adverse
serve (NN

mbination w
the devel

e nationall
se impacts

n damage 
al importa

serves, Lo
of princip

its of the d
st of the s
y and/or g

or deterio
ran trees)
and a suit

he Counc
he damage

where appr

velopment
nal standa
ulation. All
species or 
elopment.

Geodiver

rsely affec
of Conserv
ea (SPA) w
be avoide

asures hav
ects arise,
on, there a

the devel

ncrease o
be permitt
t 1. The req
n towards 
al Greensp

ely affect a
NR), or a M
with other
opment in
ly recogni
s on the w

or loss to
ance includ
cal Wildlif

pal import
developm
site and an
geodiversi

ration of i
 will be re
table com

il will use 
e, ensure 
ropriate, c

, work sho
rd with the
l off-site wo
habitat sh

sity  

ct a design
vation (SA
will only b
d and/or m

ve been co
, developm
are impera
opment a

of one or m
ted where
quirement
the mana
pace (SAN

a Site of S
Marine Con
r developm
n the locat
ised speci

wider netw

o a site of 
ding Loca
fe Sites, ir
ance for b
ent clearly

ny loss ca
ity. 

rreplacea
efused, un
pensation

condition
adequate 

compensa

ould be 
e aim of im
ork necess

hould be 

nated Ram
AC) or a 
be permitte
mitigated 
onsidered
ment will o
ative reaso
and suitab

more dwel
e they com
t of Core P

agement a
NG) at New

Special Sc
nservation
ments, wi
tion propo
ial interes

work of SS

biodivers
al Nature 
rreplaceab
biodiversit
y outweig

an be mitig

able habita
nless there
n strategy

ns and/or 
mitigatio

atory and 

proving 
sary to 

msar 

ed 

d, 
only 
ons of 
le 

lings 
mply 
Policy 
nd 
wick, 

ientific 
n Zone 
ll only 
osed 
st of 
SIs. 

ity or 

ble 
ty, will 
h the 

gated 

ats 
e are 
y 

legal 
n and 

Page 209



Desig
 

 4.85.

 
 4.86.

 
 4.87.

 
 4.88.

 
 
Policy 
 
Develo
throug
met: 
 
(1) Its 

sym

gn 

High qua
architectu
influence
contribute
environm
health an
changing

High qua
to mainta
more sus
socially a
especiall
design cu
design w
satisfacto
place.  

The deta
Policy 11
relevant 
Guidance
(Parts 1 &
design as

Building f
standard 
schemes
Building f
identified
period). A
‘reds’, de

DM25: De

opment wh
gh high qu

siting, lay
mpathetic

ality design
ure) is fund

es safety an
es to comm

ment can pr
nd well-bei
g climate. 

ality design
ain and enh
stainable a
and cultura
y in areas 
ues are we

will still be r
ory standa

ailed criteria
 (Built & H
policies in 
e, together
& 2), By D
ssessment

for Life 12 
 for the de

s with 10 or
for Life 12 

d by the Co
As a guide
esign out a

esign 

hich contr
uality desi

yout, dens
cally to the

 (including
damental t
nd security
munity coh
romote inc
ng, as wel

 is crucial 
hance thei

and higher 
ally. The Co
where the

eak or abse
equired to 
rds to ensu

a in Policy 
Historic Env

the Local 
r with best 
esign, and
t of develo

is endorse
sign of new
r more dwe
design as

ouncil, shou
, developm
ll ‘ambers’

ributes tow
gn will be

sity, orien
e characte

101 

g architectu
to the crea
y, encoura
hesion and
creased lev
l as addres

if the town
r valued lo
quality set
ouncil does

e existing d
ent. Howev
follow goo

ure that ne

DM25 sho
vironment 
Plan Part 
practice g

d Building f
opment pro

ed by the g
w resident
ellings will 
sessment 
uld this be

ment shoul
, and achie

wards loc
e permitted

tation and
eristics of 

ure, urban 
tion of high
ges econo
 inclusion. 

vels of walk
ssing the c

ns and villa
ocal distinc
ttlements t
s not wish 
esign qual
ver, contem
od design p
ew develop

ould be rea
and High Q
1. The NP
uidance in
for Life 12, 
oposals. 

governmen
ial develop
therefore 
tool (or eq
 supersede
d seek to a
eve a majo

cal charact
d where th

d landscap
f the devel

design and
h quality pl

omic invest
The desig

king and cy
causes and

ages within
tiveness, a
hat thrive e
to stifle inn

lity is poor 
mporary an
principles a
pment reinf

ad in conju
Quality De
PF and Pla
 the Manu
also provi

nt and is th
pment.  All 
be assess
uivalent m
ed within th
achieve a s
ority of ‘gre

ter and dis
he followin

pe treatme
opment s

d landscap
laces. It 
tment, and
gn of the bu
ycling to a
d effects of

n the Distric
and emerg
economica
novative d
and verna

nd innovat
and achiev
forces a se

unction with
esign) and o
anning Pra

ual for Stree
ide advice 

he industry 
developm
ed using th

methodolog
he Local P
score of no

eens’.  

stinctiven
ng criteria

ent respo
site, its 

pe 

 
uilt 
ddress 
f our 

ct are 
ge as 
ally, 
esign 

acular 
ive 

ve 
ense of 

h Core 
other 
actice 
ets 
on the 

ment 
he 

gy, as 
Plan 
o 

ness 
a are 

nd 

Page 210



rel
vie

 
(2) its 

exi
 
(3) it i

ap
po

 
(4) exi

are
 
(5) ad

bu
cap

 
(6) any

sen
 
(7) the

ne
no

 
(8) ma

un
are

 
(9) res

the
be 

 
Develo
improv
be per
 
 

 4.89.

ationship
ews into, o

scale, for
isting buil

ncorporat
propriate 

ositively to

isting indi
ea are reta

equate co
ildings to
pacity and

y car park
nsitively l

ere will be
ighbourin

oise, odou

ajor develo
derstanda
e easy to m

sidential d
e ‘Building
delivered

opment of
ving the c
rmitted. 

The prov
developm
be met. R
designed
as possib
accommo
the refus
facilities s
ventilated
available

 with its im
over or ou

rm, height
ldings, bu

tes high q
texture, c

o the chara

ividual tre
ained; 

onsideratio
 ensure th
d local clim

king or oth
ocated an

e no unacc
ng propert
r, light int

opments w
able place
move thro

developme
g for Life 1
d by the de

f poor des
haracter a

vision of su
ments is fu
Refuse and
d to be con
ble within t
odate all th
e collectio
should be 
d cupboard

e, bin stora

mmediate 
ut of the si

t, massing
uilding line

uality, du
colour, pat
acter of th

ees or tree

on has be
hat they ar
matic con

her servic
nd designe

ceptable a
ies in term
rusion, or

will promo
es by creat
ough and h

ents of 10 
12’ criteria
evelopmen

sign that fa
and quality

itable was
ndamental
d recycling
venient an
he public r

he refuse c
n service. 
screened f
d. If conven
ge may be

102 

 surround
ite; 

g, and pro
es, roofsc

rable and 
ttern and a
he area; 

e groups t

een given t
re approp

nditions; 

ing areas
ed so as n

adverse im
ms of priv
r activity l

ote perme
ting space
have reco

 or more d
a have bee
nt.  

ails to tak
ty of an ar

ste manage
l if waste r

g storage a
nd easily a
realm. The
containers 
If sited at t
from public
nient exter

e accommo

dings and,

portions a
apes and 

sustainab
appearanc

hat contri

to the spa
riate to th

are appro
not to dom

mpact on t
acy, outlo
evels; 

eable, acce
es that co

ognisable 

dwellings 
en taken i

e the oppo
ea and the

ement facil
eduction a

and collecti
ccessible b

ey should b
to meet th
the front of
c footways
rnal access
odated to t

 where ap

are compa
skylines; 

ble materi
ce that wil

bute posit

aces betwe
eir functio

opriate to t
minate the 

he amenit
ook, daylig

essible an
onnect with
landmark 

should de
nto accou

ortunities 
e way it fu

ities within
and recyclin
on facilities
but also be
be of a suit
e needs of
f the prope

s or enclose
s to rear ga
he rear of 

ppropriate

atible with

ials of an 
ll contribu

tively to t

een and a
on, charac

the contex
public rea

ties of 
ght, sunlig

nd easily 
h each oth
features; 

emonstrat
unt and wo

 available
unctions w

n new 
ng targets 
s should b
e as unobt
table size t
f residents

erty, such 
ed in a we
ardens is 
the proper

e, 

h 

ute 

he 

round 
cter, 

xt and 
alm; 

ght, 

her, 

te how 
ould 

 for 
will not 

are to 
be 
rusive 
to 
s and 

ell-

rty. 

Page 211



 
Policy 
 
Acces
needed
Refuse
the be
 
 Ad

dev
 Sto

det
am

 Th
the

 
 

 4.90.

 4.91.

 4.92.

 4.93.

Refuse s
shabby a

DM26: Re

sible, wel
d in new d
e and recy
ginning o

dequate re
velopmen
orage of w
tract from

menity. 
ere is con
e collectio

The impo
now wide
incorpora
characte
improved
integral p

 

Trees are
to urban 
demands
climate c
built envi
distinctive
resilience

 
Applicant
best prac
contribut
during de
It will be 
the proxi
expert ad

 
The Cou
of new de
accordan

storage fac
appearance

efuse and 

l-designed
developme
ycling stor
f the desig

efuse and 
nt. 
wheelie bin
m the stree

nvenient a
on vehicles

ortance of t
ely recogni
ated in dev
r and biodi

d air quality
part of the 

e an impor
cooling an

s in building
change ada
ronment a
e characte
e. 

ts will be e
ctice guida
ion of trees
evelopmen
necessary
mity of tree
dvice wher

ncil will als
evelopmen
nce with th

ilities shou
e. 

Recycling

d and easy
ents to he
rage and c
gn proces

recycling 

ns, comm
et-scene, o

access, bo
s and wor

trees and g
sed. The C

velopment 
iversity and
y, shelter a
design pro

rtant eleme
nd providin
gs. They th
aptation. T
and new de
er and dive

expected to
nce for gu
s on and a

nt, and inco
y to have re
es and bui
re appropri

so seek to 
nt schemes
e latest Br

103 

uld not resu

g 

y to use w
elp the Co
collection
ss in new 

facilities 

unal wast
obstruct a

oth for occ
rkers. 

green spac
Council ex
proposals 
d provide o
and shade.
ocess. 

ent of gree
g micro-cli
herefore re
ree plantin

evelopmen
ersity of the

o refer to th
idance on 

adjacent to 
orporating 
egard to fu
ldings and
ate. 

ensure tha
s are prope
ritish Stand

ult in dark 

waste and 
uncil mee

n facilities 
developm

are provid

te bins an
access or d

cupiers of 

ces in deliv
pects such
in order to

other susta
. Landscap

n infrastru
imatic effec
epresent a 
ng should b
nt in a way 
e district an

he latest B
assessing
developm
them into t

uture proble
 applicants

at landscap
erly mainta
dards BS44

recesses o

recycling
et its recyc

should be
ment to ens

ded to ser

d refuse s
detract fro

the prope

vering high
h features t
o enhance 
ainability b
pe scheme

cture provi
cts that ca
key resou

be used to 
that streng

nd increase

ritish Stan
 the quality
ent sites, t
the design
ems that ca
s are enco

ped areas 
ained in the
428 best p

or a clutter

g facilities 
cling targe
e conside
sure that: 

rve the 

sacks do n
om reside

erties and

h quality pl
to be 
landscape
enefits, su

es should b

ision, cont
n reduce e

urce in term
help shap

gthens the 
e climate c

dards BS5
y and 
their protec

n of develo
an occur d

ouraged to 

provided a
e future, in
ractice gui

red or 

will be 
ets. 
red at 

not 
ntial 

 for 

aces is 

e 
uch 
be an 

ributing 
energy 
ms of 
pe the 

change 

5837 

ction 
pment. 

due to 
seek 

as part 
n 
idance. 

Page 212



 
Policy 
 
Where
of land
the new
 
(1) ref

lan
su

 
(2) en

to 
an

 
(3) ret

rep
sp

 
(4) wh

inf
loc

 
(5) wh

the
 
 

Resid
 

 4.94.

 

 4.95.

This is pa
benefit of
advice is 

DM27: La

e appropria
dscape de
w develop

flect, cons
ndscape o
rrounding

courage a
assist wit
d urban c

tain and in
place any 
ecies; 

here pract
filling and 
cal topogr

here appro
e existing 

dential Ex

Extensio
to better 
need pla
the Build
be consid

 rela
 com
 imp

In order t
characte
how it wi

articularly i
f occupiers
available 

andscape 

ate, devel
esign, imp
pment. La

serve or en
or streetsc
gs, adding

adaptation
th flood m
ooling; 

ncorporate
trees that

icable, us
top-soilin

raphic cha

opriate, ta
green infr

xtension

ns and alte
meet their
nning perm
ing Regula
dered in te

ationship w
mpatibility w
pact on the 

to demons
r of the site
ll relate to 

important i
s or the wid
on the Cou

Design 

opment p
lementatio
ndscape s

nhance th
cape and i
g visual int

n to climat
mitigation o

e existing 
t need to b

e material
ng, ensurin
aracter; 

ke opport
rastructur

ns 

erations to 
r housing n
mission (alt
ations). Ho
erms of: 

with the cha
with the ge
amenities

trate that a
e and the s
both the d

104 

in terms of
der commu
uncil’s web

proposals 
on and ma
schemes w

he charact
ntegrate t
terest and

te change
or tree pla

 healthy m
be remove

l excavate
ng that an

tunities to
re network

 dwellings 
needs witho
though the

owever, wh

aracter and
eneral char
s of neighb

a proposal 
surroundin
welling an

f communa
unity. Furth
bsite.   

should de
anagemen
will be exp

ter and dis
the develo
d amenity;

 by, for ex
anting to a

mature tre
ed with tre

ed from th
ny land re-

 connect t
k.  

are often a
out moving
ey generall
here permis

d appearan
racter of th
ouring pro

will contrib
ngs and tha
d neighbou

al amenity 
her tree an

emonstrat
nt as an in
pected to:

stinctivene
opment int
; 

xample, pr
assist with

es and he
ees of an a

e site for 
-modelling

the develo

a means o
g. Not all s
y require a
ssion is req

nce of the p
e locality 
perties 

bute positiv
at due rega
uring deve

areas for t
nd landsca

te a high q
ntegral pa
: 

ess of the
to its 

roviding a
h carbon c

edgerows 
appropria

re-contou
g respects

opment si

of enabling
uch propo
approval u
quired they

principal b

vely to the
ard is given
elopment, 

the 
pe 

quality 
rt of 

e local  

areas 
capture 

and 
te 

uring, 
s the 

te to 

people 
sals 
nder 
y will 

uilding 

 
n to 

Page 213



 
 4.96.

 
 4.97.

 
 4.98.

 
 4.99.

 
 4.100.

 
 
Policy 
 
Extens
criteria
 
(1) the

co
bu

planning 
proposals

The reten
requirem
extension
refuse/re
covered s
High Qua

Detailing 
ancillary 
appropria
contribute
bricks, ro

In relatio
the gaps 
importan
‘terracing
scene.  It
from the 

Extensio
adjoining

 hav
(gen

 ove
 loss

or g

In consid
significan
impact of

DM28: Re

sions and 
a are met:

e materials
mplement
ilding; 

application
s in the co

ntion of suf
ents of the
ns, includin

ecycling fac
specifically
ality Design

and mate
building. E

ate, repeat
e positively

oof tiles, wi

n to side e
between d
t character

g effect’ an
t is conside
front eleva

ns, alterati
g properties

ving an ove
nerally refe

erlooking o
s of sunligh
gardens 

dering thes
nt change i
f an extens

esidential 

alteration
  

s and des
t and enha

n drawings
ntext of ad

fficient ext
e original d
ng the rete
cilities and 
y by Core P
n) of the Lo

rials can b
Every effort
t any distin
y to the ch
ndow fram

extensions,
detached o
ristic of the
d detract f
ered good 
ation of the

ons or new
s in terms 

erbearing p
erred to as
r loss of pr
ht or daylig

e factors, r
in level bet
sion on the

Extension

ns to dwel

sign, inclu
ance the c

105 

s (elevation
djacent bui

ernal priva
dwelling is 
ention of ad

off-street 
Policy 11 (
ocal Plan P

be critical to
t should be

nctive archi
aracter of 

mes, doors 

, particular
or semi-det
e locality, a
from the ch
design pra

e existing d

w outbuildi
of: 

presence th
s its “mass
rivacy   
ght through

regard will
tween prop
e amenity o

ns 

lings will 

ding the p
character 

ns and sec
ldings. 

ate space t
essential in
dequate sp
parking. Th
(Built & His
Part 1 and 

o a succes
e made to 
itectural fe
the host b
and rain w

r care shou
tached hou

as it may re
haracter of
actice to se
dwelling. 

ngs can al

hrough the
ing”) 

h overshad

 be had as
perties, as 
of neighbo

be permit

pitch, style
and appea

ctions) sho

o meet the
n respect o
pace for ga
hese cons
storic Envir
Policy DM

ssful extens
retain and
atures and
uilding, inc

water pipes

uld be take
uses where
esult in a c
f the dwelli
et side exte

so adverse

eir size and

dowing of h

s to whethe
this may i

urs’ homes

tted where

e and spa
arance of 

ould show 

e continuin
of proposa
ardens, 
iderations 
ronment an

M25 (Desig

sion or oth
, where 
d materials
cluding fac
s. 

en to avoid 
e these are

cramped, 
ng and the
ensions ba

ely impact 

d position 

habitable ro

er there is 
ncrease th
s. 

e the follow

n of the ro
the host 

ng 
als for 

are 
nd 

gn). 

her 

s that 
cing 

infilling 
e an 

e street 
ack 

on 

ooms 

a 
he 

wing 

oof, 

Page 214



 
(2) the

cov
wid
an
acc

 
(3) two

req
the

 
(4) ext

day
ne
dra
roo
sin

 
Outsid
extens
the su
 
 

Garag
 

 4.101.

 

 4.102.

 
 4.103.

e design r
verage, bu
der street 
d similar s
ceptable; 

o storey o
quired to r
e creation

tensions w
ylight to, t
ighbourin
awn from 
om of the 
ngle storey

de the plan
sions will 
rrounding

ges and 

Ancillary 
frequentl
when per
needs ca
dwelling 
avoid cra
neighbou
dimensio
with Core

 

Within th
to landsc
surround
Converte
the addit
can pote
rural sett

Resident
common
accommo

respects a
ulk, mass
scene – i

style of dw

or second 
retain at le
 of a ‘terra

would not
the neares

ng dwelling
the mid-p
neighbou
y extensio

nning bou
only be pe

g landscap

other bu

buildings w
y be erecte
rmission is
areful cons
and with th

amping or c
uring prope
ons should 
e Policy 13

e countrys
cape chara
ings throu

ed tradition
ion of poor
ntially und
ing. 

tial annexe
ly develop
odation for

and respon
ing and ch
n streets w
welling, fr

storey ex
east a one
aced’ appe

t result in 
st habitab
gs. They s

point of the
uring prop
ons and 45

undaries, a
ermitted w
pe.  

uildings a

within the c
ed without 

s required, 
ideration in
he establis
cluttering t
erties. In th
comply wi

3 (Sustaina

side, it is im
acter and q
gh the use
al farm bu
rly designe
ermine the

es have gro
ed to provi
r members

106 

nds positi
haracter o
which hav

ront extens

xtensions 
e metre ga
earance;

unaccept
ble rooms 
should no
e nearest 

perty. The 
5° degree

as defined
where ther

ancillary

curtilages 
 the need f
the siting 
n terms of 

shed street
he site, or 

he case of 
ith approve
able Transp

mportant th
uality and 

e of inappro
ildings are

ed garages
e intrinsic c

own in pop
ide additio

s of the sam

ively to th
of the adja
ve a defini
sions will 

at first flo
ap to the s

able overl
or private

ormally be 
ground flo
line shoul
s for two s

d on the P
re would b

 to exist

of resident
for plannin
of garages
the relatio

t-scene. Ca
adversely 
garage pro
ed parking 
port) of the

hat ancillary
do not ‘su

opriate bui
e particular
s, sheds an
character o

pularity in r
nal semi-in

me family, 

e scale, h
acent prop
ite archite
not norm

oor level w
side bound

looking of
e amenity 

restricted
oor windo
ld be proje
storey ext

olicies Ma
be no harm

ing dwel

tial propert
ng consent
s and other
nship with 
are should
affecting t

oposals, in
guidance 

e Local Pla

y buildings
burbanise’
lding style

rly vulnerab
nd other ou
of the origin

ecent year
ndependen
particularly

eight, site
perties and
ectural rhy

mally be 

will normal
dary to pr

f, or loss o
space of 

d to within
ow of a ha
ected 60° 
tensions. 

ap, dwellin
mful impa

llings 

ties can 
t. Neverthe
r outbuildin
 the main 

d be taken 
the amenit
nternal floo
in accorda

an Part 1. 

s are symp
’ their rural
s or mater
ble to harm
utbuildings
nal building

rs and are 
nt 
y older rela

e 
d the 
ythm 

lly be 
event 

of 

n a line 
bitable 
for 

ng 
ct on 

eless, 
ngs 

to 
ties of 
rspace 

ance 

pathetic 
l 
rials. 
m by 
s that 
g or its 

atives 

Page 215



 
 
Policy 
 
Garage
where 
 
(1) the

dw
of 

 
(2) the

exi
 
Outsid
other a
propor
of anc
propos
form a
 
 

Backl
 

 4.104.

 

who may
opposed 
amenity s
or subord
capable o
considere
criteria w
ensure th

DM29: Ga

es and oth
the follow

e size, sca
welling and

the localit

e use of m
isting dwe

de the plan
ancillary d
rtion to, a
illary acco
sals shou

an addition

land Dev

The cons
attached 
and villag
developm
of access
characte
where a 
the same
house at 
house at 
within es
set out in
proposals

y need add
to a separ

space as t
dinate to th
of being so
ed accepta

will be appli
hat the intr

arages an

her buildin
wing criter

ale, siting 
d its curtil
ty;  

materials is
elling. 

nning bou
domestic b
nd located
ommodati
ld not be 
nal dwellin

velopmen

struction of
to existing

ges and ca
ment requir
s and park
r and quali
house is c
e access, is
the rear a
the front. 
tablished r

n Policy DM
s.  

itional care
rate dwellin
he main dw
he main dw
old or let as
able within 
ed to prop
insic beaut

d other bu

ngs ancill
ria are me

and desig
age, the e

s sympath

undaries, a
buildings
d in close 
on as a se
of a size o
ng or dwe

nt 

f a dwelling
g houses is
an provide 
res careful

king, the am
ity of the lo
onstructed
s rarely sa
nd the dist
Neverthele
residential 
M30 provid

107 

e and supp
ng, it must
welling hou
welling and
s a separa
 the settlem

posals outs
ty and cha

uildings a

ary to an 
et:  

gn relates 
establishe

hetic to th

as defined
should be
 proximity
eparate dw
or design,
ellings.  

g or dwellin
s a commo
a useful so
 planning, 

menities of
ocal enviro
d immediat
atisfactory d
turbance a
ess, the de
areas may

des the fram

port. To qu
t share the 
use. Annex
d should no
ate unit.  In
ment plann
side of the 
aracter of th

ncillary to

existing d

satisfacto
ed street s

e characte

d on the P
e subordin
y to, the p
welling wi
 or be cap

ngs on par
on form of d
ource of ne
particularl

f neighbour
onment. ‘Ta
tely behind
due to the 
and loss of 
evelopmen
y often be 
mework for

ualify as an
same acc

xes should
ot be desig
 principle, 

ning bound
planning b
he country

o existing 

dwelling w

orily to the
cene, and

er and app

olicies Ma
nate in sca
rincipal dw
ll not be p

pable of se

rts of large 
developme
ew homes
y in relatio
ring proper
andem’ dev
 another h
difficulties 
privacy su
t of small v
appropriat
r assessing

n annexe a
cess, parkin
d also be s
gned to be 
annexes a

daries but s
boundaries
yside is pro

dwellings

will be perm

e existing 
d the chara

pearance 

ap, garage
ale and 
welling; th
permitted 
everance, 

 back gard
ent within t
. However

on to the pr
rties, and t
velopment

house and 
 of access

uffered by t
vacant site
te and the 
g such 

as 
ng and 
maller 

are 
stricter 
s to 
otected. 

s 

mitted 

acter 

of the 

es and 

he use 
and 
to 

dens 
towns 
, such 
rovision 
the 
t, 
shares 
 to the 
the 

es 
criteria 

Page 216



 
Policy 
 
Within
in rear
follow
 
(1) the

do
ne

 
(2) the

on
 
(3) the

lan
an

 
 

Adver
 

 4.105.

 
 
Policy 
 
Advert
charac
regard
illumin
Advert
detrim
 
 
 
 

DM30: Ba

n the plann
r domestic
ing criteri

e provisio
oes not hav
ighbourin

e mass an
, or result

e developm
ndscape fe
d appeara

rtisemen

Well-des
and vitali
poorly de
discord a
who may
framewo
and listed
and illum
permitted
Redunda
sought w

DM31: Ad

tisements
cter and a
d to size, d
nation, and
tisements

mental to p

ackland D

ning boun
c gardens 
a are met

n of safe a
ve an una

ng propert

nd scale of
t in the los

ment does
eatures w
ance of the

nts 

igned and 
ty of the st

esigned or 
and clutter,
y be visuall
rk that will 
d building c

mination. Fr
d where the
ant signs sh
where new 

dvertisem

s and signs
ppearance

design, co
d cumulat

s and signs
public safe

evelopme

daries, as
and other

: 

and conve
acceptable
ies in term

f developm
ss of priva

s not caus
hich make
e locality 

located ad
treet scene
inappropri
 or cause 
y or mobili
be used in
consent in 
ree standin
ey do not i
hould be re
signage is

ents 

s will be p
e of the lo

olour, mate
tive impac
s will not 

ety or to th

108 

ent 

s defined o
r backland

enient veh
e adverse 
ms of nois

ment will n
acy to, exi

se the loss
e an impo
or its biod

dvertiseme
e and bene
iately locat
obstruction
ity impaire
n the deter
 relation to

ng ‘A’ boar
mpinge up
emoved an

s proposed

permitted 
ocation an
erials, con
ct with oth
be permit

he ameniti

on the Po
d sites wil

hicular acc
impact on

se, light or

not have a
sting hom

s of trees,
rtant cont

diversity.

ents can co
efit the loca
ted adverti
n to pedes
d. Policy D
rmination o
o advertise
ds require 

pon pedest
nd opportu
. 

where the
nd/or the h
nstruction
her advert
tted where
ies of the 

licies Map
ll be perm

cess and p
n the amen
r other dis

an overbe
mes and ga

, shrubs o
tribution t

ontribute to
al economy
sing can c
trians and 

DM31 aims
of planning
ments, inc
permissio

trian move
nities to re

ey are sym
host buildi
, siting, le
isements 
e they wou
area.     

p, develop
mitted whe

parking w
nities of 
sturbance

earing imp
ardens; 

or other 
to the char

o the vibran
y. Howeve

create visua
other peo

s to provide
g, advertise
cluding sign
n and will 

ement or sa
educe sign

mpathetic 
ing, havin
evel of 
in the vic

uld be 

pment 
re the 

which 

; 

pact 

racter 

ncy 
er, 
al 
ple 
e a 
ement 
nage 
only be 
afety. 
age 

to the 
g 

inity.  

Page 217



Telec
 

 4.106.

 

 4.107.

 
 
Policy 
 
The er
follow
 
(1) the

pra
bu

 
(2) wh

ap
an

 
(3) the

ass
 
(4) the

ass
 
(5) the

des
 
All pro

ommuni

Modern t
phones n
telecomm
and lead 
telecomm
and can c
or other h
National 
improvem
environm

 

Applicatio
not seek 
need for 
the propo
However
considere
apparatu

DM32: Te

rection of 
ing criteri

e apparatu
acticable, 
ilding or s

here an ex
paratus w
d trees, o

e apparatu
set or its s

e proposa
sociated b

e potentia
sign of th

oposals sh

ications 

telecommu
now formin
munications

to econom
munications
cause harm
heritage as
Park. The 

ment of the
mental impa

ons will be
to prevent
the telecom

osal meets
r, the use o
ed as appr
s is remov

elecommu

telecomm
a are satis

us uses an
without c

structure u

xisting mas
would be s
r by lands

us would n
setting;  

al incorpor
buildings 

l for phys
e apparat

hould incl

Infrastru

unications h
g an essen
s networks

mic benefits
s infrastruc
m to the ch
ssets and t
Council th

e telecomm
act to a min

e determine
t competitio
mmunicatio
s Internatio
of planning
ropriate to 
ved by the 

unications

munication
sfied:  

n existing 
causing un
utilised; 

st, buildin
screened a
scaping in

not have a

rates appr
or suppor

ical interf
us.  

ude a land

109 

ucture 

have grow
ntial part o
s can help 
s. Howeve
cture is oft
haracter an
to the spec
herefore se
munications
nimum. 

ed solely o
on betwee
ons system

onal Comm
g conditions

ensure tha
operator if

s Infrastruc

ns apparat

 mast, bui
nacceptab

ng or othe
as far as p
ncorporate

an advers

ropriate m
rting struc

ference ha

dscape an

wn rapidly in
of everyday
to promote

er, the sitin
ten a conce
nd appeara
cial qualitie
eeks to fac
s network w

on planning
en different
m, or deter

mission guid
s or legal a
at any mas
f they beco

cture  

tus will be

ilding or o
ble harm to

r structur
practicable
ed within t

e impact o

materials o
ctures;  

as been m

nd visual a

n recent ye
y life. Impro
e sustainab
g and desi
ern for loca
ance of Co
es of the So
ilitate the g
whilst keep

g grounds. 
operators

rmine healt
delines for 
agreement
st, equipme
ome redund

e permitted

other struc
o the appe

e is not av
e by the ex
the propos

on a desig

or treatmen

inimised i

assessme

ears with m
ovements 
ble commu
ign of 
al commun
onservation
outh Down
growth and
ping the 

The Coun
s, question 
th safegua
r public exp
ts may be 
ent or othe
dant in the

d where th

cture whe
earance o

vailable, t
xisting lan
sal;  

gnated her

nts for an

in the sitin

ent which w

mobile 
to 
unities 

nities 
n Areas 
ns 
d 

ncil will 
the 

ards if 
posure. 

er 
e future. 

he 

re 
f any 

he 
ndform 

ritage 

y 

ng and 

will, 

Page 218



where 
townsc
cumul
 
 
Histo

 4.108.

 4.109.

 4.110.

 4.111.

 4.112.

appropria
cape or up
atively wit

ric Envir
 
The NPP
or landsc
considera
asset inc
planning 

 
The Distr
conserve
Environm
managem
of sustain
the grow
significan
setting.  

 
The need
wealth of
and Plan
applying 
sympathe
there mu
contribut

 
It is the a
assessm
settings, 
significan
informatio
the asset
avoid abo
available

 
There are
valuable 
and appe
including
pattern, s
furniture,

ate, show 
pon the se
th other n

ronment 

PF defines 
cape identi
ation in pla

cludes desi
authority (

rict’s herita
ed or enhan
ment and H
ment of the
nable deve
ing tourism
nce of desi

d for locally
f national g
ning Pract
to individu
etically ma
st be a cle
ion of its s

applicant’s 
ent of the 
and the w

nce of a he
on to demo
t. Early pre
ortive and 

e from Histo

e 15 Cons
part of the

earance of 
 the scale,
street front
 trees and

the impac
etting of h

nearby tele

heritage a
fied as hav

anning dec
gnated he
(including l

age assets 
nced in ac

High Quality
e historic e
elopment a
m sector. G
gnated an

y specific p
guidance o
tice Guidan
ual heritage
anage herit
ear underst
etting. 

responsib
impacts of
ider histori

eritage ass
onstrate th
e-applicatio
costly wor
oric Englan

ervation A
e district’s b

these area
, style and 
tages and 
 open spac

110 

ct of the p
heritage as
ecommun

asset as ‘A 
ving a deg

cisions, bec
eritage asse
local listing

 are well d
cordance w
y Design) 

environmen
and adds v
Great weigh

d non-des

planning po
on heritage
nce, togeth
e designati
tage asset
tanding of 

ility to prov
f their prop
ic environm

set are ther
he impact o
on work by
rk at a later
nd. 

Areas within
built and cu
as can be 
materials 
building lin
ces.  Thes

proposal in
ssets, eith
ications re

building, m
ree of sign
cause of h
ets and as
g).’ 

ocumente
with Core 
of the Loca
nt is a key 
value to reg
ht will be g
ignated he

olicies is v
e assets co
her with the
ions. Howe
s as part o
the signific

vide suffici
posal on he
ment.  App
refore requ
of the prop
y the devel
r stage. Re

n the Plan 
ultural heri
derived fro
of the build

nes, bound
se features

n the lands
her in isola
elated dev

monument,
nificance m
eritage inte
sets identi

d and will c
Policy 11 (
al Plan Par
componen

generation,
iven to con

eritage ass

ery limited
ontained wi
e relevant 
ever, in ord
of the deve
cance of th

ent informa
eritage ass
lications af

uired to pro
osed deve
oper is enc
elevant adv

area, repre
tage. The 

om many d
dings, the 

dary structu
 and other

scape and
ation or 
velopmen

, site, plac
meriting 
erest. Heri
ified by the

continue to
(Built & His
rt 1. Sensi

nt in the de
, business 
nserving th
sets and th

d, given the
ithin the N
legislation
der to 

elopment p
he asset an

ation and 
sets and/ o
ffecting the

ovide suffic
elopment u
couraged t
vice is also

esenting a
special ch

different fea
historic str

ures, stree
r significan

d 

t. 

e, area 

tage 
e local 

o be 
storic 
tive 

elivery 
and 

he 
eir 

e 
PPF 
 

rocess, 
nd the 

r their 
e 
cient 
upon 
to 
o 

 
haracter 
atures 
reet 
t 
t 

Page 219



 
 
Policy 
 
Develo
propos
signifi
and se
 
All dev
require
the ass
 
(a) an 

sig
set

(b) an 
sig

(c) a s
det
to 

 
Where
Counc
new de
occurr
 
 

Areas
 

 4.113.

characte
which sh

DM33: He

opment af
sal would 
cance of t

etting.   

velopment
ed to subm
set, includ

assessm
gnificance
tting; 
assessm

gnificance
statement 
tails of an
the signif

e the loss o
cil will see
evelopme
red. 

s of Esta

The distr
make a v
villages i
necessar
Conserva
characte
particular
These ar

 Coo
 38-8
 Cric
 Har
 Hig
 Lan
 Nor

ristics are 
ould be us

eritage As

ffecting a h
make a p

the heritag

t proposa
mit suppo
ding: 

ent of the
e of the aff

ent of the
e of the as

of justific
ny measur
ficance of 

of the who
ek, by a leg
nt will pro

blished 

rict includes
valuable co
n which th
ry architect
ation Areas
r and quali
r considera
reas are de

oksbridge 
86 Fort Ro
cketfield, N
rmers Hill, 
h Hurst Clo

nd between
rth of Villag

identified i
sed, where

ssets 

heritage a
ositive co
ge asset, t

ls that aff
orting info

 archaeolo
fected ass

 impact of
set or its s

cation for t
res propos
the asset

ole or part
gal agreem
oceed with

Characte

s a numbe
ontribution 
ey are loca
tural or his
s. Howeve
ity that is w
ation when
efined on th

oad, Newha
Newick 
Newick 
ose and A
n Western 
ge Hall, Ne

111 

n individua
e appropria

asset will o
ontribution
taking acc

fect a herit
rmation p

ogical, arc
set, includ

f the prop
setting; 
the propo
sed to avo
. 

t of a herit
ment and/
hin a reaso

er 

er of well-e
to the dist

ated. Thes
storic intere
er, it is cons
worthy of re
n planning 
he Policies

aven 

llington Ro
Road and 

ewick 

al Conserv
ate, to infor

only be pe
n to conse
count of it

tage asse
proportion

chitectura
ding any c

posed deve

osed devel
oid, minim

tage asse
or conditi
onable tim

stablished
tinctive cha
se areas do
est to meri
sidered tha
etention an
application
s Map at: 

oad, Newic
West Poin

vation Area
rm develop

ermitted w
erving or e
ts charact

t or its set
ate to the 

al, historic
ontributio

elopment 

lopment, t
mise or mit

t can be ju
on, to ens

mescale af

residentia
aracter of t
o not posse
t designati
at all have 
nd therefor
ns are bein

ck 
nt, Newick 

a Appraisal
pment prop

where the 
enhancing
ter, appea

tting will b
 significan

c or other 
on made b

on the 

together w
tigate any

ustified, th
sure that t
fter the los

al areas tha
the towns o
ess the 
ion as 
a special 

re warrant 
ng determi

ls 
posals. 

g the 
rance 

be 
nce of 

by its 

with 
y harm 

he 
the 
ss has 

at 
or 

ned.  

Page 220



 
 
Policy 
 
Develo
Map, w
terms 
covera
and gr
 
 
SUST
 

 4.114.

 

Footp
 

 4.115.

 Sou
 Got
 Lew
 Firle
 St P
 Gle
 Belg
 Blat
 Chy
 Chy
 Cor
 Sutt
 Nor
 Sou

DM34: Ar

opment wi
will be per
of the gap

age, set-ba
rass verge

TAINABL

The need
manner a
walking, 
Plan see
13 (Susta
increase 
traffic con

path, Cyc

Walking a
and prov
transport
daily trav
cycle and
commun
and villag
number o

uth of Wes
te Lane, R
wes Road, 
e Road, Se
Peters Roa
be Drive, S
grave Roa
tchingdon 
yngton Roa
yngton Wa
rsica Hall, S
ton Park R
rth of North
uth of Wive

reas of Es

ithin Area
rmitted wh
ps betwee
ack from t
es.  

LE TRAVE

d to encou
and to ens
cycling and
ks to addre
ainable Tra
in sustaina
ngestion. 

cle and B

and cycling
ide the mo
t. Both offe
vel to schoo
d bridleway
ities by pro
ges into the
of long dist

tern Road,
ingmer 
Ringmer 

eaford 
ad, Seaford
Seaford 
d, Westdo
Road/Rich
ad and Cuc
y, Seaford
Seaford 

Road, Seaf
h Common
elsfield Gre

stablished 

s of Estab
here it refle
en building
the street,

EL 

rage peop
ure maxim
d public tra
ess. The p
ansport) of
able travel

Bridleway

g are the id
ost environ
er significan
ol or work 
y network a
oviding saf
e surround
tance path

112 

, Newick 

d 

own Road a
hmond Ter
ckmere Ro

d 

ford 
n Road, Wi
een Road, 

 Characte

blished Ch
ects the e
gs, buildin
, boundary

le to move
mum acces
ansport are
policies in t
f the Local 
 modes, th

y Netwo

deal forms
mentally b
nt potentia
within the 
also contri
fe, attractiv
ding countr
s, e.g. Van

and Beaco
rrace, Seaf
oad, Seafo

velsfield G
Wivelsfield

er 

haracter, a
existing ch
ng height, 
y treatme

e around th
sibility to n
e two of th
this section
Plan Part 

hereby red

rk 

s of travel f
beneficial a
al to replace
towns and
butes towa

ve and con
ryside. The
nguard Wa

on Road, S
ford 
ord 

Green 
d Green 

as defined
haracter of

building s
nts, matur

he district in
new develo
e key issue

n suppleme
1 by seeki
ucing air p

or many sh
and healthi
e short car

d villages. T
ards the cr
venient ac

e plan area
ay. 

Seaford 

d on the P
f the area 
size, site 
re trees, h

n a sustain
opment by 
es that the
ent Core P
ing to achi

pollution an

horter jour
est modes
r trips, part
The footpa
reation of h
ccess from
a includes 

olicies 
in 

hedges 

nable 

e Local 
Policy 

eve an 
nd 

neys 
s of 
ticularly 
ath, 
healthy 
 towns 
a 

Page 221



 4.116.

 
 
Policy 
 
Develo
amenit
will on
alterna
of the 
 
 

Statio
 

 4.117.

 
 
Policy 
 
Develo
spaces
 
 

Forme
 

 4.118.

 

The Cou
and cycli
developm
access, a
order to m
both tran
footpath,
to ensure

DM35: Fo

opment th
ty value o

nly be perm
ative facili
developm

on Parkin

Rail trave
reduce th
parking a
and to re
stations. 
spaces to
parking w

DM36: St

opment th
s on sites

er Lewes

The route
provide a
and Sout
Transpor

ncil suppo
ng routes t

ment are re
as set out i
maintain a
sport and 
 cycle and

e its conve

ootpath, C

hat would h
of the exist
mitted wh
ity of equi

ment.  

ng 

el has an im
he need fo
at railway s
educe the d

 The Coun
o alternativ
where there

tation Park

hat would r
 adjacent 

s to Uckf

e of the for
an addition
th Coast R
rt in 2017, 

rts the dev
throughout

equired to m
in Core Po
nd further 
recreation
 bridleway
nience, sa

Cycle and B

have a ha
ting or pro
ere this im
valent or 

mportant ro
r longer dis

stations is i
demand for
ncil will the
ve uses an
e is a dem

king 

result in th
to railway

field railw

rmer Lewe
al rail link 

Rail Corrido
concluded

113 

velopment 
t the distric
make prop

olicy 13 of t
encourage
, it is impo

y network is
afety and a

Bridleway

rmful imp
oposed fo
mpact can
improved

ole in trave
stance car
important t
r on-street

erefore resi
nd will enco
onstrable s

he perman
y stations 

way line

es to Uckfie
between B

or Study, p
d that a tran

of a netwo
ct and all p
per provisio
the Local P
e walking a
rtant to en
s adequate
ttractivene

y Network

pact on the
ootpath, cy
n be satisfa
d quality w

el demand 
r journeys. 
to encoura
t parking in
ist the loss
ourage the
shortage.

nent loss 
will not b

eld railway 
Brighton an
ublished b
nsport cas

ork of high 
proposals f
on for pede
Plan Part 1
and cycling
sure that t

ely protecte
ess for use

e convenie
ycle or bri
actorily m

would be d

managem
 The avail

age people
n residentia
s of public c
 provision 

of public 
e permitte

line has th
nd London
y the Depa
e could be

quality wa
for new 
estrian and
1. Howeve
g as a mea
the existing
ed or enha
rs.     

ence, safe
idleway ne

mitigated o
delivered a

ment by hel
lability of c

e to travel b
al streets c
car parking
of increas

car parkin
ed.  

he potentia
.  The Lon
artment for
e made for 

alking 

d cycle 
r, in 

ans of 
g, 
anced 

ety or 
etwork 

or an 
as part 

lping to 
car 
by train 
close to 
g 
ed 

ng 

al to 
don 
r 
such a 

Page 222



114 

scheme subject to additional economic growth.  East Sussex County Council 
and Lewes District Council support the reinstatement of the line in order to 
provide additional rail capacity in the county, in line with the objectives of the 
Local Transport Plan 2011-2026 and the East Sussex Rail Strategy.  

 
 
Policy DM37: Former Lewes to Uckfield railway line 
 
Development that would significantly prejudice the reinstatement of the former 
Lewes to Uckfield railway line, as shown on the Policies Map, will not be 
permitted. 
  

Page 223



115 

APPENDICES 
 
 

  

Page 224



116 

APPENDIX 1: GLOSSARY 
 
This glossary is neither a statement of law nor an interpretation of the law and its 
status; it is only an introductory guide to planning policy terminology and should not 
be used as a source for statutory definitions. Reference should also be made to the 
Glossary within the NPPF. 
 
Advertisement 
Any word, letter, model, sign, placard, board, notice, awning, blind, device or 
representation, whether illuminated or not, in the nature of, and employed wholly or 
partly for the purposes of, advertisement, announcement or direction. 
 
Affordable housing 
Housing provided by a council or housing association which is available below the 
market cost level. This can include homes rented at rent levels at approximately 50% 
of the local market level (social rented), homes rented at affordable rent levels at 
approximately 80% of the market rent (affordable rent), homes that are sold as a part 
buy/ part rent (shared ownership) or homes that are sold as a part equity purchase 
(shared equity).  See also, Intermediate housing below. 
 
Agricultural Land Classification (ACL) 
Method of assessing the quality of farmland to enable informed decisions to be made 
about its future use within the planning system. Defra guidelines on the classification 
are as follows: 
 
Grade 1 - Excellent 
Grade 2 - Very Good 
Grade 3a - Good 
Grade 3b - Moderate 
Grade 4 - Poor 
Grade 5 - Very Poor 
 
Ambient Noise 
Totally encompassing sound in a given situation at a given time composed of sound 
from all sources near and far. 
 
Amenities 
Those qualities of life enjoyed by people that can be influenced by the surrounding 
environment in which they live or work.  
 
Appropriate Assessment  
An assessment that is required to be undertaken under a European Directive in 
order to assess the impact of a plan, project or proposal on sites designated to 

Page 225



117 

protect flora, fauna and habitats of European-wide interest, such as Special 
Protection Areas (SPAs), Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) and Ramsar Sites. 
 
Archaeological Notification Area (ANA) 
An area that indicates the existence, or probable existence, of archaeological 
heritage assets.  The purpose of an ANA is to identify where there is a likelihood of 
archaeological works being necessary when development of any kind is planned. 
 
Ashdown Forest 
The Ashdown Forest is located within Wealden District and forms part of a complex 
of heathlands that support breeding bird species of European importance, 
particularly the nightjar and Dartford warbler. It is a designated Special Protection 
Area, Special Area of Conservation, and Site of Special Scientific Interest.   
 
Authority Monitoring Report (AMR) 
Report prepared by a local authority, which assesses the impact of policies and 
whether targets for these policies are being met.  Each Authority Monitoring Report 
is published at the end of the calendar year and it applies to the previous financial 
year. 
 
Backland Development 
Land located behind a street frontage which is not directly visible from the street and 
is surrounded by other development, including rear gardens and private yards, as 
well as larger undeveloped sites. 
 
Biodiversity 
The variety of plant and animal species in an environment. 
 
Brownfield Sites/ Previously Developed Land 
Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure. This excludes: 
 
 land that is or has been occupied by agricultural or forestry buildings (including 

nurseries) 
 land that has been developed for minerals extraction or waste disposal by landfill 

purposes where provision for restoration has been made through development 
control procedures 

 land in built-up areas such as private residential gardens, parks, recreation 
grounds and allotments 

 land that was previously-developed but where the remains of the permanent 
structure or fixed surface structure have blended into the landscape in the 
process of time. 

 
Change of use 
Change in the use of a building or other land for another purpose. In considering a 
change of use it is normally necessary to establish whether the change is “material” 

Page 226



118 

and whether by virtue of the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) Order 1987 (as amended), development requiring planning permission is 
involved. 
 
Community Facilities 
Facilities or services which meet the needs of communities, including open space, 
sport and recreational facilities, community halls, doctor’s surgeries, libraries, public 
houses, places of worship, local shops and post offices, and cultural buildings. 
 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
A levy that local planning authorities can choose to charge on new developments in 
their area, in order that the burden of new infrastructure costs is shared by all 
development in a proportionate manner. Lewes District Council has implemented a 
CIL charging schedule with a list (known as the 123 List) of infrastructure projects on 
which the funds can be spent. 
 
Conservation Area 
Area designated under the Town and Country Planning (Listed Building and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 on account of its special architectural or historic 
interest, the character and appearance of which it is desirable to preserve and 
enhance. 
 
Designated Children’s Play Space 
Designated areas for children and young people containing a range of facilities and 
an environment that has been designed to provide focused opportunities for outdoor 
play.  
 
Development 
The carrying out of building, engineering, mining or other operations in, on, over and 
under land, or the making of a material change of use of any building or land. 
 
Developer Contributions 
Contributions made by a developer to mitigate the impact of development, either by 
paying money for the works to be carried out or by directly providing facilities or 
works either on or off-site 
 
Development Plan Document (DPD) 
Spatial planning documents that comprise the development plan for Lewes District. 
They are subject to independent examination and are geographically presented on 
the Policies Map. 
 
Environment Agency 
Government body responsible for wide-ranging matters, including the management 
of water resources, surface water drainage, flooding and water quality. 

Page 227



119 

 
Environmental Assessment 
A written evaluation of the effect on the environment of a proposed development 
(also known as an Environmental Impact Statement). 
 
Evidence Base 
The information and data gathered by local authorities to justify the "soundness" of 
the policy approach set out in the Local Plan, including physical, economic, and 
social characteristics of an area. 
 
Geodiversity 
The variety of different types of geology, landforms, soils and physical processes in a 
particular region. 
 
Greenfield Site 
Land that has not been previously built on. 
 
Gypsies and Travellers 
“Persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their race or origin, including such 
persons who on grounds only of their own or their family’s or dependants’ 
educational or health needs or old age have ceased to travel temporarily, but 
excluding members of an organised group of travelling showpeople or circus people 
travelling together as such.” as defined with Annex 1 of Government’s Planning 
policy for traveller sites (August 2015). 
 
Habitats of Principal Importance 
Habitats identified as requiring action in the UK Biodiversity Action Plan and listed 
under Section 41 of the Natural Environment & Rural Communities Act 2006. 
 
Heritage Assets 
Designated heritage assets are: 

 Scheduled Monuments 
 Listed Buildings 
 Parks & gardens included on the ‘Register of Historic Parks and Gardens of 

special historic interest in England’ (Historic England) 
 Conservation Areas designated under the relevant legislation 
 Registered Battlefields 
 Protected Wrecks  

 
Non-designated heritage assets include, but are not limited to, Archaeological 
Notification Areas and heritage assets identified on the Historic Environment Record 
(ESCC) and locally listed heritage assets. 
 
 
 

Page 228



120 

Historic England 
Government advisory body responsible for all aspects of protecting and promoting 
the historic environment 
 
Housing Density 
Number of dwellings per hectare. 
 
Housing Stock 
Total residential accommodation in the district comprising all housing types and 
tenure. 
 
Housing tenure 
The condition that land or buildings are held or occupied under; predominate tenures 
include owner-occupied (i.e. freehold, leasehold), privately-rented, socially-rented 
and shared ownership (part-owned and part-rented). 
 
Infill Development 
The development of a vacant site in a substantially developed frontage or area. 
 
Intermediate Housing 
Homes for sale and rent provided at a cost above social rent, but below market 
levels subject to the criteria in the Affordable Housing definition in the National 
Planning Policy Framework. These can include shared equity (shared ownership and 
equity loans), other low cost homes for sale and intermediate rent, but not affordable 
rented housing. 
 
Reference is often made to ‘low cost housing’ when the term affordable housing is 
used.  It is important to note that such housing does not usually involve any form of 
public subsidy (unlike the products highlighted in the previous paragraph) and is 
often housing such as small starter units and homes with low cost specifications. 
Such housing would not be classed as affordable housing when implementing the 
policies of this plan.  See also, Affordable housing above. 
 
Irreplaceable Habitats 
Habitats which would be technically very difficult (or take a very significant time) to 
restore, recreate or replace once destroyed, taking into account their age, 
uniqueness, species diversity or rarity. They include ancient woodland, ancient and 
veteran trees, blanket bog, limestone pavement, sand dunes, salt marsh and lowland 
fen. 
 
Listed Building 
Building considered worthy of special protection which are included and described in 
the statutory List of Buildings of Special Architectural and Historic Interest published 

Page 229



121 

by the Department of Culture, Media and Sport. The alteration, demolition or 
extension of a listed building requires special consent.  
 
Local Development Scheme (LDS) 
Document which sets out the programme for the preparation of the Local 
Development Documents.  
 
Local Plan 
Portfolio of documents which plans for the future development of an area. The main 
purposes are to: 
• develop policies and general proposals and relate them to precise areas of land; 
• provide a detailed basis for development control; 
• provide a detailed basis for co-ordinating the development and other use of land; 
• bring local and detailed planning issues before the public. 
 
Local Wildlife Site  
Non-statutory area designated at county or regional level. 
 
Material Planning Consideration 
Factor to be taken into account when deciding the outcome of a planning application. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
The Government’s national planning policy document which was first published in 
March 2012 and sets out the key principles for sustainable development. 
 
Natural England 
Government body responsible for ensuring that England's natural environment, 
including its land, flora and fauna, freshwater and marine environments, geology and 
soils are protected and improved. 
 
Neighbourhood Plan 
Plan prepared by a Parish Council, Neighbourhood Forum, or other locally 
constituted community group, for a particular neighbourhood. A neighbourhood plan 
comes into force as part of the statutory development plan once it has been 
approved at a referendum.    
 
Permanent Gypsy and Traveller Pitch 
Where caravans can be located all year round, as opposed to transit sites where 
caravans can be stationed on pitches for up to 3 months, or other specified length of 
time.  Pitches can be provided, and managed, by local authorities or privately owned. 
 
 
 
 

Page 230



122 

Permitted Development 
Certain categories of development, as specified in the General Permitted 
Development Order, which can be carried out without having to obtain specific 
planning permission. 
 
Planning Practice Guidance 
Web- based resource of national planning guidance covering a range of topics and 
linked to the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Pollution 
Anything that affects the quality of land, air, water or soils, which might lead to an 
adverse impact on human health, the natural environment or general amenity. 
Pollution can arise from a range of emissions, including smoke, fumes, gases, dust, 
steam, odour, noise, vibration and light. 
 
Policies Map 
Statutory part of the Local Plan showing, in map form, where the policies of the Plan 
apply. 
 
Registered Social Landlords (RSL)  
Independent housing organisations registered with the Housing Corporation under 
the Housing Act 1996. Most are housing associations, but there are also trusts, co-
operatives and companies. 
 
Residential Institutions 
Uses falling within Class C2 of the Town & Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 
1987 (as amended) i.e. residential care homes, hospitals, nursing homes, boarding 
schools, residential colleges and training centres. 
 
Rural Exception Sites 
Small sites used for affordable housing in perpetuity where sites would not normally 
be used for housing. Rural exception sites seek to address the needs of the local 
community by accommodating households who are either current residents or have 
an existing family or employment connection. Small numbers of market homes may 
be allowed at the local authority's discretion, for example where essential to enable 
the delivery of affordable units without grant funding. 
 
Shared Housing 
Housing in multiple occupation (HMOs), bedsits, hostels, and specialist student 
accommodation. 
 
Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) 
Area designated by Natural England under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 

Page 231



123 

Special Area of Conservation (SAC) 
Special Areas of Conservation are defined in the Habitats Directive (92/43/EEC), 
also known as the Directive on the Conservation of Natural Habitats and Wild Fauna 
and Flora. They are defined to protect the 220 habitats and approximately 1,000 
species listed in Annex I and II of the Directive. 
 
Special Protection Area (SPA)   
Special Protection Areas are strictly protected in accordance with Article 4 of the EC 
Birds Directive. They are classified for rare and vulnerable birds (listed in Appendix I 
of the Directive) and for regularly occurring migratory species. 

 

Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) 
Document setting the ways in which the Local Planning Authority will involve the 
community in the planning system. This includes consultation on the preparation of 
plans and the determination of planning applications. 
 
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
A procedure (set out in the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes 
Regulations 2004) which requires the formal environmental assessment of certain 
plans and programmes which are likely to have significant effects on the 
environment. 
 
Strategic Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (SHELAA) 
The purpose of a SHELAA is to identify new housing sites that have a good chance 
of development. It will include those sites that already have planning permission or 
are allocated for housing in the Local Plan. In addition, landowners, agents and 
housebuilders, public and private bodies and members of the public may suggest 
other sites. Only land in the more sustainable locations will be included in the plan. 
 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 
A study of the way the housing market works in any particular area. It looks into the 
type of households living in the area, where they work and what sort of housing they 
live in. It attempts to estimate future housing needs across the area, broken down by 
tenure and size of housing. 
 
Suburbanise 
Suburbanisation occurs when certain elements of property design or ornamentation, 
which are particularly identified with towns and the urban environment, are imported 
into the countryside. These imports have little regard local character and can have a 
visually harmful effect on the intrinsic quality and local distinctiveness of the 
surrounding rural landscape.   
 
 

Page 232



124 

Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
Supplementary material which sets out planning requirements or advice at a greater 
level of detail than the Local Plan, but which does not set out new policy.  
 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) 
The consideration of policies and proposals to assess their impact on economic, 
social and environmental sustainable development objectives. 
 
Sustainable Development 
Development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of 
future generations to meet their own needs. 
 
Travelling Showpeople 
Members of a group organised for the purposes of holding fairs, circuses or shows 
(whether or not travelling together as such). This includes such persons who on the 
grounds of their own or their family’s or dependants’ more localised pattern of 
trading, educational or health needs or old age have ceased to travel temporarily, but 
excludes Gypsies and Travellers as defined above. 
 
Water Framework Directive 
An EU Directive which requires member states to meet certain objectives including 
the protection and improvement of the water environment. 
 

  

Page 233



125 

APPENDIX 2: SUPERSEDED 2003 LOCAL PLAN POLICIES 
 
The following policies in the Lewes District Local Plan 2003 are superseded by the 
policies in the Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management 
Policies DPD or ‘made’ Neighbourhood Plans. 
 
Policy Ref. Policy Subject 
ST3 Design, Form and Setting of Development 
ST4 Backland and Tandem Development 
ST5 Access for People with Limited Mobility 
ST6 Access for People with Limited Mobility 
ST11 Landscaping of Development 
ST14 Water Supply 
ST20 Recycling and Re-use of Materials 
ST21 Recycling and Re-use of Materials 
ST25 Pylons and Overhead Lines 
ST29 Advertisements 
ST30 Protection of Air and Land Quality 
RES6 Residential Development in the Countryside 
RES7 Residential Conversions in the Countryside 
RES8 Replacement Dwellings in the Countryside 
RES10 Affordable Homes Exception Sites 
RES13 Extensions 
RES14 Extensions in the Countryside 
RES18 Garages and other Buildings Ancillary to Existing Dwellings 
RES19 Provision of Outdoor Playing Space 
E14 Bunk House Accommodation 
E15 Existing Camping/Touring Caravan Sites 
E17 New Camping/Touring Caravan Sites 
E19 Static Holiday Caravan Sites 
CT1 Planning Boundary and Key Countryside Policy 
CT5 Institutional Sites 
H2 Listed Buildings 
H3 Buildings of Local, Visual or Historic Interest 
H4 Conservation Areas 
H5 Development within or affecting Conservation Areas 
H7 Traffic in Conservation Areas 
H12 Areas of Established Character 
H13 Parks and Gardens of Special Historic Interest 
H14 Parks and Gardens of Local Historic Interest 
RE1 Provision of Sport, Recreation and Play 
RE6 Lewes/Sheffield Park Railway Line 

Page 234



126 

RE7 Recreation and the Rivers 
RE8 Equestrian and Related Activities 
T3 Station Parking 
T4 The Lewes/Uckfield Railway 
T16 Telecommunications 
NH2 Downland Park 
NH7 Land north east of Kings Avenue 
NH10 Eastside Business Area 
NH12 Lorry Facilities/Park 
NH13 Pedestrian Precinct 
NH14 Castle Hill, The Promenade, West Beach 
NH15 Castle Hill 
NH16 The Fort 
NH17 Avis Road Outdoor Sports Facilities 
NH18 Lewes Road Recreation and Camping Area 
NH19 Primary School Site 
NH20 Upgrading and expansion of the Port 
NH21 Railway Quay 
NH22 Rail Transport Links to the Port 
NH23 East Quay 
NH24 North Quay 
PT5 Business Development 
BA1 Recreational Facilities 
BG1 Balcombe Pit 
CH1 Chailey Brickworks 
FL1 University of Sussex  
HY1 Hamsey Brickworks 
NW1 Extension to the Playing Field 
NW2 Woodgate Dairy 
RG1 Caburn Field 
RG3 Land adjacent to Ringmer Community College 
RG4 Community/Recreation Area, The Broyle 

  

Page 235



127 

APPENDIX 3: SAVED 2003 LOCAL PLAN POLICIES 
 
The following policies in the Lewes District Local Plan 2003 will continue to be 
‘saved’ until the Neighbourhood Plans for Peacehaven, Telscombe, and Seaford are 
approved. 
 
Policy Ref. Policy Subject 
PT6 Meridian and Bolney Avenue Industrial Estates Link 
PT9 Meridian Centre 
PT10 Access and Permeability at the Meridian Centre 
PT11 Joff Youth Club 
PT12 Cliff Top and Foreshore 
PT13 Cliff Top 
PT18 Allotments 
PT19 Valley Road 
PT20 Valley Road 
SF5 Land at Blatchington Road 
SF8 Cradle Hill Industrial Estate 
SF9 Footpath to Church Lane 
SF14 The Seafront 
SF15 The Seafront 
SF16 The Seafront 

 

  

Page 236



128 

APPENDIX 4: MONITORING FRAMEWORK  
 
The targets and indicators identified below supplement the Monitoring Framework 
set out in Local Plan Part 1.  Together these will be used to assess the impact and 
delivery of the policies.  Progress against the below indicators will be reported within 
the Council’s Authority Monitoring Report (AMR) which is updated and published on 
an annual basis. 
 
 
Housing growth through emerging Neighbourhood Plans 
 
Target Indicators  Current Position 
To ensure that sufficient 
progress is being made on 
the emerging neighbourhood 
plans which identify housing 
growth to meet the 
requirements of Spatial 
Policy 2 of Local Plan Part 1. 
 

Progress against timetable of 
key milestones of 
neighbourhood plan 
preparation. 
 
 
 

2017: See below timetables 
indicating what stage has 
been reached. 
 
 
 
 

 
Peacehaven and Telscombe Neighbourhood Development Plan Timescale 

STAGE PROGRESSION – DATE ACHIEVED 
Designation of Neighbourhood Area   17 June 2013 
Pre-Submission Consultation (Regulation 14)  September 2019 
Submission to LDC (Regulation 15)  January 2020 
Submission to Independent Examination (Regulation 
17) 

 March 2020 

Referendum   June 2020 
Formal Adoption  July 2020 

 
Seaford Neighbourhood Development Plan Timescale 

STAGE PROGRESSION – DATE ACHIEVED 
Designation of Neighbourhood Area   13 January 2016 
Pre-Submission Consultation (Regulation 14)  7 November 2017 
Submission to LDC (Regulation 15)  May 2019 
Submission to Independent Examination (Regulation 
17) 

 August 2019 

Referendum   February 2020 
Formal Adoption  February 2020 

 
 
Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) 

 DM24: Protection of biodiversity and geodiversity 
 

Target Indicators Current Position 
To manage and monitor the 
Reedens Meadow SANG at 
Newick. 

Net number of dwellings 
mitigated. 
 
Cumulative monies collected 
from new development via 

 
 
 
2018: Reedens Meadow 
SANG is implemented and 

Page 237



129 

section 106 contributing 
towards the maintenance of 
Reedens Meadow SANG. 
 
Use of the SANG through 
visitor survey and local 
monitoring reports. 
 

open to the public.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 238



130 

APPENDIX 5: HOUSING TRAJECTORY 
 
The Housing Trajectory indicates the anticipated delivery of market and affordable 
housing for the area of the district outside of the South Downs National Park. The 
trajectory covers the plan period between 2010/11 and 2029/30. The Local Plan Part 
2 reflects the disaggregated housing requirement figure of minimum 5,494 net 
additional units up to 2029/30. 
 
The trajectory reflects the housing trajectory position as at 1 April 2019. It is informed 
by the Local Plan Part 1, neighbourhood plans, the monitoring of housing 
commitments and completions, as well as the 2018 Strategic Housing and Economic 
Land Availability Assessment (SHELAA). The trajectory consists of several 
elements: completions (first nine years of the Plan); commitments; strategic and non-
strategic allocations; and windfall allowance. The graph below indicates the 
anticipated delivery of these elements. The anticipated delivery of affordable units is 
also shown. 
 
 

   

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

550

2
0
1
0
/1
1

2
0
1
1
/1
2

2
0
1
2
/1
3

2
0
1
3
/1
4

2
0
1
4
/1
5

2
0
1
5
/1
6

2
0
1
6
/1
7

2
0
1
7
/1
8

2
0
1
8
/1
9

2
0
1
9
/2
0

2
0
2
0
/2
1

2
0
2
1
/2
2

2
0
2
2
/2
3

2
0
2
3
/2
4

2
0
2
4
/2
5

2
0
2
5
/2
6

2
0
2
6
/2
7

2
0
2
7
/2
8

2
0
2
8
/2
9

2
0
2
9
/3
0

U
n
it
s

Year

Housing Trajectory outside the SDNP as at 1 April 2019

Sites with approval
subject to Section 106

Windfall allowance

Market housing on
Non strategic
allocations

Market housing being
delivered on Strategic
allocations

Market housing on
Commitments

Completions

Affordable housing
plus rural exception
allowance

Page 239



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet

Date:  10 February 2020

Title: Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 30-Year Business Plan 
Update

Report of: Chief Finance Officer and Director of Regeneration and 
Planning

Cabinet Members: Councillor Zoe Nicholson, Leader
Councillor William Meyer, Cabinet Member for Housing

Ward(s): All

Purpose of Report: To present a new HRA 30-Year Business Plan covering the 
years from 2019/20 to 2048/49, describing the assumptions 
that underpin it and highlighting the changes in approach, 
policy and aspirations when compared to previous plans.  

Decision Type: Budget and Policy Framework

Officer 
recommendation(s):

(1) That Cabinet adopts Lewes’ HRA 30-Year Business 
Plan as a basis for operating the future HRA business 

(2) That Cabinet agrees the assumptions underpinning it

(3) That Cabinet notes that the plan has been used as the 
starting point for setting the 2020/21 HRA Revenue 
Budget and Rents and the HRA Capital Programme 
2019-23, which is the next report on this agenda

Reasons for 
recommendations:

The Council now has an opportunity to increase its HRA 
stock holding and improve its offer to tenants and 
leaseholders (both current and future) as a result of the 
HRA debt cap being lifted and HRA rents increasing each 
year (with effect from 1st April 2020)

Contact Officer(s): Name: Gary Hall 
Post title: Head of Homes First
E-mail: Gary.hall@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
Telephone number: 01323 436401 

Page 241

Agenda Item 13



1 Introduction

1.1 This report proposes a new 30-Year HRA Business Plan for Lewes and 
describes where it differs from the Council’s previous Business Plan.  The plan 
will look to address huge challenges faced by the Housing sector, many of which 
are locally very acute.  Lack of Housing Options for applicants on the housing 
register and the loss of homes mean that often individuals and families are left in 
sometimes unsuitable and unaffordable housing for lengthy periods, which 
Council officers struggle to alleviate.  The increase in the numbers of homeless 
presentations to the authority, particularly since the introduction of the new 
duties of the Homeless Reduction Act (which came into effect in April 2018) has 
meant significant costs to the authority and more critically a lack of opportunities 
to meet this increased demand.  It is also long held that physical health and 
mental well-being are inextricably linked to the quality of housing and wider 
‘place’, so the further opportunity to retrofit our homes to provide that improved 
healthier offer, along with reducing our carbon foot-print and having the flexibility 
to positively affect the lives of our tenants, in a wider sense, through social 
inclusion initiatives, gives this plan an even greater emphasis and an exciting 
opportunity to address. 

1.2 The report explains the rationale for the changes that are proposed and how 
they fit with the Council’s direction and priorities.  In this report, the Cabinet is 
asked to adopt the new principles included in the plan and note the assumptions 
underpinning it.  A detailed 2020/21 HRA budget and rent-setting report will 
follow next on this agenda, and any future significant decisions to be taken (for 
example, the details of new build projects when they are fully prepared) will be 
brought back for discussion and decision at the appropriate time. 
 

1.3 The most notable policy changes creating a difference between this Business 
Plan and those presented to Cabinet previously are:

a) In October 2018, the government lifted the HRA debt cap for all stock-
holding authorities – this means that there is now more flexibility within 
the HRA Business Plan to increase stock numbers

b) Rents will increase from April 2020 (after decreasing for the last four 
years), meaning that the HRA will receive extra income from tenants to 
invest in HRA services.  The total gross rental income will increase by 
£410k in 2020/21, equating to an average £2.36 per week per tenancy.  

1.4 It should be noted that this does not mean that the HRA is without constraint – 
Lewes can only borrow as much as it can afford to borrow to increase its Capital 
Programme and service offer – there are still choices to be made.

 

Page 242



1.5 The assumptions underpinning the Business Plan are set out in detail in 
Appendix 1.  However, the headlines are:

a) That, in future, stock numbers will increase rather than decrease
b) More resources to be made available to improve services to tenants and 

leaseholders
c) That the Council will invest in the supply of more affordable housing to 

meet the current and future need
d) That a one-off sum of £500k will be made available in 2020/21 to allow for 

sustainability improvements and work to decarbonise the housing stock
e) That a 100% stock survey will be undertaken in early 2020/21 to confirm 

the current stock condition and future investment requirements
f) The Council will develop and incorporate Community Wealth principles in 

delivering the programme 

2 Proposal

2.1 Improvements to Day to Day Management and Maintenance

2.1.1 The new Business Plan includes an uplift of £500k in Management and 
Maintenance costs with effect from 1st April 2020.  This will be used to enhance 
services to HRA tenants and residents.  It should be noted that this is in addition 
to the one-off £500k monies available for sustainability in 2020/21.  
Enhancements will be focused on areas highlighted by residents during service 
reviews and general feedback.  Some of the areas that could be targeted are 
anti-social behaviour, multiple complex needs, social inclusion, sheltered 
housing, customer engagement, fuel poverty and neighbourhood area 
improvement.  It is also likely that we will seek to provide further support to those 
most affected by Universal Credit or suffering from reduced incomes.  Staff and 
tenants are being further consulted and we will seek to build our customer 
information to ensure that we can make the maximum difference out of this 
opportunity.  We will, of course, also involve local members in those 
conversations.  It is clear though, that this (working with all local partners and 
agencies) is a platform to provide a real boost to our communities.

These activities will also be in line with new standards likely to be introduced in 
the future Housing White Paper.  

2.2 Increased Investment in the Current Stock

2.2.1 In 2019/20, the budget for Major Works is £4.822m plus £140k added for Estate 
Improvements.  From 2020/21, it is £4.863m plus £50k per annum added for 
Estate Improvements.  The Business Plan assumes that stock investment will 
continue at this level.  However, a Stock Condition Survey is due to be carried 
out this year to ensure that the data is comprehensive and current.  The 
consultancy has been procured and the surveys, covering both Lewes and 
Eastbourne, will take place between January and September 2020.

Meanwhile there are investment works needed during 2020/21:

Lewes: Capital Investment & Planned Works 2020/21

Page 243



Planned Cyclical Maintenance:

As part of the capital investment and planned works for 2020/21 we have pre- 
inspected those properties identified for works based on the level of data 
currently held.

The properties identified consist of blocks and maisonettes as well general 
needs residential properties. This is made up of total of 72 blocks / maisonettes 
and 513 residential properties. The depth and scope of works for each property 
varies as we continue to honour the 7 year cyclical maintenance plan.

The estimated spend on the Lewes stock equates to:

Block & Maisonettes: £1,440,000
Residential Properties: £ 1,026,000

Estimated Total: £2,466,000

Roofing Replacement Programme & Associated Works:

A total number of 58 properties have been identified for full roof replacement 
with associated works consisting of fascia /soffit replacement, chimney and lead 
flashing repairs and insulation upgrade were required.

The estimated planned cost at this stage is £253,800

Window Replacement Programme:

A total number of 80 properties have been identified for full window replacement 
which are predominantly residential units. 

The estimated planned programme cost is £800,000

Kitchen & Bathroom Planned Programme:

The planned kitchen & bathrooms based on the asset data has identified 45 
kitchen replacements and 30 bathroom replacements.

Total kitchen cost: £270,000
Total bathroom cost: £75,000

Total planned cost £345,000

Total projected major planned works = £ 3,864,800

An additional unallocated sum has been provisionally set aside for refurbishment 
pending more in-depth investigation/feasibility works. 

The majority of contracts are being procured in-house, in partnership with the 
South East (Procurement) Consortium (SEC). It is also planned to manage 

Page 244



these contracts in-house. An Interim Asset Management Strategy is currently 
being drafted to enable us to direct resources most appropriately around needs 
of the housing stock. 

2.2.2 For the first time, £500k has been allocated in 2020/21 against 
sustainability/decarbonisation work in line with the new corporate priorities. The 
exact programme will be developed in the coming months but is likely to focus 
on:

 Electric heating schemes
 To review the current solar and photovoltaic installations, their condition 

and maintenance arrangements
 To investigate opportunities for extending such opportunities and the 

Renewable Heat Initiatives funding available until 2021
 To work with the Asset Manager (Property Services), Sustainability 

Officer and other organisations to determine the capital cost of capital 
investment solutions in relation to the actual reduction in carbon 
emissions.

 To assess the impact and cost-effectiveness of insulation schemes 
planned during 2020/21 and project manage them on site gaining 
customer feedback

 To understand and re-evaluate existing partnership and funding 
arrangements

 To upgrade existing solar water heating systems and bring them back into 
use

All of this activity will be aimed at reducing costs for tenants and residents whilst 
making their homes warmer.

2.3 The Provision of Additional Affordable Homes in the HRA

2.3.1 The Business Plan assumes that, with effect from 2020/21, 10 homes per 
annum will be bought to add to Lewes’ HRA stock and 50 new homes will be 
built each year.  The net effect will be an increase of 50 per year, since it is 
estimated that 10 properties a year will be sold to existing tenants under the 
Right to Buy scheme.  At 1st April 2019, Lewes held 3,203 dwellings in its HRA.  
By March 2049, this will increase to 4,600.  

2.3.2 The 10 purchases per annum have been modelled based on maximum 
affordable purchase prices.  This means that each dwelling purchased will be 
subject to a check that the net rental income will cover the borrowing cost.  
Where this cannot be achieved, the purchase will not go ahead, unless under 
exceptional circumstances.  This approach will ensure that each individual 
property will have a “positive impact” on the Business Plan and not add cost to it. 
It is envisaged that this activity will target the repurchase of those properties that 
were lost through Right to Buy, where appropriate and available.
    

2.3.3 It should be noted that the figures included in the plan for new build are based 
on averages and do not at this stage relate to any specific sites or schemes – as 
sites are identified and proposed new build schemes are drafted, tested for 
viability and fully costed, these will be brought back to Cabinet for approval.

Page 245



2.3.4 All new additions to the plan are assumed to be let at “affordable” rent levels 
(Local Housing Allowance rates) – if rents are set at a lower level, the capacity 
for delivery is likely to be compromised.
 

3 Outcome Expected and Performance Management

3.1 The expected outcomes are expressed in monetary terms within the plan itself.  
Other targets, such as rent collection and void turnaround performance are 
subject to regular monitoring through the Council’s performance framework.  
Tenant and Leaseholder satisfaction, particularly with new initiatives and 
changes to current service levels, will be monitored through the current Tenant 
and Leaseholder engagement framework.

3.2 An officer group is already in place to oversee performance against the 30-Year 
HRA Business Plan.  This group will ensure that the Business Plan stays on 
track and that resources are deployed effectively to increase stock levels, 
improve current stock condition and improve management and maintenance 
services.  Any significant changes to the assumptions underpinning the 
Business Plan will trigger a full review to assess the impact.  In any event, there 
will be a review and update annually.

4 Consultation

4.1 The Chair of Tenants of Lewes District (TOLD) has received a presentation 
showing the proposed Business Plan and is in agreement that it represents a 
good way forward for the Council and its tenants and residents.

5 Corporate Plan and Council Policies 

5.1 Housing & Development is one of the key themes that shaped the vision for 
Lewes set out in the 2016-2020 Corporate Plan.   The assumptions and 
proposals contained within this HRA 30-Year Business Plan align with those set 
out in the draft 2020-2024 Corporate Plan, ‘Re-imagining Lewes District’, which 
is currently under development, with a focus to:-

-Provide Leadership to the district on tackling climate emergency
-Create sustainable community wealth
-Build homes that you can afford to live in

The key elements throughout the Corporate plan have provided an important 
reference point for this business plan:-

‘Your Services: getting it right first time. Delivering what matters to you.’
‘Sustainability and Climate change. A carbon neutral and climate-resilient 
Council and District by 2030.’
‘Building community wealth. A sustainable economy that enables a fairer place 
to live and work.’
‘Affordable Housing. Build warmer, better homes that people can afford to live 
in.’

Page 246



‘Be open and transparent. Be an open and transparent Council that works for 
you.’ 

5.2 Key (current and future) Council policies, plans and strategies will be aligned to 
help deliver the objectives and goals of this plan, including the Housing Strategy, 
Commercial Strategy, Allocations Policy, Homelessness Strategy, Local Plan, 
Tenancy Policy and Town Centre Strategy.

6 Business Case and Alternative Option(s) Considered

6.1 The Business Plan is designed to make improvements to the HRA service in a 
balanced and considered way.  It will improve day to day services, allow 
additional investment in the current stock and increase stock numbers.  The 
increase in stock numbers will prevent families having to go into expensive and 
unsuitable temporary accommodation.  This will improve life chances whilst at 
the same time relieving pressure on the Council’s temporary accommodation 
budget, allowing it to divert resources into other, more appropriate, services.  
Clearly that further investment in housing stock, environment, place and people 
gives the plan that extra impetus to address inequality, social inclusion issues, 
health and mental well-being, with good quality healthy homes being at the heart 
of addressing those key determinants.

6.2 There are many alternative options that can be considered when setting the 
Business Plan.  Some of these are:

a) Repaying debt – however, this would not allow an increase in supply of 
much-needed, new affordable Council homes

b) Investing all the additional resources in the current stock – again, this 
would not help to tackle the Council’s homelessness problem

c) Investing all the additional resources in new additions to the stock – this 
would not benefit current HRA tenants and leaseholders and would not 
allow the Council to look at sustainable initiatives to meet the Council’s 
sustainability agenda

d) Do nothing – the balances on the HRA would gradually build up, but the 
opportunity to benefit from the flexibility that is now available to Lewes to 
do more for its highest need communities would be lost

7 Financial Appraisal

7.1 The financial implications of adopting this plan are included in the main body of 
the report.  In producing the plan, a comprehensive review of its key 
components has been carried out, with different modelling and scenarios tested 
in order to arrive at the current proposal.

The plan will require review and updating at least annually, but possibly more 
often if there are significant changes to any of the assumptions included in 
Appendix 1.  

Page 247



8 Legal Implications

8.1 The legal implications of adopting this plan are included in the main body of the 
report. In particular, paragraph 1.3 advises that the lifting of the debt cap does 
not mean the HRA can be operated without constraint.  Local authorities are 
able to borrow against their expected rental income, in line with the Prudential 
Code.

 9th January 2020 Ref: 008869-LDC-MR

9 Risk Management Implications

9.1 Since the inception of “self-financing” in April 2012, it has become clear that the 
biggest risks to a Council’s HRA 30-Year Business Plan arise when the 
Government implements a new policy that affects it.  Two examples of this are:

a) The imposed year on year reduction in HRA rents from 2016/17 for four 
years – this had a significant impact and challenged Councils to 
fundamentally review their HRAs in order to respond appropriately

b) The consultation on the sale of high value voids – this was never 
implemented, but again forced fundamental review and would have had a 
significant impact on most HRAs

Even though the HRA has been challenged in this manner from Government, 
authorities have managed to respond appropriately and review and resize their 
businesses accordingly.

9.2 Other risks and likely impacts relating to individual assumptions underpinning 
this proposed HRA 30-Year Business Plan are set out in Appendix 1.
 

10 Equality Analysis

10.1 An Equalities and Fairness Analysis (EaFA) is not required at this stage, where 
the Cabinet is simply being asked to agree to a strategic direction and 
principles.  Various EaFAs will be completed as specific projects are brought 
forward (for example, new build projects), rents are increased and service 
changes are proposed. That said, overall, whilst rents are set to increase for the 
first time in four years, this report recommends actions that would lead to a 
substantial increase in homes and services to support vulnerable households. 

11 Sustainability Implications

11.1 Setting aside £500k in 2020-21 in the HRA Business Plan will help Lewes 
District Council move towards meeting its target of achieving zero carbon 
emissions and full climate resilience by 2030.  We will be looking to achieve 
healthy, well insulated, more affordable homes that our customers want to live 
and stay in.  The opportunity to create homes that require lower heating costs for 
the tenant, fewer maintenance issues for the authority in the future and the 
creation of sustainable estates gives us the opportunity to make a difference to 
the future lives of generations of local people.  This business plan will provide a 
‘green platform’ and template informing the Councils management and 

Page 248



maintenance strategy even beyond the 30 year life-cycle and possibly beyond 
the needs of our stock and tenants, through testing sustainability pilots, starting 
in 2020/21.

12 Appendices

 Appendix 1 – HRA 30-Year Business Plan 2019/20 – Assumptions

13 Background Papers

The background papers used in compiling this report were as follows: 

 HRA Business Plan Model
 HRA Right to Buy Model

Page 249



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1

LEWES DISTRICT COUNCIL - HRA 30-YEAR BUSINESS PLAN 2019/20 - ASSUMPTIONS

Cost Type Assumption Rationale Risk Effect/Mitigation Different From 
2018/19 Plan?

Stock Numbers and 
Average Rents

Stock numbers (starting stock 
3,203) and average rents and 
the breakdown have been 
obtained from the Civica CX 
system 

The rent system is the 
place where accurate 
records of both pieces 
of information would be 
held

Stock numbers change 
due to system or 
increased RTB

The risk is not great, as the 
numbers being used come 
from the system used to 
collect rent.

No

Rent Inflation Consumer Prices Index (CPI) 
+1% for Years 2-6, then CPI + 
0.5% thereafter

The Government has 
announced the CPI +1% 
policy, but, after five 
years, this may change 

We have already 
experienced changes 
in Government Policy 
that have had a huge 
detrimental impact on 
the HRA Business Plan

Any change in rent uplift 
policy has a significant and 
long- term impact on the 
plan, but, as it will be 
reviewed annually, this risk 
will be mitigated as 
necessary

No, but the 
years of rent 
decreases 
ended in 
2019/20

Management, 
Maintenance and 
Other Cost Inflation

Retail Prices Index (RPI) for 
Years 2-6, then RPI is set at 
the same level as CPI+0.5%

RPI is usually used for 
cost inflation, but 
measures will have to 
be taken to find 
efficiencies from Year 7 
onwards if RPI outstrips 
CPI+0.5%

If RPI does outstrip 
rent increases, then 
services may have to 
be reduced/cut

If the approach taken in 
the Business Plan is not 
sustainable, then the HRA 
could become unviable,  
but this will be reviewed as 
necessary

 

No

Cost Type Assumption Rationale Risk Effect/Mitigation Different From 
2018/19 Plan?

P
age 251



Rental Income Rental Income starts at 
£14.385m in 2019/20.  Service 
Charge Income is £1.797m

This figure comes from 
the rent system

N/A N/A No

Management Costs Management Costs in 2019/20 
were £3.900m.  These were 
increased in 2019/20 by a one-
off £250k for restructuring 
costs.  A further £250k has 
now been added to the 
2019/20 budget.  From 
2020/21 onwards, £500k per 
annum has been added so 
that enhanced services can be 
provided
 

Now that rents will start 
to increase, the Council 
wants to improve 
management services 
for its tenants

N/A N/A Yes – the 
£500k per year 
is an addition 
to the plan

Maintenance Costs Maintenance Costs are 
£4.439m per annum, per the 
current budget

Maintenance costs are 
set at current 
expenditure levels 
across the 30 years

N/A N/A No

Capital Programme – 
Major Works

For 2019/20 - £4.962m, then 
£4.815m from 2020/21 
onwards (per agreed Capital 
Programme)

The programme is set at 
current expenditure 
levels across the 30 
years

This annual allocation 
may prove to be 
inadequate to 
maintain the stock at 
the required standard 
(Decent Homes) when 
the stock survey is 
completed this year 

The impact is currently 
unknown, but the plan will 
need to be reviewed if it is 
significant – otherwise 
stock may fall into non-
decency

Yes - the 
previous plan 
appeared to 
contain a stock 
condition 
survey, but 
this is not 
available

Cost Type Assumption Rationale Risk Effect/Mitigation Different From 
2018/19 Plan?

P
age 252



Capital Programme – 
Estate Renewal and 
New Build

The plan assumes new build as 
per the current Capital 
Programme in 2019/20.  
Saxonbury is assumed to be 
completed in 2019/20 and 
sold in 2020/21.  50 new 
builds per annum are assumed 
from 2020/21 onwards, with 
occupation assumed 12 
months after build.  Rents are 
assumed at LHA rates
   

The Council has 
aspirations to increase 
its HRA stock to address 
Housing Need.  The 
lifting of the debt cap 
will allow it to realise its 
ambition 

The Business Plan 
target may prove to 
be too ambitious 
because of cost, staff 
capacity or land 
availability – current 
figures included in the 
Business Plan are not 
based on firm projects

As areas are earmarked for 
Estate Renewal or New 
Build, schemes will need to 
be worked up and costed 
and will not go ahead 
without Cabinet Approval.  
The financial assessment of 
each scheme will include 
testing its viability and 
modelling it into the 
Business Plan to 
understand its impact  
   

Yes – the 
previous plan 
did not include 
new 
development 
on this scale

Capital Programme – 
Acquisition

The plan assumes ten 
purchases of street properties 
per year, with rents assumed 
at LHA rates 

The Council has 
aspirations to increase 
its HRA stock to address 
Housing Need.  The 
lifting of the debt cap 
will allow it to realise its 
ambition.  Buying street 
properties allows a 
quick replacement of 
stock lost through RTB 

The Business Plan 
target may prove to 
be too ambitious 
because of property 
prices, staff capacity 
or property availability 
– maximum purchase 
prices have been set 
to ensure viability 

If house prices increase 
significantly, then this 
programme will need to 
stop (or be confined to 
affordable areas) if rents 
do not keep pace or 
associated costs cannot be 
reduced

Yes – the 
previous plan 
did not include 
purchase of 
street 
properties on 
this scale

Cost Type Assumption Rationale Risk Effect/Mitigation Different From 
2018/19 Plan?

P
age 253



Capital Programme – 
Other Capital Spend

A one-off sum of £500k has 
been added to the 2020/21 
Capital Programme to be 
spent on piloting carbon 
neutral initiatives

The Council has an 
aspiration to improve its 
carbon footprint and 
this amount will provide 
resources for piloting 
various initiatives – 
replacement of gas 
boilers with heat source 
pumps, for example

N/A N/A Yes – this is a 
new addition 
to the plan

Depreciation Currently set just above 
annual Major Works Spending 
Levels

This curtails a build-up 
in the Major Repairs 
Reserve, instead 
retaining funds in the 
Operating Account

A robust method of 
calculating 
depreciation would 
need to be devised for 
audit purposes, and If 
the Stock Condition 
Survey shows that 
higher spending is 
required to maintain 
homes at decency 
levels, then 
depreciation will need 
to increase
 

The Council needs to agree 
a depreciation policy and 
follow it once the Stock 
Survey is completed.  If 
Major Works investment 
needs to be higher, then 
the Business Plan will need 
to be reviewed 

Yes - 
Depreciation 
was set higher 
than Major 
Works 
Spending 
Levels, and 
monies were 
building up in 
reserves

Right to Buy Sales 10 per year Based on previous three 
years’ average

Low risk to the 
Business Plan unless 
there is a significant 
increase

N/A Yes – the 
previous figure 
was 8 per year

Cost Type Assumption Rationale Risk Effect/Mitigation Different From 
2018/19 Plan?

P
age 254



Operation of the 
Government’s Right 
to Buy One for One 
Replacement Scheme 
(RTB 141)

The plan assumes use of RTB 
141 receipts on current 
schemes (other than 
Saxonbury), the 50 new builds 
per annum and the 10 
acquisitions per annum.  
These will be used up, and no 
return to Government will be 
required.  All RTB 141 receipts 
will be used by the HRA

Now that the Council 
has the resources to 
match fund RTB 141 
receipts within its HRA, 
it is assumed that this is 
how it would prefer to 
use them 

No RTB 141 receipts 
will be available to 
give to Aspiration 
Homes or Housing 
Associations operating 
within the Borough, 
other than those 
already promises.

This new approach should 
ensure that they are kept 
and used by Lewes to 
provide additional 
affordable accommodation

Yes – the 
operation of 
this scheme 
was unclear

Interest Rate on 
Borrowing

Each loan has a fixed interest 
rate which is reflected in the 
plan.  Replacement and new 
loans attract an interest rate 
of 4%

Current loan interest 
rates are fixed.  The 4% 
interest rate applied to 
new loans is considered 
reasonable considering 
that the current rate is 
around 2.7%

Interest rates may 
have gone up at the 
point when 
refinancing is required

As the loan portfolio is 
diverse, additional interest 
on one loan at a time is 
likely to be manageable 
within the Business Plan 
(unless interest rate 
increases are significant) 

No

Interest Rate on 
Balances

0.5% This is the sort of rate 
that has been received 
on investments for 
some considerable time

Low risk to the 
Business Plan

N/A No

Cost Type Assumption Rationale Risk Effect/Mitigation Different From 
2018/19 Plan?

P
age 255



Repayment of Debt Current loans are repaid when 
they become due, but a new 
loan (30-year maturity) is 
taken out as soon as any 
current loan matures (at 4% 
interest rate).   New loans are 
taken out as necessary to fund 
new build and street property 
purchase programmes at a 4% 
interest rate.  Debt starts at 
£56.673m, rises to £176.371m 
in 2040/41 then starts to 
reduce when repayment can 
be afforded.  The closing 
position at March 2049 is 
£130.713m 

The value of a housing 
portfolio should outstrip 
the debt outstanding 
and therefore there is 
no need to repay 
principal.  The current 
debt of £56.673m 
equates to £17,694 per 
property 

There is always a risk 
associated with not 
repaying principal and 
it would be preferable 
to do so.  However, 
debt associated with 
property assets carries 
lower risk and the 
Council’s priority is to 
provide additional 
homes

If housing values fall 
significantly, then there 
could be a problem with 
the loans outstanding.  
These currently stand at 
£56.673m.  The HRA Stock 
Valuation is currently 
£317.900m
 

Yes - A loan 
maturing in 
2042 was 
repaid when it 
became due.  
The debt 
reduced from 
£56.7m to 
£40.0m.  
However, an 
amount was 
set aside each 
year for debt 
repayment 

Minimum Revenue 
Balance

£1.5m Based on £500 per 
dwelling for unforeseen 
emergencies

Low risk to the 
Business Plan

N/A Yes - Minimum 
Revenue 
Balance was 
£1.5m per 
year, but went 
up with 
inflation

P
age 256



Report to: Cabinet

Date: 10 February 2020

Subject: Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Revenue Budget and Rent 
Setting 2020/21 and HRA Capital Programme 2019-23

Report of: Chief Finance Officer 

Cabinet member: Councillor Zoe Nicholson, Leader of Council, Cabinet 
Member for Finance

Ward(s): All 

Purpose of the 
report:

To agree the detailed HRA budget proposals, rent levels, 
service charges for 2020/21, and the HRA Capital 
Programme 2019-23

Decision type: Key Decision

Recommendation: Members are asked to recommend the following proposals 
to Full Council:
i) The HRA budget for 2020/21 and revised 2019/20 

budget as set out in Appendix 1
ii) That social and affordable rents (including Shared 

Ownership) are increased by 2.7% in line with 
government policy

iii) That private sector leased property rents are 
increased by 3.4% (RPI+1%).

iv) That the revised service charges are implemented 
v) That garage rents are increased by 3.4% (RPI+1%).
vi) The HRA Capital Programme as set out in Appendix 2

Reasons for 
recommendations:

The Cabinet has to recommend to Full Council the setting of 
the HRA revenue and capital budget and the level of social 
and affordable housing rents for the forthcoming year.

Contact Officer(s) Name: Andrew Clarke 
Post Title: Deputy Chief Finance Officer
E-mail: Andrew.clarke@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
Telephone Number: 01323 415691

Page 257

Agenda Item 14



1.0 Introduction

1.1 The HRA is a statutory ring-fenced account that represents all landlord 
functions. The HRA is required to be self-financing, which means that 
expenditure has to be entirely supported from rental and other income. The main 
tool for the future financial management of the HRA is the 30-Year Business 
Plan.

1.2 As outlined in the previous report, any significant changes to the assumptions 
underpinning the Business Plan will trigger a full review to assess the impact, 
but, in any event, there will be an annual review and update.

2 Proposal

2.1 2020/21 HRA Revenue Budget 

2.1.1 The 2020/21 budget mirrors the HRA 30-Year Business Plan and is attached at 
Appendix 1

2.1.2 The 2020/21 budget is showing a surplus of £335k compared to a surplus of 
£496k in 2019/20, a decrease of £161k. Rent, Service Charges and other 
income increases of £181k are offset by increases in the following costs:  

 Depreciation £116k
 An inflationary uplift in repairs £107k
 An inflationary uplift in management costs of £106k  
 A reduction in interest receivable of £13k

The HRA 30-year plan sets out an ambitious programme of delivery.  The 
additional resourcing requirements to support delivery of the business plan is  
£190k. 

2.1.3 The Major Repairs Reserve is funded from cash backed depreciation of 
£4.546m plus inflation per year and is expected to breakeven in the short, 
medium and long term.  Setting depreciation at this level may require review 
once the results of the imminent stock survey are received and the demands of 
the asset management plan in the longer term are better understood.

2.1.4 The HRA debt outstanding at 31.03.19 was £56.673m which was the maximum 
borrowing permitted under the self-financing settlement.  The outstanding debt 
at 31.03.21 is estimated to be the same.  In later years, debt levels will increase 
as the Authority begins to borrow more to fund property acquisitions and new 
build. The average debt per property is approximately £15k.  

2.1.5 The Council’s treasury management advisors are predicting a gradual rise in 
interest rates going forward into 2020/21and the interest budget has been 
prepared on this basis.

Page 258



2.1.6 The HRA outturn for 2019/20 is expected to deliver a £496k surplus, an 
improvement of £467k over the original budget. This is as a result of a net 
increase in rental income of £211k and a net reduction in operational cost 
depreciation costs of £324k and interest adjustments of £68k.

2.1.7 The HRA Business Plan is based on a policy of maintaining a minimum level of 
HRA balance at £1.5m.  This is deemed to be a prudent level of reserve to 
ensure that the HRA remains sustainable in the event of any unforeseen risk 
arising. 

2.1.8 The forecast balances on HRA and Reserves are as follows:

 HRA Working 
Balance

Major Repairs 
Reserve (MRR)

 £'000 £'000
Balance at 1.4.19 2,667 6,909
Surplus/(Deficit) 496
Depreciation 5,000
Expenditure Financed from MRR (4,803)
Estimated Balance 31.3.20 3,163 7,106
Surplus/(Deficit) 335
Depreciation 5,116
Expenditure Financed from MRR (11,565)
Estimated Balance 31.3.21 3,498 657

2.2 Rent Levels for 2020/21

2.2.1 The Council has been following the Government’s guidance for rents for social 
housing since December 2001.  This has been subject to various legislative 
changes in recent years and, in 2020/21, rents can be increased by Consumer 
Prices Index (CPI) + 1% after four years of 1% rent reductions.  

2.2.2 Although rents for Shared Ownership properties are excluded from Government 
guidance, the terms of the lease for these properties determine that we should 
set their rents in line with the socially rented properties. Therefore, it is 
recommended that rents for all Shared Ownership properties are increased by 
2.7%.

2.3 Service Charges

2.3.1 For properties in shared blocks, these charges cover common services such as 
communal heating, lighting, equipment maintenance contracts, cleaning and 
grounds maintenance. In Sheltered Accommodation the charges additionally 

Page 259



include Scheme Managers, lift maintenance contracts, communal furniture, 
carpet maintenance and internal re-decorations.  These costs should be charged 
separately from the rent in those properties to which they apply.

2.3.2 The Communal Service Charge recovers the cost of communal services 
provided to non-sheltered flats. The services provided include grounds 
maintenance, maintenance of lifts, caretaking and cleaning, door entry & alarm 
systems, TV aerials, laundry services and communal lighting.

The average service charge is £5.12, with the lowest at £0.68 and the highest at 
£17.82. The communal element of the service charge is eligible for housing 
benefit and Universal Credit.

2.3.3 The Homeless Accommodation Service Charge: The service charge relates 
to the services provided at homelessness accommodation held within the 
Housing Revenue Account. 

The Homeless Accommodation Service Charge for 2020/21 has been reviewed, 
in accordance with agreed Council policy, to achieve full cost recovery. The 
communal element of the service charge is eligible for housing benefit and 
Universal Credit.

2.3.4 Support Charge for Sheltered Housing: Following the withdrawal of East 
Sussex County Council from the Supporting People scheme, the Council 
introduced, from May 2016, a redesigned Support Scheme for tenants in 
sheltered accommodation.

The charge for 2019/20 was £3.04 per week. The charge has now been 
reviewed to reflect experience of the redesigned scheme. The charge achieves 
full cost recovery and will increase to £3.23 per week in 2020/21.

2.3.5 Sheltered Accommodation Service Charge: The service charge has been 
updated to reflect the 2020/21 budget to achieve full cost recovery.
The communal element of the service charge is eligible for housing benefit and 
Universal Credit.

2.3.6 All other service charges have been updated to reflect the 2020/21 budget and 
achieve full cost recovery. This includes charges for digital television reception, 
residual lifeline services and domestic cookers provided at certain properties.

2.7 Garage Rents 

2.7.1 It is recommended that garage rents increase by September RPI +1% which 
amounts to 3.4% following years of no increase.

2.8 Capital Programme

2.8.1 The Capital Programme set out in Appendix 2 reflects the proposals contained 
within the HRA 30-Year Business Plan.  Total budgeted expenditure for 2020/21 
is £15.467m.

Page 260



2.8.2 The major works element of the programme is in line with the budget set last 
year and the 30-Year HRA Business Plan model.  Funding is from the Major 
Repairs Reserve.  The Council is undertaking a comprehensive stock survey to 
ensure its housing stock is well maintained.  The annual budget provision for 
major work is £4.448m.   Any investment requirements varying significantly from 
the existing provision will be subject to further cabinet approval and a revision of 
the Business Plan. 

2.8.3 Now that the HRA debt cap has been lifted, the Capital Programme includes 
sums for the acquisition of properties (10 per year) and new builds (50 per year).  
It should be noted that both are based on cost modelling and not actual 
acquisitions or schemes in the pipeline. In the case of acquisition, each 
proposed acquisition will be modelled to ensure “viability” (that the annual costs 
associated with the purchase and upkeep of the property will not exceed the 
rental income). New build schemes will need to be brought back to Cabinet for 
approval.  The reports will include an analysis of the effects on the Business 
Plan.

2.8.4

2.8.5

The Council is committed to meeting its target of achieving zero carbon emission 
and full climate resilience by 2030. Recognising that housing is an integral part 
of its sustainability plans, the budget includes a provision of £500k to be 
invested in emerging initiatives.  

The Business Plan report on this agenda which preceded this report sets out the 
steps to be taken to ensure that this budget is spent efficiently and effectively to 
achieve maximum benefit from the pilot.

3 Outcome Expected and Performance Management

3.1 The HRA budget will be monitored regularly during 2020/21 and performance 
will be reported to members quarterly. 

3.2 The Council is obliged to ensure that all tenants are given 28 days’ notice of any 
changes to their tenancy including changes to the rent they pay.

4 Consultation

4.1 The rent increase reflects the requirements under The Direction on the Rent 
Standard 2019 together with the Rent Policy Statement for Social Housing 
February 2019.

4.2 A copy of this report will be considered by the Scrutiny Committee on 6th 
February 2020. Any feedback will be reported verbally.

5 Corporate Plan and Council Policies

5.1 Housing & Development is one of the key themes that shaped the vision for 
Lewes set out in the 2016-2020 Corporate Plan. The proposals contained within 
this report flow directly from the HRA 30-Year Business Plan, which itself aligns 
with the draft 2020-2024 Corporate Plan, currently under development.  Key 
(current and future) Council policies, plans and strategies will all be aligned to 

Page 261



help deliver the objectives and goals of the HRA 30-Year Business Plan, 
including the Housing Strategy, Commercial Strategy, Allocations Policy, 
Homelessness Strategy, Local Plan, Tenancy Policy and Town Centre Strategy.

6 Business Case and Alternative Option(s) Considered

6.1 The capital and revenue budgets, rents and service charges have been set in 
line with Government policy and with the HRA 30-Year Business Plan, which 
was previously considered on this agenda. 

7 Financial Appraisal

7.1 This is included in the main body of the report. 

8 Legal Implications

8.1 Local housing authorities are required by Section 74 of the Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989 to keep a Housing Revenue Account (HRA) unless the 
Secretary of State has consented to their not doing so. The account must show 
credits and debits arising from the authorities’ activities as landlord. The HRA 
identifies the major elements of housing revenue expenditure, such as 
maintenance, administration and contributions to capital costs, and how there 
are funded by rents and other income. 

8.2 Section 76 of the 1989 Act states that budgets must be set for the HRA on an 
annual basis in January or February before the start of the financial year. A local 
authority may not budget for an overall deficit on the HRA and all reasonable 
steps must be taken to avoid a deficit. 

8.3 Section 24 of the Housing Act 1985 gives local authorities the power to make 
reasonable charges for the tenancy or occupation of dwellings.  Rent setting 
must be seen in the context of the statutory duty to set a balanced HRA budget.

8.4 The Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016, passed in March 2016, set the rent 
setting policy for 4 years whereby social rents in England were to be reduced by 
1%. In October 2017 the government confirmed details for future social rents 
and from 2020/21 providers will be able to increase rents up to a limit of CPI plus 
1% each year. This policy is designed to provide more certainty over rent levels. 

8.5 Under the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) Regulations 2000, 
the task of formulating a plan for determining the Council’s minimum revenue 
provision (i.e. its budget) is the responsibility of Cabinet, whilst the approval or 
adoption of that plan is the responsibility of the full Council.  This explains why 
Cabinet is being asked to recommend its budget proposals to Council.

9 Risk Management Implications

9.1 The 2020/21 Budget and Capital Programme will require close monitoring in the 
forthcoming year to ensure that they, and therefore the 30-Year HRA Business 
Plan, remain on track.  Any large variances to expenditure or income will need to 
be reviewed and, if significant or ongoing, modelled into the Business Plan to 

Page 262



assess the impact and likely mitigation.

9.2 Levels of voids and debts will also require close monitoring to ensure that rent 
and service charge increases are not causing greater levels of non-payment.  
Timely action will need to be taken if performance targets are not being met.

10 Equality Analysis

10.1 An Equality and Fairness Analysis has been undertaken on these proposals.  
This has concluded that;

 Negative impacts

 Positive impacts

 Mitigating actions

All groups protected under the Equality Act should benefit from the Council’s 
ability to provide more, and better, affordable housing from 2020/21 onwards. 
The Equality and Fairness Analysis has been included as a background paper

11 Sustainability Implications

11.1 Setting aside £500k in 2020/21 in the HRA Business Plan will help Lewes 
District Council move towards meeting its target of achieving zero carbon 
emissions and full climate resilience by 2030.

12 Appendices

 Appendix 1 - HRA 2019/20 Revised Revenue Budget and 2020/21 
Budget 

 Appendix 2 - HRA Capital Programme 2019/20-2022/23 

13 Background Papers

 HRA 2020/21 Budget Working Papers 
 HRA 30-Year Business Plan Model
 HRA Right to Buy Model
 Equalities and Fairness Analysis

Page 263



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

2020-2021

Original 

Budget

Revised 

Budget Budget

£' 000 £'000 £' 000

INCOME

(14,224) (14,533) Dwelling Rents (14,669)
(445) (445) Non-Dwelling Rents (456)

(1,173) (1,173) Charges for Services and Facilities (1,203)
(179) (179) Contributions towards Expenditure (183)

(16,021) (16,330) GROSS INCOME (16,511)

EXPENDITURE

4,439 4,439 Repairs and Maintenance 4,546
1,685 2,037 Supervision and Management 2,281
1,344 1,344 Special Services 1,376

178 178 Rents, Rates, Taxes and Other Charges 182
50 148 Increase in Impairment of Debtors 150

5,631 5,000 Depreciation of Fixed Assets 5,116
3 3 Amortisation of Intangible Assets 3

42 46 Debt Management Costs 46
(60) (60) Joint Transformation Programme Savings 0
250 250 Joint Transformation Programme Contribution 0

13,562 13,385 GROSS EXPENDITURE 13,700

(2,459) (2,945) NET COST OF HRA SERVICES (2,811)

621 576 HRA share of Corporate and Democratic Core 590

(1,838) (2,369) NET OPERATING COST OF HRA (2,221)

Capital Financing and Interest Charges

1,850 1,922 Interest Payable 1,922
(41) (49) Interest Receivable (36)

0 0 Revenue Contribution to Capital 0
1,809 1,873 Total Capital Financing and Interest Charges 1,886

(29) (496) HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (SURPLUS) / DEFICIT (335)

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT WORKING BALANCE

(2,251) (2,667) Working Balance at 1 April (3,163)

(29) (496) (Surplus) or Deficit for the year (335)

(2,280) (3,163) Working Balance at 31 March (3,498)

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

2019-2020

Page 265



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

Scheme

Total Scheme 

Cost

 Original 

Allocation    

2019/20 

 Revised 

Allocation 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22  2022/23 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Feasibility Studies Ongoing -                  100             -                  -                  -                  

Ashington Gardens Development Ongoing -                  320             -                  -                  -                  

Saxonbury Redevelopment Ongoing -                  1,420          -                  -                  -                  

Buy-back of RTB Properties Annual Allocation 200             200             200             200             -                  

New Acquisitions Annual Allocation -                  -                  2,387          2,447          2,787          

New Build Annual Allocation -                  -                  7,467          7,653          7,845          

Improvements to Stock Annual Allocation 4,350          4,407          4,448          4,554          4,662          

Disabled Adaptations Annual Allocation 415             415             415             415             415             

Sustainability Initiatives Pilot -                  -                  500             -                  -                  

Recreation & Play Areas Annual Allocation 50               140             50               50               50               
Total HRA Capital Programme 5,015          7,002          15,467        15,319        15,759        

Funded by:

RTB Capital Receipts -                  186             2,031          574             596             
RTB 1-1 Receipts -                  363             371             380             388             
Other Capital Receipts -                  1,650          1,500          -                  -                  
Major Repairs Reserve 4,815          4,803          11,565        5,902          5,446          

Revenue Contributions -                  -                  -                  2,595          958             

Borrowing 200             -                  -                  5,868          8,371          
Total Financing 5,015          7,002          15,467        15,319        15,759        

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20 - 2022/23

Page 267



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet

Date: 10 February 2020

Title: The Werks Group – Creative Hub Lewes

Report of: Director of Regeneration and Planning

Cabinet member: Councillor James MacCleary, Cabinet member for 
Regeneration and Prosperity

Ward(s): Lewes Castle

Purpose of report: For Cabinet to note proposals for The Werks Group to take 
a lease on 4 Fisher Street, Lewes BN7 2DG for the creation 
of a creative hub and agree that up to £250,000 be 
earmarked from the Council’s capital programme. 

Decision type: Key Decision

Officer 
recommendation(s):

(1) To note proposals for the establishment of a creative 
hub at 4 Fisher Street;

(2) To agree that the Council enter into lease agreement 
in line with the terms outlined within section 2;

(3) To agree that up to £250,000 be earmarked from the 
Council’s capital programme to support the creative 
hub project;

(4) To delegate authority to the Director of Regeneration 
and Planning in consultation with Cabinet Member for 
Regeneration and Prosperity to conclude lease 
arrangements with The Werks Group and to sign or 
execute the agreement for lease, the lease and any 
related documentation.

Reasons for 
recommendations:

To enable the creation of a creative co-working hub at 4 
Fisher Street. 

Contact Officer(s): Name: Mark Langridge-Kemp
Post title: Head of Property, Delivery and Compliance
E-mail: mark.langridge-kemp@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
Telephone number: 01323 415876

1 Introduction

1.1 4 Fisher Street was formerly used as Council offices and has been vacant for a 
number of years; it is an attractive property, set over three floors, located in a 
central position within Lewes town centre. 

Page 269

Agenda Item 15



1.2

1.3

1.4

2

2.1

2.2

2.3

The Council is keen to ensure that wherever possible property it maximises 
benefits for the local community and officers have been discussing options for 
bringing 4 Fisher Street back into use as a creative hub with The Werks Group 
(TWG).

TWG specialise in the creation of co-working space offering creative office, 
meeting and event spaces; this is based on its key function as support for the 
creative sector in Brighton & Hove and other parts of the South East. TWG also 
has an emphasis on building entrepreneurial communities and embedding 
support in these to ensure that each community and the design of each building 
delivers on its core values of innovation, sustainability and affordability. TWG 
has an historic record of success across the South East in developing hubs it 
operates directly or with local partners as well as undertaking feasibility studies 
for other creative hubs such as in Tunbridge Wells, Hastings, Faversham and 
Margate.

Office space in Lewes town centre is in short supply and high demand. This is 
evidenced by the number of requests that the Council receives for office space 
(both pop-up and more permanent) and the demand for the Council’s main 
available office space at Lewes House. TWG would like to establish a creative 
hub in Lewes that builds on their successful track record and provides local 
businesses with much needed co-working space in a creative environment.

Proposal

One of the key aspirations of In line with the aspirations of the AMP is to 
maximise the financial, economic and social value of the Council’s assets. It is 
proposed that a lease be granted to TWG at 4 Fisher Street in order to develop 
attractive and contemporary creative hub space to include:

- Street level co-working café for drop-in and sector engagement;
- Ground floor primarily dedicated to co-working, flexible drop-in use by 

creative and specialised events;
- Contemporary office space on floor 1 and 2 on flexible terms to 

encourage small creative companies to grow;
- Events and support workshops to build a growth environment in the town;
- Boardroom and conference space. 

The hub is to be targeted at creative industries (Creative-Digital-IT) and will 
encourage community development and cohesion. As with other Werks Group 
hubs, it will be part of a holistic offer in which a platform is provided where 
creatives of all kinds can develop at their own speed  - initially from low usage 
then, usually through organic growth, taking an office and moving on within the 
same space.

The hub will have a relaxed atmosphere encouraging inter-company working 
and a sense of community and trusted partners, supporting a range of small 
companies to inter-trade and share specialist skills, helping to develop and find 
new business. Small companies often recruit new employees and partners 
locally which helps embed creative networks within the local community 
providing social benefits such as:

Page 270



2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

2.9

- Stability within a locally based workforce;
- A range of employment opportunities available consistently within a 

widening pool of inter-dependent organisations;
- Strong local ties based on work, family and friends;
- A retained interest in local events, suppliers and locally retained profits 

helping to drive support for other local supply chains, building strength 
and reliability into the whole local economy. 

According to the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS), the 
creative sector has been growing consistently at over 5% in the UK for the last 
20 years, showing it to be the fastest growing sector year on year and making it 
a positive area in which to invest.  The creative economy is based on a tight 
network and employment pool of a large number of smaller companies, which 
can be a less risky proposition than investing in a property with one anchor 
name. 

Employment in the creative industries is growing at twice the national rate and 
now accounts for more than 6% of all jobs in the UK, according to new 
government data. Between 2011 and 2018, the number of jobs in the creative 
industries increased by 30.6%, compared with 10.1% in the UK overall (DCMS). 
One in eight UK enterprises are creative enterprises, collectively responsible for 
generating £101.5 billion gross value added to the economy - a greater 
economic contribution than the UK’s automotive, aerospace, life sciences and oil 
and gas industries combined (2018, Growing the UK’s Creative Industries: What 
creative enterprises need to thrive and grow, Creative Industries Federation).
 
It is recognised that the building will need significant refurbishment in order to 
deliver the hub requirements and will take time to reach its full potential. It is 
estimated that the hub would likely be 85% let at year 6. Initial works would 
focus on the establishment of the heart of the hub through the creation of street 
level co-working space and café, and engagement space.

A condition assessment of the fabric of the building has been undertaken as well 
a feasibility to establish refurbishment costings. Costings for full refurbishment 
with a replacement boiler and piping are estimated to be around £400,000.

The Council does not have the necessary funds to commit the full costs to this 
project and the arrangement with TWG would therefore be predicated on a 
shared capital expenditure investment. TWG would seek external grant funding 
to support capital funding being provided by the Council. It is proposed that the 
Council earmark up to £250,000 from its capital programme in order to fund the 
initial urgent works on the property to enable the phased establishment of the 
hub to commence, including roofing repairs. A schedule of works will be 
attached to the lease agreement and funding released in line with phasing of 
works.

The property would be leased to TWG for a 10 year period on a base 
peppercorn rent to reflect the external investment; this would be the minimum 
term sufficient to enable TWG to begin to achieve a return on its investment. 
Although the Council would not receive an annual rent per se, the lease would 
be structured in such a way as the Council would receive a percentage ‘profit’ 

Page 271



2.10

2.11

2.12

rent once the hub started to make a profit of more than £50,000, likely to 
commence in year 6. 

Full lease terms would be agreed subject to Cabinet approval of the delegation 
recommendations in this paper, however, the estimated profit returns for the 
Council show that after Year 5, taking into account projected operating costs, a 
net profit of up to £66,000 per annum could be produced. TWG propose that 
LDC retains  a 30% share, or around £20,000 per annum under the lease 
structure once the trigger is reached for the profit rent.

TWG would be responsible for repairs and maintenance once capital works on 
the building have been completed, this would ensure that the building is 
maintained in a good condition throughout the term of the lease. At the end of 
the lease, the Council could enter into a new lease with TWG.

Although this proposal would require an upfront capital commitment, it would 
remove the Council’s on-going repairs and maintenance liabilities as well as 
rates liabilities of £35,532. In addition, it removes a significant risk for the 
Council of holding a vacant building in terms of security and its continued 
deterioration, whilst enabling much needed additional office space 
accommodation and supporting opportunities for an increased economy within 
Lewes.  

3.

3.1

3.2

Corporate plan and council policies 

This proposal meets the corporate aims of enabling community wealth building 
through a property regeneration supporting a local provider to develop co-
working space for local creative workers.

In addition, this proposal meets the aims of the adopted Corporate Asset 
Management Plan by reducing maintenance costs and liabilities and ensuring 
social and economic value is maximised and that the Council only holds property 
that meets corporate aims and objectives.

4.

4.1

Financial appraisal

The recommendation is to agree that up to £250,000 be earmarked from the 
Council’s capital programme to support the creative hub project.  It is noted that 
not all capital programme projects have full funding in place and given the 
current financial climate for public funding and its impact on the Council’s 
financial position, it is sensible to have this flexibility before substantial financial 
commitments are made.  The proposal is subject to continual review to establish 
whether the forecast as stated within section 2 (above) remains achievable. 
Whilst the intention is for the Council to progress the proposal as stated, some 
priority projects and their sources of funding may require re-profiling into future 
years.

5.

5.1

Legal implications 

An Agreement for Lease will need to be completed prior to the Council providing 
any funding for the initial works. The Agreement will be based on the agreed 

Page 272



5.2

5.3

5.4

5.5

heads of terms and will commit both parties to enter into an agreed form of lease 
once the initial works have been completed. 

The Council has powers under the Local Government  Act 1972 to dispose of 
land in any manner it wishes, including sale of its freehold interest, granting a 
lease or assigning any unexpired term on a lease. The only constraint is that a 
disposal must be for the best consideration reasonably obtainable (except in the 
case of short leases of less than 7years), unless the Secretary of State consents 
to the disposal.

The Secretary of State has a power to give local authorities a general consent 
for the purposes of such disposals and has provided such a consent for the 
disposal of any interest in land which the Council considers will help it to secure 
the promotion or improvement of the economic, social or environmental well-
being of its area where the undervalue does not exceed £2,000,000. This 
consent is given under the Local Government Act 1972 general disposal consent 
(England) 2003.

However, when disposing of land at an undervalue, the Council must remain 
aware of the need to fulfil its fiduciary duty in a way which is accountable to local 
people. The Council should ensure that it complies with normal and prudent 
commercial practices, including obtaining the view of a professionally qualified 
valuer as to the likely amount of the undervalue.

Any disposal by the Council at an undervalue is potentially State aid and 
therefore subject to EU State aid rules. Similar UK rules are intended to be 
applied following Brexit. Advice on this will be provided by legal prior to 
completion of the Agreement for Lease.

PWB 10/01/20 iken 8477
 

6.

6.1

Risk management implications

There are inherent risks with the Council continuing to hold a vacant building as 
outlined within this report. These proposals will help to remove existing risks and 
future liabilities for the Council as well as providing positive benefit for the local 
community.

7.

7.1

8.

8.1

Equality analysis

An Equality and Fairness screening has been undertaken and it is assessed that 
an Equality Analysis is not applicable to this report.

Environmental sustainability implications 

This proposal will help to support the future of this important asset. There may 
be additional measures that could be employed to increase the building energy 
efficiency, most notably low energy lighting, solar panels and changing the 
existing heating system.  These options will be explored as part of refurbishment 
of the building.

Page 273



9. Appendices

 None

10. Background papers

 None

Page 274



Report to: Cabinet

Date: 10 February 2020

Title: Avis Way Waste Vehicle Depot – Revised Funding

Report of: Director of Regeneration and Planning
Director of Service Delivery

Cabinet member: Cllr Julie Carr, Cabinet member for recycling, waste and 
open spaces

Ward(s): Newhaven Valley, Newhaven Denton & Meeching

Purpose of report: To approve a request for additional funding to construct the 
previously approved new waste depot and vehicle servicing 
facility at Avis Way, Newhaven

Decision type: Key Decision

Officer 
recommendation(s):

(1)   That Cabinet allocates an additional £800k funding to 
the £4.1m already approved to deliver the new waste 
vehicle depot facility

(2)   Cabinet allocates up to £200k from the £4.1m already 
approved to enable early demolition of the derelict, 
unsafe and unlettable buildings at 9/10 Avis Way

Reasons for 
recommendations:

To enable the new waste vehicle depot and vehicle 
servicing facility in Newhaven to be built, so that we can 
vacate the outdated Robinson Road facility. 

To enable short term letting of the cleared site and free the 
site for construction to commence once finally approved.

Contact Officer(s): Name: Colin Jordan 
Post Title: Project Manager
Email: colin.jordan@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
Telephone number: 01323 415808

1 Introduction

1.1 On  2 July 2018 Cabinet allocated up to £4.1m within the Capital Programme to 
deliver a new waste vehicle and workshop facility on council owned land at units 
9 & 10 Avis Way Newhaven, and gave delegated authority to the Director of 
Regeneration and Planning to deliver this. 

 ,

Page 275

Agenda Item 16



1.2 The project has commenced and site surveys have identified that the proposed 
location would need more intensive deep piling which consequently displaces a 
larger volume of contaminated soil than allowed for in the original £4.1m budget. 
It should be possible to contain most of the contaminated spoil on site using a 
‘cut and fill’ technique however the overall budget will increase; we are seeking 
an additional £0.8m to cover the increase in costs and a small contingency  

1.3 The cut and cover proposal will save around £2m compared to off-site removal 
and any filled ground can be landscaped to promote biodiversity,  

2 Proposal

2.1 Request a maximum of £800k additional funding from Cabinet to meet the costs 
for construction of a new Waste Vehicle Depot now further information is known 
on the ground and site condition. The overall cost of the project will be a 
maximum of £4.9m with sustainability elements incorporated as an integral part 
of the design.

3 Outcome expected and performance management

3.1 Moving the depot to Avis Way would enable opportunities for the service to 
expand and to explore new revenue streams. Additionally, there are likely to be 
running costs savings for a new facility and it will remove the need for an 
expensive upgrade of the Robinson Road facilities to maintain operations and 
improve the site health and safety issues.

4 Consultation

4.1 Consultation will take place as part of the planning process. The design of the 
new depot has been undertaken with the service team from Environment First as 
the client to ensure full consultation with the staff and management team.  The 
Environment First team will be an ongoing key member of the design and 
delivery team in developing the new depot.  

All designs are still subject to planning, so may change during stage 2.  

5 Corporate plan and council policies 

5.1 This supports the Council’s policy for delivering a quality environment. 

6 Business case and alternative option(s) considered

6.1 There have been extensive assessments to ensure there are no other sites 
available for the depot across the public sector estate and private land holdings. 
Soft soil conditions prevail over most of the Newhaven area. Sites located within 
the industrial areas, where a waste depot could be built are also likely to suffer 
similar contaminated soil conditions. The Council does not currently own any 
other suitable land holdings where a waste depot could be relocated and so Avis 
Way remains the best option. 

Page 276



6.2 The only other possible option would be to do nothing and for the depot to 
remain at Robinson Road however this is not a viable option as the depot is too 
small and awkward to meet the current needs of the service; it has reached the 
end of its useful life and will require significant investment to meet health & 
safety and business requirements.

6.3 By developing the derelict Avis Way site for LDC use, there is a loss of rental 
revenue for that site, however the new building is likely to deliver running cost 
savings compared to the existing facility and it will have the opportunity to 
develop and grow new revenue streams. Also, the Robinson Road depot will be 
vacant which can either be leased for a rental income or redeveloped, which will 
again bring in an income or capital receipt to net off against capital outlay. 

7 Financial appraisal

7.1 The overarching reason for the recommendations is to enable the new waste 
vehicle depot and vehicle servicing facility in Newhaven to be built, so that the 
Council can vacate the outdated Robinson Road facility.  The additional funding 
of £800k (including a contingency) required to meet the site conditions additional 
costs which brings the project overall cost to £4.9m.

7.2 Any additional capital proposals affecting the General Fund/capital programme 
over and above the existing approved budget will need to be considered on a 
case by case basis as part of the business case process for any new/ongoing 
schemes. 

8 Legal implications

8.1 A Report on Title will be commissioned to ensure that the site is not subject to 
any title matters which would restrict development. Vacant possession of the 
leased area has been obtained.

8.2 The initial design stages have been taken forward by the Council’s Clear 
Sustainable Futures joint venture.  The contract with Clear Sustainable Futures 
was procured in compliance with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules and so 
can be used in accordance with its terms without the need for a further 
competitive process to take the project forward. 

8.3 All transactions will be on market terms and so no issue of State Aid will arise.

9 Risk management implications

9.1 The project manager has a risk management matrix with identified actions and 
mitigations. Any remaining risks are reported through regular project 
management updates.

10 Equality analysis

10.1 There is no change from the initial assessment, which indicates that there will be 
only either positive or neutral impacts upon equalities.

Page 277



11 Environmental sustainability implications

11.1 As previously noted, sustainability elements have been integral to the design 
and the current scheme includes a wind turbine to provide a significant 
proportion of the sites electrical needs and air source heat pumps to provide the 
majority of the sites heat needs. There is a provision for a gas-based heating 
system for the workshop (as it is a problematic area to heat) however at the next 
stage of design this will be reviewed so that the site can be gas free. 

11.2 The next design stage will confirm the roof area available for the installation of 
Photo Voltaic panel’s, which will further increase the on site electric generation.

11.3 Four electric charging points are to be installed (for the current van fleet) and 
trunking will be installed across the yard passing in close proximity to all parking 
bays to enable additional vehicle electric charging points (including HGVs) at a 
later date.

12 Appendices

 None 

13 Background papers

 Original Cabinet Paper - Asset Development Avis Way July 2018 v2
 July 2nd Cabinet minutes

Page 278

https://democracy.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=417&MId=1652&Ver=4
https://democracy.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=417&MId=1652&Ver=4


Report to: Cabinet

Date: 10 February 2020

Title: Climate change and sustainability strategy – progress 
report

Report of: Director of Regeneration and Planning

Cabinet member: Cllr Matthew Bird, Cabinet Member for Sustainability

Ward(s): All

Purpose of report: To provide an update to the Climate Emergency Resolution 
of July 2019

Decision type: Key

Officer 
recommendation(s):

Cabinet is recommended to note the report and to;

(1) Approve the ‘Next Steps’ actions outlined in section 5.

(2) Approve the ‘Consultation and Engagement Proposals’ 
set out in section 4, and

(3) Delegate authority to the Director of Planning and 
Regeneration, in consultation with the Lead Member for 
Sustainability, to; 
(i) investigate the viability of moving the Council on 

to a green electricity tariff; and 
(ii)      if appropriate, to sign the Council up to this tariff.

Reasons for 
recommendations:

To progress towards the aims of the Climate Emergency 
Resolution of July 2019.

Contact Officer(s): Name: Kate Richardson
Post title: Strategy & Partnership Lead- Sustainability
E-mail: kate.richardson@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
Telephone number: 01323 415202

Page 279

Agenda Item 17



1 Introduction

1.1 This paper sets out progress to date and proposed next steps following the 
declaration of the climate emergency at Lewes District Council (LDC) in July 
2019.

1.2 It was agreed by Cabinet in September 2019 that a post should be established 
to work on this agenda, funded jointly with Eastbourne Borough Council, to 
enable us to progress at pace.  This position has now been filled. Kate 
Richardson started in post on 14 November 2019.

1.3 At the Cabinet meeting in September 2019  it was also agreed to commit £100k 
from the current year’s budget to climate emergency related work.  £15k is 
funding the above post in the current year, with the remainder (£85k) being 
available, as required, as a carbon emergency fund to undertake relevant 
projects and initiatives. Appendix 1 provides details of how this budget has been 
allocated.

2 Summary of Council Action

2.1 Prior to the council’s adoption of the Climate Emergency Resolution in July 
2019, a range of carbon reduction work had already been undertaken 
throughout the Council, much of this is considered ‘business as usual’.  Some 
examples (not an exhaustive list) are provided below, under the 9 strands of 
sustainability set out in the September Cabinet report.

2.2 Energy

The Council has 253 air source heat pumps (ASHP), over 600 solar photovoltaic 
systems on its housing stock and some properties in Peacehaven have had high 
efficiency electric heating installed. To reduce energy consumption Homes First 
have retro-fitted a variety of energy efficient lights, boilers and controls in our 
council houses; New boilers within our housing stock have hydrogen conversion 
capability. The Homes First team is continually evaluating new technology, for 
example, heat recovery units are currently under consideration. 

2.3 Waste & Recycling

There continues to be active engagement with residents to encourage recycling 
and to reduce waste.  The Council has seen recycling rates increase 
substantially through the introduction of co-mingled recycling and the new 
garden waste collections.

Internally the Council has conducted a single-use plastics audit and have 
reduced and eliminated these where possible in council buildings. 

Page 280



The Council has also been developing the recycling of construction waste at its 
development sites.

2.4 Water

Homes First has been evaluating the use of permeable resins as replacement 
for impermeable outside surfaces.

There has been continued input into planning applications regarding flood 
mitigation. There are active multi-agency partnerships involved in coastal 
management. The Council will be part of the Sussex Flow Initiative project for a 
further 3 years.  This project looks at upstream river flow in the River Ouse. The 
Council continues to be part of the Greater Brighton Water Working Group. 
Substantial ongoing work continues on natural flood management of the River 
Ouse.

The Council has installed a drinking water fountain at the new Newhaven 
skatepark and pumptrack and is progressing with an installation at Lewes 
skatepark.

2.5 Biodiversity

There has been an increase in wildflower planting areas and the Pollinator 
Strategy has been adopted. The frequency of grass cutting has been reduced in 
some areas to encourage re-wilding and biodiversity. The use of pesticides is 
limited and has reduced through the Pesticide Policy approved in October 2019.

2.6 Transport

Internally the staff car leasing programme has ceased and the Council has 
joined the easitNetwork group to encourage sustainable travel; access is 
provided to Cyclescheme; and flexible working is enabled. Video conferencing is 
enabled and encouraged to reduce travel between offices.

Waste and recycling collections form the bulk of corporate transport emissions 
so consideration is being given to ways in which this can be reduced. To reduce 
mileage the recycling routes with Lewes District have been optimised and the 
distance travelled to waste disposal locations has been reduced. The Waste and 
Recycling team supervisors use 2 fully electric vans and a long term 
procurement strategy to reduce emissions across the rest of the fleet will be 
developed.

£250,000 from the Council’s Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) fund was 
provided in October 2019 to help get work started on phase 5 of the Egrets Way 
network of paths – the new 1.1km stretch of the network will surface the route 
between Newhaven and Piddinghoe. 

Page 281



2.7 Air quality

There has been a campaign to reduce idling vehicles outside schools and the 
Council continues to monitor NOx and PM10. There is continued management 
of the 2 Air Quality Management Areas within Lewes town and Newhaven. The 
Council has secured a site for an air quality monitoring station in Newhaven, the 
station cabinet has been purchased and the Council is mobilising the 
infrastructure ready for installation before the end of the financial year.

2.8 Procurement

In line with the council’s Community Wealth building commitments (see para 5.2) 
the Council is increasing the social value of contracts procured.  We have also 
been making the environmental specifications within development contracts 
more rigorous.

2.9 Food

The Parks and Outdoor Spaces teams have been planting fruit trees where 
appropriate. The apple crop from Lewes House garden continues to be made 
available for community use.

2.10 Planning Policy and Development 

Within the Commercial Business team the Council has been: preparing a ‘whole 
estate plan’; developing and utilising a ‘Development checklist’ against which the 
Council can challenge itself to provide the most sustainable developments it can; 
supporting planning policy in developing sustainable travel solutions; developing 
a new sustainable waste vehicle deport; and building new sustainable homes.
The Planning Policy team have published a supplementary planning document 
for renewable energy generation technology and a technical guide for electric 
vehicle chargepoints.

3 Actions to progress the climate emergency resolution

3.1 The council’s climate emergency resolution in July 2019 set out a range of 
actions the council committed to take as a matter of urgency to start addressing 
the climate resolution.  Progress against these actions is set out here. 

a) With the appointment of the Strategy and Partnership Lead for 
Sustainability late in 2019, progress has now started on the formulation of 
a comprehensive climate change strategy.  This will be presented to 
Cabinet in July 2020.

Page 282



b) All reports being prepared for the 2020/21 budget, and indeed all other 
council reports now take into account the actions the Council will take to 
address the climate emergency.  A ‘Sustainability Implications Statement’ 
section has been built into all reports. Report authors will be trained in 
how to understand and articulate these statements, which will be refined 
and developed over the next 6 months.

c) The Climate Change Scrutiny Panel has been constituted and met for the 
first time on 30 January 2020.

d) The Portfolio Holder for Sustainability has drafted a letter to the 
Government to set out the Council’s intentions and call on the UK 
Government to provide the powers, resources and help with funding to 
make this possible, Following the General Election, this letter is due to be 
sent shortly both to Government and to the local MP.

e) Progress has been made in establishing vehicles to enable partners, 
community group and local people to be fully engaged and involved in 
this work.  Further details of this can be found in section 4 below.

3.2 In addition to the specific resolutions made by Council in July 2019, a number of 
additional initiatives have been progressed to ensure full organisational buy-in to 
this significant area of work, including;

a) The inaugural meeting of the Officer Working Group was held on the 28th 
November 2019 with representatives from across the Councils services 
attending. Officers were briefed on the work required going forward and 
the need for all relevant functions and services to be fully engaged and 
committed to deliver of the corporate climate emergency objectives.

b) The Staff Conference was held in November 2019 with a strong theme of 
the climate emergency running throughout.

c) Various functions within the authority have developed their own team 
carbon reduction pledges and commitments.

4 Consultation and engagement proposals

4.1 The Climate Change Resolution made a strong commitment to the council 
working in partnership with others to progress its sustainability agenda.  To this 
end a proposed approach to engagement has been developed.  The purpose of 
this is to meet the following five main objectives;

1. To develop a district-wide ownership of the climate emergency, with the 
council and partners supporting each other in developing solutions to 
achieve a carbon neutral district by 2030

Page 283



2. To enable the council to have the input from local experts into the 
formulation and development of strategy, policy and projects around this 
agenda

3. To consult with the community and stakeholders;  hearing and 
considering their views as the council develops its plans and proposals 

4. To support and encourage voices from all parts of the community, in 
particular young people, to help shape and deliver the future 
sustainability of the district

5. To keep the community and stakeholders informed of the council’s 
progress

4.2 To achieve these objectives, it is proposed that two partnership bodies be 
established;

A Sustainability Panel

4.3 A first meeting was held November 2019 to bring together a range of 
representatives from local groups and organisations with an interest in 
sustainability. At that event the council shared its initial short term plans and 
sought partners’ commitment further involvement and engagement.

The Panel, as is it is currently made up, comprises a combination of ‘expert 
advisors’ who have particular specialisms and professional expertise alongside 
others who are strong campaigners and community activists. Going forward it is 
suggested that the Panel membership be limited to those who it is felt are best 
able to fulfil the ‘expert advisor’ role (as per objective 2 above), with others being 
invited to participate in a Community Climate Change Forum (see below).

A Community Climate Change Forum

4.4 As stated in the council resolution, it is intended that there be a forum open to 
local communities, parish and town councils, voluntary and community 
organisations, businesses, educational establishments, nature groups, and 
bodies with an interest in agriculture food, health and transport.

This Forum’s purpose would be to help develop a district-wide ownership of the 
climate emergency, provide a vehicle for communication and consultation and 
provide a focus for sustainability issues in the district. 

To enable the Forum to have independence from the council, a third party will be 
commissioned to undertake its facilitation and administration.  A budget has 
been allocated with which to commission this work.  Expressions of interest will 
be requested from local not-for-profit organisations who may wish (singly or in 
partnership) to undertake the work.

Page 284



In order to ensure the aspiration to have a strong local youth voice around these 
issues, the specification for Forum facilitation will include a request for bidders to 
set out how they will ensure young people are fully engaged and included. Plans 
are also in place to engage with the East Sussex Youth Cabinet to gauge their 
views on how they would wish to be involved.

5 Next Steps

5.1 Over the past few months a new draft Corporate Plan has been drawn up which 
articulates the Council’s ambitions and priorities for the next four years. A report 
on the draft Corporate Plan can be found elsewhere on this agenda.  
This is currently subject to public consultation and sets out 12 key proposed 
priority actions in relation to sustainability and climate change.  The 
contributions provided by the Sustainability Panel (see section 4.3 above) have 
helped to shape this part of the draft Corporate Plan.

5.2 The draft Corporate Plan also clearly articulates the priority for building 
community wealth over the next four years.  Achieving sustainability and 
building community wealth are intrinsically linked. Many of the actions set out in 
this report therefore will, therefore, be delivered in a way help achieve 
community wealth building objectives.  The 5 principles of community wealth 
building1 are;

 Plural ownership of the economy. 
 Making financial power work for local places.  
 Fair employment and just labour markets.  
 Progressive procurement of goods and services.  
 Socially productive use of land and property,

5.3 Paragraphs 5.4.1 – 5.4.12 of this report refer to each of the 12 key proposed 
priority actions for sustainability set out in the draft Corporate Plan, and sets out 
next steps, for Cabinets’ consideration. To achieve carbon neutrality by 2030, 
the council needs to prioritise and urgently progress a number of actions at 
pace.  

5.4 It should be noted that the actions set out in this section represent simply the 
proposed early action in some of these areas.  A much fuller, long term, 
costed plan which more fully addresses all 12 areas, will form part of the 
comprehensive climate change strategy to be presented to Cabinet in July 
2020.

1 https://cles.org.uk/what-is-community-wealth-building/the-principles-of-community-wealth-building/

Page 285

https://cles.org.uk/what-is-community-wealth-building/the-principles-of-community-wealth-building/


5.4.1 Carbon baselining

In order to measure progress towards our carbon neutral goal we will agree our 
approach to measuring carbon emissions and then determine the 2018/19 
carbon baseline for the Council.  We will then be able to measure our progress 
against this baseline. Appropriate consultants will be engaged if needed to 
assist in determination of the carbon trajectory to meet zero carbon targets 
across the authority and District.

5.4.2 Influencing others to achieve a net carbon zero district

The council will use its community and strategic leadership role with the aim of 
bringing about a shared commitment to carbon reduction across the district.  
Through its strategic partnership relationships with other key stakeholders 
locally (statutory, private sector, voluntary and community), there will be a strong 
focus on influencing others to contribute, with urgency, to the climate 
emergency. 

In addition, as set out in section 4 above, a programme of engagement events 
and activities will be developed and delivered over the coming months which will 
help to share inform partners and residents about the contribution they can 
make.  We will also make use of the full range of media channels (including 
District News, social media and traditional media routes) to promote key 
messages.

5.4.3 Shifting to zero carbon electricity generation

In conjunction with the Lead Member for Sustainability, we will investigate 
moving the council on to a green electricity tariff at the end of the current 
contract which runs to 30th September 2020. The Council must provide 6 
months’ notice of contract changes which means we must agree changes by 
end of March 2020.  To this end, Cabinet is asked to agreed delegate authority 
to the Director of Planning and Regeneration, in consultation with the Lead 
Member for Sustainability, to investigate the viability of moving the Council on to 
a green electricity tariff; and if appropriate, to sign the Council up to this tariff.

To tackle wider district-wide shifts in this area, a Community Energy Forum will 
be established to act as a central point to co-ordinate and forward the 
community energy agenda.  We will also continue work with other partners to 
implement the Greater Brighton Energy Plan.

We will promote, alongside other district and boroughs in East and West 
Sussex, the Solar Together scheme which will enable private residents to 
‘group-buy’ solar PV panels at competitive prices.  This, alongside the existing 

Page 286



Warmer Sussex scheme provides a range of ways in which owner-occupiers can  
get advice on retro-fitting their homes, to reduce energy consumption and cut 
their fuel bills.

5.4.4 Improving energy efficiency and decarbonising our Council Houses

The Council, jointly with Eastbourne Borough Council, will explore opportunities 
to work with other local providers of council owned housing. The purpose will be 
to discuss implications of the climate emergency on refurbishment, retro-fit and 
investment plans and to decide if a partnership approach could generate 
efficiencies of scale.  

An additional £500k has been allocated within the Housing Revenue Account to 
contribute to the decarbonising of our own council housing stock.  As well as 
directly contributing to the climate change agenda this will also reduce fuel 
poverty by creating warmer and cheaper to run homes, directly improving the 
lives of our tenants.

5.4.5 Encouraging more walking and cycling

Alongside other work that is already on-going to improve provision of cycle 
routes in the district, we will commission a feasibility study into an e-bikes 
scheme for the area. We will also encourage the establishment of a district-wide 
cycle forum in order to further explore how cycling can be promoted in the 
future.

5.4.6 Improving air quality through modal shift in local transport

We aim to take a strategic approach to our air quality work in conjunction with 
ESCC as a key partner. Whilst we work on a holistic strategy, an early focus will 
be on working with ESCC and other district and borough partners in East 
Sussex to establish an electric vehicle (EV) charge-point strategy and draw up a 
plan for implementation in Lewes.  

5.4.7 The Greenest Local Plan

Have the greenest Local Plan and putting sustainability at the heart of our local 
planning processes is a central pillar of the sustainability work. This has begun 
with the agreement of the statement of community involvement which is crucial 
to the development of the plan.  A new cross party Local Plan Steering Group of 
seven elected members has been established and met in January 2020.  This 
group will agree the scope of the Local Plan review, in line with recent guidance 
from the Planning Advisory Service.  

Page 287



5.4.8 Increasing biodiversity

We will take a strategic approach to biodiversity, building on our existing plans in 
this area.  We will look to increase wildflower and pollinator opportunities 
through cutting pesticide use on council land.  We will also formulate an 
extensive tree planting plan.  More detail on this will form a part of the 
comprehensive climate change strategy.

5.4.9 Influence reduction in emissions through agriculture and food production

We are committed to influencing and creating conditions for a reduction in 
emissions from agriculture and food production.  Again, more detail on this will 
form a part of the comprehensive climate change strategy.

5.4.10 Reduce waste and waste related emissions

We are committed to reducing waste and emissions that arise from dealing with 
waste.  Early work in this area is focused on calculating the carbon footprint of 
our current waste fleet with a view to considering how improvements can be 
made.

5.4.11 Flooding and coastal erosion

Some long term existing workstreams relating flooding and coastal erosion are 
continuing. Our overall strategic approach to these challenging issues will form a 
part of the comprehensive climate change strategy.

5.4.12 Energy efficient, climate resilient and adaptable housing 

The aspiration to build and encourage affordable, energy efficient, climate 
resilient and adaptable locally sourced and provided housing is clearly set out in 
the draft Corporate Plan.  A separate Housing Strategy for the district will be 
developed over the coming months to address this.

6 Financial appraisal

6.1 The finance implications of this report for this year have largely already been 
agreed as part of the Sustainability Fund 2019/20 (Report to the Leader 05 
November 2019).
See Appendix 2 for more information.

6.2 There is likely to be an increase in the cost of the electricity contract (anticipated 
to be in the region of an additional 0.05p/kwh)

Page 288



7 Legal implications

7.1 The principal piece of UK-wide legislation relating to carbon neutrality is the 
Climate Change Act 2008.  When first implemented, it required the UK to 
achieve an 80% reduction in greenhouse gas* levels (relative to 1990 levels) by 
2050 but, in June 2019, further legislation was passed which revised the target 
upward from 80% to 100%.  

*Greenhouse gases comprise primarily CO2, but also methane, nitrous oxide 
and certain fluorocarbons.

The 2008 Act also provided for five-year carbon budgets and emissions trading 
schemes. 

The legal obligations created by the Act fall exclusively on central government.  
Nonetheless, Lewes District Council can actively contribute to carbon reduction 
through its– 

• management of its own estate and assets
• community leadership
• regulatory role, particularly as local planning authority – through 
adherence to the National Planning Policy Framework and its own Local Plan
• service provider role, especially as waste collection authority and housing 
authority.

At local level, climate change legal duties that apply specifically to district / 
borough councils include section 19(1A) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.  This requires that a local authority’s development plan 
documents must, taken as a whole, include policies designed to secure that the 
development and use of land in its local planning authority area contribute to the 
mitigation of, and adaptation, to climate change.

The Council’s powers to take carbon reduction measures across any of these 
functions stem, if not from function-specific legislation, from section 1 of the 
Localism Act 2011, which grants the ‘general power of competence’ to qualifying 
local authorities.

Lawyer consulted 14.01.20                                          Legal ref: 008860-LDC-OD

8 Risk management implications

8.1 Failure to agree and progress the actions at pace could lead to failure to meet 
the aims and targets within the Climate Emergency Resolution of July 2019.

Page 289



9 Equality analysis

9.1 It is assessed that an Equality Analysis is not required for this report.    

10 Environmental sustainability implications

10.1 This report directly relates to the achievement of making the Council zero carbon 
by 2030 and assisting the Borough to become Carbon Neutral. Implementation 
of actions to achieve carbon neutrality is key to mitigate the predicted negative 
impacts of climate change on the environment, economy and communities.

11 Appendices

Appendix 1: Sustainability budget as agreed by Leader Decision (12 November 
2019)

12 Background papers

The background papers used in compiling this report were as follows: 

Report to Cabinet: Climate Emergency, 16th September 2019
https://democracy.lewes-
eastbourne.gov.uk/documents/s12174/Climate%20emergency.pdf

Page 290

https://democracy.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/documents/s12174/Climate%20emergency.pdf
https://democracy.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/documents/s12174/Climate%20emergency.pdf


Appendix 1 

Sustainability budget as agreed by Leader Decision (12 November 2019)

Expert advice and support for community wealth building  £      10,000 

Monitoring advice/tools for carbon base lining  £        5,000 

Expert advice and support for carbon reduction measures
 

 £      10,000 

Tree planting and other sustainability initiatives  £      20,000 

Solar Together  £        5,000 

Climate Change Forum  £        5,000 

OVESCO Sunny Solar Schools  £        5,000 

Cycling initiatives  £      20,000 

EV feasibility  £        5,000 

Staffing  £      15,000 

TOTAL  £    100,000 

Page 291



Page 292



Report to: Cabinet

Date: 10 February 2020

Title: Former Police and Fire Station Sites, Newhaven 

Report of: Director of Regeneration and Planning

Cabinet member: Cllr William Meyer, Cabinet member for Housing

Ward(s): Newhaven Denton and Meeching

Purpose of report: To seek approval to the acquisition of  the sites in 
Newhaven formally housing the Police and Fire stations for 
developmentas affordable housing.  

Decision type: Key

Officer 
recommendation(s):

1 To approve the purchase of two sites in Newhaven 
known as the Former Police Station, and the former 
fire station details in Appendix A either separately or 
together.

2 To authorise the Director of Regeneration and 
Planning, in consultation with the Lead Member for 
Housing, to finalise the terms of the purchase of both 
sites and to sign or execute as appropriate the 
purchase agreements, transfers and all related 
documentation including the SDLT return. 

3 To approve in principle the development of the two 
sites (or either one of them if the other cannot be 
acquired) for Council housing within the Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA), funded through the annual 
Council budget. 

4 To authorise the Director of Regeneration and 
Planning, in consultation with the Lead Member for 
Housing, to finalise the terms of the building contract 
and any related appointments and contracts..The 
approval to sign or execute as appropriate the 
building contract, the appointments and all related 
documentation and to start works on site will be 
subject to a subsequent Cabinet report

5 To approve the acceptance of a grant from Homes 
England to part finance the development. To 
authorise the Director of Regeneration and Planning, 

Page 293

Agenda Item 18



in consultation with the Lead Member for Housing, to 
finalise the terms of and sign the Grant Agreement. 

Reasons for 
recommendations:

The overarching reason for the recommendations is to 
maximise the Council’s ability to provide affordable housing 
within the District, partly through the full utilisation of 
receipts received from Council homes sold under the Right 
to Buy.

Contact Officer(s): Name: Leighton Rowe
Post title: Development Project Manager
E-mail: Leighton.rowe@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
Telephone number: 01323 415367

1 Introduction

1.1 In January 2016 Lewes District Council (LDC), Sussex Police and East Sussex 
Fire and Rescue Service (ESFRS) joined together to move into a shared office 
at Saxon House and vacate their Newhaven facilities. The Police Station site 
has since been vacant and the Fire Station Site has only had a temporary uses 
and both organisations are now willing to sell their sites to LDC to develop new 
Council homes.  

2 Proposals

2.1 Acquisition of Police and Fire Station Sites 

LDC has had red-book market valuations carried out and has now commenced 
negotiations with Sussex Police and ESFRS to agree to purchase their sites. 
Provisional price structures have been agree with each authority, but are 
dependent upon scale of development and planning permission. The purchases 
of the two sites are not contractually linked and the sites are not adjacent and 
may come forward independently of each other.  

2.2 Police Station

The former police station is in a prominent location at the junction of South Way 
and South Road in the centre of the town. It currently has a 3-storey office 
building taking up approximately a third of the site, with the remaining land 
having been used as a car park for the building, with access from Chapel Street. 
The site is in a highly sustainable location being very close to the Town Centre 
retail area and on bus routes to Brighton, Lewes and Eastbourne and within 500 
metres of the railway station, meaning that a scheme could be designed to be 
car light or car free. 

The site was identified in the Newhaven Neighbourhood Plan as having potential 
for a minimum for 15 homes, on a site of approximately 0.15 hectares.  

Page 294



2.3 Fire Station

The ESFRS site is located mid-way along Fort Road at the junction with Lorraine 
Road and West Quay Road. The site is cut into the hill that slopes steeply up to 
the West and the surrounding properties are mainly residential. It currently has 
the former fire station building and training tower on the site.  

The site has a lapsed planning consent for 7 x 3-bedroomed town houses on an 
area of approximately 0.16 hectares.

2.4 Development Proposal 

Following the acquisition of the sites, the development will be progressed as one 
project to design, achieve planning consent and seek costed tenders for the 
development of new Council housing. The project will return to Cabinet for a final 
approval to proceed with construction. 

Detailed scheme designs are yet to be commenced, but the aspirational project 
objectives will include the following:

 Police Station site to deliver 15-25 flats
 Fire Station site to deliver 7 x 3-bedroom houses 
 Fabric first approach to sustainable homes
 Low carbon energy usage, including no gas heating
 Water saving/collection features 
 Accelerated delivery through Modern Methods of construction  

3 Outcome expected and performance management

3.1 The expected outcome of this report’s recommendations will be that LDC will be 
able to design, gain planning consent and present a fully costed development 
plan back to Cabinet. There are not currently any fixed timescales for delivery of 
this outcome, however it is expected that this work will be completed within 9 
months.

LDC are currently applying to Homes England for Infrastructure Funding to 
support the development of these two sites and any granted monies must be 
spent before March 31st 2021.

4 Consultation

4.1 No formal consultation has taken place on developing these sites by LDC. 
However the previous planning consent achieved on the Fire Station site and the 
inclusion of the Police Station site in the Neighbourhood Plan mean that local 
consultation has already taken place on the principles of residential 
development.  

5 Corporate plan and council policies

5.1 The overall outcomes of these projects support the Cabinet’s Corporate Polies 
to address:

Page 295



 “Sustainability and Climate Change” The new Council housing will have 
significant sustainability features design in the fabric and procurement of 
low carbon energy.
”Affordable Housing” – The projects highlighted in the report are to bring 
forward affordable rented homes that will be directly managed by the 
Council for local people in need.
“Community Wealth Building” – The selection process for construction 
tender ensure that companies meeting our local employment and training 
requirements will be delivering the new homes. 

6 Business case and alternative option(s) considered

6.1 Full feasibility appraisals have been undertaken prior to discussions with Sussex 
Police and ESFRS, and full details will be included in the subsequent report that 
is presented to Cabinet following tendering exercise. 

Alternative options considered: 
 Allow private developers to purchase the sites, which would likely involve 

limited or no affordable housing provision.
 Select a 3rd party developer to purchase the sites in a joint venture 

agreement with LDC to reduce development risk. This option would likely 
have either increased the overall cost of LDC delivering affordable 
housing or reduced the sustainability benefits that the new homes would 
provide to the area and the new residents.   

7 Financial appraisal

7.1 The reason for the recommendations is to maximise the Council’s ability to 
provide affordable housing within the District, partly through the full utilisation of 
receipts received from Council homes sold under the Right to Buy and LDC are 
currently applying to Homes England for Infrastructure Funding to support the 
development of these two sites.

7.2 Any additional capital proposals affecting either the General Fund or the 
Housing Revenue Account capital programme over and above the existing 
approved budget will need to be considered on a case by case basis as part of 
the business case process for any new schemes. 

7.3 There may be some period of business rates liability for the Council to cover 
prior to demolition, but there are no other immediate direct revenue 
consequences arising from this report. As when any new schemes are brought 
forward the detailed revenue consequences will need to be considered to ensure 
that the scheme is affordable and that the implications on the Housing Revenue 
Account and General Fund are considered as part of the decision making 
process.   Staffing and any other costs associated with the report’s 
recommendation are to be contained within existing department revenue 
budgets

Page 296



8 Legal implications

8.1 Both of the sites will be the subject of investigations of title and reports on title 
will be prepared for both of them which will highlight any potential legal risks 
associated with the properties. Any such risks will need to be properly managed 
with the benefit of legal advice at the time.

8.2 The Council has the power to purchase the properties using funds from the 
Housing Revenue Account but any properties purchased in this way will be 
subject to the normal limitations of housing stock held within the HRA.

8.3 The Council will be required to enter into a grant agreement in respect of any 
grant from Homes England and the terms of this agreement will need to be 
subject to legal advice at the time.

9 Risk management implications

9.1 The following risks associated with these projects have been identified: 

 Standard development risks 
Mitigation: A new feasibility assessment will be carried out prior to 
schemes coming to Cabinet for construction approval and standard 
JCT contract will be used to fix the construction cost

10 Equality analysis

10.1 An equality impact assessment has been undertaken and has not identified any 
equality impacts. 

11 Environmental sustainability implications

11.1 The two site designs will undergo a full review of sustainability features, both for 
the construction and usage of future residents. 

12 Appendices

 Appendix 1 – Site plan of Former Newhaven Police Station Site
 Appendix 2 – Site plan of Former Newhaven Fire Station Site
 Appendix 3 – Details of Police Station and Fire Station Acquisition – 

EXEMPT 

13 Background papers

N/A

Page 297



Page 298



 

Former Police Station, South Road, Newhaven, BN9 9QJ 
 

Appendix 1

P
age 299



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Former Fire Station, Fort Road, Newhaven, BN9 9QF 
 

Appendix 2

P
age 301



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 
Report to: Cabinet 

 
Date: 10 February 2020 

 
Title: General Fund Revenue Budget 2020/21 and Capital 

Programme  
 

Report of: Chief Finance Officer  
 

Cabinet member: 
 

Councillor Zoe Nicholson, Leader of Council, Cabinet 
Member for Finance 
 

Ward(s): 
 

All 

Purpose of report: 
 

To agree the updated General Fund budget and updated 
MTFS, together with the updated Capital Programme 
position. 
 

Decision type: 
 

Budget and policy framework 
 

Officer 
recommendation(s): 

Members are asked to recommend the following proposals 
to Full Council: 
 

i) The General Fund budget for 2019/20 (Revised) 
and 2020/21 (original) Appendix 1 including growth 
and savings proposals for 2020/21 as set out in 
Appendix 3.   

 
ii) An increase in the Council Tax for Lewes District 

Council of £5 resulting in a Band D charge for 
general expenses of £192.08 for 2020/21 
 

iii) The revised General Fund capital programme 
2020/21 revised as set out in Appendix 5. 

 
iv) To note the section 151 Officer’s sign off as 

outlined in the report. 
  

Reasons for 
recommendations: 
 

The Cabinet has to recommend to Full Council the setting of 
a revenue budget and associated council tax for the 
forthcoming financial year by law. 
 

Contact Officer(s): Name: Homira Javadi 
Post title: Chief Finance Officer 
E-mail: Homira.Javadi@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk 
 

 

 

 

Page 303

Agenda Item 19



1.  Background 
 

1.1  The Council published its draft Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for 
2019/20 to 2023/24 in July 2019. This is a key document, which demonstrates 
alignment with the Council Corporate Plan, and how the Council plans to target its 
financial resources in line with its key priorities and stated aims and objectives.  
 

1.2  The MTFS included a set of financial assumptions and forecasts up to the 
financial year 2023/24, based on the most up to date information available at the 
time.  
 

1.3  This report presents the updated forecast financial position for 2020/21, taking 
into account the capital strategy and programme approved by Council in February 
2019, budget changes identified since the publication of the MTFS and the latest 
intelligence regarding the 2020/21 local government funding settlement following 
the Comprehensive Spending Review announcement on 19th December 2019.  
 

2.  Key Factors 
 
Comprehensive Spending Review 2019 
 

2.1  Local government in general and district councils in particular continue to operate 
within a severely challenging financial environment. There have been three 
Comprehensive Spending Reviews since 2010, each of which has had an impact 
upon local government’s strategic financing:     
 

 Spending Review 2010: published in October 2010, established the initial 
path of reductions to local government grant funding and the introduction of 
Council Tax Freeze grant. At the same time as the SR10 took effect, New 
Homes Bonus was launched for the period of the SR.  

 Spending Review 2013: published in June 2013, continued with the 
reductions to local government grant funding; the rolling forward of the 
Council Tax Freeze grant; and the introduction of the Better Care Fund.  

 Spending Review 2015: published in November 2015, again continued 
with reductions to local government grant funding; introduced reforms to 
New Homes Bonus; ended Council Tax Freeze grant, set council tax 
referendum limits at 2% per annum or £5 for District Councils (whichever 
was higher); and introduced the Social Care Precept at 2% per annum.  

In 2019/20, additional one-off funding was provided for social care and council tax 
referendum limits were increased to 3%.  
 
As a result of these changes to the local government financial system the Council 
no longer receives central Government funding in the form of Revenue Support 
Grant (RSG).   
 

2.2  The Local Government Finance Settlement for 2018/19 announced that by 
2020/21 local Councils will retain 75% of business rate revenues. However, the 
timetable for introducing these changes has now been pushed back to 2021/22 
and the Government are yet to publish detailed proposals.  For the purposes of 

Page 304



the Medium-Term Financial Strategy the minimum baseline has been assumed, 
which would be the worse case scenario.  In addition, no transitional funding 
arrangements have been factored into the projections.  
 
Economic Outlook 
 
On 16 December 2019, the Office for Budget Responsibility (OBR) published its 
restated March 2019 economic and fiscal outlook.   
 
The economy ended 2018 growing a little less strongly than expected in October. 
Survey indicators of current activity have weakened materially, in part reflecting 
heightened uncertainty prior to the General Election related to Brexit. As a result, 
the OBR has revised their forecast for Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth this 
year down to 1.2% – more than reversing the upward revision they made in 
October in response to the Government’s discretionary fiscal loosening in the 
Budget. They have not altered their assessment of the outlook for potential 
output, so the medium-term forecast is little changed: GDP growth still settles 
down to around 1.5% a year.  

 
They now expect public sector net borrowing to come in at £22.8 billion (1.1% of 
GDP) this year, down £2.7 billion since October thanks primarily to higher income 
tax receipts and lower debt interest spending. By 2023/24 the improvement since 
that October estimate is £6.3 billion, again thanks primarily to higher income tax 
receipts and lower debt interest spending.  

 
These downward pressures on borrowing are partially offset by the £2.1 billion net 
cost of 20 policy decisions announced since the Budget – notably the £1.7 billion 
of additional planned public services spending announced at the Spring 
Statement. This leaves the expected deficit in 2023/24 at £13.5 billion (0.5% of 
GDP).  

 
Consumer Price Index (CPI) inflation was above the 2% target throughout 2018, 
averaging 2.5%. In the fourth quarter of 2018 it had fallen back to 2.3%. CPI 
inflation fell further in January 2019 to 1.8%, largely reflecting lower gas, 
electricity and petrol price changes. This was the first time in two years that 
inflation was below the 2% target. The OBR has revised down their forecast for 
CPI inflation since October, dipping to 1.9% in 2020, returning to the 2% target 
thereafter. They have made a larger downward revision to RPI inflation due to the 
much weaker outlook for house prices in 2019 and 2020.   

 
2.3  On 4 September 2019 the Chancellor delivered his 2019 Spending Round. The 

key points that are relevant to Local Government are as follows:  
 

a) Confirmation that the Fair Funding Review, Business Rates Review and 
business rates reset has been deferred by 12 months to 2021/22.  

 
b) £2.9 billion increase in Core Spending power overall. Most of the additional 

funding is for adults’ and children’s services, but there is £54m for 
Homelessness. 

  

Page 305



c) Funding to remove negative RSG has been continued for 2020/21.  
 

d) 75% business rates pilots will come to an end and there are no new pilots 
planned for 2020/21.  

 
e) £40m additional funding for Discretionary Housing Payments.  

 
f) £23m to fund a range of measures around Universal Credit – whilst this 

won’t come to districts it will be a positive support for people in the area.  
 

g) Continuation of the Discover England Fund to promote inbound tourism.  
 

h) £241m in 2020/21 in the Towns Fund to regenerate high streets, town 
centres and local economies.  

 
i)  Additional £30m for the Business, Energy, & Industrial Strategy (BEIS) to 
 accelerate the development of decarbonisation schemes.  

 

3.  Provisional Finance Settlement 

3.1  The Provisional Finance Settlement was announced on the 20 December 2019, 
whilst there is additional funding from Central Government this has been 
prioritised for adult and children’s social care.   
 
The settlement provides no update on the progress of either the move to further 
business rates retention or the Review of Relative Needs and Resources 
(commonly called the Fair Funding Review). However, the settlement confirmed 
that the next business rates revaluation is planned for 2021 and from then on, the 
Government intends to move to a three-yearly revaluation cycle.  
 
 The headlines are as follows;   
 

a) No change to the New Homes Bonus threshold of 0.4%. The 2020/21 
element of NHB will be paid for one year only. The legacy payments of the 
bonus in respect of growth in 2019/20 and previous years will continue to 
be paid in 2020/21. The Government will consult on the future of the 
housing incentive in the Spring. The Written Ministerial Statement says this 
will include moving to a new, more targeted approach which is aligned with 
other measures around planning performance and confirmed that the 
payments will be phased out;  
 

b) The Rural Services Delivery Grant will remain unchanged at £81 million in 
2020/21. The Government is minded to retain the current method of 
distributing the grant but will consult on this;  
 

c) Business rates baseline will rise in line with inflation; 
 

d) £400m compensation for under-indexing the business rates multiplier will 
be distributed to all councils, The Council’s share of this will be confirmed 
later in the process;  

Page 306



 
e) Continuation of the option for shire districts with the lowest council tax 

levels to increase council tax by the higher of 2% or £5. The Government 
will continue with its policy of not setting referendum limits for parish and 
town councils, which they will keep under review for future years.  
 

The impact of above funding streams in the Council’s budget and MTFS are 
summarised and included in the table below: 

 
Table 1: Provisional Finance Settlement and Other Funding Resources 
 

  
2019/20

2020/21 2021/22
2022/2

3 
2023/24

  £m £m £m £m £m

Business Rates 4.951 3.288 2.407 2.471 2.536

Business Rates – Pool  - 0.250 - - -
Business Rates - Surplus 0.090 - - - -
New Homes Bonus 0.457 0.464 0.068 0.016 -
Council Tax 7.519 7.713 8.000 8.289 8.588
Council Tax - Surplus 0.059 0.083 - - -
Other Government Grants 0.382 0.344 0.309 0.278 0.251
Total Resources 13.458 12.142 10.784 11.054 11.375

 

 
 
 
 

 

Chart 1: Funding Resources 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Note the above includes annual surpluses and deficits relating to business rates and 
council tax.  As previously mentioned, forecasts for business rates from 2021/22 onwards 
are modelled on a worse case scenario with no transitional funding arrangements. 

 

 

Page 307



4.  Council Tax 

4.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The aggregate Band D council requirement comprises two elements: 

 Special Expenses in respect of the cost of managing and maintaining parks 
and open spaces.  The cost of each site is charged to the council 
taxpayers of that part of the district area in which it is located. 
 

 General Expenses, all other costs. 
 

The Council has made a commitment to passing on changes in the cost of the 
upkeep of open spaces.  Special Expenses amounts are shown in the table 
below: 

Table 2: Special Expenses 

Town/Parish Area 

Special 
Expenses 
2020/21     

£ 

Band D 
2020/21  

£ 

Special 
Expenses 
2019/20   

£ 

Band D 
2019/20  

£ 

Lewes 344,430 56.12 334,370 54.31 

Newhaven 134,940 36.53 155,620 43.60 

Telscombe 57,720 22.78 53,400 20.61 

Seaford 58,590 6.17 54,760 5.64 

Peacehaven 41,100 8.56 37,930 7.85 

Chailey 1,120 0.86 1,070 0.82 

Ringmer 4,410 2.35 4,180 2.19 

TOTAL SPECIAL EXPENSES 642,310 17.45 641,330 17.45 
 

For 2020/21 three sites have been devolved: 

 Holly Croft play area, Lewes 
 Valley Road Estate play area, Newhaven 
 Eastside recreation area, Newhaven 

Applying a £5 increase to the General Expenses element of the Council Tax gives 
a Band D tax amount of £192.08 as shown in the table below: 

Table 3: Council Tax 

  
2019/20 2020/21 Change Change 

£ £ £ % 

Band D         

Special Expenses 17.45 17.45 0.00 0.0% 

General Expenses 187.08 192.08 5.00 2.7% 

Total 204.53 209.53 5.00 2.4% 

 
 

Page 308



4.4 The Council has to give an indication of likely future council tax rises, it is still 
expected that council tax will rise in line by inflation 2% to 3% per annum for each 
of the next three years.  This is within the Government’s target for inflation (1-3%) 
and the also current ceiling on rises that would otherwise require a referendum. 

Within this context, for 2020/21, the Council will raise £7.7M from its share of the 
council tax.  This is determined by multiplying the council tax base of Band D 
equivalent dwellings by the Band d tax rate of £209.53 per annum. 

 
5.  2018/19 Financial Outturn 

5.1  The Council achieved a balanced revenue outturn position for 2018/19 after the 
flexible use of capital receipts, benefiting from reallocation of £1.1M grant funding 
and planned used of reserve £1.2M. However, this position masked a number of 
significant pressures – notably are the significant cost of temporary and 
emergency accommodation and the impact of economic slowdown on commercial 
income and business rate.   
Table 4: 2018/19 Outturn Variances 

Analysis of Major Variances £000 

Service Priorities/Contingency -   
(to mitigate against loss of commercial income & increase in 
demand for services – including EA/TA) (486) 

Profiling of savings to meet additional demand for services 188 

Waste and Recycling – Loss of recycling credits and fuel costs 132 

Information Technology – Additional IT Contract cost 95 

Planning Policy – Play Strategy, National Park Habitat regs 72 

Newhaven Fort – Remedial works 52 

 53 
 

  

6.  2019/20 Revised Budget 

6.1 As part of the budget setting process and subject to approval, 2019/20 estimates 
will be adjusted to address structural imbalance in some operational budgets 
(largely relating to non-achievement of income and increased demand for housing 
need services). Healthy income from the chargeable garden waste service 
contributed to a more robust revenue budget position. However, some areas of 
the Council’s revenue budget remain under pressure and will require careful 
monitoring.   
 

6.2 Like most authorities, the Council is faced with a requirement to live within its 
means and improve and transform services whilst still operating in an 
environment of Government resource constraints and uncertainty about future 
funding prospects. 
 
 
 
 

Page 309



Table 5: 2019/20 Major Movements   
 

Analysis of Major Movements £000 

Estates/Corporate Landlord - Additional running costs / reduced rental income 567

Planning – increased staffing costs 205

Specialist Services – increased Housing Benefit costs 506

Homes First – additional housing costs 192

Reallocation of additional funding (240)

Tourism & Enterprise – net additional operation costs 174

Increased service provision to HRA re delivery of 30-year Business Plan (300)

Reduced investment interest 150

Other service wide changes (105)

   Initial Budget Gap 1,149

Use of Contingency (1,300)
Additional Efficiency Savings (114)

Corporate Landlord – Additional Income (98)
Contribution to Reserves 664

Revised Budget Gap 301
 

 
6.3 

 
The table shows an initial budget gap of £1.149M with key variances relating to 
additional corporate landlord costs and increased Housing Benefit costs.  
However, these have been managed through the partial use of the contingency 
budget which was established to cover off the impact of an economic slowdown 
and any potential increases in demand for services, such as housing. 

The forecast variances were identified as part of the Qtr2 monitoring process and 
further details are contained in Appendix 2. 
 

7.  Medium Term Financial Position  

7.1 The MTFS sets out the Council’s four-year spending and funding plans, and is the 
financial framework for the development of the detailed 2020/21 budget.  
 
The latest MTFS, as approved by Cabinet on 01 July 2019, forecast budget gaps 
in each of the next four financial years as follows:  
 
Table 6: Previous MTFS Forecasts 
 

 
2020/21 

£000 
2021/22 

£000 
2022/23 

£000 
2023/24 

£000 

Budget Forecast 12,377 11,425 11,232 11,203

External Funding (10,857) (10,689) (10,650) (10,635)

Annual Budget Gap 1,520 736 582 568

Cumulative Budget Gap 1,520 2,256 2,838 3,406
 

  

Page 310



7.2 The MTFS has been updated with the latest forecast position. This incorporates 
the on-going impact of any pressures and mitigations identified in the first 
quarter’s budget monitoring from 2019/20 and newly identified budget pressures. 
The forecast budget gap for 2020/21 has increased to £4.173M, largely due to the 
impact of continuing housing demand, economic uncertainty and reduction on 
some key income streams.  
 
A summary of the revised position, including the updated savings requirement, is 
shown in following sections.  
 
Table 7: Summary of Revised MTFS Position 
 

 2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

2021/22 
£000 

2022/23 
£000 

2023/24 
£000 

Adjusted Base Budget 14,607 14,607 13,169 14,267 15,075

Additional budget pressure 1,708 1,098 808 818
Initial Budget Forecast 14,607 16,315 14,267 15,075 15,893

External Funding (13,458) (12,142) (10,784) (11,054) (11,376)

Initial Budget Gap 1,149 4,173 3,483 4,021 4,517
Use of Contingency – Housing need (1,300) (1,600)   
Additional Efficiency Savings (114) (1,005)   
Additional Income – Corp Landlord (98) (300)   
Insurance Renewal Savings (100)   
Actuarial Contribution (100) (100) (100) (100)
Growth – non-recurring 201   
Balance to / (from) Planned use of 
Reserves 

664 (1,569)   

Cumulative Budget Gap 301 (300) 3,383 3,921 4,417

 
The forecast budget gaps from 2021/22 onwards are worse case scenarios taking 
on board the minimum baseline being used for business rates income and 
assumptions that the on-going impact of additional housing costs will continue. 

To mitigate against these gaps, the Council will be reviewing its asset base to 
optimise asset use, making them work better for our communities, or to generate 
additional capital receipts.  In addition, it will look to become more commercial 
and look for further rationalisation opportunities without reducing service 
provision. 

Further papers will be developed and submitted to Cabinet in due course.    

8.  Financial Planning Cycle  

8.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A typical financial planning cycle for a local authority is a continual process of 
review and challenge of future years’ budget assumptions over a medium-term 
horizon. This is based on performance against the current year’s budget, 
incorporating the costs and benefits of business change and responding to 
political and economic factors within the external environment.  
 
Following the publication of this report, work will continue to further validate and 
monitor delivery against all of the key budget assumptions for 2020/21 and 
beyond.  

Page 311



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.2 

 
Since the publication of the MTFS in July, the Council has reviewed its 2020/21 
budget following consideration of the following areas:  
 

 Priority objectives and service plan delivery;  
 Planned business change and opportunities for increased value for money; 
 Current levels of service demand and performance against budget; and 
 The statutory environment that each directorate operates in.  

 

The key financial assumptions within the MTFS have been refreshed to include 
the impact of:  
 

 The capital strategy and rolling capital programme approved by Council in 
February 2019; 

 Demographic and service demand pressures, which have been reviewed 
based on the latest national and local trends and management information 
available.  

 Expenditure and income inflation indices, which have been reviewed using 
the latest economic data and contract information.  

 An assessment of changes to government grants and funding;  
 The Council’s operational and financial performance in 2018/19 and 

2019/20 with due regard given to the on-going impacts in 2020/21  
 Validation of MTFS savings proposals.  

Full details of the updated financial assumptions are contained within Appendix 4. 

9.  Capital Programme 

9.1 As part of the budget setting process, the Council is required to agree a 
programme of capital expenditure for the coming four years. The capital 
programme plays an important part in the delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan 
and Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), which in turn supports wider 
service delivery.  
 
Capital expenditure within the Council is split into two main components, the 
General Fund Capital Programme and the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
Capital Programme.   
 

9.2 Capital programme recognises the spending limitations within the Finance 
Settlement for 2020/21 on the resources available. Therefore, the programme 
prioritises delivery to incorporate those projects that are either a statutory 
requirement or are essential to delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan. The 
programme includes schemes where the Council has been successful in securing 
funding from external grants and contributions, and schemes where the Council is 
pro-actively working with external bodies to secure funding.  For these schemes 
to go ahead it is important that the funding is secured.  
 
The programme has been compiled taking account of the following main 
principles, to:   

Page 312



 
• maintain an affordable four-year rolling capital programme;  
• ensure capital resources are aligned with the Council’s Corporate Plan,   
• maximise available resources by actively seeking external funding and 

disposal of surplus assets; and  
• not to anticipate receipts from disposals until they are realised.  

The current economic climate also places further emphasis on ensuring that the 
levels of capital receipts are maximised through improved asset management and 
through the sale of surplus and underused assets. The Council recognises 
disposal of its surplus assets key to its overall financing of capital investment and 
at the same time reduced the demand on the revenue costs of capital. 
 

9.3 Capital Funding Sources - The capital investment proposals contained within this 
MTFS rely upon an overall funding envelope made up of several sources, 
including borrowing, capital receipts, capital grants and revenue contributions.   
 
Borrowing - The local Government Act 2003 gave local authorities the ability to 
borrow for capital expenditure provided that such borrowing was affordable, 
prudent and sustainable over the medium term. The Council must complete a 
range of calculations (Prudential Indicators) as part of its annual budget setting 
process to evidence this.  These make sure that the cost of paying for interest 
charges and repayment of principal by a minimum revenue payment (MRP) each 
year is considered when drafting the Budget and Medium-Term Financial 
Strategy. Over the course of this MTFS, prudential borrowing of £37.2M has been 
assumed for the General Fund Capital Programme. 
 
The Council’s external authorised borrowing limit for 2020/21 is set at £132m with 
a General Fund limit of £75.3m and no external borrowing as at 31 March 2020.  
The 2020/21 borrowing is estimated as £27.1m.  The HRA has no borrowing 
limit/cap as it takes its income from rents and services charges collected from 
tenants, and spends this money exclusively on building and maintaining housing.  
Councils are able to borrow money within their HRAs in order to build more 
homes to provide more income, or even to refurbish or regenerate existing 
homes.  The 2020/21 HRA borrowing is estimated as £58.3m.  
 
Capital Receipts - These are generated when a non-current asset is sold, and the 
receipt is more than £10K. Capital receipts can only be used to fund capital 
expenditure or repay borrowing.  In determining the overall affordability of its 
capital programme, the Council is taking a prudent approach of not including 
anticipated capital receipts as a source of funding in the programme until such a 
time when the income is received and realised.  
 

9.4 
 
 
 
 
9.5 
 
 

Capital Grant - The Council receives additional grant funding for a variety of 
purposes and from a range of sources. These include the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) funding for Disabled Facility 
Grants and Environment Agency funding for Coastal Management projects.   
 
Revenue Contributions - Although the Council can use its General Fund to pay for 
capital expenditure, as it has done in the past, the current financial constraints 
that are on the Revenue Budget means that this option is limited in the medium 

Page 313



 
 
9.6 
 
 
 
9.7 
 
 
 
9.8 
 
 
 
9.9 
 
 
 
9.10 
 
 
 
 
 
10. 
 
10.1 
 
 
 
11. 
 
11.1 
 
 
 
 
11.2 
 
 
 
11.3 

term.   
 
General Fund Capital Reserves - Capital Short Life Asset Reserve – It is 
anticipated that this reserve will continue to fund assets with a life of less than 10 
years, primarily being IT equipment and vehicles purchases.  
 
HRA Right to Buy (RTB) Capital Receipts – The Right to Buy scheme helps 
eligible council tenants to buy their home with a discount of up to £84,200 
(2020/21). The Council receives the sale proceeds of the Council House.   
 
HRA Other Capital Receipts - These are generated when a fixed asset is sold, 
and the receipt is more than £10k. Capital receipts can only be used to fund 
capital expenditure.  
    
HRA Contributions – Funding for capital expenditure on housing can be met from 
within the HRA. The future funding requirements will be informed by the Council’s 
newly revised 30-year HRA business plan.  
 
HRA Capital Reserves – Although the HRA subsidy system has ceased to exist, 
transitional arrangements allow the Council to continue to place the Major Repairs 
Allowance, as detailed in the settlement determination, in the Major Repairs 
Reserve. This is exclusively available for use on HRA capital expenditure.  
 
 
Financial Appraisal 
 
The S151 Officer will submit her Section 25 report on the robustness of estimates 
and adequacy of reserves in February 2019.  
 
 

 Legal implications 
 
Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires that every local authority 
make arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs and shall 
secure that one of their officers has responsibility for the administration of those 
affairs. 
 
Sections 32 and 43 of the Local Government Act 1992 require local authorities to 
have regard to the level of reserves needed for meeting estimated future 
expenditure when calculating their budget requirement. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer, appointed under section 151 mentioned above, has a 
duty to report on the robustness of estimates and adequacy of reserves under 
section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003. 
 

12. Risk Management implications.  
 

12.1 Appendix 6 provides an analysis of risks associated with the MTFS and mitigating 
actions 

Page 314



 

13.  Equality analysis 
 

13.1 The equality implications of any individual decisions relating to the 
projects/services covered in this report are addressed within other relevant 
Council reports. 

  
 

14. 
 
14.1 

Conclusion 

The Council faces considerable financial challenges in the medium term, primarily 
relating to changes and uncertainty in both public finances and the wider 
economic environment.   

15. Appendices 
 

  Appendix 1 - General Fund Budget Summary 
 Appendix 2 – Qtr2 Monitoring. 
 Appendix 3 – Savings and Growth Proposals 
 Appendix 4 – MTFS Assumptions 
 Appendix 5 – Capital Programme 
 Appendix 6 – Risks 

 
16. Background papers 

 
 The background papers used in compiling this report were as follows:  

 
  Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement 2020/21 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 315



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

FINANCIAL MONITORING POSITION AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2019

2019/20
Full Year 

Budget

Profiled 

Budget

Actual to 

30th Sept 

2019

Variance 

to date

Forecast 

Full Year 

Variances

Indicative 

Revised 

Budget

SUMMARY  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Corporate Services 5,451 2,719 2,866 147 0 5,451

Contingency Provision 1,600 800 0 (800) 0 1,600

Service Delivery 8,558 4,183 4,672 489 178 8,736

Regeneration, Planning & Assets 431 365 852 487 618 1,049

Tourism & Enterprise Services 439 207 323 116 174 613

Housing Revenue Account (3,235) 0 0 0 (300) (3,535)

Total Service Expenditure 13,244 8,274 8,712 439 670 13,914

Efficiency Savings (750) (375) (180) 195 30 (720)

Capital Financing and Interest 0 (90) (20) 70 150 150

Contributions to/(from) Reserves 964 450 (150) 0 299 1,263

Net Expenditure 13,458 8,259 8,362 704 1,149 14,607

1,149Forecast Increase on Original Full Year Budget

The above table shows a budget shortfall of £704K at the end of September 2019 which is forecast to increase to 

£1.15M by the year end.  Details of the latter are contained within the body of the report.

Page 317



FORECAST 2020/21 BUDGET

2020/21

Indicative 

Revised 

Budget 

from 

2019/20

Pay & 

Contract 

Inflation 

(to be 

allocated)

Capital 

Financing

DFG 

Funding

Recurring 

Savings & 

Growth

Forecast 

2020/21 

Budget

SUMMARY  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Corporate Services 5,451 350 0 400 16 6,217

Contingency Provision 1,600 0 0 0 0 1,600

Service Delivery 8,736 0 0 0 250 8,986

Regeneration, Planning & Assets 1,049 0 0 0 141 1,190

Tourism & Enterprise Services 613 0 0 0 51 664

Housing Revenue Account (3,535) 0 0 0 0 (3,535)

Total Service Expenditure 13,914 350 0 400 458 15,122

Efficiency Savings (720) 0 0 0 0 (720)

Capital Financing and Interest 150 0 500 0 0 650

Contributions to/(from) Reserves 1,263 0 0 0 0 1,263

Net Expenditure 14,607 350 500 400 458 16,315

External Funding (12,142)

Initial Budget Gap 4,173

Use of Contingency (1,600)

Additional Efficiency Savings:

Reallocation of resources to HRA (500)

Waste - vehicle and staff reduction (200)

ICT - savings (155)

Vacancy savings (150) (1,005)

Additional Income - Corporate Landlord (300)

Insurance Renewal Savings (100)

Reduced Pension Contributions (100)

Growth - non-recurring 201

Balance to / (from) Reserves (1,569)

(300)

Page 318



Appendix 2 

General Fund Qtr2 Monitoring  

    

1. General Fund  

  

1.1. General Fund performance of the quarter is shown in the table below:  

  

2019/20 
Full Year 

Budget 
Profiled 

Budget 

Actual to  
30th Sept 

2019 

Variance 

to date 

Forecast  
Full Year 

Variances 

Indicative 

Revised  
Budget 

SUMMARY  £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000 

Corporate Services 5,451 2,719 2,866 147 (0) 5,451 

Contingency Provision 1,600 800 0 (800) 0 1,600 

Service Delivery 8,558 4,183 4,672 489 478 9,036 

Regeneration, Planning & Assets 431 365 852 487 618 1,049 

Tourism & Enterprise Services 439 207 323 116 174 613 

Housing Revenue Account (3,235) 0 0 0 (300) (3,535) 

Total Service Expenditure 13,244 8,274 8,712 439 969 14,213 

Efficiency Savings (750) (375) (180) 195 30 (720) 

Capital Financing and Interest 0 (90) (20) 70 150 150 

Contributions to/(from) Reserves 964 450 (150) 0 (0) 964 

Net Expenditure 13,458 8,259 8,362 704 1,149 14,607 

 Forecast Increase on Original Full Year Budget 1,149 

  

1.2. The above table shows that the variance at the end of September was £0.704M, which 

is an increase of £0.651M from the £53K reported at Qtr1.    

  

1.3. The variance is forecast to increase to £1.149M by year end.  This takes into account 

the anticipated additional impact of the economic slowdown and the significant increase 

in demand for housing and housing related costs.   

 

1.4. This is being managed by the use of the contingency budget (£1.6M) which was 

established to cover such circumstances, and will therefore ensure that the overall 

budget position remains balanced.   

  

1.5. The reasons for the major variances are set out below:  

 

 

 

  

Page 319



• £478K Service Delivery  

The updated mid-year estimate for Housing Benefit Subsidy has resulted in an 

additional cost increase of £506K which is now in line with the outturn position for 

2018/19.   

  

There are additional housing costs of £192K of which £100K relates to increase in 
Private Sector Leasing payments to landlords and £79K increased shared service 
staffing costs.  
  

Waste and Recycling costs have also increased by £68K as a result of increased  

fuel costs following the changeover from electric vehicles to HGV.  

  

Partially offsetting these cost increases is a reallocation of additional funding of 
£240K. 

  

• £618K Regeneration, Planning & Assets  

The most significant variance relates to the Corporate Landlord budget, which has 

seen reductions in investment property income of £214K, in addition to increased 

operating costs of £353K across the estate for utilities, repair and maintenance 

and professional fees.  

  

Planning costs are also anticipated to increase by £205K as a result of additional 

shared service staffing costs.  

  

These increases have partially been offset by a saving of £152K in respect of the 

Newhaven Enterprise Zone which is now budgeted to be funded from reserves.  

  

• £174K Tourism & Enterprise  

£114K of this variance relates to the Lewes Tourism service which now more 

accurately reflects the employee costs associated with this service, in addition to 

the cost of events and associated consultancy work.  

This is offset by efficiency savings achieved elsewhere within the budget. 

  

A further £60K increased cost relates to additional repairs at Newhaven Fort.  

  

• (£300K) Housing Revenue Account  

There is an increased service provision to HRA for additional services and 

resourcing requirements to meet the delivery of the Business Plan.  

  

• £150K Capital Financing an Interest  

Investment interest forecasts have been revised reflecting the latest interest rate 
forecasts which has resulting in a reduction in income.  

  

  

2. Housing Revenue Account  

  

2.1. The position at the end of September shows a variance in expenditure of £383K.    

  

Page 320



   Current 

Budget  
Profiled 

Budget  
Actual to  
30 Sept  
2019  

Variance 

to date  

   £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  

HRA  

Income   
   

(16,021)   

  

(8,010)  

   

(8,010)   

  -   

Expenditure  14,183   6,418  6,801  383  

Capital Financing & Interest  2,170   910  910   -   

Total HRA  (29)  (682)  (299)  383  

  

2.2. The repairs figures are still based on estimates provided by Mears as the issue 

associated with invoicing is still to be resolved.   

  

3. Capital Programme  

  

3.1. The capital programme for 2019/20 totals £55.4M with £1.229M still awaiting approval 

for Community Infrastructure (£1.2M) and Parks and Pavilions remedial works (£29K). 

The programme would then total £56.7M.  

  

3.2. Current spend totals £9.131M, leaving a balance of £47.7M still to spend in the last half 

of the year.  
  

  

  

Page 321



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3

SUMMARY OF SAVINGS AND GROWTH

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

SAVINGS AND INCOME PROPOSALS

Corporate Services (91) (91) (91) (91)

Service Delivery (865) (865) (865) (865)

Regeneration and Planning (237) (237) (237) (237)

TOTAL SAVINGS AND INCOME PROPOSALS (1,193) (1,193) (1,193) (1,193)

GROWTH PROPOSALS

Corporate Services 107 107 107 107

Service Delivery 1,115 1,095 1,095 1,095

Regeneration and Planning 378 378 378 378

Tourism and Enterprise 51 51 51 51

TOTAL GROWTH PROPOSALS 1,650 1,630 1,630 1,630

NON RECURRING GROWTH AND SAVINGS 458 438 438 438

NON-RECURRING GROWTH PROPOSALS

Corporate Services 4 0 0 0

Service Delivery 130 0 0 0

Regeneration and Planning 62 0 0 0

Tourism and Enterprise 5 0 0 0

TOTAL NON-RECURRING GROWTH PROPOSALS 201 0 0 0

TOTAL BUDGET MOVEMENT 658 438 438 438

Key Savings and Growth Proposals 2020/21

£000's

Disposal costs of recycling, associated with recycling credits (405)

Increased housing benefit overpayment income (308)

Reduced Leisure Contract fee (105)

Additional Corporate Landlord costs - repairs/business rates 285

Loss of recycling credits 281

Increased provision for bad debts 100

Increased spend on Housing Needs & Standards, Neighbourhood Hsg 243

Planning Policy - Emergence of Local Plan 75

Page 323



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Appendix 4 
 

 

Updated Financial Assumptions within the MTFS  

The key financial assumptions included within the MTFS are set out below:  
 
a) Pay assumptions:   

 
General pay inflation - assumed at 2.5% from 2020/21 onwards.  
 
Pension contributions - in line with other employers in the Local Government Pensions Scheme 
(LGPS) the Council makes an annual contribution payment to the Pension Fund to contribute 
towards the recovery of the deficit on the Fund. This contribution payment is set every three years 
as part of the triennial valuation of the Fund. Following discussions with the Fund’s actuary the 
MTFS has been updated on the assumption that the contribution payment will reduce by 2% over 
four years. The employer’s contribution rate does not affect individual employee’s contributions or 
pension benefits.  
 
b) Other pay considerations   

 
The estimated cost of pay increments has been built into the MTFS.  
  
c) Inflation Assumptions  

 
Inflation has been calculated for premises and transport related costs including utilities, business 
rates and fuel based on latest market intelligence and CPI forecasts from Central Government.  
 
d) Flexible Use of Capital Receipts  

 
The Council has agreed a formal efficiency plan (Joint Transformation Programme).  This enables 
the authority consider flexible use of capital receipts to finance qualifying expenditure in 2019/20. 
The use of these resources is ‘one-off’ and therefore does not form part of the Council’s on-going 
base budget.  
 
The MTFS has been updated to reflect the flexible use of capital receipts of £400K in 2019/20 but 
currently  assumes no further application in 2020/21. Any new transformation projects that require 
the use of flexible capital receipts require full Council approval, and as such, an update will be 
provided as part of the final 2020/21 budget papers.  
 
e) Fees and charges  

 
The Council provides a wide range of discretionary services.  It is expected that where possible a 
market driven pricing to be applied to support cost recovery.  The MTFS assumes a 2% across 
the board increase in fees and charges for its discretionary services. This increase has not been 
applied to the following income budgets:  
 

• Car parking charges 

• Planning fees 

Fees and charges assumptions will be fully reviewed in line with anticipated operational delivery 
and updated for the draft budget, which will include a full refresh of the Council’s fees and charges 
schedule.  

Page 325



 
f) Funding  

 
At the time of writing this report, it was anticipate that the final local government finance settlement 
for 2020/21 will be announced in January but currently no date has been provided.  The 
provisional settlement was announced on 20 December 2019 which had inevitable been delayed 
due to the General Election.   
 
The 2019/20 settlement was the final year of a four year settlement. It had been expected that a 
new 3 year Comprehensive Spending Review would take place this autumn, however due to 
continuing political and financial uncertainty surrounding Brexit, this has been postponed. Instead, 
a single year spending review was announced on 4th September 2019.   
 
The government has announced an increase to current and capital spending of £13.4bn in 
2020/21, compared to the OBR’s forecast at Spring Statement 2019. Resource Departmental 
Expenditure Limits (DEL) (excluding depreciation) across government departments will increase 
from £330.8bn to £352.3bn, representing growth of 4.1%.  
 
Most of the additional funding announced has been allocated to the following priorities:  
Health and social care – the government reaffirmed the existing five-year settlement for the NHS, 
with an additional £33.9bn more per year by 2023/24, compared to 2018/19 budgets, with a real 
terms 3.1% increase in Resources DEL in 2020/21. There will also be an additional £1bn for adult 
and children’s social care and the government will be consulting on a 2% adult social care precept 
to enable councils to access a further £0.5bn.  
 
Education and skills - the schools’ budget will rise by £2.6bn in 2020/21, which will include per 
pupil funding of £3,750 at primary and £5,000 at secondary schools. The additional funding is 
inclusive of £700m more funding in 2020/21 to support children and young people with special 
educational needs. £400m of additional funding for Further Education has also been announced.  
 
Tackling crime – an extra £750m for policing to pay towards the government’s commitment to 
recruit an additional 20,000 officers by 2023, which forms part of a 6.3% real terms increase in 
Home Office funding;   
 
Brexit - the Spending Round confirms £2bn of core funding provided to departments for Brexit in 
2019/20 will be continued into 2020/21. This money will be used to help pay for the costs of 
establishing a new relationship with the EU. Brexit preparation grants announced in January 2019 
are to be increased to £50,000 per authority.  
 
Local government core spending power is set to increase by £2.9bn, from £46.2bn in 2019/20 to 
£49.1bn in 2020/21, a real terms increase of 4.3% and cash increase of 6.3%. This compares to a 
cash increase of £1.7bn between 2015/16 and 2019/20.  
 
Business rates baseline funding will increase in line with CPI which is consistent with assumptions 
made in the current MTFS.  
 
The Government has subsequently clarified that other than in areas with devolution deals existing 
business rates pilots (including the Stoke on Trent and Staffordshire pilot) will end in 2020/21.  
 
A technical consultation on the spending review is expected shortly. To date there has been no 
announcement of the potential council tax referendum limit for 2020/21. However, the increase in 
Core Spending Power implies a limit of between 2.5% and 3.0%.   
 
The following sections set out the specific funding assumptions that have been applied in the 
MTFS in respect of grant funding, New Homes Bonus, Council Tax and Business Rates.  

Page 326



 
g) Grant funding  

 
The Council no longer receives any Revenue Support Grant.   
 
The existing MTFS includes a forecast reduction in housing benefit administration grant of £1.3M 
in each year of the MTFS, reflecting reduced caseloads following the introduction of universal 
credit. Grant funding for all other services has been assumed to remain at 2019/20 levels, except 
where there have been specific announcements.  
 
The one year Comprehensive Spending Review for 2020/21 announced further funding of £54m in 
2020/21 to help reduce homelessness and rough sleeping, this is in addition to the funding 
already provided in 2019/20. The allocation for the Council will not be determined until the time of 
the Final Local Government Finance Settlement – due to its one off nature, future provision has 
not been made for this in the MTFS.  
 
Brexit preparation grant of £35,000 has been received to date by the Council, again further 
funding for 2020/21 has been committed to via the Comprehensive Spending Review – due to its 
one off nature provision has not been made for this in the MTFS.  
 
h) New Homes Bonus  

 
New Homes Bonus is paid on a 4 year rolling basis. Income from New Homes Bonus has been 
budgeted in line with the confirmed grant announcement, with a reducing balance over the 
medium term due to funding for earlier years dropping out.  The MTFS has been updated to reflect 
current forecasts of house building activity.    
 
i) Council Tax  

 
Council Tax increases at the average Band D rate of £5 have been applied each year based on 
the current year level. The Council Tax Referendum level for 2020/21 has not been announced. 
However, implicit within the calculation of local authority core spending power announced as part 
of the 2019 Comprehensive Spending Review is an increase of between 2.5% and 3%. A 1% 
change in Council Tax equates to £0.077m in income.  
Growth in the Council Tax Base (the number of Band D equivalent dwellings subject to Council 
Tax) has been applied based on available intelligence and historical trend data.  
 
j) Business Rates  

 
An additional £0.300m of income relating to Business Rates has been added to the funding 
budget. This additional funding is due to the Business Rates collection fund being in surplus at the 
end of 2018/19 and is net of additional provision for appeals.  
 
It is anticipated that the Council’s income from Business Rates will increase at an inflationary 
amount during future years, if there are significant developments undertaken within the District this 
is likely to increase future revenue in the form of growth.  However, the timing and value of any 
benefit will be impacted by the baseline resets applied as part of the Business Rates Retention 
scheme  
 
 
k) Business Rates Retention Pilot  

 
The Council has for a number of years participated in a Business Rates pool with the local district 
and borough councils in East Sussex. The pool was successful in its application for a 75% 
Business Rates Pilot for 2019/20 and this has resulted in a projected financial benefit to the 

Page 327



Council of £0.200m in the current year. This additional money is ‘one off’ and is not included in the 
MTFS as an ongoing income.  
 
Following the 2019 Comprehensive Spending Review announcement on 4th September the pool 
has now been informed that the current pilot will come to an end in 2019/20.  Agreement has been 
reached with neighbouring authorities to continue the existing pooling arrangements for 2020/21, 
and the MTFS has been updated to reflect the impact of this.  
 

 

Page 328



LDC OUTLINE 3 YEAR CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2018/19 to 2022/23

Original Current

Programme Programme Total

2018/19 2018/19 2019-23

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

1 Housing

2 Feasibility Studies -                    -                     -               100          -               -                -                100           

3 Ashington Gardens Development -                    -                     -               320          -               -                -                320           

4 Saxonbury Redevelopment -                    -                     -               1,420       -               -                -                1,420        

5 Buy-back of RTB properties -                    -                     200          200          200          200           -                600           

6 Improvements to Housing Stock -                    -                     4,350       4,407       4,448       4,554        4,662        18,071      

7 New Acquisitions & New Build -                    -                     -               9,854       10,100      10,632      30,586      

8 LDC LHIC/Aspiration Homes - loans to facilitate delivery 15,000          20,000           -               2,296       1,250       1,250        1,250        6,046        

9 Sustainability Initiatives -                    -                     -               500          -                -                500           

10 Disabled Adaptation -HRA -                    -                     415          415          415          415           415           1,660        

11 Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants -GF 920               1,738             1,001       1,001       1,001       1,001        1,001        4,004        

12 Private Sector Housing Grants 135               245                135          135          135          135           135           540           

13 Temporary Accommodation -                    2,200             -               2,200       -               -                -                2,200        

14 HRA Parks and Recreation Grounds -                    -                     50            140          50            50             50             290           

15 Total Housing Investment 16,055          24,183           6,151       12,634     17,853     17,705      18,145      66,337      

16 GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME

17 JTP -                    429                -               262          -               -                -                262           

18 Regeneration

19 Commercial Property acquisitions and developments 4,000            2,533             4,000       -               1,000       500           500           2,000        

20 North Street Quarter 3,400            4,630             -               600          2,000       2,000        -                4,600        

21 Asset Development - Newhaven 1,000            1,600             -               300          1,300       -                -                1,600        

22 Asset Development - Seaford 1,300            18,700           -               150          18,550     -                -                18,700      

23 Avis Way Depot -                    4,100             -               250          2,100       2,550        -                4,900        

24 Denton Island -                    550                -               -               -               -                -                -                

25 Waste

26 Vehicles 156               986                964          -               329          -                227           556           

27 Other Equipment 71                 978                -               -               -               -                -                -                

28 Specialist

29 Coastal Defence Works -                    166                -               -               100          100           100           300           

30 Air Quality Monitoring Station Newhaven 80                 80                  -               -               -               -                -                -                

31 Flood Protection Measures 136               188                136          136          158          136           136           566           

32 Tree Survey Works 10                 10                  -               -               -               -                -                -                

33 IT

34 IT Block Allocation 150               150                150          150          185          150           150           635           

35 Asset Management 

36 Asset Management - Block Allocation 250               256                250          300          700          400           300           1,700        

37 Public Conveniences -                    -                     -               -               100          100           100           300           

38 Asset Management - Other works -                    813                -               -               -               -                -                -                

39 Robinson Road Depot - Priority works 55                 250                -               -               -               -                -                -                

40 Parks, Pavilions etc. – Remedial works 50                 854                50            50            50            50             50             200           

41 Newhaven Fort - Major repairs and improvements 50                 210                50            50            50            50             50             200           

42 Indoor Leisure Facilities - Major repairs and improvements 50                 240                50            50            50            50             50             200           

43 Newhaven Square – Completion of fit out works 100               100                -               -               -               -                -                -                

44 CIL -                    322                -               -               -               -                -                -                

45 Finance Transformation -                    -                     100          100          50            50             -                200           

46 Total General Fund Capital Programme 10,858          38,145           5,750       2,398       26,722     6,136        1,663        36,919      

47 TOTAL CAPITAL PROGRAMME REQUIREMENT 26,913          62,328           11,901     15,032     44,575     23,841      19,808      103,256    

Line 

No.

Appendix 5

2019/20 

Rev2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Page 329



LDC OUTLINE 3 YEAR CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2018/19 to 2022/23

Original Current

Programme Programme Total

2018/19 2018/19 2019-23

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Line 

No.

Appendix 5

2019/20 

Rev2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

48 FUNDING AVAILABILITY

49 HRA -RTB Capital Receipts -                    -                     -               186          2,031       574           596           3,387        

50 RTB 1-1 Receipts -                    -                     -               363          371          380           388           1,502        

51 Other Capital Receipts -                    -                     -               1,650       1,500       -                -                3,150        

52 Major Repair Reserves -                    -                     4,815       4,803       11,565     5,902        5,446        27,716      

53 Revenue Contributions -                    -                     -               -               -               2,595        958           3,553        

54 Borrowing -HRA -                    -                     200          -               -               5,868        8,371        14,239      

55 HRA - Total Funding -                    -                     5,015       7,002       15,467     15,319      15,759      53,547      

56 Borrowing- GF 24,700          53,792           4,000       5,144       27,059     6,700        1,850        40,753      

57 Capital Receipts 135               1,248             135          135          135          135           135           540           

58 Disabled Facilities Grant 920               1,738             1,001       1,001       1,001       1,001        1,001        4,004        

59 General Fund Reserves 1,022            4,288             1,614       1,614       777          550           927           3,868        

60 Capital Expenditure Financed from Revenue 136               213                136          136          136          136           136           544           

61 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) -                    322                -               -               -               -                -                -                

62 Developer Contributions (S106) -                    351                -               -               -               -                -                -                

63 Other Capital Contributions -                    376                -               -               -               -                -                -                

64 GF - Funding Availability 26,913          62,328           6,886       8,030       29,108     8,522        4,049        49,709      

65 Total Funding Availability 26,913          62,328           11,901     15,032     44,575     23,841      19,808      103,256    

Page 330



Appendix 6 

RISKS LIKELIHOOD H 

(HIGH), M 

(MEDIUM), L 

(LOW) 

IMPACT H 

(HIGH), M 

(MEDIUM), L 

(LOW) 

MITIGATING ACTIONS 

The absence of a robust 

Medium Term Financial 

Strategy could adversely 

affect the Council’s budget 

and resource planning and 

projections. 

 

L H Continually monitor and 

refine the strategy in line 

with changing influences. 

Update Corporate 

Management Team and 

Cabinet. 

 

Failure to understand 

changing community 

needs and customer 

expectations can result in 

the Council providing 

levels of service which are 

not appropriately aligned 

to the needs of 

communities and 

customers. 

L H Continuously engage with 

key stakeholders and take 

advantage of existing 

consultation methodologies. 

Continue to monitor and 

more closely align service 

levels to demand and need. 

Government is 

continuously reducing its 

departmental spending 

budget. Failure to respond 

to these funding pressures 

may adversely impact on 

the Council’s ability to 

service delivery. 

H H Take advantage of the 

Council’s growth 

opportunities to reduce 

dependency on government 

funding. Align service 

delivery to funding levels, 

improve exist strategy to 

minimise risk. 

Budget pressures arising 

from housing and 

economic growth and 

other demographic 

changes. 

H H Take advantage of 

technological advancements 

to understand and reduce 

unit costs, monitor demand 

for services and proactively 

manage resourcing 

requirements, invest in 

schemes to promote skills 

and developments. 

Uncertain medium term 

sustainability of 

incentivised income areas 

subject to Government 

policy, economic factors, 

and revaluation e.g. Brexit, 

business rates and New 

Homes Bonus. 

 

H H Constantly monitor 

information and update risk 

appraisals and financial 

projections. Provide timely 

briefings and updates to 

Members/ key stakeholders 

to facilitate decision making. 

Adopt prudent budgeting 

approach not placing undue 

reliance on uncertain funding 

sources. 

 

Uncertainty surrounding H H Constantly monitor 

Page 331



Appendix 6 

the Government's change 

agenda including, business 

rates and welfare reform 

over the medium term. 

information from 

Government and update risk 

appraisals and financial 

projections. Provide timely 

briefings and updates to 

Members/ key stakeholders 

to facilitate decision making. 

Lobby through the LGA as 

appropriate. 

Budget pressures from 

demand led services and 

income variances 

reflecting the wider 

economy. 

M M Monitor pressures 

throughout the budget 

process and take timely 

actions. 

Costs arising from the 

triennial review of the 

Local Government Pension 

Scheme. 

H M Review and monitor 

information from 

Government and actuaries. 

Update forecasts as 

necessary. 

Interest rate exposure on 

investments and 

borrowing. 

L L Review cash flows, ensuring 

the Council has a flexible and 

forward looking Treasury 

management policy. 

The Council has entered 

into a number of strategic 

partnerships and contracts 

and is therefore 

susceptible to price 

changes. 

M H Effective negotiation, sound 

governance arrangements 

and regular reviews of 

performance and partnership 

risks. 

 

There is a potential risk to 

the Council if there is a 

financial failure of an 

external organisation, 

providing services to the 

public on behalf of the 

Council. 

L H Ensure rigorous financial 

evaluations are carried out at 

tender stage. Consideration 

of processes to ensure 

annual review of the 

successful organisation, and 

review any external auditor 

comments. 

Loss of key skills, resources 

and expertise. 

M M Continue to invest in staff 

developments, service 

continuity measures. Monitor 

succession planning. Keep 

staff consulted and informed. 

Ensure employment terms 

and conditions are 

competitive and 

development needs 

identified through 'My 

Conversation' programme 

with staff are satisfied. 

Changes of responsibility 

from Government can 

L L Sound system of service and 

financial planning in place. 

Page 332



Appendix 6 

adversely impact on 

service priorities and 

objectives. 

Lobby as appropriate. 

Loss of reputation if 

unforeseen resource 

constraints result in 

unplanned service 

reductions. 

L H Have in place strong 

governance and risk 

management discipline 

followed by identification 

and implementation of 

robust solutions in response 

to changes. Consult widely. 

Seek to achieve a prudent 

level of balances and 

reserves. 

 

Page 333



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 10 February 2020

Title: Treasury Management and Prudential Indicators 2020/21, 
Capital Strategy & Investment Strategy

Report of: Chief Finance Officer

Cabinet member: Councillor Zoe Nicholson, Leader of the Council and Cabinet 
Member for Finance

Ward(s): All

Purpose of the 
report:

To approve the Council’s Annual Treasury Management 
Strategy, Capital Strategy & investment Strategy together 
with the Treasury and Prudential Indicators for the next 
financial year.

Decision type: Budget and policy framework

Recommendation: Cabinet is asked to recommend the following proposals to 
full Council to :

a. Approve the Treasury Management Strategy and 
Annual Investment Strategy for 2020/21 as set out in 
Appendix A;

b. Approve the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy 
Statement 2020/21 as set out at paragraph 8;

c. Approve the Prudential and Treasury Indicators 
2020/21 to 2022/23, as set out at paragraph 6;

d. Approve the Capital Strategy set out in Appendix E.

Reasons for 
recommendations:

It is a requirement of the budget setting process for the 
Council to review and approve the Prudential and Treasury 
indicators, Treasury Strategy, Capital Strategy and 
Investment Strategy.

Contact Officer: Ola Owolabi, Deputy Chief Finance Officer
Telephone: 01323 415083
E-mail address: Ola.Owolabi@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk  

1. Introduction

1.1 The Prudential and Treasury Indicators and Treasury Strategy covers:
 the capital prudentail indicators;
 the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy (how residual capital expenditure is 

charged to revenue over time); 
 the Treasury Management Strategy (how the investments and borrowings are 

Page 335

Agenda Item 20

mailto:Ola.Owolabi@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk


2

to be organised) including treasury indicators; and 
 an investment strategy (the parameters on how investments are to be 

managed);
 Capital Strategy.

1.2 The Council adopted CIPFA’s Treasury Management code of Practice on 18 May 
2010. This code is supported by treasury management practices (TMPs) that set 
out the manner in which the council seeks to achieve the treasury management 
strategy and prescribes how it manages and controls those activities.

1.3 CIPFA defines treasury management as:

“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, 
its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of 
the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks.”

1.4 The report include the Capital Strategy (Appendix E), which provide a longer-term 
focus on the capital plans, and greater reporting requirements surrounding any 
commercial activity undertaken under the Localism Act 2011.  The aim of the 
capital strategy is to ensure that all elected members on the full council fully 
understand the overall long-term policy objectives and resulting capital strategy 
requirements, governance procedures and risk appetite. The Capital Strategy 
covers the following:
 a high-level long term overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing 

and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services;
 an overview of how the associated risk is managed;
 the implications for future financial sustainability.

1.5 Policy on the use of external service providers

The Council uses Arlingclose Limited as its external treasury management 
advisors, and recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 
remains with the Councilo at all times.  It also recognises that there is value in 
employing external providers of treasury management services in order to have 
access to specialist skills and resources. The Council will ensure that the terms of 
their appointment and the methods by which their value will be assessed are 
properly agreed and documented, and subjected to regular review.

2. End of year investment report

At the end of the financial year, the Council will report on its investment activity as 
part of its Annual Treasury Report.

3. Outcome expected and performance management

3.1 Loans, Investments and Prudential Indicators will be monitored regularly during 

Page 336



3

2020/21 and performance will be reported to members quarterly. 

4. Financial appraisal

4.1 These are included in the main body of the report.

5. Legal implications

5.1 This report covers the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the 
CIFPA Prudential Code, the CLG MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code and the CLG Investment Guidance.

6. Equality analysis

6.1 The equality implications of decisions relating to Treasury Management covered 
in this report are addressed within other relevant Council reports or as part of 
programmed equality analysis. 

7. Conclusion

7.1 Capital prudential indicators are set to demonstrate plans for borrowing are 
affordable. The movement in the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) forecasts 
for 2019/20, 2020/21, 2021/22 & 2022/23 are set as £87.0m, £113.9m, £125.0m, 
& £134.2m respectively. This borrowing has been reflected in the Capital 
Financing Requirement, which sets out the Council’s outlining requirement for 
borrowing, and includes both the use of internal resources and external 
borrowing.  The proposed Minimum Revenue Provision Policy is updated to 
ensure that prudent provision is made for the repayment of borrowing.

7.2 All Treasury indicators have been set to reflect the treasury strategy and funding 
requirements of the capital programme. 

Appendices
A Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision 

and Annual Investment Strategy.
B The Treasury Management Role of the Section 151 Officer.
C Counterparty List.
D Arlingclose Limited on the Economic Background and Forward View.
E Capital Strategy.

Page 337



4

Background papers
The background papers used in compiling this report were as follows:

 CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services code of Practice (the Code);
 Cross-sectorial Guidance Notes;
 CIPFA Prudential Code;
 Treasury Management Strategy and Treasury Management Practices; 
 Council Budget 10 February 2020;
 Finance Matters and Performance Monitoring Reports 2019;
 CIPFA Prudential Property Investment.

To inspect or obtain copies of background papers please refer to the contact officer 
listed above.

Page 338



5

APPENDIX ‘A’

Treasury Management Strategy
Statement,

Minimum Revenue Provision 
and 

Annual Investment Strategy.

2020/21

Page 339



6

CONTENTS
Sec. Page

1. INTRODUCTION 7
2. TREASURY MANAGEMENT REPORTING 8
3. TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY STATEMENT 8

4. CAPITAL STRATEGY 9
5. TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT FOR 2020/21 10

5.1 Current Investment & Borrowing Position 10
5.2 Prospects for Interest Rates 11
5.3 Investment and borrowing rates 12
5.4 Borrowing Strategy for 2020/21 12

5.5 Borrowing other than with the PWLB 14
5.6 Policy on Borrowing in Advance of Need 15
5.7 Debt Rescheduling 15
5.8 New financial institutions as a source of borrowing 15
5.9 Continual Review 15
6. PRUDENTIAL AND TREASURY INDICATORS 2020/21 to 2023/24 16
7. ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 18

7.1 Investment Policy 18
7.2 Investment Strategy for 2020/21 19
7.3 Investment returns expectations. 19

7.4 Investment treasury indicator and limit 20

7.5  Specified and Non-Specified Investments 20
7.6 Creditworthiness Policy 21
7.7 Criteria for Specified Investments: 22
7.8 Non-Specified investments 23
7.9 Non treasury management investments 24

7.10 Risk and Sensitivity Analysis 24
7.11 Lending to third parties 24

8. MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION 25
9. SCHEME OF DELEGATION 27

10. OTHER TREASURY ISSUES 27

Page 340



7

1. INTRODUCTION 

The Treasury Management Policy and Strategy is one of the Council’s key financial strategy 
documents and sets out the Council’s approach to the management of its treasury management 
activities.
 
The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that cash raised 
during the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of the treasury management operation is to 
ensure that this cash flow is adequately planned, with cash being available when it is needed.  
Surplus monies are invested in low risk counterparties or instruments commensurate with the 
Council’s low risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment 
return.

The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the Council’s 
capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the Council, 
essentially the longer-term cash flow planning, to ensure that the Council can meet its capital 
spending obligations. This management of longer-term cash may involve arranging long or 
short-term loans, or using longer-term cash flow surpluses. On occasion, when it is prudent and 
economic, any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council risk or cost 
objectives. 

The contribution the treasury management function makes to the authority is critical, as the 
balance of debt and investment operations ensure liquidity or the ability to meet spending 
commitments as they fall due, either on day-to-day revenue or for larger capital projects.  The 
treasury operations will see a balance of the interest costs of debt and the investment income 
arising from cash deposits affecting the available budget.  Since cash balances generally result 
from reserves and balances, it is paramount to ensure adequate security of the sums invested, 
as a loss of principal will in effect result in a loss to the General Fund Balance.

Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the treasury function, 
these activities are generally classed as non-treasury activities, (arising usually from capital 
expenditure), and are separate from the day to day treasury management activities.

CIPFA defines treasury management as:

“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its banking, 
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with 
those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.”

The Local Government Act 2003 and supporting regulations require the Council to ‘have regard 
to’ the CIPFA Prudential Code and the Treasury Management Code of Practice to set 
Prudential and Treasury Indicators for the next three years to ensure that the Council’s capital 
investment plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable.
 
The Act therefore requires the Council to set out its treasury management strategy for borrowing 
and to prepare an Annual Investment Strategy. This sets out the Council’s policies for managing 
investments and for giving priority to the security and liquidity of those investments. 

This strategy is updated annually to reflect changes in circumstances that may affect the 
strategy. 

Page 341



8

2. TREASURY MANAGEMENT REPORTING 

The Council/Members are required to receive and approve, as a minimum, 3 reports annually 
which incorporate a variety of policies, forecasts and actuals as follows; 

a. Annual treasury strategy (issued February and includes); 
a. A Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy (this reflects capital expenditure 

previously financed by borrowing and how the principal element is charged to 
revenue over time); 

b. The treasury management strategies (how the investments and borrowings are 
to be organised) including treasury prudential indicators and limits; 

c. An investment strategy (the parameters on how investments are to be managed). 
b. Mid-year update – (issued November / December and provides an); 

a. update for members with the progress of the treasury management activities 
undertaken for the period April to September and 

b. opportunity for amending prudential indicators and any policies if necessary. 
c. Annual outturn – (issued June and contains);

a. details of actual treasury operations undertaken in the previous financial year. 
Each of the above 3 reports are required to be adequately scrutinised by the Lewes District 
Council Audit and Standards Committee before being recommended to the Cabinet and Council 
for final approval. This Council delegates responsibility for implementation and monitoring 
treasury management to Cabinet and responsibility for the execution and administration of 
treasury management decisions to the Section 151 Officer;

The Council has adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management (Revised 2018) including the creation and maintenance of a 
Treasury Management Policy Statement stating the policies, objectives and approach to risk 
management of the Council’s treasury management activities.

3. TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY STATEMENT 

The policies and objectives of the Council’s treasury management activities are as follows:
 

a. This Council defines its treasury management activities as - ‘The management of the 
authority’s investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and capital market 
transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those activities; and the 
pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks’.

b. This Council regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk to be the 
prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management activities will be 
measured. Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of treasury management activities will 
focus on their risk implications for the Council, and any financial instruments entered into 
to manage these risks. 

c. This Council acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide support 
towards the achievement of its business and service objectives. It is therefore committed 
to the principles of achieving value for money in treasury management, and to employing 
suitable comprehensive performance management techniques, within the context of 
effective risk management. 

Page 342



9

4. CAPITAL STRATEGY 

The CIPFA 2017 Prudential and Treasury Management Codes require all local authorities to 
prepare a capital strategy report (Appendix E) which will provide the following: 

 a high-level long term overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury 
management activity contribute to the provision of services

 an overview of how the associated risk is managed
 the implications for future financial sustainability

The aim of this capital strategy is to ensure that all elected members on the full council fully 
understand the overall long-term policy objectives and resulting capital strategy requirements, 
governance procedures and risk appetite.

This capital strategy is reported separately from the Treasury Management Strategy Statement; 
non-treasury investments will be reported through the former. This ensures the separation of the 
core treasury function under security, liquidity and yield principles, and the policy and 
commercialism investments usually driven by expenditure on an asset.  The capital strategy will 
show:
 The corporate governance arrangements for these types of activities;
 Any service objectives relating to the investments;
 The expected income, costs and resulting contribution; 
 The debt related to the activity and the associated interest costs; 
 The payback period (MRP policy); 
 For non-loan type investments, the cost against the current market value; 
 The risks associated with each activity.

Where a physical asset is being bought, details of market research, advisers used, (and their 
monitoring), ongoing costs and investment requirements and any credit information will be 
disclosed, including the ability to sell the asset and realise the investment cash.

Where the Council has borrowed to fund any non-treasury investment, there should also be an 
explanation of why borrowing was required and why the MHCLG Investment Guidance, CIPFA 
Prudential Property Investment and CIPFA Prudential Code have not been adhered to.  If any 
non-treasury investment sustains a loss during the final accounts and audit process, the 
strategy and revenue implications will be reported through the same procedure as the capital 
strategy. 

Most of the capital expenditure incurred by authorities requires risks to be managed, particularly 
in relation to whether the assets acquired will provide the benefits projected for them and 
whether estimates of acquisition and running costings and income generation will be reliable. 
These considerations will impact on decisions regarding whether it would be prudent to borrow 
to fund such expenditure. Reductions in government funding have meant that local authorities 
have been under growing pressure to incur capital expenditure with the objective of generating 
revenue income that will compensate for reductions in government funding.

CIPFA concerns relating to the rapid expansion of acquisitions of commercial property and its 
relationship with CIPFA’s statement in its Prudential Code that authorities must not borrow more 
than or in advance of their needs purely in order to profit from the investment of the extra sums 
borrowed. Where authorities exceed the limits of the Prudential Code and the wider Prudential 
Framework this places a strain on the credibility of the Prudential Framework to secure the 
prudent management of local authority finances. The view expressed in the Prudential Code 
effectively reflects the circumstances where there is no specific or projected need to borrow but 
an opportunity has been identified to make an investment return greater than the authority’s 

Page 343



10

cost of borrowing. For local authorities, who have access to borrowing at relatively low rates, 
there are tempting opportunities to generate income at no net capital or revenue cost.

The Prudential Framework (including statutory guidance and the Prudential Code itself) allows 
local authorities the flexibility to take their own decisions; provided that the decisions taken are 
prudent, affordable and sustainable and that they have regard to the statutory guidance. 
However, local authorities will need to ensure if they acquire commercial property with 
substantial investment returns that they have a clear rationale for such acquisitions. If after 
having regard to the statutory guidance and the Prudential Code local authorities decide to 
depart from such guidance, they can only do so where a robust and reasonable argument can 
be put that an alternative approach will still meet the authority’s various duties under Chapter 1 
of the Local Government Act 2003.

5.  TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT FOR 2020/21

5.1  Current Investment & Borrowing Position 

The Council (i.e., Non-HRA) has no long-term external borrowing as at 31 March 2020, all HRA 
long term borrowing are sourced from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) at fixed interest 
rates. The PWLB allows local authorities to repay loans early and either pay a premium or 
obtain a discount according to a formula based on current interest rates.  The chart below 
summarises the Council’s investment position over the period 1 November to 31 December 
2019. It shows the total sums invested each day as Fixed Term deposits, Treasury Bills, 
amounts held in Deposit accounts, Money Market Funds and Tradeable Investments.

Page 344



11

5.2 Prospects for Interest Rates 

The Council has appointed Arlingclose Limited as its treasury advisor and part of their service is to 
assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates.  

Economic background: The UK’s progress negotiating its exit from the European Union, 
together with its future trading arrangements, will continue to be a major influence on the 
Authority’s treasury management strategy for 2020/21.

UK Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) for September registered 1.7% year on year, unchanged 
from the previous month.  Core inflation, which excludes the more volatile components, rose to 
1.7% from 1.5% in August.  The most recent labour market data for the three months to August 
2019 showed the unemployment rate ticked back up to 3.9% while the employment rate was 
75.9%, just below recent record-breaking highs. The headline 3-month average annual growth 
rate for pay was 3.8% in August as wages continue to rise steadily.  In real terms, after 
adjusting for inflation, pay growth increased 1.9%.

GDP growth rose by 0.3% in the third quarter of 2019 from -0.2% in the previous three months 
with the annual rate falling further below its trend rate to 1.0% from 1.2%. Services and 
construction added positively to growth, by 0.6% and 0.4% respectively, while production was 
flat and agriculture recorded a fall of 0.2%. Looking ahead, the Bank of England’s Monetary 
Policy Report (formerly the Quarterly Inflation Report) forecasts economic growth to pick up 
during 2020 as Brexit-related uncertainties dissipate and provide a boost to business 
investment helping GDP reach 1.6% in Q4 2020, 1.8% in Q4 2021 and 2.1% in Q4 2022.

The Bank of England maintained Bank Rate to 0.75% in November following a 7-2 vote by the 
Monetary Policy Committee. Despite keeping rates on hold, MPC members did confirm that if 
Brexit uncertainty drags on or global growth fails to recover, they are prepared to cut interest 
rates as required. Moreover, the downward revisions to some of the growth projections in the 
Monetary Policy Report suggest the Committee may now be less convinced of the need to 
increase rates even if there is a Brexit deal.

Growth in Europe remains soft, driven by a weakening German economy which saw GDP fall -
0.1% in Q2 and is expected to slip into a technical recession in Q3.  Euro zone inflation was 
0.8% year on year in September, well below the European Central Bank’s target of ‘below, but 
close to 2%’ and leading to the central bank holding its main interest rate at 0% while cutting the 
deposit facility rate to -0.5%.  In addition to maintaining interest rates at ultra-low levels, the 
ECB announced it would recommence its quantitative easing programme from November.

In the US, the Federal Reserve began easing monetary policy again in 2019 as a pre-emptive 
strike against slowing global and US economic growth on the back on of the ongoing trade war 
with China.  At its last meeting the Fed cut rates to the range of 1.50-1.75% and financial 
markets expect further loosening of monetary policy in 2020.  US GDP growth slowed to 1.9% 
annualised in Q3 from 2.0% in Q2.

Credit outlook: Credit conditions for larger UK banks have remained relatively benign over the 
past year. The UK’s departure from the European Union was delayed three times in 2019 and 
while there remains some concern over a global economic slowdown, this has yet to manifest in 
any credit issues for banks. Meanwhile, the post financial crisis banking reform is now largely 
complete, with the new ringfenced banks embedded in the market.

Challenger banks hit the news headlines in 2019 with Metro Bank and TSB Bank both suffering 
adverse publicity and falling customer numbers.

Page 345



12

Looking forward, the potential for a “no-deal” Brexit and/or a global recession remain the major 
risks facing banks and building societies in 2020/21 and a cautious approach to bank deposits 
remains advisable.

Interest rate forecast: The Authority’s treasury management adviser Arlingclose is forecasting 
that Bank Rate will remain at 0.75% until the end of 2022.  The risks to this forecast are deemed 
to be significantly weighted to the downside, particularly given the upcoming general election, 
the need for greater clarity on Brexit and the continuing global economic slowdown.  The Bank 
of England, having previously indicated interest rates may need to rise if a Brexit agreement 
was reached, stated in its November Monetary Policy Report and its Bank Rate decision (7-2 
vote to hold rates) that the MPC now believe this is less likely even in the event of a deal.

Gilt yields have risen but remain at low levels and only some very modest upward movement 
from current levels are expected based on Arlingclose’s interest rate projections.  The central 
case is for 10-year and 20-year gilt yields to rise to around 1.00% and 1.40% respectively over 
the time horizon, with broadly balanced risks to both the upside and downside.  However, short-
term volatility arising from both economic and political events over the period is a near certainty.  
A more detailed economic and interest rate forecast provided by Arlingclose is attached at 
Appendix D.

5.3 Investment and borrowing rates

 Investment returns are likely to remain low during 2020/21 with little increase in the 
following two years. However, if major progress was made with an agreed Brexit, 
then there is upside potential for earnings.

 Borrowing interest rates were on a major falling trend during the first half of 2019-20 
but then jumped up by 100 bps on 9.10.19.   The policy of avoiding new borrowing 
by running down spare cash balances has served local authorities well over the last 
few years.  However, the unexpected increase of 100 bps in PWLB rates requires a 
major rethink of local authority treasury management strategy and risk management.  
The gap between longer term borrowing rates and investment rates has materially 
widened, and in the long term Bank Rate is not expected to rise above 2.5%.

 While this authority will not be able to avoid borrowing to finance new capital 
expenditure, to replace maturing debt and the rundown of reserves, there will be a 
cost of carry, (the difference between higher borrowing costs and lower investment 
returns), to any new short or medium-term borrowing that causes a temporary 
increase in cash balances as this position will, most likely, incur a revenue cost.

5.4 Borrowing Strategy for 2020/21

Capital Investment can be paid for using cash from one or more of the following sources:

 Cash from existing and/or new capital resources (e.g. capital grants, receipts from 
asset sales, revenue contributions or earmarked reserves);

 Cash raised by borrowing externally;

 Cash being held for other purposes (e.g. earmarked reserves or working capital) but 
used in the short term for capital investment.  This is known as ‘internal borrowing’ 
as there will be a future needs to borrow externally once the cash is required for the 
other purposes. 

Under the CIPFA Prudential Code an authority is responsible for deciding its own level of 
affordable borrowing within set prudential indicator limits (see section 6).

Page 346



13

Borrowing does not have to take place immediately to finance its related capital investment and 
may be deferred or borrowed in advance of need within policy. The Council’s primary objective 
when borrowing is to strike an appropriately low risk balance between securing low interest 
rates and achieving cost certainty over the period for which funds are required. 

When MRP is not required to repay debt, it will accumulate as cash balances which will then be 
invested.  Investment balances will increase by MRP each year until the debt is repaid. The 
Council’s Draft Revenue Budget and Capital Programme 2020/21 to 2022/23 forecasts £88.2m 
of capital investment over the next three years with £38.8m met from existing or new resources.  
The amount of new borrowing required over this period is therefore £49.8m as shown in Table 2 
below.

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
 Estimate Estimate Estimate EstimateTable 2a

£m £m £m £m
Capital Expenditure     
Non-HRA 2.4 26.7 6.0 1.7
HRA 7.0 15.5 15.3 15.8
Commercial Activities/ Non-
financial investments 5.6 2.4 2.4 2.4

Total 15.0 44.6 23.8 19.8
Financed by:
HRA Resources 7.0 15.5 9.5 7.4
Capital Reserves 1.6 0.8 0.6 0.9
Capital Grants 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Capital Receipts 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1
Revenue Contributions 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1
Borrowing Need 6.8 27.8 13.1 11.1

As existing and forecast future resources are insufficient to meet the level of spend, the 
borrowing need of £49.8m will initially be met from internal borrowing. This is to use the 
Council’s own surplus funds until external borrowing is required.  Internal borrowing reduces 
borrowing costs and risk as there is less exposure of external investments.  The benefits of 
internal borrowing need to be monitored and weighed against deferring new external borrowing 
into future years when long-term borrowing rates could rise.

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Estimate Estimate Estimate EstimateTable 2b 

Capital Financing Requirement £m £m £m £m

CFR – non housing 6.8 29.5 30.4 31.2
CFR - housing 66.0 68.3 77.0 83.4
Commercial Activities/non-financial 
investments 14.2 16.0 17.8 19.6

Total CFR 87.1 113.9 125.2 134.2

Movement in CFR 5.1 26.8 11.4 9.0
    
Movement in CFR represented by- 
Net financing needed for the year 
(above) 5.1 27.1 12.9 10.2

Less MRP/VRP and other financing 
movements (0.1) (0.3) (1.2) (1.2)

Movement in CFR 5.1 26.8 11.4 9.0

Page 347



14

The amount that notionally should have been borrowed is known as the capital financing 
requirement (CFR).  The CFR and actual borrowing may be different at a point in time and the 
difference is either an under or over borrowing amount.  The Council is required to repay an 
element of the CFR each year through a revenue charge.  This is known as the minimum 
revenue provision (MRP) and is currently estimated to be £285.6k for 2020/21.  MRP will cause 
a reduction in the CFR annually.

Table 3 below includes the figures from Table 2 and shows the actual external borrowing 
against the capital financing requirement, identifying any under or over borrowing.

2020/21 2021/22 2022/232019/20 
Estimate Estimate Estimate EstimateTable 3

£m £m £m £m
GF Borrowing at 1 April               -           5.1      32.2        38.9 
HRA Borrowing at 1 April         56.7       56.7      56.7        62.5
Borrowing at 31 March         56.7       61.8      88.9        101.4
GF new borrowing           5.1       27.1        6.7          1.9
HRA new borrowing           -              -          5.9          8.4 
less loan maturities               -                -              -                -   
New borrowing           5.1       27.1        12.6        10.2
Borrowing at 31 March         61.8       88.9      101.4      111.7
 
CFR at 1 April         82.0       97.0    141.3      163.9
Net Capital Expenditure         5.1       27.1      12.6        10.2
MRP (0.1) (0.3) (1.2) (1.2)
CFR at 31 March       87.1     113.9    125.2      134.2

 
Under borrowing         25.3       25.0      23.8        22.6

The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowing position as it previously took 
advantage of historic low borrowing rates for HRA borrowing. As at the end of 2019/20, the 
Council is projected to be under borrowed by £25.3m, £25.0m by 2020/21 and then only moving 
around the margin until 2022/23.  

5.5 Borrowing other than with the PWLB
The Council has previously borrowed mainly from the PWLB, but will continue to investigate 
other sources of finance, such as local authority loans and bank loans, that may be available at 
more favourable rates.  Any new borrowing taken out will be completed with regard to the limits, 
indicators, the economic environment, the cost of carrying this debt ahead of need, and interest 
rate forecasts.  The S151 Officer will monitor interest rates in financial markets and adopt a 
pragmatic approach to changing circumstances.

Municipal Bond Agency - It is possible that the Municipal Bond Agency will be offering loans to 
local authorities in the future.  The Agency hopes that the borrowing rates will be lower than 
those offered by the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB).  This Authority may make use of this 
new source of borrowing as and when appropriate.

Page 348



15

5.6 Policy on Borrowing in Advance of Need 

The Council will not borrow purely in order to profit from investment of extra sums borrowed. 
Any decision to borrow in advance will be within approved Capital Financing Requirement 
estimates and will be considered carefully to ensure that value for money can be demonstrated 
and that the Council can ensure the security of such funds.  Risks associated with any 
borrowing in advance activity will be subject to prior appraisal and subsequent reporting through 
the mid-year or annual reporting mechanism. 

5.7 Debt Rescheduling 
Officers continue to regularly review opportunities for debt rescheduling, but there has been a 
considerable widening of the difference between new borrowing and repayment rates, which 
has made PWLB debt restructuring now much less attractive.  Consideration would have to be 
given to the large premiums (cash payments) which would be incurred by prematurely repaying 
existing PWLB loans.  It is very unlikely that these could be justified on value for money grounds 
if using replacement PWLB refinancing. However, some interest savings might still be 
achievable through using other market loans, in rescheduling exercises rather than using PWLB 
borrowing as the source of replacement financing. 

The reasons for any rescheduling to take place will include:
 the generation of cash savings and / or discounted cash flow savings;
 helping to fulfil the treasury strategy;
 enhance the balance of the portfolio (amend the maturity profile and/or the balance of 

volatility).

5.8 New financial institutions as a source of borrowing 
Following the decision by the PWLB on 9 October 2019 to increase their margin over gilt yields 
by 100 bps to 180 basis points on loans lent to local authorities, consideration will also need to 
be given to sourcing funding at cheaper rates from the following:

 Local authorities (primarily shorter dated maturities)
 Financial institutions (primarily insurance companies and pension funds but also some 

banks, out of spot or forward dates)
 Municipal Bonds Agency (no issuance at present but there is potential)

The degree to which any of these options proves cheaper than PWLB Certainty Rate is still 
evolving at the time of writing but our advisors will keep us informed.  Therefore, the strategy is 
to continue to seek opportunity to reduce the overall level of Council’s debt where prudent to do 
so, thus providing in future years cost reduction in terms of lower debt repayments costs, and 
potential for making savings by running down investment balances to repay debt prematurely as 
short term rates on investments are likely to be lower than rates paid on current debt.  All 
rescheduling will be agreed by the S151 Officer.

5.9 Continual Review

Treasury officers continue to review the need to borrow taking into consideration the potential 
increases in borrrowing costs, the need to finance new capital expenditure, refinancing maturing 
debt, and the cost of carry that might incur a revenue loss between borrowing costs and investment 
returns. 
 
Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution will be adopted with 
the 2020/21 treasury operations.  The Chief Finance Officer will continue to monitor interest 
rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to changing circumstances:

Page 349



16

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp fall in long and short term rates (e.g. 
due to a marked increase of risks around relapse into recession or of risks of deflation), then 
long term borrowings will be postponed, and potential rescheduling from fixed rate funding 
into short term borrowing will be considered.

if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper rise in long and short term rates 
than that currently forecast, perhaps arising from an acceleration in the start date and in the rate 
of increase in central rates in the USA and UK, an increase in world economic activity or a 
sudden increase in inflation risks, then the portfolio position will be re-appraised with the likely 
action that fixed rate funding will be drawn whilst interest rates are still lower than they will be in 
the next few years.

6. PRUDENTIAL AND TREASURY INDICATORS 2020/21 to 2023/24 

The Council’s capital expenditure plans are a key driver of treasury management activities. The 
output of the capital expenditure plans are reflected in prudential indicators. Local Authorities 
are required to ‘have regard to’ the Prudential Code and to set Prudential Indicators for the next 
three years to ensure that the Council’s capital investment plans are affordable, prudent and 
sustainable. The Code sets out the indicators that must be used but does not suggest limits or 
ratios as these are for the authority to set itself. 

The Prudential Indicators for 2020/21 to 2023/24 are set out in Table 4 below:

Table 4
2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

2022/23
Estimate

Capital Expenditure (gross)
Council’s capital expenditure plans 
(including HRA)

£15.0m £44.6m £23.8m £19.8m

Capital Financing Requirement 
Measures the underlying need to borrow 
for capital purposes (including Leases) 

£87.1m £113.9m £125.2m £134.2m

Ratio of financing costs to net 
revenue stream 
Identifies the trend in the cost of capital 
(borrowing and other long term obligation 
costs net of investment income) against 
net revenue stream 

15.2% 15.1% 15.0% 18.5%

Incremental impact of capital 
investment decisions on council tax 
Identifies the revenue costs associated 
with proposed changes to the three year 
programme compared to the existing 
approved commitments

£4.77 (£19.64) (£23.22) (£0.30)

Page 350



17

The Treasury Management Code requires that Local Authorities set a number of indicators for 
treasury performance in addition to the Prudential Indicators which fall under the Prudential 
Code.  The Treasury Indicators for 2020/21 to 2023/24 are set out in Table 5 below:

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

2022/23
EstimateTable 5 - 

Authorised Limit for External Debt
£m £m £m £m

Borrowing 70.0 70.3 70.3 80.3
Other long term liabilities 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4
Commercial activities/non-financial 
investments 57.3 61.3 61.3 61.3

127.7 132.0 132.0 142.0

The Authorised Limit - The authorised limit represents a limit beyond which external debt is 
prohibited and it is the maximum amount of debt that the Council can legally owe. This limit is 
set by Council and can only be revised by Council approval.  It reflects the level of external 
borrowing which, while not desirable, could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable 
in the longer.  The current limit is set at 10% above the Operational Boundary.

Operational boundary for external debt £m £m £m £m
Borrowing 65.0 65.0 65.3 75.3
Other long term liabilities 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4
Commercial activities/non-financial 
investments 52.3 56.3 56.3 56.3

117.7 122.0 122.0 132.0

The Operational Boundary - This is the expected borrowing position of the Council during the 
year, taking account of the timing of various funding streams. The operational boundary is 
based on the Council’s estimate of most likely (i.e. prudent but not worst case) scenario for 
external debt.  It links directly to the Council’s estimates of capital expenditure, the capital 
financing requirement and cash flow requirements, and is a key management tool for in-year 
monitoring. This indicator may be breached temporarily for operational reasons.

Upper limit for fixed interest rate 
exposure*
Identifies a maximum limit for fixed 
interest rates for borrowing and 
investments.

100% 100% 100% 100%

Upper limit for variable interest rate 
exposure*
Identifies a maximum limit for variable 
interest rates for borrowing and 
investments.

25% 25% 25% 25%

Maturity Structure of Borrowings*
The Council needs to set upper and lower 
limits with respect to the maturity 
structure of its borrowing:

Page 351



18

Table 5 - 
Authorised Limit for External Debt

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

2022/23
Estimate

£m £m £m £m
Upper limit for under 12 months 75% 75% 75% 75%
Lower limit for under 12 months 0% 0% 0% 0%
Upper limit for 12 months to 2 years 75% 75% 75% 75%
Lower limit for over 12 months to 2 years 0% 0% 0% 0%
Upper limit for 2 years to 5 years 75% 75% 75% 75%
Lower limit for 2 years to 5 years 0% 0% 0% 0%
Upper limit for 5 years to 10 years 75% 75% 75% 75%
Lower limit for 5 years to 10 years 0% 0% 0% 0%
Upper limit for over 10 years 75% 75% 75% 75%

Lower limit for over 10 years 0% 0% 0% 0%
Note-
*the Treasury Indicators above have been calculated and determined by Officers in compliance with the 
Treasury Management Code of Practice.

The treasury management function ensures that the Council’s cash is organised in accordance 
with the relevant professional codes, so that sufficient cash is available to meet this service 
activity.  This will involve both the organisation of the cash flow and, where capital plans require, 
the organisation of appropriate borrowing facilities. 

7. ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 

7.1 Investment Policy 

The MHCLG and CIPFA have extended the meaning of ‘investments’ to include both financial 
and non-financial investments.  This report deals solely with financial investments, (as managed 
by the treasury management team).  Non-financial investments, essentially the purchase of 
income yielding assets, are covered in the Capital Strategy, (Appendix E). The Council’s 
investment policy has regard to the following: -

 MHCLG’s Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”);
 CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral 

Guidance Notes 2017 (“the Code”);
 CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2018;  
 CIPFA Prudential Property Investment.

The Council’s investment priorities will be security first, portfolio liquidity second and then yield, 
(return). The above guidance from the MHCLG and CIPFA place a high priority on the 
management of risk. This authority has adopted a prudent approach to managing risk and 
defines its risk appetite by the following means: -

 Minimum acceptable credit criteria are applied in order to generate a list of highly 
creditworthy counterparties.  This also enables diversification and thus avoidance of 
concentration risk. The key ratings used to monitor counterparties are the short term and 
long-term ratings.

 Other information: ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an institution; it 
is important to continually assess and monitor the financial sector on both a micro and 
macro basis and in relation to the economic and political environments in which institutions 
operate. The assessment will also take account of information that reflects the opinion of the 

Page 352



19

markets. To achieve this consideration the Council will engage with its advisors to maintain 
a monitor on market pricing such as “credit default swaps” and overlay that information on 
top of the credit ratings. 

 Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price and other such 
information pertaining to the financial sector in order to establish the most robust scrutiny 
process on the suitability of potential investment counterparties.

7.2    Investment Strategy for 2020/21
In-house funds. Investments will be made with reference to the core balance and cash flow 
requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e. rates for investments up to 12 
months). Greater returns are usually obtainable by investing for longer periods. While most cash 
balances are required in order to manage the ups and downs of cash flow, where cash sums 
can be identified that could be invested for longer periods, the value to be obtained from longer 
term investments will be carefully assessed. 

 If it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to rise significantly within the time horizon being 
considered, then consideration will be given to keeping most investments as being short 
term or variable. 

 Conversely, if it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to fall within that time period, 
consideration will be given to locking in higher rates currently obtainable, for longer periods.

7.3 Investment returns expectations. 

On the assumption that the UK and EU agree a Brexit deal including the terms of trade by the 
end of 2020 or soon after, then Bank Rate is forecast to increase only slowly over the next few 
years to reach 1.00% by quarter 1 2023.  Bank Rate forecasts for financial year ends (March) 
are: 
 Q1 2021  0.75%
 Q1 2022  1.00%
 Q1 2023  1.00%  

The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments placed for 
periods up to about three months during each financial year are as follows: 

 2019/20 0.75%
 2020/21 0.75%
 2021/22 1.00%
 2022/23 1.25%
 2023/24 1.50%
 2024/25 1.75%
 Later years 2.25%

The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably to the downside due to 
the weight of all the uncertainties over Brexit, as well as a softening global economic picture.
The balance of risks to increases in Bank Rate and shorter term PWLB rates are broadly 
similarly to the downside. In the event that a Brexit deal is agreed with the EU and approved by 
Parliament, the balance of risks to economic growth and to increases in Bank Rate is likely to 
change to the upside.

Page 353



20

7.4 Investment treasury indicator and limit
Total principal funds invested for greater than 365 days. These limits are set with regard to the 
Council’s liquidity requirements and to reduce the need for early sale of an investment, and are 
based on the availability of funds after each year-end.  

Upper limit for principal sums invested for longer than 365 days
2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Principal sums invested for longer than 365 days £2m £2m £2m

For its cash flow generated balances, the Council will seek to utilise its current account, call 
accounts and short-dated deposits (overnight to three months) in order to benefit from the 
compounding of interest.  

7.5  Specified and Non-Specified Investments 
This authority has defined the list of types of investment instruments that the treasury 
management team are authorised to use, under the categories of ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ 
investments. 

 Specified investments are those with a high level of credit quality and subject to a maturity 
limit of one year.

 Non-specified investments are those with less high credit quality, may be for periods in 
excess of one year, and/or are more complex instruments which require greater 
consideration by members and officers before being authorised for use. Once an investment 
is classed as non-specified, it remains non-specified all the way through to maturity i.e. an 
18 month deposit would still be non-specified even if it has only 11 months left until maturity.

An investment is a specified investment if all of the following apply:
 the investment is denominated in sterling and any payments or repayments in respect of 

the investment are payable only in sterling;
 the investment is not a long term investment (i.e. up to 365 days);
 the making of the investment is not defined as capital expenditure by virtue of regulation 

25(1)(d) of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
Regulations 2003 [SI 3146 as amended];

 the investment is made with a body or in an investment scheme of high credit quality 
(i.e. a minimum credit rating as outlined in this strategy) or with one of the following 
public-sector bodies:

- The United Kingdom Government; 
- A local authority in England or Wales (as defined under section 23 of the 2003 

Act) or a similar body in Scotland or Northern Ireland; 

As a result of the change in accounting standards for 2019/20 under IFRS 9, this authority will 
consider the implications of investment instruments which could result in an adverse movement 
in the value of the amount invested and resultant charges at the end of the year to the General 
Fund.  However, this authority will also pursue value for money in treasury management and 
will monitor the yield from investment income against appropriate benchmarks for investment 
performance.  Regular monitoring of investment performance will be carried out during the year.

Page 354



21

7.6 Creditworthiness Policy 
The Treasury Management Strategy needs to set limits on the amount of money and the time 
period the Council can invest with any given counterparty. In order to do this the Council uses 
the Credit Rating given to the counterparty by the three main Credit Rating Agencies (Fitch, 
Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s).   This forms part of the consistent risk based approach that 
is used across all of the financial strategies.

Treasury Officers regularly review both the investment portfolio and counterparty risk and make 
use of market data to inform their decision making. The officers are members of various 
benchmarking groups to ensure the investment portfolio is current and performing as other 
similar sized Local Authorities.
 
The Council as part of its due diligence in managing creditworthiness, uses amongst other 
information, a tool provided by treasury management advisors.  This service employs a 
sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit ratings from the three credit rating agencies 
and by using a risk weighted scoring system, does not give undue reliance to just one agency’s 
ratings.

This modelling approach combines credit ratings with the following overlays:
 credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies;
 credit default swaps (CDS) spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit 

ratings;
 sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy countries.

This weighted scoring system then produces an end product of a series of colour coded bands 
which indicate the relative creditworthiness of counterparties.  These colour codes are used by 
the Council to determine the suggested duration for investments.

The Council (in addition to other due diligence consideration) will use counterparties within the 
following durational bands provided they have a minimum AA+ soverign rating from three rating 
agencies:

 Yellow 5 years
 Purple 2 years 
 Blue 1 year (semi nationalised UK Bank – NatWest/RBS) 
 Orange 1 year 
 Red 6 months 
 Green 100 days 
 No Colour Not to be used 

Y P B O R G N/C

Up to 5yrs Up to 2yrs Up to 1yr Up to 1yrs Up to 6 
months

Up to 100 
days

Not to be 
used

Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria the Council use will be a Short Term rating (Fitch or 
equivalents) of   F1 and a Long Term rating of A-. There may be occasions when the 
counterparty ratings from one rating agency are marginally lower than these ratings but may still 
be used.  In these instances consideration will be given to the whole range of ratings available, 
or other topical market information, to support their use.
The primary principle governing the Council’s investment criteria is the security of its 
investments, although the return on the investment is also a key consideration.  After this main 
principle, the Council will ensure that:

 It maintains a policy covering both the categories of investment types it will invest in and 
the criteria for choosing investment counterparties with adequate security, and 
monitoring their security;

Page 355



22

 It has sufficient liquidity in its investments.  

All credit ratings are monitored daily. The Council is alerted to changes to ratings of all three 
agencies through its use of a treasury management advisors service.  If a downgrade results in 
the counterparty or investment scheme no longer meeting the Council’s minimum criteria, its 
further use as a new investment will be withdrawn immediately.

In addition to the use of credit ratings, the Council will be advised of information re movements 
in Credit Default Swap against the iTraxx benchmark and other market data on a weekly basis. 
Extreme market movements may result in downgrade of an institution or removal from the 
Council’s lending list.  The counterparties in which the Council will invest its cash surpluses is 
based on officers assessment of investment security, risk factors, market intelligence, a diverse 
but manageable portfolio and their participation in the local authority market.  

Table 7 below summarises the types of specified investment counterparties available to the 
Council, and the maximum amount and maturity periods placed on each of these.  Further 
details are contained in Appendix C. 

7.7 Criteria for Specified Investments: 

Table 7 Country/
Domicile Instrument Maximum 

investments
Max. maturity 

period
Debt Management and 
Deposit Facilities (DMADF) UK Term Deposits 

(TD) unlimited 1 yr

Government Treasury bills UK TD unlimited 1 yr

UK Local Authorities UK TD £5m 1 yr 
Lloyds Banking Group
 Lloyds Bank
 Bank of Scotland

UK
£5m 1 yr

RBS/NatWest Group
 Royal Bank of Scotland
 NatWest

UK
£5m 1 yr

HSBC UK £5m 1 yr

Barclays UK £5m 1 yr

Santander                                           UK £5m 6 mths
Goldman Sachs Investment 
Bank

UK £5m 6 mths

Standard Chartered Bank UK £5m 6 mths

Nationwide Building Society UK £5m 6 mths

Coventry Building Society UK

TD (including 
callable 

deposits),

Certificate of 
Deposits (CD’s)

£5m 6 mths

Individual Money Market 
Funds (MMF)

UK/Ireland/ 
EU 

domiciled

AAA rated
Money Market 

Funds £10m Instant access

Counterparties in select countries (non-UK) with a Sovereign Rating of at least AA+
Australia & New Zealand 
Banking Group 

Australia TD / CD’s £5m 1 yr

Page 356



23

Table 7 Country/
Domicile Instrument Maximum 

investments
Max. maturity 

period
Commonwealth Bank of 
Australia

Australia TD / CD’s £5m 1 yr

National Australia Bank Australia TD / CD’s £5m 1 yr

Westpac Banking Corporation Australia TD / CD’s £5m 1 yr

Royal Bank of Canada Canada TD / CD’s £5m 1 yr

Toronto-Dominion Bank Canada TD / CD’s £5m 1 yr

Development Bank of 
Singapore 

Singapore TD / CD’s £5m 1 yr

Overseas Chinese Banking 
Corp

Singapore TD / CD’s £5m 1 yr

United Overseas Bank Singapore TD / CD’s £5m 1 yr

Svenska Handelsbanken Sweden TD / CD’s £5m 1 yr

Nordea Bank AB Sweden TD / CD’s £5m 1 yr

ABN Amro Bank Netherlands TD / CD’s £5m 1 yr

Cooperative Rabobank Netherlands TD / CD’s £5m 1 yr

ING Bank NV Netherlands TD / CD’s £5m 1 yr

DZ Bank AG Germany TD / CD’s £5m 1 yr

UBS  AG Switzerland TD / CD’s £5m 1 yr

Credit Suisse AG Switzerland TD / CD’s £5m 1 yr

Danske Bank Denmark TD / CD’s £5m 1 yr

7.8 Non-Specified investments are any other types of investment that are not defined as 
specified. The identification and rationale supporting the selection of these other investments 
and the maximum limits to be applied are set out in Table 8 below:

Table 8 Minimum credit criteria Maximum 
investments Period

UK Local Authorities Government Backed £2m 2 years

The maximum amount that can be invested will be monitored in relation to the Council surplus 
monies and the level of reserves. The approved counterparty list will be maintained by referring 
to an up-to-date credit rating agency reports, and the Council will liaise regularly with brokers for 
updates.  Counterparties may be added to or removed from the list only with the approval of the 
Chief Finance Officer. A detailed list of specified and non-specified investments that form the 
counterparty list is shown in Appendix C.

Page 357



24

UK Local Authorities - Should a suitable opportunity in the market occur to lend to other Local 
Authorities of more than a 1 year duration, at a reasonable level of return the deal would be 
classed as a low risk Non-Specified Investment. 

7.9 Non treasury management investments 
This Council invests in non-treasury management (policy) investments. These do not form part 
of the treasury management strategy. 

7.10 Risk and Sensitivity Analysis

Treasury management risks are identified in the Council’s approved Treasury Management 
Practices.  The main risks to the Council’s treasury activities are:
 liquidity risk (inadequate cash resources);
 market or interest rate risk (fluctuations in interest rate levels and thereby  in the value of 

investments); 
 inflation risks (exposure to inflation); 
 credit and counterparty risk (security of investments); 
 refinancing risks (impact of debt maturing in future years); and 
 legal and regulatory risk (i.e. non-compliance with statutory and regulatory requirements, 

risk of fraud). 
Treasury Officers, in conjunction with the treasury advisers, will monitor these risks closely and 
particular focus will be applied to:
 the global economy – indicators and their impact on interest rates will be monitored closely. 

Investment and borrowing portfolios will be positioned according to changes in the global 
economic climate;

 Counterparty risk – the Council follows a robust credit worthiness methodology and 
continues to monitor counterparties and sovereign ratings closely particularly within the 
Eurozone. 

7.11 Lending to third parties 

The Council has the power to lend monies to third parties subject to a number of criteria. These 
are not treasury type investments rather they are policy investments. Any activity will only take 
place after relevant due diligence has been undertaken. Loans of this nature will be approved 
by Cabinet. The primary aims of the Investment Strategy are the security of its capital, liquidity 
of its capital and to obtain a return on its capital commensurate with levels of security and 
liquidity. These aims are crucial in determining whether to proceed with a potential loan.  In 
order to ensure security of the Council’s capital, extensive financial due diligence must be 
completed prior to any loan or investment being agreed. The Council will use specialist advisors 
to complete financial checks to ascertain the creditworthiness of the third party. Where deemed 
necessary, additional guarantees will be sought. This will be via security against assets and/or 
through guarantees from a parent company. 

Page 358



25

8.  ANNUAL MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION/POLICY STATEMENT – 2020/21

The statutory requirement for local authorities to charge the Revenue Account each year with a 
specific sum for debt repayment.  A variety of options is provided to councils to determine for 
the financial year an amount of minimum revenue provision (MRP) that it considers to be 
prudent. This replaces the previous requirement that the minimum sum should be 4% of the 
Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR).

 A Statement on the Council’s policy for its annual MRP should be submitted to the Full Council 
for approval before the start the financial year to which the provision relate. The Council is 
therefore legally obliged to have regard to CLG MRP guidance in the same way as applies to 
other statutory guidance such as the CIPFA Prudential Code, the CIPFA Treasury Management 
Code and the CLG guidance on Investments.

The MRP guidance offers four options under which MRP might be made, with an overriding 
recommendation that the Council should make prudent provision to redeem its debt liability over 
a period which is commensurate with that over which the capital expenditure is estimated to 
provide benefits (i.e. estimated useful life of the asset being financed).

The guidance also requires an annual review of MRP policy being undertaken and it is 
appropriate that this is done as part of this annual Treasury Management Policy and Strategy. 
The International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) involves some leases (being 
reclassified as finance leases instead of operating leases) coming onto the Council’s Balance 
Sheet as long term liabilities. This accounting treatment impacts on the Capital Financing 
Requirement with an annual MRP provision being required.  To ensure that this change has no 
overall financial impact on Local Authorities, the Government has updated their “Statutory MRP 
Guidance” which allows MRP to be equivalent to the existing lease rental payments and “capital 
repayment element” of annual payments. 

The policy from 2020/21 and in future years is therefore as follows:- 

For capital expenditure incurred before 1 April 2008 or which in the future will be Supported 
Capital Expenditure, the MRP options are:

Either
 Existing practice - MRP will follow the existing practice outlined in former MHCLG 

regulations (option 1); or
 Based on CFR – MRP will be based on the CFR (option 2);

These options provide for an approximate 4% reduction in the borrowing need (CFR) each year.

From 1 April 2008 for all unsupported borrowing (including PFI and finance leases) the MRP 
policy options are:
 Asset life method – MRP will be based on the estimated life of the assets, in accordance 

with the regulations (this option must be applied for any expenditure capitalised under a 
Capitalisation Direction) (option 3);

 Depreciation method – MRP will follow standard depreciation accounting procedures (option 
4).

These options provide for a reduction in the borrowing need over approximately the asset’s life. 
There is no requirement on the HRA to make a minimum revenue provision but there is a 
requirement for a charge for depreciation to be made (although there are transitional 
arrangements in place). Repayments included in annual PFI or finance leases are applied as 

Page 359



26

MRP.  It is important to note that changes in the Local Government Financial Regulations 
means that in the future operating leases will be treated in a manner consistent with financial 
leases.

For loans to third parties that are being used to fund expenditure that is classed as capital in 
nature, the policy will be to set aside the repayments of principal as capital receipts to finance 
the initial capital advance in lieu of making an MRP.  

In view of the variety of different types of capital expenditure incurred by the Council, which is 
not in all cases capable of being related to an individual asset, asset lives will be assessed on a 
basis which most reasonably reflects the anticipated period of benefit that arises from the 
expenditure. Also whatever type of expenditure is involved, it will be grouped together in a 
manner which reflects the nature of the main component of expenditure. 

This approach also allows the Council to defer the introduction of an MRP charge for new 
capital projects/land purchases until the year after the new asset becomes operational rather 
than in the year borrowing is required to finance the capital spending. This approach is 
beneficial for projects that take more than one year to complete and is therefore included as 
part of the MRP policy. 

Half-yearly review of the Council’s MRP Policy will be undertaken and reported to Members as 
part of the Mid-Year Treasury Management Strategy report. 

Page 360



27

9. SCHEME OF DELEGATION

9.1 Full Council 
In line with best practice, Full Council is required to receive and approve, as a minimum, 
three main reports each year, which incorporate a variety of polices, estimates and 
actuals. These reports are:

 
i. Treasury Management Policy and Strategy Report

The report covers: 
 the capital plans (including prudential indicators); 
 a Minimum Revenue Provision Policy (how residual capital expenditure is 

charged to revenue over time); 
 the Treasury Management Strategy (how the investments and borrowings are to 

be organised) including treasury indicators; and 
 an investment strategy (the parameters on how investments are to be managed). 

ii. A Mid-Year Review Report and a Year End Stewardship Report
These will update members with the progress of the capital position, amending 
prudential indicators as necessary, and indicating whether the treasury strategy is 
meeting the strategy or whether any policies require revision. The reports also 
provide details of a selection of actual prudential and treasury indicators and actual 
treasury operations compared to the estimates within the strategy. 

9.2 Cabinet 
 Approval of the Treasury Management quarterly update reports;
 Approval of the Treasury Management outturn report.  

9.3 Lewes District Council Audit and Standards Committee
 Scrutiny of performance against the strategy. 

9.4 Training
Treasury Management training for committee members will be delivered as required to facilitate 
more informed decision making and challenge processes. The Council further acknowledges 
the importance of ensuring that all Members and staff involved in the treasury management 
function receive adequate training and are fully equipped to undertake the duties and 
responsibilities allocated to them. In order to assist with this undertaking, a Member training 
event was provided on 22 January 2020 and similar events will be provided when required.  
Officers will continue to attend courses/seminars presented by CIPFA and other suitable 
professional organisations.

10. OTHER TREASURY ISSUES 

10.1 Banking Services 
Lloyds, which is part Government owned, currently provides banking services for the Council. 

10.2 Policy on the use of External Service Providers 

The Council uses Arlingclose Limited as its external treasury management advisors.  The 
Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions remains with the 
Council at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon our external service 
providers. It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury 
management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. The Council 
will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by which their value will be 
assessed are properly agreed and documented, and subjected to regular review. 

Page 361



28

APPENDIX ‘B’

The Treasury Management Role of the Section 151 Officer

The S151 (responsible) officer-
 recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, reviewing the 

same regularly, and monitoring compliance;
 submitting regular treasury management policy reports;
 submitting budgets and budget variations;
 receiving and reviewing management information reports;
 reviewing the performance of the treasury management function;
 ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the effective 

division of responsibilities within the treasury management function;
 ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit;
 recommending the appointment of external service providers.

Role extended by the revised CIPFA Treasury Management and Prudential Codes 2017as set 
out below.

 preparation of a capital strategy to include capital expenditure, capital financing, non-
financial investments and treasury management, with a long term timeframe;

 ensuring that the capital strategy is prudent, sustainable, affordable and prudent in the long 
term and provides value for money;

 ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all treasury and non-financial 
investments and is in accordance with the risk appetite of the authority;

 ensure that the authority has appropriate legal powers to undertake expenditure on non-
financial assets and their financing;

 ensuring the proportionality of all investments so that the authority does not undertake a 
level of investing which exposes the authority to an excessive level of risk compared to its 
financial resources

 ensuring that an adequate governance process is in place for the approval, monitoring and 
ongoing risk management of all non-financial investments and long term liabilities

 provision to members of a schedule of all non-treasury investments including material 
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures, loans and financial guarantees;

 ensuring that members are adequately informed and understand the risk exposures taken 
on by an authority;

 ensuring that the authority has adequate expertise, either in house or externally provided, to 
carry out the above.

Page 362



29

APPENDIX ‘C’ - COUNTERPARTY LIST 2020/21 
Fitch Rating    Moody's Ratings   S&P Ratings       

20202/21 Counterparty/Bank List Long Term 
Status

Long 
Term

Short 
Term Viability Long 

Term Status
Long 
Term

Short 
Term

Long Term 
Status

Long 
Term

Short 
Term

Suggested 
Link Duration

EBC       
Duration

CDS 
Price

Invest. 
Limit

Australia SB AAA   SB Aaa  SB AAA  Not Applicable Not Applicable   
Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Ltd. NO AA- F1+ aa- SB Aa3 P-1 SB AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 30.70 £5
Commonwealth Bank of Australia NO AA- F1+ aa- SB Aa3 P-1 SB AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 32.65 £5
Macquarie Bank Ltd. SB A F1 a SB A2 P-1 SB A+ A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths  £5
National Australia Bank Ltd. NO AA- F1+ aa- SB Aa3 P-1 SB AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 32.65 £5
Westpac Banking Corp. NO AA- F1+ aa- SB Aa3 P-1 SB AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 38.54 £5
Belgium SB AA-   SB Aa3  SB AA  Not Applicable Not Applicable   
BNP Paribas Fortis SB A+ F1 a SB A1 P-1 SB A+ A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths  £5
KBC Bank N.V. SB A+ F1 a SB Aa3 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths  £5
Canada SB AAA   SB Aaa  SB AAA  Not Applicable Not Applicable   
Bank of Montreal SB AA- F1+ aa- SB Aa2 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths  £5
Bank of Nova Scotia SB AA- F1+ aa- SB Aa2 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths  £5
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce SB AA- F1+ aa- SB Aa2 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths  £5
National Bank of Canada SB A+ F1 a+ SB Aa3 P-1 SB A A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths   
Royal Bank of Canada SB AA F1+ aa SB Aa2 P-1 SB AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths  £5
Toronto-Dominion Bank SB AA- F1+ aa- SB Aa1 P-1 SB AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths  £5
Denmark SB AAA   SB Aaa  SB AAA  Not Applicable Not Applicable   
Danske A/S NO A F1 a NO A2 P-1 SB A A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 31.50 £5
Finland PO AA+   SB Aa1  SB AA+  Not Applicable Not Applicable   
Nordea Bank Abp NO AA- F1+ aa- SB Aa3 P-1 SB AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths  £5
OP Corporate Bank plc  WD WD  SB Aa3 P-1 SB AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths  £5
France SB AA   PO Aa2  SB AA  Not Applicable Not Applicable   
BNP Paribas SB A+ F1 a+ SB Aa3 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 26.28 £5
Credit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank SB A+ F1 WD SB Aa3 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 20.42 £5
Credit Agricole S.A. SB A+ F1 a+ SB Aa3 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 24.30 £5
Credit Industriel et Commercial SB A+ F1 a+ SB Aa3 P-1 SB A A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths  £5
Societe Generale SB A F1 a SB A1 P-1 PO A A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 28.04 £5
Germany SB AAA   SB Aaa  SB AAA  Not Applicable Not Applicable   
Bayerische Landesbank SB A- F1 bbb+ SB Aa3 P-1  NR NR R - 6 mths R - 6 mths  £5
Commerzbank AG NO BBB+ F1 bbb+ SB A1 P-1 NO A- A-2 G - 100 days G - 100 days 40.09 £5
Deutsche Bank AG EO BBB F2 bbb NO A3 P-2 SB BBB+ A-2 N/C - 0 mths N/C - 0 mths   
DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-
Genossenschaftsbank SB AA- F1+  NO Aa1 P-1 NO AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths  £5

Landesbank Baden-Wuerttemberg SB A- F1 bbb+ SB Aa3 P-1  NR NR R - 6 mths R - 6 mths  £5
Landesbank Berlin AG     SB Aa2 P-1    O - 12 mths O - 12 mths  £5
Landesbank Hessen-Thueringen Girozentrale SB A+ F1+  SB Aa3 P-1 SB A A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 50.14 £5
Landwirtschaftliche Rentenbank SB AAA F1+  SB Aaa P-1 SB AAA A-1+ P - 24 mths P - 24 mths  £5
Norddeutsche Landesbank Girozentrale NW A- F1 f PW Baa2 P-2  NR NR N/C - 0 mths N/C - 0 mths   
NRW.BANK SB AAA F1+  SB Aa1 P-1 SB AA A-1+ P - 24 mths P - 24 mths  £5

P
age 363



30

20202/21 Counterparty/Bank List
Fitch Rating    Moody's Ratings   S&P Ratings       
Long Term 

Status
Long 
Term

Short 
Term Viability Long 

Term Status
Long 
Term

Short 
Term

Long Term 
Status

Long 
Term

Short 
Term

Suggested 
Link Duration

EBC       
Duration

CDS 
Price

Invest. 
Limit

Netherlands SB AAA   SB Aaa  SB AAA  Not Applicable Not Applicable   
ABN AMRO Bank N.V. NO A+ F1 a SB A1 P-1 SB A A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths  £5
Bank Nederlandse Gemeenten N.V. SB AAA F1+  SB Aaa P-1 SB AAA A-1+ P - 24 mths P - 24 mths  £5
Cooperatieve Rabobank U.A. NO AA- F1+ a+ SB Aa3 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 19.53 £5
ING Bank N.V. SB AA- F1+ a+ SB Aa3 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 19.52 £5
Nederlandse Waterschapsbank N.V.     SB Aaa P-1 SB AAA A-1+ P - 24 mths P - 24 mths  £5
Qatar SB AA-   SB Aa3  SB AA-  Not Applicable Not Applicable   
Qatar National Bank SB A+ F1 bbb+ SB Aa3 P-1 SB A A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 72.94 £5
Singapore SB AAA   SB Aaa  SB AAA  Not Applicable Not Applicable   
DBS Bank Ltd. SB AA- F1+ aa- SB Aa1 P-1 SB AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths  £5
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corp. Ltd. SB AA- F1+ aa- SB Aa1 P-1 SB AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths  £5
United Overseas Bank Ltd. SB AA- F1+ aa- SB Aa1 P-1 SB AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths  £5
Sweden SB AAA   SB Aaa  SB AAA  Not Applicable Not Applicable   
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB SB AA- F1+ aa- SB Aa2 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths  £5
Svenska Handelsbanken AB SB AA F1+ aa SB Aa2 P-1 SB AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths  £5
Swedbank AB NW AA- F1+ aa- NO Aa2 P-1 NO AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths  £5
Switzerland SB AAA   SB Aaa  SB AAA  Not Applicable Not Applicable   
Credit Suisse AG PO A F1 a- PO A1 P-1 SB A+ A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 44.50 £5
UBS AG SB AA- F1+ a+ SB Aa2 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 24.47 £5
United Arab Emirates SB AA   SB Aa2  SB AA  Not Applicable Not Applicable   
First Abu Dhabi Bank PJSC SB AA- F1+ a- SB Aa3 P-1 SB AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths  £5
United Kingdom NW AA   NO Aa2  NO AA  Not Applicable Not Applicable   
Abbey National Treasury Services PLC NW A F1  NO Aa3 P-1    R - 6 mths R - 6 mths  £5
Bank of Scotland PLC (RFB) NW A+ F1 a NO Aa3 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 35.01 £5
Barclays Bank PLC (NRFB) NW A+ F1 a PO A2 P-1 SB A A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 43.32 £5
Barclays Bank UK PLC (RFB) NW A+ F1 a NO A1 P-1 SB A A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths  £5
Close Brothers Ltd NW A F1 a NO Aa3 P-1    R - 6 mths R - 6 mths  £5
Clydesdale Bank PLC NW A- F2 bbb+ SB Baa1 P-2 SB BBB+ A-2 N/C - 0 mths N/C - 0 mths   
Co-operative Bank PLC (The) NW B B b PO B3 NP    N/C - 0 mths N/C - 0 mths   
Goldman Sachs International Bank SB A F1  SB A1 P-1 SB A+ A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 51.72 £5
Handelsbanken Plc SB AA F1+     SB AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths  £5
HSBC Bank PLC (NRFB) NW A+ F1+ a SB Aa3 P-1 NO AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 30.73 £5
HSBC UK Bank Plc (RFB) NW A+ F1+ a    NO AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths  £5
Lloyds Bank Corporate Markets Plc (NRFB) NW A F1  SB A1 P-1 SB A A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths  £5
Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) NW A+ F1 a NO Aa3 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 34.49 £5
NatWest Markets Plc (NRFB) NW A F1 WD PO Baa2 P-2 SB A- A-2 G - 100 days G - 100 days 56.45 £5
Santander UK PLC NW A+ F1 a NO Aa3 P-1 SB A A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths  £5
Standard Chartered Bank SB A+ F1 a SB A1 P-1 SB A A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 29.88 £5
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation Europe Ltd SB A F1  SB A1 P-1 PO A A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 35.29 £5
Coventry Building Society NW A- F1 a- NO A2 P-1    R - 6 mths R - 6 mths  £5

P
age 364



31

20202/21 Counterparty/Bank List
Fitch Rating    Moody's Ratings   S&P Ratings       
Long Term 

Status
Long 
Term

Short 
Term Viability Long 

Term Status
Long 
Term

Short 
Term

Long Term 
Status

Long 
Term

Short 
Term

Suggested 
Link Duration

EBC       
Duration

CDS 
Price

Invest. 
Limit

Leeds Building Society NW A- F1 a- NO A3 P-2    G - 100 days G - 100 days  £5
Nationwide Building Society NW A F1 a NO Aa3 P-1 PO A A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths  £5
Nottingham Building Society     NO Baa1 P-2    N/C - 0 mths N/C - 0 mths   
Principality Building Society NW BBB+ F2 bbb+ SB Baa2 P-2    N/C - 0 mths N/C - 0 mths   
Skipton Building Society NW A- F1 a- SB Baa1 P-2    G - 100 days G - 100 days  £5
West Bromwich Building Society     PO Ba3 NP    N/C - 0 mths N/C - 0 mths   
Yorkshire Building Society NW A- F1 a- NO A3 P-2    G - 100 days G - 100 days  £5
National Westminster Bank PLC (RFB) NW A+ F1 a PO A1 P-1 SB A A-1 B - 12 mths B - 12 mths  £5
The Royal Bank of Scotland Plc (RFB) NW A+ F1 a PO A1 P-1 SB A A-1 B - 12 mths B - 12 mths  £5
United States SB AAA     Aaa  SB AA+  Not Applicable Not Applicable 8.23  
Bank of America N.A. SB AA- F1+ a+ SB Aa2 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths  £5
Bank of New York Mellon, The SB AA F1+ aa- SB Aa1 P-1 SB AA- A-1+ P - 24 mths P - 24 mths 40.35 £5
Citibank N.A. SB A+ F1 a SB Aa3 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 42.58 £5
JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A. SB AA F1+ aa- SB Aa1 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths  £5
Wells Fargo Bank, NA SB AA- F1+ a+ SB Aa1 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 36.08 £5

Watches and Outlooks: SB- Stable Outlook; NO- Negative Outlook; NW- Negative Watch; PO- Positive Outlook; PW- Positive Watch; EO- Evolving Outlook; EW- Evolving 
Watch; WD- Rating Withdrawn.

Non-Specified Investments:

Minimum credit Criteria Maximum Investments Period

UK Local Authorities Government Backed £2m 2 years

Yellow Purple Blue Orange Red Green No Colour

Up to 5yrs Up to 2yrs Up to 1yr (semi 
nationalised UK 

bank 
NatWest/RBS)

Up to 1yr Up to 6 months Up to 100 days Not to be used 

P
age 365



32

APPENDIX ‘D’

Arlingclose Economic & Interest Rate Forecast November 2019
The Arlingclose Economic & Interest Rate Forecast and underlying assumptions are:

 The global economy is entering a period of slower growth in response to political 
issues, primarily the trade policy stance of the US. The UK economy has displayed a 
marked slowdown in growth due to both Brexit uncertainty and the downturn in global 
activity. In response, global and UK interest rate expectations have eased.

 Some positivity on the trade negotiations between China and the US has prompted 
worst case economic scenarios to be pared back. However, information is limited, 
and upbeat expectations have been wrong before. 

 Brexit has been delayed until 31 January 2020. While the General Election has 
maintained economic and political uncertainty, the opinion polls suggest the 
Conservative position in parliament may be strengthened, which reduces the chance 
of Brexit being further frustrated. A key concern is the limited transitionary period 
following a January 2020 exit date, which will maintain and create additional 
uncertainty over the next few years.

 UK economic growth has stalled despite Q3 2019 GDP of 0.3%. Monthly figures 
indicate growth waned as the quarter progressed and survey data suggest falling 
household and business confidence. Both main political parties have promised 
substantial fiscal easing, which should help support growth.

 While the potential for divergent paths for UK monetary policy remain in the event of 
the General Election result, the weaker external environment severely limits potential 
upside movement in Bank Rate, while the slowing UK economy will place pressure 
on the MPC to loosen monetary policy. Indeed, two MPC members voted for an 
immediate cut in November 2019.

 Inflation is running below target at 1.7%. While the tight labour market risks medium-
term domestically-driven inflationary pressure, slower global growth should reduce 
the prospect of externally driven pressure, although political turmoil could push up oil 
prices.

 Central bank actions and geopolitical risks will continue to produce significant 
volatility in financial markets, including bond markets.

Forecast: 
 Although we have maintained our Bank Rate forecast at 0.75% for the foreseeable 

future, there are substantial risks to this forecast, dependant on General Election 
outcomes and the evolution of the global economy. 

 Arlingclose judges that the risks are weighted to the downside.

 Gilt yields have risen but remain low due to the soft UK and global economic 
outlooks. US monetary policy and UK government spending will be key influences 
alongside UK monetary policy.

 We expect gilt yields to remain at relatively low levels for the foreseeable future and 
judge the risks to be broadly balanced.

Page 366



33

Dec-19 Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22 Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Average
Official Bank Rate
Upside risk 0.00 0.00 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.21
Arlingclose Central Case 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75
Downside risk -0.50 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.73

3-month money market rate
Upside risk 0.10 0.10 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.25
Arlingclose Central Case 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75
Downside risk -0.50 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.73

1yr money market rate
Upside risk 0.10 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.25 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.23
Arlingclose Central Case 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85
Downside risk -0.30 -0.50 -0.55 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.60

5yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.30 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.40 0.45 0.45 0.45 0.37
Arlingclose Central Case 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.55 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.57
Downside risk -0.35 -0.50 -0.50 -0.55 -0.60 -0.60 -0.60 -0.60 -0.60 -0.60 -0.60 -0.60 -0.60 -0.56

10yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.30 0.30 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.40 0.40 0.45 0.45 0.37
Arlingclose Central Case 0.75 0.75 0.80 0.80 0.85 0.85 0.90 0.90 0.95 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.88
Downside risk -0.40 -0.40 -0.40 -0.40 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.50 -0.50 -0.50 -0.50 -0.50 -0.45

20yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.30 0.30 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.40 0.40 0.45 0.45 0.37
Arlingclose Central Case 1.20 1.20 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.35 1.35 1.35 1.40 1.40 1.30
Downside risk -0.40 -0.40 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.50 -0.50 -0.45

50yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.30 0.30 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.40 0.40 0.45 0.45 0.37
Arlingclose Central Case 1.20 1.20 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.35 1.35 1.35 1.40 1.40 1.30
Downside risk -0.40 -0.40 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.50 -0.50 -0.45

PWLB Certainty Rate (Maturity Loans) = Gilt yield + 1.80%
PWLB Local Infrastructure Rate (Maturity Loans) = Gilt yield + 0.60%

Page 367



34

APPENDIX ‘E’

Capital Strategy

1) Introduction
1.1 This Capital Strategy is a new report for 2019/20, giving a high-level overview of how 

capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury management activity contribute to 
the provision of local public services in Lewes District Council (LDC), along with an 
overview of how associated risk is managed and the implications for future financial 
sustainability. It has purposely been written in an accessible style to enhance 
understanding of what can be very technical areas.

2. Capital Expenditure and Financing

2.1 Expenditure
2.1.1 Capital expenditure occurs when the Council spends money on assets such as 

property or vehicles, which will be used for more than one year. In local government 
this includes spending on assets owned by other bodies, and loans and grants to 
other bodies enabling them to buy assets. The Council has some limited discretion 
on what counts as capital expenditure, for example assets costing below a deminimis 
level are not capitalised and are charged to revenue in year.

2.1.2 Further details on the Council’s capitalisation policy can be found in the 2018/19 
Statement of Accounts.

2.1.3 In 2020/21, LDC is planning capital expenditure of £44.6 million (and £43.6 million 
over the next two years) as summarised in Table 1 below:

Table 1: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Expenditure

2019/20 
budget

2020/21 
budget

2021/22 
budget

2022/23 
budgetCapital Expenditure

£m £m £m £m
General Fund Services 2.4 26.7 6.1 1.7
Council Housing (HRA) 7.0 15.5 15.3 15.8
Commercial Activities/ non- 
financial investments 5.6 2.4 2.4 2.4

TOTAL 15.0 44.6 23.8 19.8

2.1.4 The main General Fund capital projects scheduled for 2020/21 are as follows:
 Commercial Property acquisitions and developments
 North Street Quarter
 Asset Development - Newhaven
 Asset Development – Seaford

2.1.5 The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is a ring-fenced account which ensures that 
the Council’s housing does not subsidise, or is itself subsidised, by other local 
services. HRA capital expenditure is therefore recorded separately.

Page 368



35

2.2 Governance
2.2.1 The evaluation, prioritisation and acceptance of capital schemes onto the Capital 

Programme is carried out in accordance with strict criteria that ensures that added 
schemes reflect Council priorities and can be delivered within available resources 
(e.g. due priority is given to schemes yielding savings and/or generating income as 
well as meeting a Council priority). 

2.2.2 The draft Capital Programme is then subject to formal Scrutiny prior to setting the 
budget (followed by Cabinet and full Council approval). 

2.3 Financing
2.3.1 All capital expenditure must be financed, either from external sources (Government 

grants and other contributions), the Council’s own resources (revenue, reserves and 
capital receipts) or debt (borrowing and leasing). The planned financing of the above 
expenditure is presented in Table 2 below.

Table 2: Capital Financing
2019/20 
budget

2020/21 
budget

2021/22 
budget

2022/23 
budget

£m £m £m £m
External sources 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Own resources 8.9 16.5 10.3 8.6
Debt 5.1 27.1 12.6 10.2
TOTAL 15.0 44.6 23.8 19.8

2.3.2 Debt is only a temporary source of finance, since loans and leases must be repaid, 
and this is therefore replaced over time by other financing, usually from revenue 
which is known as “Minimum Revenue Provision” (MRP). Alternatively, proceeds 
from selling capital assets (known as capital receipts) may be used to replace debt 
finance. Planned MRP and use of capital receipts are presented in Table 3 below.

Table 3: Repayment of Debt Finance
2019/20 
budget

2020/21 
budget

2021/22 
budget

2022/23 
budget

£m £m £m £m
Own resources 0.094 0.286 1.195 1.231

2.3.3 The Council’s annual MRP statement can be found within Appendix A (Section 8) 
above.

2.3.4 The Council’s cumulative outstanding amount of debt finance is measured by the 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). This increases with new debt-financed capital 
expenditure and reduces with MRP and capital receipts used to replace debt. The 
CFR is expected to increase by £26.8 million in 2019/20. Based on the above figures 
for expenditure and financing, the Council’s estimated CFR is presented in Table 4 
below.

Page 369



36

Table 4: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)
31.3.2020 

budget
31.3.2021 

budget
31.3.2022 

budget
31.3.2023 

budget
£m £m £m £m

General Fund services 6.8 29.5 30.4 31.2
Council housing (HRA) 66.0 68.3 77.0 82.6
Capital investments 14.2 16.0 17.8 19.6
TOTAL CFR 87.1 113.9 125.2 134.2

3. Asset Management
3.1 Asset Management Strategy

3.1.1 The Council recognises the importance of ensuring that capital assets continue to be 
of long-term use especially in a rapidly changing operational and technological 
backdrop. Consequently, at the time of preparing this Capital Strategy, a new Asset 
Management Strategy (AMS) is under development. Led by the Asset Management 
team and backed by a comprehensive review of Council assets, the AMS will take a 
longer-term view comprising:

 ‘Good’ information about existing assets;
 The optimal asset base for the efficient delivery of Council objectives;
 The gap between existing assets and optimal assets;
 Strategies for purchasing and constructing new assets, investment in existing 

assets, transferring of assets to other organisations and the disposal of surplus 
assets; and

 Plans for individual assets.

3.2 Asset Disposals

3.2.1 When a capital asset is no longer needed, it may be sold so that the proceeds 
(known as capital receipts) can be spent on new assets or to repay debt. The Council 
is also permitted to spend capital receipts on service transformation projects until 
2021/22. Repayments of capital grants, loans and investments also generate capital 
receipts. The Council takes a prudent approach of assuming future capital receipts 
only when there is a high probability of realisation.

4. Treasury Management

4.1 Introduction

4.1.1 Treasury management is concerned with keeping sufficient but not excessive cash 
available to meet the Council’s spending needs, while managing the risks involved. 
Surplus cash is invested until required, while a shortage of cash will be met by 
borrowing, to avoid excessive credit balances or overdrafts in the bank current 
account. The Council is not cash rich as it utilises all of its available cash before 
borrowing which in the current climate is more economic.

Page 370



37

4.1.2 As at 31 December the Council had borrowing of £109.0 million at an average 
interest rate of 2.83% and cash balances of £5.0 million held on an interest bearing 
current account at a rate of 0.65%.

4.2 Borrowing

4.2.1 The Council’s main objectives when borrowing are to achieve a low but certain cost 
of finance while retaining flexibility should plans change in the future. These 
objectives are often conflicting, and the Council therefore seeks to strike a balance 
between cheap short-term loans (currently available at around 0.75%) and long-term 
fixed rate loans where the future cost is known but higher (currently 2.0 to 3.0%).

4.2.2 Projected levels of the Council’s total outstanding debt (which comprises borrowing 
and leases) are shown below in Table 6, compared with the Capital Financing 
Requirement (Table 4 above).

Table 6: Prudential Indicator: Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement
31.3.2020 

budget
31.3.2021 

budget
31.3.2022 

budget
31.3.2023 

budget
£m £m £m £m

Debt (incl. leases) 61.8 88.9 101.4 111.7
Capital Financing Requirement  87.1  113.9  125.2  134.2

4.2.3 Statutory guidance is that debt should remain below the Capital Financing 
Requirement, except in the short-term. As can be seen from Table 6, the Council 
expects to comply with this in the medium term.

Affordable Borrowing Limit

4.2.4 The Council is legally obliged to set an affordable borrowing limit (also termed the 
“Authorised Limit” for external debt) each year. In line with statutory guidance, a 
lower “Operational Boundary” is also set as a warning level should debt approach the 
limit.

Table 7: Prudential Indicators: Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for 
External Debt

2019/20 
limit

2020/21 
limit

2021/22 
limit

2022/23 
limit

£000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s
Authorised limit – total external debt 127.7 132.0 132.0 142.0
Operational boundary – total external debt 117.7 122.0 122.0 132.0

4.2.5 Further details on borrowing are contained in the Treasury Management Strategy.

4.3 Investments

4.3.1 Treasury investments arise from receiving cash before it is paid out again. 
Investments made for service reasons or for pure financial gain are not generally 
considered to be part of treasury management.

Page 371



38

(Treasury Management) Investment Strategy

4.3.2 The Council’s Investment Strategy is to prioritise security and liquidity over yield; 
focussing on minimising risk rather than maximising returns. Cash that is likely to be 
spent in the near term is invested securely in selected high-quality banks, to minimise 
the risk of loss.

4.4 Governance

4.4.1 Treasury management decisions are made on a daily basis and are therefore 
delegated to the CFO, who must act in line with the Treasury Management Strategy 
approved by the Council. Annual outturn reports on treasury management are also 
approved by the Council (following recommendation from Audit and Governance 
Committee), whereas mid-year updates are reported exclusively to the Audit and 
Governance Committee. Quarterly performance reports are also submitted to 
Cabinet.

5. Investments for Service Purposes
5.1 The Council will sometimes make investments for service delivery purposes where 

there is a strategic case for doing so, for example the new Waste Company. Given its 
public service objectives, the Council is willing to take more risk than with treasury 
investments, nevertheless the arrangements feature cost reduction incentives, from 
which the Council will benefit.

Governance

5.2 Decisions on service investments are made by the Council’s Cabinet and require the 
support of a full business case.

6. Commercial Investments
6.1 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) defines 

investment property as property held solely to earn rentals or for capital appreciation 
or both. Returns from property ownership can be both income driven (through the 
receipt of rent) and by way of appreciation of the underlying asset value (capital 
growth). The combination of these is a consideration in assessing the attractiveness 
of a property for acquisition. In the context of the Capital Strategy, the council is 
using capital to invest in property to provide a positive surplus/financial return. 

6.1.2 The council may fund the purchase of the property by borrowing money, normally 
from the Debt Management Office as part of HM Treasury. The rental income paid by 
the tenant should exceed the cost of repaying the borrowed money each year. The 
annual surplus then supports the council’s budget position, and enables the council 
to continue to provide services for local people. The reasons for buying and owning 
property investments are primarily

 Financial returns to fund services to residents 
 Market and economic opportunity. 
 Economic development and regeneration activity in the Borough. 

Page 372



39

6.1.3 Historically, property has provided strong investment returns in terms of capital 
growth generation of stable income. Property investment is not without risk as 
property values can fall as well as rise and changing economic conditions could 
cause tenants to leave with properties remaining vacant. The strategy makes it clear 
that the council will continue to invest prudently on a commercial basis and to take 
advantage of opportunities as they present themselves, supported by our robust 
governance process.

6.2 Current Investments

6.2.1 In recent years, the Council has invested in commercial property in the borough on a 
selective basis, usually where there is a fit with corporate priorities and a positive 
financial return that can be used to contribute towards the protection of local services.

6.3 Commercial Investment Strategy

6.3.1 However, in recognition of the continued shortfall in local government funding and 
commitments, the Council will (following the February Cabinet approval) have in a 
Commercial Investment Strategy with a view to achieving a step change increase in 
commercial investment and trading by the Council.

6.3.2 CIPFA’s guidance on borrowing to invest follows the MHCLG’s concern at what they 
perceive to be, the increasing risk taken on by local authorities following a sharp 
increase in Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) borrowing by councils to invest in 
commercial property. CIPFA has made clear that Councils should not borrow to 
invest commercially and their Capital Investment Strategy must make it clear as to 
where they depart from this principle and why.  However, it has been recognised that 
local investments that are primarily designed for regeneration or service delivery 
purposes and which have a knock-on positive impact to the revenue budgets are not 
intended to be covered by this principle.

6.3.3 Councils have to demonstrate that such investments are “proportionate” to their 
resources. The Council’s approach will incorporate the CIPFA guidance when it is 
published; this will enhance the other risk management features that are being 
developed; this includes a strict governance framework, the use of real estate 
investment experts and diversified portfolios. The aim is to offset principle risks such 
as falling capital values and ‘voids’. However, (within a tightly controlled framework) 
the Council ultimately accepts a higher risk on commercial investments compared to 
its prudent treasury investment that has primarily focused to date on protecting the 
principal.

6.3.4 The Council considers investing in housing properties and commercial investments 
within the borough to be related to its temporary accommodation strategy and local 
regeneration.  It will invest commercially but in relation to the services it provides or to 
build and strengthen the local economy, with the related benefit of increased 
business rates.

6.4 Governance
6.4.1 The Governance arrangements are stipulated within the Commercial Investment 

Strategy that will be approved at the Cabinet February 2020 meeting.

Page 373



40

7. Other Liabilities

7.1 Outstanding Commitments
7.1.1 The Council also has the following outstanding commitments:

 The Council has also set aside £x million (as at 31st March 2019) to cover the 
financial risk associated with Business Rates appeals lodged with the Valuation 
Office Agency (VOA); and

7.2 Guarantees
7.2.1 A 30-year Business Plan for the Council’s HRA has been developed, which is 

currently generating sufficient rental income each year to run an efficient and 
effective housing management service, whilst at the same time servicing the 
outstanding debt. However, if the HRA is unable to repay the outstanding debt at any 
point in the future, the Council (through its General Fund) is liable to repay any 
remaining balance. The remaining balance on HRA debt as at 31st March 2019 was 
£42.6 million).

7.3 Governance
7.3.1 Decisions on incurring new discretionary liabilities are taken by Directors and Heads 

of Service in consultation with the CFO. For example, in accordance with the 
Financial Procedure Rules credit arrangements, such as leasing agreements, cannot 
be entered into without the prior approval of the CFO.

8. Revenue Implications

8.1 Financing Cost
8.1.1 Although capital expenditure is not charged directly to the revenue budget, interest 

payable on loans and MRP are charged to revenue, offset by any investment income 
receivable. The net annual charge is known as financing costs; this is compared to 
the net revenue stream i.e. the amount funded from Council Tax, Business Rates and 
general Government grants.

Table 8: Prudential Indicator: Proportion of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 
(General Fund)

2019/20 
forecast

2020/21 
forecast

2021/22 
forecast

2022/23 
forecast

£m £m £m £m
Financing Costs (£m) 2.0 2.6 3.4 2.8
Proportion of Net Revenue Stream 13.2 17.2 22.6 15.1

Table 9: Prudential Indicator: Proportion of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 
(HRA)

2019/20 
forecast

2020/21 
forecast

2021/22 
forecast

2022/23 
forecast

£m £m £m £m
Financing Costs (£m) 1.9 1.5 1.3 1.9
Proportion of Net Revenue 
Stream 13.0 10.3 9.0 13.5

Page 374



41

8.1.2 Due to the very long-term nature of capital expenditure and financing, the revenue 
budget implications of expenditure incurred in the next few years will extend for many 
[occasionally up to 50] years into the future.

8.2 “Prudence, Affordability and Sustainability”
8.2.1 The CFO is satisfied that the proposed Capital Programme (Section 2) is prudent, 

affordable and sustainable based on the following: 

Prudence 

 Prudential indicators 8 and 9 presented above (Paragraph 8.1.1) are within 
expected and controllable parameters. Thus:

 Prudential Indicator 8 (General Fund) - Proportion of Financing Costs to Net 
Revenue Stream – the growth in financing costs reflects the Council’s 
ambitions for capital investment in its strategic priorities over the medium-term. 

 Prudential Indicator 9 (HRA) - Proportion of Financing Costs to Net Revenue 
Stream – the indicator profile mirrors the HRA 30-Year Business Plan.

 Underlying Prudent Assumptions – a prudent set of assumptions have been used 
in formulating the Capital Programme. This is illustrated in the approach to capital 
receipts whereby the proceeds are not assumed within projections until the 
associated sale is completed and the money received by the Council; and

 Repairs and Maintenance – the approach to asset maintenance is professionally 
guided with assets maintained in a condition commensurate with usage and 
expected life, addressing those items that could affect ongoing and future 
maintenance, in the most appropriate and cost effective manner.

Affordability 

 The estimated ‘revenue consequences’ of the Capital Programme (£87.87million 
over three years) have been included in the 2020/21 Budget and Medium-Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS), extending to 2022/23; and

 The MTFS includes a reserves strategy, which includes contingency funds in the 
event that projections are not as expected (further supported by CFO report to 
Council under Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 on the robustness of 
estimates and the adequacy of financial reserves and balances).

Sustainability 

 Capital schemes that are expected to deliver long-term revenue savings/generate 
income are given due priority. For example, the Hampden Retail Park.

 As explained in Section 3.1 above, the Asset Management Strategy will represent 
an enhancement to the Council approach to asset planning through (especially) 
taking a longer-term view. This includes providing for future operational need, 
balancing the requirement to achieve optimal performance, whilst taking account 
of technological change and managing the risk of obsolescence.

Page 375



42

9. Knowledge and Skills

9.1 Officers
9.1.1 The Council employs professionally qualified and experienced staff in senior 

positions with responsibility for making capital expenditure, borrowing and investment 
decisions. Most notably:
 Finance - the Chief Finance Officer (CFO) and the Deputy Chief Finance Officers 

(DCFO’s) are qualified (ACCA/ CIPFA) accountants with many years of public and 
private sector experiences. The Council sponsors junior staff to study for relevant 
professional qualifications including AAT, CIPFA and ACCA. The Council also 
supports training courses and conferences across all aspects of accounting. 

 Property – the Head of Property and Facilities Shared Service (PFSS) – a 
qualified property expert - is responsible for Asset Management within the Council. 
PFSS comprises the Asset Development, Building and Maintenance, Corporate 
Landlord and development functions of the Council. Each area has appropriately 
qualified professionals within their individual specialism. The Head of PFSS plays 
a key role in the Council’s approach to commercial investment and trading 
(highlighted above in Section 6).

9.1.2 The Council also has a separate Housing team that is responsible for overseeing 
social housing developments within the borough. 

9.2 External Advisors
9.2.1 Where the Council does not have the relevant knowledge and skills required, 

judicious use is made of external advisers and consultants that are 
experts/specialists in their field. The Council currently employs Arlingclose Limited as 
Treasury Management advisers, and the Asset Management team will commission 
property advisors as appropriate (e.g. development managers, valuers etc.) to 
support their work where required to ensure that the Council has access to 
knowledge and skills commensurate with risk.

9.3 Councillors
9.3.1 May 2019 will see the election for some new councillors. Duly elected councillors will 

therefore all receive training appropriate to their role in the new Council.

9.3.2 Specifically with regard to Treasury Management, the Council acknowledges the 
importance of ensuring that members have appropriate capacity, skills and 
information to effectively undertake their role. To this end, newly elected Lewes 
councillors with Treasury Management responsibilities will receive tailored training 
sessions from the Council’s Treasury Management advisors (Link Asset Services).

10. CFO Statement on the Capital Strategy
10.1 Prudential Code
10.1.1 Paragraph 24 of the recently updated Prudential Code determines that….”the Chief 

Finance Officer should report explicitly on the affordability and risk associated with 
the Capital Strategy”.

10.1.2 Accordingly, it is the opinion of the CFO that the Capital Strategy as presented is 
affordable, and associated risk has been identified and is being adequately managed.

Page 376



43

10.2 Affordability
10.2.1 The Capital Strategy is affordable and there is a range of evidence to support this 

assertion, including: 

 Capital Programme – the Programme as presented above (in Section 2.1) is 
supported by a robust and resilient MTFS extending through until 2022/23 that 
contains adequate revenue provision, including sufficient reserves in the event 
that plans and assumptions do not materialise as expected.

 Asset Management – as presented above (in Section 3.1) a new Asset 
Management Strategy is under development, which is taking a strategic longer-
term (i.e. beyond 2022/23) view of the Council’s asset base. A fundamental aim of 
the Strategy is to achieve the optimum balance between future operational need 
and affordability, which will be reflected in its component parts including strategies 
for purchasing and constructing new assets, investment in existing assets, 
transferring of assets to other organisations and the disposal of surplus assets. 

 Commercial Investment – as presented above (in Section 6.2) the Commercial 
Investment Strategy is also under development. The primary aim of the Strategy 
long-term is income generation to replace the shortfall in Government funding. 
The Strategy is progressing positively towards the delivery stage and its success 
will be critical to the long-term affordability of the Capital Strategy.

10.3 Risk
10.3.1 The risk associated with the Capital Strategy has been identified and is being 

adequately managed. Evidence to support this assertion includes:

 Treasury Management Strategy – the Council will formally approve a Treasury 
Management Strategy for 2020/21, at the Council meeting on 10 February 2020, 
in accordance with CIPFA’s “Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code 
of Practice 2017”. That Strategy was developed by the Council’s (professionally 
qualified and experienced) Finance team and informed by specialist advisors Link 
Asset Services and other relevant and extant professional guidance.

 Investment Strategy – the Council will also formally approve an Investment 
Strategy for 2019/20, at the Council meeting on 20 February 2019, in accordance 
with MHCLG’s “Statutory Guidance on Local Government Investments (3rd 
Edition) 2017”. As with the Treasury Management Strategy, the Investment 
Strategy was developed by the Finance team and informed by specialist advisors 
Link Asset Service and other relevant and extant professional guidance. 

 Commercial Activities – as noted above (in Paragraph 6.2) the Council is 
committed to significantly expanding the scale of its commercial activities in the 
medium-term as part of its Commercial Investment Strategy. It is recognised and 
accepted that increased commercial activity brings with it additional risk. The 
Strategy is therefore being developed in accordance with contemporary best 
practice. This includes the engagement of professional advisors on the 
commercial, financial and legal aspects of the project and the preparation of full 
supporting business cases prior to the commencement of both in-house and arm’s 
length trading activities, strictly in accordance with HM Treasury’s ‘five-case 
model’ (“The Green Book: Central Government Guidance on Appraisal and 
Evaluation”).

Page 377



44

11. Capital Strategy Updates  

11.1 The Capital Strategy is a ‘living document’ and will be periodically, usually annually, 
updated to reflect changing local circumstances and other significant developments. 
However, the development of the Asset Management Strategy and the Commercial 
Investment Strategy (explained above in Sections 3 and 6) are both major initiatives 
that could have a material impact on the Strategy as early as 2019/20, once full 
details are known. In the event that this happens, the Capital Strategy will be updated 
and re-presented to full Council.

Page 378



Report to: Cabinet

Date: 10 February 2020

Title: Council Tax Base and Non-Domestic Rates income for 
2020/21

Report of: Chief Finance Officer 

Cabinet member: Councillor Zoe Nicholson, Leader of the Council, Cabinet 
Member for Finance

Ward(s): All

Purpose of report: To approve the Council Tax Base and net yield from 
Business Rate Income for 2020/21 in accordance with the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992, as amended 2018/19.

Decision type: Key Decision

Officer 
recommendation(s):

i) Agree the provisional Council Tax Base of 36,811.2 
for 2020/21.

ii) Agree that the Chief Finance Officer, in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Finance, 
determine the final amounts for the Council Tax 
Base for 2020/21.

iii) Agreed that the Chief Finance Officer, in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Finance, 
determine net yield from Business Rate income for 
2020/21. 

Reasons for 
recommendations:

Cabinet is required to approve the Tax Base which will be 
used for the purposes of calculating the 2020/21 Council 
Tax.

Contact Officer(s): Name: Andrew Clarke
Post title: Deputy Chief Finance Officer
E-mail: Andrew.Clarke@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
Telephone number: 01323 415691 

1. Introduction

1.1 The Council is required to set its Council Tax Base for the forthcoming year. This 
calculation is used as the basis for the amount of income the Council will precept 
from the Collection Fund.

Page 379

Agenda Item 21



1.2 The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) Regulations 1992 
prescribe that the billing authority (this council) must supply the precepting 
authorities (the County, Police and Fire authorities) with the calculation of the 
Council Tax Base. This information must be supplied between 1 December and 
31 January in the financial year proceeding the financial year for which the 
calculation is being made.

1.3 Non-Domestic Rating (Rates Retention) Regulations 2013 also sets out a 
timetable for informing the Government and precepting authorities of the business 
rate income calculation. This information is completed via a Government return 
(NNDR1) which must be submitted by 31 January in the financial year preceeding 
the financial year for which the calculation is being made.

1.4 In order to assist the precepting authorities with their financial planning it is helpful 
to provide the information during December rather than wait for the January 
deadline.

2. Council Tax Base 2020/21

2.1 The Council Tax Base is the estimated full year equivalent number of chargeable 
dwellings. This is expressed as the equivalent number of Band D dwelling with 
two or more liable adults. 

2.2 In making this estimate, account must be taken of discounts, disabled relief and 
property exemptions. Movements on and off the valuation list during the year 
must also be taken into account – e.g. where new properties have been built or 
old ones converted or demolished. 

2.3 The basic calculation as determined by primary legislation is that the Council 
arrives at it’s Council Tax Base by multiplying its Relevant Amount by its 
estimated Collection Rate.  

3. Relevant amount

3.1 The Relevant Amount for each Bank is the estimated full year equivalent number 
of chargeable dwellings in the Band expresses the equivalent number of Band D 
dwellings. The Government’s Valuation Office assesses the relative value of each 
property with the borough and places it in one of the eight bands. A conversion 
factor is then applied to each band in order to obtain the equivalent number of 
Band D property as set out below

Page 380



Band Valuation (at 1 April 1991)

Conversion 
Factor as 
proportion of 
Band D

A Less than £40,000 6/9
B £40,001 - £52,000 7/9
C £52,001 - £68,000 8/9
D £68,001 - £88,000 9/9
E £88,001 - £120,000 11/9
F £120,001 - £160,000 13/9
G £160,001 - £320,000 15/9
H Over £320,001 16/9

3.2 Deductions are made to the aggregate number of properties in each band in 
respect of various discounts such as empty properties and single persons. An 
adjustment is also made to reflect the impact of the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme. 

3.3 The results for each Band are then added together to arrive at the overall Band D 
or Relevant Amount. For 2020/21 this totals 37,466.9 equivalent properties. 

3.4 The Relevant Amount has increased by 51.7 properties (0.13%) Band D 
equivalent dwellings from 2019/20.

4. Collection Rate

4.1 The Collection Rate is the Council’s estimate of the proportion of the overall 
Council Tax collectable for 2020/21 that will ultimately be collected.

4.2 The key elements in making this calculation are losses on collection, appeals 
against valuation, changes in circumstances (e.g. application for discounts in 
respect of single person’s occupancy or disability) and other adjustments. These 
other adjustments to bills can arise for a variety of reasons including bankruptcy, 
death and exemptions, plus an allowance for uncollectable debts.

4.3 The current level of Council Tax collection is forecast to show an in-year surplus 
of £549,536 at the end of 2019/20, and this would indicted that the current 
collection rate of 98.25% should be maintained taking on board the small increase 
in properties next year.

5. Council Tax Base

5.1 Taking the Relevant Amount of 37,466.9 and applying the Collection Rate of 
98.25% produces a Council Tax Base for 2020/21 of 36,811.2.

5.2 The Council Tax Base has increased by 0.24% compared with 2019/20. This is 
equivalent to an increase of 50.8 Band D dwellings. The detailed number of 
properties is shown at Appendix 1.

Page 381



6. Business Rate Income 

6.1 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 introduced a new system for the local 
retention of business rates. This means that the Council is required to formally 
approve the expected business rate income for the forthcoming year. The 
estimate for the 2020/21 financial year must be approved by 31 January 2020. 

6.2 The Business Rate income is collated on the Government’s NNDR1 form which 
shows the net rate income yield for the central and local shares of the business 
shares of the business rates. The actual NNDR1form and guidance notes have 
been received and will have been completed by the time this report is received.

6.3 The net business rate yield is calculated using the total expected gross income by 
multiplying the Rateable value by the nationally set multipliers (for 2019/20 these 
are 50.4p standard and 49.1p for small businesses). These multipliers are uplifted 
annually by the September CPI rate which was 1.7%, but this increase is still to 
be confirmed by Government. This gross yield is then adjusted for mandatory and 
discretionary reliefs, an allowance for cost of collection, adjustment for changes in 
Rateable Value due to growth or reduction in property numbers, estimated losses 
on collection and an allowance for appeals.  

6.4 The resulting calculation is the net business rate yield which is shared as follows:

          50% to Central Government
          40% to Local Billing Authority (this council)
            9% to the County 
            1% to the fire authority. 

6.5 The local share is then payable to the Council’s General Fund. All other 
adjustments to the overall level of Business rate income are then accounted for 
within the General Fund. 

6.6 The final amount of business rates income retained by the Council is adjusted by 
deduction tariff and levy payments.

6.7 The system of tariff or top up is to redress the balance of Business Rate income 
nationally to ensure that no local authority is worse off as a result of business rate 
income at the outset of the rates retention scheme in 2013. This authority 
currently makes a tariff payment, and information on the level of tariff payment will 
be announced as part of the Government grant settlement figures. 

6.8 Levy payments allow authorities to retain a proportion their growth. The levy has 
been set at 50% of the growth over the baseline allowance set by Government. 

7. Setting the Business Rate Income 

7.1 As the final figures required to set the Business Rates Income are not yet 
available, Cabinet is asked that delegated authority be given to the Chief Finance 
Officer, in consultation with the portfolio holder for Finance. 

Page 382



8. Business Rate Pooling 

8.1 The Council is working within a Business Rate Pool with the other East Sussex 
Borough and District Councils, East Sussex County Council and East Sussex Fire 
Authority. Under this arrangement, 50% of any growth in business rate income 
which would otherwise be paid as level to the Government can be retained by the 
Pool to be redistributed to its participating authorities in accordance with an 
agreed memorandum of understanding.

For 2020/21 it is assumed that the current pooling arrangements will continue. 

8.2 No additional pool income was anticipated from the pool in 2019/20, however the 
exact position will be confirmed at the end of the financial year.  The figures for 
2020/21 can not be estimated until the NNDR1 form is complete. 

9. Collection Fund Performance

9.1 As at 31 March 2019 the Collection Fund showed a surplus of £138,729 (£33,546 
Council Tax surplus and £105,183 Business Rates surplus). However, £615,453 
is being distributed across Council Tax and Business Rates preceptors during 
2019/20, leaving a balance of £476,724 to be recovered in 2020/21.

9.2 The Council has to estimate the overall surplus/deficit at 31 March 2020 and 
inform precepting authorities in January 2020 of this estimate in order that the 
amount is included in the 2020/21 precept figures. 

9.3 Current monitoring figures indicate a surplus by 31 March 2020 of £549,536 for 
Council Tax. Any surplus or deficit is allocated to preceptors in 2020 /21 in 
proportion to the 2019/20 Band D Council Tax. For this council this represents a 
15.11% share of the total. 
 

9.4 The calculation on the Business Rate income element of the Collection Fund 
currently indicates a deficit balance of £239,000 as a result of a combination of 
the backdated appeals being paid, and an increase in charity reliefs and 
exemptions granted. Any surplus or deficit is allocated in 2020/21 in accordance 
with the proportions given at paragraph 6.4 above. 

10. Outcome expected and Performance Management. 

10.1 Once the Council Tax Base and the estimate balance on the Council Tax element 
of the Collection Fund has been determined, East Sussex Council. Sussex Police 
and Crime Commissioner and East Sussex Fire Authority will be notified. 

10.2 Once the NNDR1 2020/21 has been completed and the estimated balance on the 
Business Rate element of the Collection Fund has been determined, this will be 
submitted to Central Government and both East Sussex County Council and East 
Sussex Fire Authority will be notified.  

10.3 Council Tax and Business Rates income and payments to precepts are 
accounted for in the Collection Fund which is regularly monitored and reported to 
members as part of the quarterly performance monitoring report. 

Page 383



11. Financial appraisal

11.1 The Council Tax Base will be used to calculate the level of Council Tax 
requirement that will be recommended to the Council on 24 February 2020.

11.2 The net yield from Business Rates income will be used to calculate the amount of 
retained Business Rates to be credited to the General Fund. 

12. Legal implications

12.1 The Council Tax Base must be calculated in accordance with the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 and The Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax 
Base) Regulations 2012.

12.2 Under these Regulations 1992 the billing authority (this council) is required to 
calculate its Council Tax base by 31 January for the next financial year and inform 
all its preceptors of this calculation. 

The legislation further provides that, where a billing authority fails to notify each of 
the major precepting authorities of this calculation it can be determined by those 
precepting authorities on the basis of all the information available and with 
reference to the preceding year’s amount. 

12.3 It is a requirement of the Non-Domestic Rating (Rates Retention) Regulations 
2013 for the billing authority (this council) to notify MHCLG and precepting 
authorities of its calculation of expected rate income by 31 January preceding the 
commencement of the next financial year. 

If the billing authority fails to comply with this requirement then the Secretary of 
State may make the calculation instead and inform precepting authorities of the 
calculation. 

13. Risk management implications

13.1

13.2

If the Council did not set a Council Tax Base this can be imposed by the 
precepting authorities with the potential that an incorrect Band D Council Tax 
could be set. This would have implications to the Council Tax income for the 
Preceptors, this Council and the performance of the Collection Fund.

In order for the Council to set Council Tax for 2020/21 it will need to have receives 
all precepts in advance of 24 February 2020.  Major preceptor meetings are 
scheduled in time, however, at the time of writing the report, a number of parish 
and town councils have not set their precepts by the date requested.  Should 
precepts not be received in time for the Council to set Council Tax levels for 
2020/21 then it has the powers to make an estimate of those precepts.

14. Equality analysis
.

14.1 There are no equality implications to this report. 

Page 384



15. Conclusion 

15.1 The provisional Council Tax Base for 2020/21 has been calculated in accordance 
with the relevant legislation. Summary calculations are set out within the attached 
appendix. 

15.2 The figures required to set the Business Rate Income are not yet available as the 
NNDR1 form has not been completed at the time of writing this report.

15.3 It is recommended that delegated authority be given to the Chief Finance Officer, 
in consultation with the Portfolio holder for Finance, to agree the final figures for 
both calculations. 

16. Appendices

 Appendix 1 – Summary of property numbers and Council Base Calculation. 
 Appendix 2 – Parish Tax Base Calculations

17. Background papers

The background papers used in compiling this report were as follows: 

 Local Government Finance Act 1992
 The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) Regulations 1992
 The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2003
 Non-Domestic Rating (Rates Retention) Regulation 2013
 Calculation of Council Tax Base – CTB (October 2019) form. 

Page 385



This page is intentionally left blank



Council Tax Base comparison over years. Appendix 1

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

NUBER OF DWELLINGS

Valuation List as at November 43,672 44,150 44,251 44,497
Less discounts equated to property numbers -3,948 -4,032 -4,306 -4,417
Add Premiums equated to property numbers 37 43 47 47
Total equivalent property numbers 39,761 40,161 39,992 40,127

Estimated changes in year 150 317 366 151

Less Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme -4,548 -3,921 -4,129 -3,951

Total Number of Properties 35,363 36,557 36,229 36,327
%  increase (decrease) 3.38% -0.90% 0.27%

TAXBASE CALCUATION

Relevant Amount (Band D Equilavant) 36,527.7 37,712.8 37,415.2 37,466.9
Collection Rate 98.00% 98.20% 98.25% 98.25%

Council Tax Base 35,797.1 37,034.0 36,760.4 36,811.2
% growth increase 3.46% -0.74% 0.14%

Page 387



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

Town/Parish Area DISA Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H Total 98.25%
Barcombe -          10.55       25.74       89.90       93.52       109.56     138.38     165.83     15.50       648.99       637.63       
Chailey -          32.46       40.80       163.80     147.21     197.19     295.14     399.10     47.00       1,322.71    1,299.57    
Ditchling -          7.67         15.87       61.36       63.76       328.75     173.23     423.33     68.00       1,141.98    1,122.00    
East Chiltington -          0.41         4.47         51.99       40.55       8.86         15.93       54.58       19.50       196.30       192.87       
Falmer -          1.03         6.54         13.24       16.18       15.35       2.67         10.00       2.00         67.01         65.83         
Firle -          2.43         10.88       16.12       26.24       28.56       9.75         25.00       8.00         126.99       124.76       
Glynde & Beddingham -          3.50         9.65         62.36       13.66       24.44       23.65       32.50       17.50       187.27       183.99       
Hamsey -          14.27       15.45       56.64       32.30       55.34       36.43       50.87       15.00       276.30       271.46       
Iford -          0.67         1.26         3.11         11.92       35.46       16.61       17.30       6.00         92.33         90.71         
Kingston -          9.01         4.20         5.24         13.50       56.70       184.48     147.08     15.50       435.72       428.09       
Lewes 0.42        183.90     673.91     1,827.35  1,271.58  891.61     653.78     711.15     33.50       6,247.21    6,137.88    
Newhaven 0.83        321.43     899.40     1,286.26  810.85     369.72     53.69       15.42       2.00         3,759.60    3,693.81    
Newick -          9.75         17.17       126.28     216.49     239.15     239.36     265.83     12.00       1,126.04    1,106.33    
Peacehaven 0.83        364.72     478.92     2,002.34  1,392.61  476.12     144.29     24.58       2.00         4,886.40    4,800.89    
Piddinghoe -          1.16         1.06         20.61       9.52         20.44       42.97       30.00       -           125.76       123.56       
Plumpton -          7.83         11.75       90.41       144.10     113.68     102.19     186.25     21.00       677.22       665.37       
Ringmer -          14.45       56.06       306.89     595.56     418.04     301.83     192.88     24.00       1,909.71    1,876.29    
Rodmell -          5.47         9.38         24.67       12.69       20.53       36.11       83.60       19.50       211.95       208.24       
St Ann Without -          1.33         1.94         4.89         6.75         4.58         11.19       9.58         -           40.28         39.57         
St John Without -          -           -           5.81         1.75         2.14         1.50         10.83       2.00         24.04         23.62         
Seaford 0.42        504.21     740.57     2,149.90  2,227.90  2,307.03  1,300.36  430.45     4.00         9,664.85    9,495.71    
Southease -          0.50         0.78         1.78         1.75         4.58         4.33         7.50         2.00         23.22         22.82         
South Heighton -          19.69       24.82       177.16     22.46       15.58       7.94         12.92       2.00         282.57       277.63       
Streat -          2.00         0.05-         7.48         13.54       5.50         9.75         38.38       6.00         82.61         81.17         
Tarring Neville -          1.83         0.40         2.61         1.00         1.22         -           1.67         -           8.73           8.58           
Telscombe -          85.49       211.30     856.57     964.44     364.48     61.35       30.08       5.00         2,578.70    2,533.57    
Westmeston -          5.17         2.36         6.44         15.50       29.42       23.17       50.83       23.00       155.89       153.16       
Wivelsfield -          9.49         22.03       157.61     251.18     243.44     247.00     208.33     27.50       1,166.58    1,146.16    
TOTAL 2.51        1,620.41  3,286.67  9,578.84  8,418.51  6,387.49  4,137.11  3,635.90  399.50     37,466.94  36,811.27  

Council Tax Base Calculation 2020/21 - Band D Equivalents

P
age 389



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet

Date: 10 February 2020

Title: Annual Review of Fees and Charges

Report of: Chief Finance Officer

Cabinet member: Councillor Zoe Nicholson, Leader of Council and Cabinet 
Member for Finance

Ward(s): All

Purpose of report: To propose the schedule of Fees and Charges to apply from 
1 April 2020. 

Decision type: Key Decision

Officer 
recommendation(s):

(1) To approve the scale of Fees and Charges proposed 
within Appendix 1 to apply from 1 April 2020.

(2) To implement changes to statutory fees and charges for 
services shown within Appendix 1 as and when notified by 
Government. 

Reasons for 
recommendations:

The Council’s Constitution requires that all fees and 
charges, including nil charges, be reviewed at least annually 
and agreed by Cabinet. 

Contact Officer(s): Name: Andrew Clarke 
Post title: Deputy Chief Finance Officer
E-mail: Andrew.clarke@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk 
Telephone number: 01323 415691

1 Introduction

1.1 Following a systematic review in light of an Audit Commission report entitled 
‘Positively Charged’ Cabinet approved guiding principles, as set out on Appendix 
1, for setting fees and charges. 

1.2 The guiding principle and the recommended actions arising from the systematic 
review of services have been applied in reviewing and proposing a scale of fees 
and charges to apply from 1 April 2020. 

2 Fees and Charges Proposals to apply form 1 April 2020

2.1 Fees and Charges are reviewed by Cabinet at least once each year, principally 
during the winter prior to the next financial year. This enables Cabinet’s decision 

Page 391

Agenda Item 22



to be incorporated in the coming budget cycle. Cabinet is not restricted to an 
annual review; it can conduct further reviews at any time in the year with 
implementation of decisions from any point in the year

2.2 As in previous years all of the fees and charges are covered, so far as is 
practicable, within a single report. In this way Cabinet is able to consider all of 
the fees and charges which apply to the Council's services as an overall 
package. There is only one exception to this and that is licensing fees which are 
excluded from this report because they are set by the Licensing Committee. 

2.3 Cabinet will be aware that fees and charges applicable at the Council-owned 
indoor leisure facilities and at Newhaven Fort are set by Wave Leisure under the 
terms of the management agreements it has with the Council

2.4 Within Appendix 1 to this report there are some significant services, with 
significant income estimates, where the Council has discretion to set the level of 
fees and charges. These are summarised below between those services where 
changes are proposed and those services where no changes are proposed

2.5 In addition Appendix 1 includes those services where fees are statutory and 
where any changes can only be made by Government.

3. Services where changes to fees and charges are proposed. 

3.1 Service Arts Development
Appendix ref lines 59 to 69

Reason for 
change

Fees and charges have been reviewed along with the 
introduction of new options to support charitable and 
educational organisations.  

Financial impact The 2020/21 income budget has been increased by 
£8,000 to £28,000 to reflect an increase in activity.

Service Tourism
Appendix ref lines 71 to 79
Reason for 
change Review of fees and charges to cover increase in costs.

Financial impact

The 2020/21 income budget has been increased to 
£18,000. £14,000 increase is in respect of an increase 
in activity and £1,000 increase is in respect of increased 
fees.

Service Street Naming and Numbering
Appendix ref lines 231 to 244
Reason for 
change

Fees and Charges have been reviewed so that they 
remain appropriate for the services on offer.

Financial impact The 2020/21 budget will remain at £12,500
 

Page 392



Service Allotments
Appendix ref lines 246 to 247
Reason for 
change

An increase of £3 per plot is proposed in order to 
maintain value. 

Financial impact No change to the income budget of £1,000.

Service Cemeteries
Appendix ref lines 249 to 270

Reason for 
change

The Council’s policy is to maintain its charges within the 
upper quartile of local authority burial charges. The 
proposed increases are intended to maintain the 
Council’s position.

 Financial Impact

The 2020/21 budget will become £141,000, an increase 
of £700. £4,100 increase is in respect of the proposed 
increase in fees and charges and a reduction of £3,400 
is in respect of reduced activity.

Service Parks and Open Spaces
Appendix ref lines 272 to 325
Reason for 
change

To maintain recovery of a fair share of the costs of 
providing services.

Financial impact

The 2020/21 budget will become £53,700 a reduction of 
£300. £4,500 increase is in respect of the proposed 
increase in fees and charges and a reduction of £4,800 
is in respect of reduced activity.

Service Waste Collection (excluding Commercial Trade 
Waste)

Appendix ref lines 327 to 371

Reason for 
change

Delegated authority was previously given to the Director 
of Service Delivery, in consultation with the Portfolio 
holder for Waste and Recycling, to vary commercial 
trade waste charges upwards or downwards by up to 
10% in order to respond to developing market 
conditions.

Financial impact No change to the income budget of £446,500.

Service Land Charges
Appendix ref Lines 401 to 407

Reason for  change

ESCC are increasing the fee they charge in respect of 
the footpath enquiry from 1st April 2020. In order to 
cover this cost an increase of £6.00 is recommended. 
Due to a reduction in the volume of activity it is 
estimated that income will reduce by £10,000.

Financial impact The estimated income budget will reduce to 
£125,000.

Page 393



4. Services where no changes to fee and charges are proposed

4.1 Service Car Parks
Appendix ref lines 1 to 33

Cabinet agreed the current pricing tariff in January 2018 to 
apply from 1 April 2018, the first increase since 1 April 2013. 
 Reason for no 

change This was consistent with the principle established by Cabinet 
that future increases would be based on inflation and 
implemented only when accumulated inflation increased fees 
to easily collectable amounts. 

Financial impact The income budget for 2019/20 for £1,002,000 is being 
achieved so no change is proposed to 2020/21.

Service Electric Vehicle Chargers
Appendix ref lines 35 to 37

Reason for no 
change

Usage of this service continues to grow and officers believe 
that leaving the current pricing structure in place for another 
year will encourage further growth.

Financial impact The income budget will remain at £4,000.  
  
Service Lewes House
Appendix ref lines 39 to 57

Reason for no 
change

The offer of rooms and garden for events like wedding 
receptions is operating in a competitive environment.  Officers 
judge that the current level of fees remains at the right level to 
maintain a share of that market.

Financial impact The income budget will remain at £10,000.

Service Animal Wardens
Appendix ref lines 81 to 86 (Excluding line 83)
Reason for no 
change Very limited activity to justify change.

Financial impact
No income budget is set for this service because of the 
uncertainty around volumes and the very low levels of income 
generated.  

Service Public Health
Appendix ref lines 101 and 102
Reason for no 
change Limited activity to justify change.

Financial impact
No income budget is set for this discretionary service because 
of the uncertainty around volumes and the very low levels of 
income generated.  

  

Page 394



Service Private Sector Housing
Appendix ref lines 129 to 131
Reason for no 
change Fees will continue to be set in line with officer costs.

Financial impact Income Budget for 2020/21 to remain at £2,000
  
Service Building Control
Appendix ref lines 133 to156

Reason for no 
change

Building control operates in a competitive environment and 
officers judge that the current fees remain at the appropriate 
level for the services on offer.  

Financial impact Income Budget for 2020/21to remain at £281,500
 

Service Recycling - Section 106 Developers’ Contributions
Appendix ref lines 183 to 184
Reason for no 
change

A charge is made solely to maintain recovery of a fair share of 
the costs of providing the service.  

Financial impact
No income budget is set because of the uncertainty around 
volumes and timing as well as the relatively low levels of 
income generated.

  
Service Planning Services
Appendix ref lines 186 to 229
Reason for no 
change

Officers judge that the current fees remain at the appropriate 
levels for the services on offer.  

Financial impact Income budget for 2020/21 will remain at £30,000

Service Council Tax and Business Rates Summons income 
Appendix ref lines 373 to 376

Because both this Council and Wealden Council use the 
same court the policy has been to keep our fees in line.  Reason for no 

change
Therefore no changes are proposed at this time.

Financial impact Income budget for 2020/21 will remain at £210,000
 
Service Legal Services
Appendix ref lines 378 to 390
Reason for no 
change

Maintains recovery of costs and positioning with other local 
authorities.

Financial impact Supports the viability of the shared legal service.

Page 395



Service Estate Surveyor Services
Appendix ref lines 392 to 399

Reason for no 
change

These charges are complimentary to those already charged by 
Legal Services and are similar in nature to those which 
commercial lessees might expect to pay in the private sector.

Financial impact The income budget will remain at £15,000.

5. Services where statutory fees and charges apply

5.1 The current level of fees and charges will continue to apply until such time as the 
Council is notified by Government of changes. Such changes will be 
implemented in accordance with the relevant statutory notices.

5.2 Service Animal Wardens
Appendix ref line 83

Financial impact No budget for 2019/20 is proposed because of the very low 
levels of income generated from this service

  
Service Port Health
Appendix ref lines 88 to 98
Financial impact A small budget of £1,000 is proposed for 2020/21.
  
Service Public Health
Appendix ref lines 100 to 127 (excluding lines 101 and 102)
Financial impact The income budget will remain at £4,000.

 
Service Development Control
Appendix ref lines 158 to 175
Financial impact Income budget for 2020/21 will remain at £429,000 

Service Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
Appendix ref lines 177 to 181

 

The Charging Schedule implemented on 1 December 2015 
under The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 
remains appropriate and provides the baseline for the levy.  CIL 
regulations require that fees are uplifted annually in line with the 
change in a national price index. This change is applied each 
year once the index data becomes available.

  
Service Register of Electors
Appendix ref lines 409 to 415
Financial impact The income budget will remain at £1,000.

Page 396



6 Financial appraisal

6.1 The forecast medium term financial plan strategy was that income would 
increase by 2% and that this would generate an additional £56,000 in income. 
However, due to increases and decreases in income budgets the overall net 
increase is estimated to be £14,000.
 

7 Legal implications

7.1 There are no legal implications arising directly from this report. 

8 Risk management implications

8.1 The recommendations of this report are not significant in terms of risk.  
However, there is a possibility that forecast income for demand led services may 
be adversely affected by economic factors outside of the council’s control.

9 Equality analysis

9.1 An Equalities and Fairness Impact Assessment has been undertaken and made 
available to the equality checking group.  The assessment indicates that the 
proposed changes to fees and charges set out in this report are unlikely to have 
any significant impact on equalities and fairness.  All changes are in line with the 
Guiding Principles for setting fees and charges previously agreed by Cabinet.

10 Appendices

10.1  Appendix 1 – Fees and Charges proposals 2020/21

11 Background papers

11.1

11.2

The background papers used in compiling this report were as follows: 

Guiding principles for setting fees and charges

11.3  Equalities and Fairness Impact Assessment. 

Page 397

https://democracy.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/documents/s8866/Fees%20and%20charges%20-%20Appendix%201.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1
Lewes District Council Fees and Charges Proposals 2020/2021

2019/2020 2020/2021

By Service and Activity Current Proposed 

charge charge Increase

                  £pence                   £pence VAT                   £pence

1 CAR PARKING (OFF STREET)

2

3 Central Lewes - short stay up to 30 mins 0.60                   0.60                      i 0.00

4 up to 1 hour 0.80                   0.80                      i 0.00

5 up to 2 hours 1.80                   1.80                      i 0.00

6

7 Central Lewes - medium stay up to 1 hour 0.80                   0.80                      i 0.00

8 up to 2 hours 1.70                   1.70                      i 0.00

9 up to 3 hours 2.60                   2.60                      i 0.00

10 up to 4 hours 3.50                   3.50                      i 0.00

11

12 Outer Lewes - long stay up to 1 hour 0.70                   0.70                      i 0.00

13 up to 2 hours 1.40                   1.40                      i 0.00

14 up to 3 hours 2.20                   2.20                      i 0.00

15 up to 4 hours 2.90                   2.90                      i 0.00

16 over 4 hours 4.10                   4.10                      i 0.00

17

18 Brook Street, Lewes all day 1.90                   1.90                      i 0.00

19

20 Newhaven and Seaford (including multi-storey) up to 30 mins 0.60                   0.60                      i 0.00

21 up to 1 hour 0.80                   0.80                      i 0.00

22 up to 2 hours 1.10                   1.10                      i 0.00

23 up to 3 hours 1.30                   1.30                      i 0.00

24 up to 4 hours 1.80                   1.80                      i 0.00

25 over 4 hours 2.20                   2.20                      i 0.00

26

27 All Sites

28 Commercial vendors per day (sliding scale) £0 - £501 £0 - £501 e 0.00

29

30 All Sites

31 Infringement of Parking Order Penalty Charge Notices 60.00                 60.00                    e 0.00

32  - if paid in 7 days 30.00                 30.00                    e 0.00

33 Total Current Estimated Annual Income (Car Parking) 1,002,000 1,002,000 0

34

35 ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGERS fixed fee 2.50                   2.50                      i 0.00

36 plus per kilowatt hour 0.20                   0.20                      i 0.00

37 Total Current Estimated Annual Income (Electric Vehicle Chargers) 4,000 4,000 0

38

39 LEWES HOUSE

40 Venue Hire (minimum 2 hours Monday to Friday from 9am to 6pm)

VAT charge types:  i = inclusive of VAT @ 20%,  e = non-business or exempt from VAT,  s = standard plus VAT @ 20%

P
age 399



Appendix 1
Lewes District Council Fees and Charges Proposals 2020/2021

2019/2020 2020/2021

By Service and Activity Current Proposed 

charge charge Increase

                  £pence                   £pence VAT                   £pence

41 Garden Room and Garden - up to 100 people per hour 75.00                 75.00                    e 0.00

42 Garden Room only - up to 30 people (November to March) per hour 40.00                 40.00                    e 0.00

43 Warren Room - up to 50 people per hour 55.00                 55.00                    e 0.00

44 Business Room - up to 40 people per hour 40.00                 40.00                    e 0.00

45 Plus surcharge from 6pm to 11pm per hour 15.00                 15.00                    e 0.00

46 Weekend surcharge one-off fee 30.00                 30.00                    e 0.00

47

48 Exhibition Rate (minimum 2 days Monday to Sunday 9am to 6pm)

49 Warren Room per day 100.00               100.00                  e 0.00

50 Business Room per day 100.00               100.00                  e 0.00

51 Warren Room and Business Room per day 150.00               150.00                  e 0.00

52 Complete Suite excluding garden per day 200.00               200.00                  e 0.00

53 Plus surcharge from 6pm to 11pm per hour 15.00                 15.00                    e 0.00

54 Weekend surcharge per day 30.00                 30.00                    e 0.00

55

56 Charges for other arrangements by application and negotiation 

57 Total Current Estimated Annual Income (Lewes House Venue Hire) 10,000 10,000 0

58

59 ARTS DEVELOPMENT

60 Artwave Artist Advert (Single) 80.00 85.00 s 5.00

61 Artwave Artist Advert (Double) 160.00 170.00 s 10.00

62 Artwave Artist Advert (Full Page) 400.00 s 400.00

63 Artwave Business Advert (Single) 100.00 105.00 s 5.00

64 Artwave Business Advert (Double) 200.00 210.00 s 10.00

65 Artwave Business Advert (Full Page) 500.00 s 500.00

66 Artwave Charity/School Advert (Single) 65.00 s 65.00

67 Artwave Charity/School Advert (Double) 130.00 s 130.00

68 Artwave Charity/School Advert (Full Page) 300.00 s 300.00

69 Total Current Estimated Annual Income (Arts Development) 20,000 28,000 8,000

70

71 TOURISM

72 Visit Lewes Silver Member 99.00 99.00 s 0.00

73 Visit Lewes Gold Member 149.00 149.00 s 0.00

74 Gin & Fizz Exhibitor Fee 25.00 75.00 s 50.00

75 Gin & Fizz Hot Food Traders Fee 75.00 150.00 s 75.00

76 Gin & Fizz Other Food Traders Fee 70.00 120.00 s 50.00

77 Gin & Fizz Bar Traders Fee 75.00 150.00 s 75.00

78 Gin & Fizz Programme Ad 100.00 100.00 s 0.00

79 Total Current Estimated Annual Income (Tourism) 3,000 18,000 15,000

80

VAT charge types:  i = inclusive of VAT @ 20%,  e = non-business or exempt from VAT,  s = standard plus VAT @ 20%

P
age 400



Appendix 1
Lewes District Council Fees and Charges Proposals 2020/2021

2019/2020 2020/2021

By Service and Activity Current Proposed 

charge charge Increase

                  £pence                   £pence VAT                   £pence

81 ANIMAL WARDENS

82 Statutory Charge per stray dog 30.00                 30.00                    e 0.00

83 Seizure Charge per stray dog In addition to statutory charge 30.00                 30.00                    i 0.00

84 Return of Dog 45.00                 45.00                    i 0.00

85 Kennelling per day 25.00                 25.00                    i 0.00

86 Total Current Estimated Annual Income (Animal Wardens) 0 0 0

87

88 PORT HEALTH

89 Ship Sanitation Certificates (Statutory Fee) Ships up to 1000 gross tonnage 85.00                 85.00                    e 0.00

90 Ships 1001 to 3000 gross tonnage 120.00               120.00                  e 0.00

91 Ships 3001 to 10000 gross tonnage 180.00               180.00                  e 0.00

92 Ships 10001 to 20000 gross tonnage 235.00               235.00                  e 0.00

93 Ships 20001 to 30000 gross tonnage 305.00               305.00                  e 0.00

94 Ships > 30001 gross tonnage 360.00               360.00                  e 0.00

95 Vessels with more than 1000 persons 360.00               360.00                  e 0.00

96 Vessels with 50 - 1000 persons 615.00               615.00                  e 0.00

97 Extensions 55.00                 55.00                    e 0.00

98 Total Current Estimated Annual Income (Port Health) 0 1,000 1,000

99

100 PUBLIC HEALTH

101 Food Hygiene Courses £5 reduction for micro businesses 75.00                 75.00                    s 0.00

102 Private Water Supplies Cost Cost s

103 Environmental Protection Act- Schedule B Processes. Statutory Fee

104   Initial Application 1,650.00            1,650.00               e 0.00

105   Additional fee for operating without a permit 1,188.00            1,188.00               e 0.00

106

107

108   Annual Charge: Standard Process LOW Statutory Fee 772.00               772.00                  e 0.00

109                             Standard Process MEDIUM Statutory Fee 1,161.00            1,161.00               e 0.00

110                             Standard Process HIGH Statutory Fee 1,747.00            1,747.00               e 0.00

111 PVRI, and Dry Cleaners LOW Statutory Fee 79.00                 79.00                    e 0.00

112 PVRI and Dry Cleaners  MEDIUM Statutory Fee 158.00               158.00                  e 0.00

113 PVRI and Dry Cleaners HIGH Statutory Fee 237.00               237.00                  e 0.00

114 PVR I & II combined LOW Statutory Fee 113.00               113.00                  e 0.00

115 PVR I & II combined MEDIMUM Statutory Fee 226.00               226.00                  e 0.00

116 PVR I & II combined HIGH Statutory Fee 341.00               341.00                  e 0.00

117 VRs and other Reduced Fees LOW Statutory Fee 228.00               228.00                  e 0.00

118 VRs and other Reduced Fees MEDIUM Statutory Fee 365.00               365.00                  e 0.00

119 VRs and other Reduced Fees HIGH Statutory Fee 548.00               548.00                  e 0.00

120 Mobile plant, for first and second permits LOW Statutory Fee 626.00               626.00                  e 0.00

121 Mobile plant, for first and second permits MEDIUM Statutory Fee 1,034.00            1,034.00               e 0.00

  For a combined Part B and waste application add an extra £104 (Low), £156 (Med), £207 (High). 

  Where subject to reporting under PRTR add extra £104 to amount.

VAT charge types:  i = inclusive of VAT @ 20%,  e = non-business or exempt from VAT,  s = standard plus VAT @ 20%

P
age 401



Appendix 1
Lewes District Council Fees and Charges Proposals 2020/2021

2019/2020 2020/2021

By Service and Activity Current Proposed 

charge charge Increase

                  £pence                   £pence VAT                   £pence

122 Mobile plant, for first and second permits HIGH Statutory Fee 1,551.00            1,551.00               e 0.00

123 A2 Processes Application Statutory Fee 3,363.00            3,363.00               e 0.00

124 A2 Processes Annual subsistence fee LOW Statutory Fee 1,446.00            1,446.00               e 0.00

125 A2 Processes Annual subsistence fee MEDIUM Statutory Fee 1,610.00            1,610.00               e 0.00

126 A2 Processes Annual subsistence fee HIGH Statutory Fee 2,333.00            2,333.00               e 0.00

127 Total Current Estimated Annual Income (Public Health) 4,000 4,000 0

128

129 PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING

130

131 Total Current Estimated Annual Income (Private Sector Housing) 2,000 2,000 0

132

133 BUILDING CONTROL (Building Regulations)

134 An illustrative set of charges is listed below.  The full list of fees and charges is available from the Council web site at www.lewes.gov.uk

135

136 Dwelling-houses and Flats not exceeding 250m2 or more than 3 storeys:

137   1 dwelling-house Plan charge 250.00               250.00                  s 0.00

138 Inspection charge 490.00               490.00                  s 0.00

139 Building Notice charge 810.00               810.00                  s 0.00

140

141   2 dwelling-houses Plan charge 340.00               340.00                  s 0.00

142 Inspection charge 650.00               650.00                  s 0.00

143 Building Notice charge 1,150.00            1,150.00               s 0.00

144

145   3 dwelling-houses Plan charge 420.00               420.00                  s 0.00

146 Inspection charge 860.00               860.00                  s 0.00

147 Building Notice charge 1,350.00            1,350.00               s 0.00

148

149   2 flats Plan charge 340.00               340.00                  s 0.00

150 Inspection charge 580.00               580.00                  s 0.00

151 Building Notice charge 950.00               950.00                  s 0.00

152

153 3 flats Plan charge 420.00               420.00                  s 0.00

154 Inspection charge 650.00               650.00                  s 0.00

155 Building Notice charge 1,150.00            1,150.00               s 0.00

156 Total Current Estimated Annual Income (Building Control) 281,500 281,500 0

157

158 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL (Planning applications) Statutory fees

159
An illustrative set of charges is listed below.  The full list of fees and charges is available from the 

Council web site at www.lewes.gov.uk

160

Service of Housing Act Notices and Discretionary Inspections - Officer Time hourly rate

VAT charge types:  i = inclusive of VAT @ 20%,  e = non-business or exempt from VAT,  s = standard plus VAT @ 20%

P
age 402



Appendix 1
Lewes District Council Fees and Charges Proposals 2020/2021

2019/2020 2020/2021

By Service and Activity Current Proposed 

charge charge Increase

                  £pence                   £pence VAT                   £pence

161 New dwellings Outline application (per 0.1ha) 385.00               385.00                  e 0.00

162 Outline application (max.for 2.5ha) 9,527.00            9,527.00               e 0.00

163 Outline application (per 0.1ha over 2.5) 115.00               115.00                  e 0.00

164 Outline application (maximum fee) 125,000.00        125,000.00           e 0.00

165

166 Full application (per dwelling unit) 385.00               385.00                  e 0.00

167 Full application (max. for 50 dwellings) 19,049.00          19,049.00             e 0.00

168 Full application (per dwelling over 50) 115.00               115.00                  e 0.00

169 Full application (maximum fee) 250,000.00        250,000.00           e 0.00

170

171 Reserved matters (per dwelling unit) 385.00               385.00                  e 0.00

172 Reserved matters (max.for 50 dwellings) 19,049.00          19,049.00             e 0.00

173 Reserved matters (per dwelling <50) 115.00               115.00                  e 0.00

174 Reserved matters (maximum fee) 250,000.00        250,000.00           e 0.00

175 Total Current Estimated Annual Income (Development Control) 429,000 429,000 0

176

177
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) Regulations specify that fees are subject to annual 

indexation

178
Residential Development Low Zone (South of the South Downs National Park) 

per m2

105.92               115.61                  e 9.69

179
High Zone (North of the South Downs National Park) 

per m2

176.54               192.69                  e 16.15

180

181 Retail Development per m2 117.69               128.46                  e 10.77

182

183 SECTION 106 DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS

184 Recycling Kerbside per dwelling 19.00                 19.00                    e 0.00

185

186 PLANNING SERVICES 

187 Planning research for third parties per hour 50.00                 50.00                    s 0.00

188 Compliance checks for planning applications Householder application - per hour 27.00                 27.00                    e 0.00

189 Non-householder application - per hour 92.00                 92.00                    e 0.00

190 Pre-application service (in the Lewes district except the SDNP area) 

191  - large scale major applications up to 6 meetings 3,600.00            3,600.00               s 0.00

192 per additional meeting 500.00               500.00                  s 0.00

193  - medium scale major applications up to 4 meetings 1,800.00            1,800.00               s 0.00

194 per additional meeting 360.00               360.00                  s 0.00

195  - small scale major applications up to 2 meetings 900.00               900.00                  s 0.00

196 per additional meeting 200.00               200.00                  s 0.00

197  - minor applications up to 2 meetings 450.00               450.00                  s 0.00

198 per additional meeting 120.00               120.00                  s 0.00

VAT charge types:  i = inclusive of VAT @ 20%,  e = non-business or exempt from VAT,  s = standard plus VAT @ 20%

P
age 403



Appendix 1
Lewes District Council Fees and Charges Proposals 2020/2021

2019/2020 2020/2021

By Service and Activity Current Proposed 

charge charge Increase

                  £pence                   £pence VAT                   £pence

199  - small minor applications initial meeting 250.00               250.00                  s 0.00

200 per additional meeting 60.00                 60.00                    s 0.00

201  - residential schemes for 1-2 dwellings initial meeting 150.00               150.00                  s 0.00

202 per additional meeting 60.00                 60.00                    s 0.00

203  - telecommunications, change of use, renewable energy initial meeting 75.00                 75.00                    s 0.00

204 per additional meeting 60.00                 60.00                    s 0.00

205  - householder schemes written advice and site visits 12.50                 12.50                    s 0.00

206  - listed building schemes written advice and site visits 12.50                 12.50                    s 0.00

207 Publications e.g. Local Plan 50.00                 50.00                    e 0.00

208 e.g. Local Plan on Cdrom 15.00                 15.00                    e 0.00

209 Emerging Core Strategy 12.00                 12.00                    e 0.00

210 Document search and retrieval per document 0.60                   0.60                      s 0.00

211 Electronic copy of document Building Control document 55.00                 55.00                    s 0.00

212 Planning legal document 12.50                 12.50                    s 0.00

213 Standard copying charges Minimum charge for 3 pages 1.20                   1.20                      s 0.00

214 A4 size per page 0.10                   0.10                      s 0.00

215 A3 size per page 0.20                   0.20                      s 0.00

216 A2 size per page 1.80                   1.80                      s 0.00

217 A1 size per page 2.40                   2.40                      s 0.00

218 A0 size per page 3.00                   3.00                      s 0.00

219 Colour copying charges A4 size per page 1.25                   1.25                      s 0.00

220 A3 size per page 2.50                   2.50                      s 0.00

221 A2 size per page 6.00                   6.00                      s 0.00

222 A1 size per page 12.00                 12.00                    s 0.00

223 A0 size per page 18.00                 18.00                    s 0.00

224 Services for Solicitors: priority service 12.50                 12.50                    s 0.00

225 Compliance checks for Enforcement (per site) 50.00                 50.00                    e 0.00

226 Building Control file retrieval fee 50.00                 50.00                    s 0.00

227 Compliance checks for Building Control (per site) 75.00                 75.00                    s 0.00

228
Building Control database information - where 

reference quoted

5.00                   5.00                      s 0.00

229 Total Current Estimated Annual Income (Planning) 30,000 30,000 0

230

231 STREET NAMING AND NUMBERING

232 New individual property per application 35.00 50.00 e 15.00

233 New Development or Re-development per plot/unit 35.00 50.00 e 15.00

234 New Development or Re-development  ( 3-10 New Addresses ) per application 0.00 150.00 e 150.00

235 New Development or Re-development  ( 11-19 New Addresses ) per application 0.00 250.00 e 250.00

236 New Development or Re-development  ( 20+ New Addresses ) per application 0.00 350.00 e 350.00

237 Change of House Name or Commercial Property Name per application 25.00 50.00 e 25.00

238 Change of Building Name (eg block of flats) per application 100.00 100.00 e 0.00

VAT charge types:  i = inclusive of VAT @ 20%,  e = non-business or exempt from VAT,  s = standard plus VAT @ 20%

P
age 404



Appendix 1
Lewes District Council Fees and Charges Proposals 2020/2021

2019/2020 2020/2021

By Service and Activity Current Proposed 

charge charge Increase

                  £pence                   £pence VAT                   £pence

239 Street Renaming per application 200.00 200.00 e 0.00

240 plus per property 25.00 25.00 e 0.00

241 Alterations to SNN Scheme after SNN confirmation per application 0.00 350.00 e 350.00

242 per plot/unit 25.00 25.00 e 0.00

243 Confirmation of postal address to solicitors or conveyancers 25.00 25.00 e 0.00

244 Total Current Estimated Annual Income (Street Naming and Numbering) 12,500 12,500 0

245

246 ALLOTMENTS per year per plot (253 square metres) 67.00 70.00 e 3.00

247 Total Estimated Annual Income (Allotments) 1,000 1,000 0

248

249 CEMETERIES

250 Internment 1.83m (equivalent to 6 feet) 870.00 896.00 e 26.00

251 2.29m (equivalent to 7 feet 6 inches) 1,150.00 1,185.00 e 35.00

252 2.74m (equivalent to 9 feet) 1,530.00 1,575.00 e 45.00

253 cremated remains 260.00 270.00 e 10.00

254 stillborn child (under 1 month) free free n/a

255 child (under 12 years) free free n/a

256 in existing vault actual cost actual cost e n/a

257 Interred ashes in Garden of Rest 260.00 267.80 e 7.80

258 Purchase of Burial Rights ordinary 50 years 1,100.00 1,135.00 e 35.00

259 special 50 years 1,130.00 1,165.00 e 35.00

260 Designated child space 50 years 380.00 free e n/a

261 Garden of Rest 290.00 300.00 e 10.00

262 Right to erect/place on grave or vault Headstone 210.00 216.00 e 6.00

263 Kerbstone or Border 260.00 268.00 e 8.00

264 Flatstone or Wall Tablet 210.00 216.00 e 6.00

265 Additional Inscription 100.00 103.00 e 3.00

266 Chapel 90.00 95.00 i 5.00

267 Searches 30.00 31.00 i 1.00

268 Transfer of Grant Ownership 70.00 73.00 e 3.00

269 Exhumation actual cost actual cost e n/a

270 Total Current Estimated Annual Income (Cemeteries) 140,300 141,000 700

271

272 PARKS AND OPEN SPACES

273 Hire of Sports Pitches per game or session

274  - Football and Rugby adult rate 65.00                 67.00                    s 2.00

275 adult training rate 32.00                 33.00                    s 1.00

276 juniors rate 32.00                 33.00                    s 1.00

277 juniors training rate 16.00                 17.00                    s 1.00

278

279 Malling 

VAT charge types:  i = inclusive of VAT @ 20%,  e = non-business or exempt from VAT,  s = standard plus VAT @ 20%

P
age 405



Appendix 1
Lewes District Council Fees and Charges Proposals 2020/2021

2019/2020 2020/2021

By Service and Activity Current Proposed 

charge charge Increase

                  £pence                   £pence VAT                   £pence

280 adult rate 46.00                 48.00                    s 2.00

281 adult training rate 21.00                 22.00                    s 1.00

282 juniors rate 21.00                 22.00                    s 1.00

283 juniors training rate 10.00                 11.00                    s 1.00

284

285 Telscombe minis 10.00                 11.00                    s 1.00

286

287 Changing rooms only 34.00                 36.00                    s 2.00

288

289  - Cricket grass day rate 68.00                 70.00                    s 2.00

290 grass evening rate 30.00                 31.00                    s 1.00

291 grass juniors rate 34.00                 36.00                    s 2.00

292

293 artificial day rate 52.00                 54.00                    s 2.00

294 artificial evening rate 23.00                 24.00                    s 1.00

295 artificial juniors rate 26.00                 27.00                    s 1.00

296

297 changing rooms only 37.00                 39.00                    s 2.00

298

299  - Stoolball day rate 46.00                 48.00                    s 2.00

300 evening rate 24.00                 25.00                    s 1.00

301

302  - Bowling season ticket

303  - adult 115.00               119.00                  s 4.00

304  - junior 58.00                 60.00                    s 2.00

305  - concessions 77.00                 80.00                    s 3.00

306

307 per hour per person

308  - adult 2.10                   3.00                      s 0.90

309  - juniors and concessions 1.70                   2.00                      s 0.30

310

311 visiting teams per rink 14.00                 15.00                    s 1.00

312

313  - Croquet croquet field 17.00                 18.00                    s 1.00

314

315 Hire of Open Spaces

316  - Commercial  Organisations small event - per day 670.00 690.00 e 20.00

317 small event - half day (maximum 4 hours) 335.00 345.00 e 10.00

318 medium event - per day 1,250.00 1,290.00 e 40.00

319 medium event - half day (maximum 4 hours) 625.00 645.00 e 20.00

320 large event - per day negotiable negotiable e n/a

VAT charge types:  i = inclusive of VAT @ 20%,  e = non-business or exempt from VAT,  s = standard plus VAT @ 20%

P
age 406



Appendix 1
Lewes District Council Fees and Charges Proposals 2020/2021

2019/2020 2020/2021

By Service and Activity Current Proposed 

charge charge Increase

                  £pence                   £pence VAT                   £pence

321 Fitness / Exercise classes per hour (4+ persons) 55.00                 57.00                    e 2.00

322  - Not For Profit Organisations (per day) Within District - up to 100% discount free free 0.00

323
Outside District - discounts from 0% - 50% on 

commercial fees shown above

324 Abseil events - Charity fundraising free free 0.00

325 Total Current Estimated Annual Income (Parks & Open Spaces) 54,000 53,700 -300

326

327 WASTE COLLECTION

328 Domestic

329 Bulky waste 5 items or 10 bags 50.00                 50.00                    e 0.00

330 10 items or 20 bags 75.00                 75.00                    e 0.00

331

332 Fridges and freezers 35.00                 35.00                    e 0.00

333

334 All other domestic charges by application

335

336 Prescribed household

337 Clinical waste in multiples of 10 bags and labels 35.00                 35.00                    s 0.00

338

339 Other

340 Dog bin emptying on street collections (per bin)

341  - single compartment dog waste 6.00                   6.00                      s 0.00

342  - single compartment litter and dog waste 1.74                   1.74                      s 0.00

343  - separate compartments litter and dog waste 3.48                   3.48                      s 0.00

344  - single compartment litter 1.75                   1.75                      s 0.00

345

346  - single compartment dog waste on street purchase (per bin) 249.99               249.99                  s 0.00

347  - single compartment litter 249.99               249.99                  s 0.00

348  - single compartment litter and dog waste 249.99               249.99                  s 0.00

349

350  - single compartment dog waste on street installation (per bin) 80.00                 80.00                    s 0.00

351  - single compartment litter 80.00                 80.00                    s 0.00

352  - single compartment litter and dog waste 80.00                 80.00                    s 0.00

353 Black sacks cat / dog litter 18 bags 57.60                    s 57.60

354 Box of refuse bags (360) 32.50                 32.50                    s 0.00

355 Box of refuse bags (1000) 58.50                 58.50                    s 0.00

356 Sharps 1-4 buckets each 12.95                 12.95                    s 0.00

357 Sharps 5 (large) 38.75                 38.75                    s 0.00

358 Dead animal removal minimum charge depending on size of animal 25.00                 no charge s (25.00) 

359

360 140 wheelie bin 35.00                 35.00                    s 0.00

VAT charge types:  i = inclusive of VAT @ 20%,  e = non-business or exempt from VAT,  s = standard plus VAT @ 20%

P
age 407



Appendix 1
Lewes District Council Fees and Charges Proposals 2020/2021

2019/2020 2020/2021

By Service and Activity Current Proposed 

charge charge Increase

                  £pence                   £pence VAT                   £pence

361 240 wheelie bin 47.50                 47.50                    s 0.00

362 770 euro bin 275.00               275.00                  s 0.00

363 1100 euro bin 300.00               300.00                  s 0.00

364

365 Special events (per bin) 4.50                   4.50                      s 0.00

366

367

368 Green waste

369 Annual Green Waste Collection Service 70.00                 70.00                    e 0.00

370 Second half price green waste collection service 35.00                    35.00

371 Total Current Estimated Annual Income (Waste Collection excluding Commercial Trade Waste)) 446,500 446,500 0

372

373 Council Tax and Business Rates

374 Recovery action Summons cost 52.50                 52.50                    e 0.00

375 Liability order 30.00                 30.00                    e 0.00

376 Total Current Estimated Annual Income (Council Tax and Business Rates) 210,000 210,000 0

377

378 Legal Services

379 An illustrative set of charges is listed below.  

380 Other charges by application and more complex transactions by negotiation

381

382 Section 106 agreement time spent x hourly rate £540 minimum £540 minimum z 0.00

383 Lease time spent x hourly rate £825-£2,750 £825-£2,750 s 0.00

384 Consent, Deed of Variation, Easement, Sale of Freehold time spent x hourly rate £550-£2,000 £550-£2,000 s 0.00

385 Licence time spent x hourly rate £900-£2,000 £900-£2,000 s 0.00

386 Right to Buy engrossment fee 60.00 60.00 s 0.00

387 Copying large/complicated agreements and plans including retrieval fee 75.00 75.00 s 0.00

388 Other copying (in addition to retrieval fee) per side copied 0.50 0.50 s 0.00

389 Other copying (where retrieval not required) minimum charge 7.50 7.50 s 0.00

390 plus per side copied 0.50 0.50 s 0.00

391

392 Estate Surveyor Services Commercial services

393 Lease - grant Per transaction 500.00               500.00 0.00

394 Lease - Deed of Variation, Surrender Per transaction 400.00               400.00 0.00

395 Lease - ancillary transactions (e.g. licences to assign) Per transaction 250.00               250.00 0.00

396 Licence (e.g. scaffolding and other temporary structures) Per transaction 250.00               250.00 0.00

397 Garden Licence Per transaction dependant on time spent (max) 250.00               250.00 0.00

398 Disposal/Wayleave/Easement Per transaction 500.00               500.00 0.00

399 Total Current Estimated Annual Income (Estate Surveyor Services) 15,000 15,000 0

400

401 Land Charges

VAT charge types:  i = inclusive of VAT @ 20%,  e = non-business or exempt from VAT,  s = standard plus VAT @ 20%

P
age 408



Appendix 1
Lewes District Council Fees and Charges Proposals 2020/2021

2019/2020 2020/2021

By Service and Activity Current Proposed 

charge charge Increase

                  £pence                   £pence VAT                   £pence

402
An illustrative set of the main charges is listed below.  The full list of fees and charges is available from the 

Council web site at www.lewes.gov.uk

403

404 Official Search of the Local Land Charges Register (LLC1) search of the whole register 16.00                 16.00                    e n/a

405

406 CON29 Part 1 – required enquiries 81.00                 87.00                    s n/a

407 Total Current Estimated Annual Income (Land Charges) 135,000 125,000 -10,000

408

409 Register of Electors Statutory fees 

410 Paper copy Set up fee 10.00                 10.00                    s 0.00

411 plus per 1,000 names 5.00                   5.00                      s 0.00

412

413 Electronic copy Set up fee 20.00                 20.00                    s 0.00

414 plus per 1,000 names 1.50                   1.50                      s 0.00

415 Total Current Estimated Annual Income (Register of Electors) 1,000 1,000 0

416

417

418 TOTAL CURRENT ESTIMATED ANNUAL INCOME FOR ALL SERVICES 2,800,800 2,815,200 14,400

Inflationary increase at 2% 56,000                  

Income target for 2020/21 2,856,800             

VAT charge types:  i = inclusive of VAT @ 20%,  e = non-business or exempt from VAT,  s = standard plus VAT @ 20%

P
age 409



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 411

Agenda Item 24
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 28 October 2020
	8 Portfolio progress and performance report quarter 3 - 2019-2020
	Portfolio progress and performance report quarter 3 - 2019-2020 - Appendix 1

	9 Corporate plan 2020-24
	Corporate plan 2020-24 - Appendix 1

	10 Voluntary sector support
	Voluntary sector support - Appendix 1

	11 'Making' the Seaford Neighbourhood Plan
	12 Adoption of the Lewes District Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations & Development Management
	Adoption of the Lewes District Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations & Development Management - Appendix 1
	Adoption of the Lewes District Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations & Development Management - Appendix 2
	Adoption of the Lewes District Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations & Development Management - Appendix 3

	13 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 30-Year Business Plan Update
	Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 30-Year Business Plan Update - Appendix 1

	14 Housing revenue account budget  2020/21
	Housing revenue account budget  2020/21 - Appendix 1
	Housing revenue account budget  2020/21 - Appendix 2

	15 The Werks Group - Creative Hub Lewes
	16 Avis Way Waste Vehicle Depot - Revised Funding
	17 Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy- progress update
	18 Former Police Station, South Road, Newhaven
	Former Police Station, South Road, Newhaven - Appendix 1
	Former Police Station, South Road, Newhaven - Appendix 2

	19 General Fund Revenue Budget 2020/21 and Capital Programme
	General Fund Revenue Budget 2020/21 and Capital Programme - Appendix 1
	General Fund Revenue Budget 2020/21 and Capital Programme - Appendix 2
	General Fund Revenue Budget 2020/21 and Capital Programme - Appendix 3
	General Fund Revenue Budget 2020/21 and Capital Programme - Appendix 4
	General Fund Revenue Budget 2020/21 and Capital Programme - Appendix 5
	General Fund Revenue Budget 2020/21 and Capital Programme - Appendix 6

	20 Treasury Management and Prudential Indicators 2020/21, Capital Strategy & Investment Strategy
	21 Council tax and business rate base 2020/21
	Council tax and business rate base 2020/21 - Appendix 1
	Council tax and business rate base 2020/21 - Appendix 2

	22 Annual Review of Fees and Charges
	Annual Review of Fees and Charges - Appendix 1

	24 Former Police Station, South Road, Newhaven - Appendix 3



